STRUCTURES, SIGNALING MECHANISMS, AND FUNCTIONS OF TYPES I AND III INTERFERONS

EDITED BY: Ronald L. Rabin and Mark R. Walter PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-680-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-680-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

STRUCTURES, SIGNALING MECHANISMS, AND FUNCTIONS OF TYPES I AND III INTERFERONS

Topic Editors:

Ronald L. Rabin, United States Food and Drug Administration, United States **Mark R. Walter,** University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

Dr. Walter receives financial support from Pfizer. The other Topic Editor declares no competing interest with regards to the Research Topic theme.

Citation: Rabin, R. L., Walter, M. R., eds. (2021). Structures, Signaling Mechanisms, and Functions of Types I and III Interferons. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-680-5

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Structures, Signaling Mechanisms, and Functions of Types I and III Interferons

Ronald L. Rabin and Mark R. Walter

- 06 The Role of Structure in the Biology of Interferon Signaling Mark R. Walter
- 18 Interferon Receptor Trafficking and Signaling: Journey to the Cross Roads Natacha Zanin, Christine Viaris de Lesegno, Christophe Lamaze and Cedric M. Blouin
- Type I Interferon (IFN)-Regulated Activation of Canonical and Non-Canonical Signaling Pathways
 Candice Mazewski, Ricardo E. Perez, Eleanor N. Fish and Leonidas C. Platanias
- 46 All About the RNA: Interferon-Stimulated Genes That Interfere With Viral RNA Processes

Emily Yang and Melody M. H. Li

- 64 Shared and Unique Features of Human Interferon-Beta and Interferon-Alpha Subtypes Megen C. Wittling, Shannon R. Cahalan, Eric A. Levenson and Ronald L. Rabin
- 77 Context is Key: Delineating the Unique Functions of IFN α and IFN β in Disease

Lindsey E. Fox, Marissa C. Locke and Deborah J. Lenschow

105 Importance of Type I and III Interferons at Respiratory and Intestinal Barrier Surfaces

Megan L. Stanifer, Cuncai Guo, Patricio Doldan and Steeve Boulant

119 The Role of Type I Interferons in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of COVID-19

Gideon Schreiber





Editorial: Structures, Signaling Mechanisms, and Functions of Types I and III Interferons

Ronald L. Rabin¹ and Mark R. Walter^{2*}

¹ Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, U.S. Food and Drug Aministration (USFDA), Silver Spring, MD, United States, ² University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

Keywords: interferon α , interferon λ , interferon subtypes, interferon receptors, interferon structure, interferon signaling, interferon function, interferon therapy

Editorial on the Research Topic

Structures, Signaling Mechanisms, and Functions of Types I and III Interferons

Never has understanding the fundamental roles of the interferons (IFNs) been more important than in the year 2021. It is well-recognized that IFNs play critical roles inducing an antiviral state in cells. However, their influence on innate and adaptive immunity continues to expand. As a result, IFNs play critical roles in protecting the host from pathogens, controlling cellular transformation, and when dysregulated, promoting autoimmunity. Since the seminal discovery of Type I IFNs over 60 years ago (1), the Type I and Type III IFN family has grown to include 20 distinct members consisting of 16 Type I IFNs (12 IFN α s, IFN β , IFN ϵ , IFN κ , and IFN ω) and four Type III IFNs (IFN λ 1-IFN λ 4) (2) that signal through common type-I (IFNAR1/IFNAR2) and type-III IFN λ R1/IL10R2 receptor complexes. The paucity of studies that define the role of the IFN subtypes (Type I/Type III) in cellular function and disease was a major driver of this research topic.

"Structures, Signaling Mechanisms, and Functions of Types I and III Interferons" is a collection of eight review articles that are intended to summarize current knowledge on fundamental aspects of interferon signaling and biology. Three articles address IFN receptor biology and signaling. Walter compares the structures of types I, II, and III IFNs and their receptor complexes, providing insights into how subtle structural differences in the IFNs may modulate downstream signaling. Notably, the study highlights murine IFN β does not share equivalent structural and biophysical properties with its human counterpart, highlighting the difficulties in direct comparisons of type-I IFN signaling between species. Subsequently, Zanin et al. reviews type I IFN receptor trafficking. These authors comprehensively discuss post-translational modification of the type I IFNAR receptors and the role of clathrin-mediated endocytosis on signaling, recycling, or degradation of receptor components. Mazewski et al. review canonical and non-canonical signaling mechanisms, and discuss their roles in infectious and autoimmune diseases, and in cancer. Ultimately, the outcome of IFN signaling is the production of various levels of IFN stimulated genes (ISGs). Thus, Yang and Li provide a detailed review of the complex anti-viral defense mechanisms used by a small set of ISGs to inhibit viral RNA replication.

Three additional articles review our current understanding of the unique and overlapping roles of the type-I and type-III IFNs. Stanifer et al. discuss redundant and non-redundant expression patterns, signaling, and functional outcomes between types I and III IFN at respiratory and intestinal barriers. Notably, this work highlights the role of epithelial cell heterogeneity and cell polarity in explaining the non-redundant activities of type III IFNs at barrier surfaces. Two articles focus on functional differences among different type I IFN subtypes. Fox et al. provide an extensive review highlighting differences among IFN α and IFN β subtypes in murine infectious disease models, with potential insights for human disease. Wittling et al. review human type I IFNs

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Silvano Sozzani, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

> *Correspondence: Mark R. Walter walter@uab.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 06 December 2020 Accepted: 28 January 2021 Published: 18 February 2021

Citation:

Rabin RL and Walter MR (2021) Editorial: Structures, Signaling Mechanisms, and Functions of Types I and III Interferons. Front. Immunol. 12:638479. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.638479

4

to propose that regulatory elements, expression patterns, and primate evolution can serve as a guide toward revealing unique roles for the IFN α subtypes. These reviews, as well as Mazewski et al. discuss various aspects of using type I IFNs to treat patients with chronic autoimmune and infectious diseases. As expected, the potential of type I IFN as a therapy for SARS-CoV-2 is discussed in several reviews. In particular, the review by Schreiber highlights the roles for type I IFNs in viral defense and as a therapeutic agent to ameliorate the ongoing pandemic caused by the virus.

We wish to extend our extreme gratitude toward our colleagues who contributed to this review series as well as to those who took the time to review these manuscripts under the challenges of a pandemic. We hope this research topic

REFERENCES

- 1. Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (1957) 147:258–67.
- Pestka S, Krause CD, Walter MR. Interferons, interferon-like cytokines, and their receptors. *Immunol Rev.* (2004) 202:8–32. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.00204.x

Disclaimer: This is an informal communication that represents RLR's judgment. These comments do not bind or obligate the US Food and Drug Administration.

summarizes the field for experienced biologists, serves as a foundation for neophytes entering the field, and stimulates novel research directions to harness the power of the IFNs to treat human disease.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH (R01 AI143554) to MRW and US Food and Drug Administration internal funds to RLR.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Rabin and Walter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Structure in the Biology of Interferon Signaling

Mark R. Walter*

Department of Microbiology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

Interferons (IFNs) are a family of cytokines with the unique ability to induce cell intrinsic programs that enhance resistance to viral infection. Induction of an antiviral state at the cell, tissue, organ, and organismal level is performed by three distinct IFN families, designated as Type-I, Type-II, and Type-III IFNs. Overall, there are 21 human IFNs, (16 type-I, 12 IFN α s, IFN β , IFN ϵ , IFN κ , and IFN ω ; 1 type-II, IFN γ ; and 4 type-III, IFN λ 1, IFN λ 2, IFN λ 3, and IFN λ 4), that induce pleotropic cellular activities essential for innate and adaptive immune responses against virus and other pathogens. IFN signaling is initiated by binding to distinct heterodimeric receptor complexes. The three-dimensional structures of the type-I (IFN α /IFNAR1/IFNAR2), type-II (IFN γ /IFNGR1/IFNGR2), and type-III (IFN λ 3/IFN λ R1/IL10R2) signaling complexes have been determined. Here, we highlight similar and unique features of the IFNs, their cell surface complexes and discuss their role in inducing downstream IFN signaling responses.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laura Maggi, University of Florence, Italy

Reviewed by:

Gideon Schreiber, Weizmann Institute of Science, Israel Sandra Pellegrini, Institut Pasteur, France

> *Correspondence: Mark R. Walter walter@uab.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 15 September 2020 Accepted: 19 October 2020 Published: 12 November 2020

Citation:

Walter MR (2020) The Role of Structure in the Biology of Interferon Signaling. Front. Immunol. 11:606489. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.606489 Keywords: interferon, IFN, type-I, type-II, type-III, receptor complex, IFN signaling, structure

INTRODUCTION

IFNs were discovered more than 60 years ago (1957) as substances that protect cells from viral infection (1, 2). Based on their sensitivity to pH, IFNs were designated as either type-I (pH stable) or type-II (pH sensitive) (2, 3). Characterization of their distinct amino acid sequences and crystal structures (4, 5) (6–8) further validated the classification of IFN α/β and IFN γ as type-I and type-II IFNs, respectively. The type-I family expanded (9) to include 12 IFN α s (10–13) encoded by 13 genes (IFN α 1/13 encode the same protein), IFN β , IFN ϵ (14), IFN κ (15), and IFN ω (16). Genome analysis in 2003 identified a new type-III IFN family (IFN λ s) (17, 18), which by sequence and subsequent structure analysis (19) were similar to IL10 family cytokines (12, 20–22), in particular IL-22 (23, 24). With the discovery of IFN λ 4 in 2013 (25), a total of 21 IFNs (**Table 1**) exhibit not only antiviral activity, but anti-tumor actions, and the ability to modulate the adaptive immune response.

The pleotropic biological activities of the three IFN families are initiated by binding and subsequent assembly of heterodimeric receptor complexes on the cell membrane (**Table 1**). The 16 type-I IFNs bind and signal through the IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 receptor complex, type-II IFN γ binds to IFNGR1 and IFNGR2 chains, and the type-III IFNs signal through IFN λ R1 and IL-10R2 receptor chains. Each receptor heterodimer consists of a high affinity receptor chain (e.g., IFNAR2, IFNGR1, IFN λ R1) and a low IFN affinity receptor chain (IFNAR1, IFNGR2, IL10R2). The high and low affinity receptors exhibit nM and μ M/mM affinity, respectively, for their cognate IFNs (26–30). Despite variable affinities, the high and low affinity type-I and type-II receptors are specific for their cognate IFN family members. In contrast, IFN λ R1 is specific for type-III IFN λ family members, but

6

Type-I IFNs	High Affinity Receptor	Low Affinity Receptor	IFNs						
			IFNα1/13*, IFNα10, IFNκ,	IFNα2, IFNα14, IFNω	IFNα4, IFNα16,	IFNα5, IFNα17,	IFNα6, IFNα21,	IFNα7, IFNβ,	IFNα8, IFN¢,
Type-II IFNs	JAK1 IFNGR1 JAK1	TYK2 IFNGR2 JAK2	IFNγ						
Type-III IFNs	IFNLR1	IL10R2	IFNλ1, IFNλ1,	IFNλ2, IFNλ2,	IFNλ3, IFNλ3,	IFNλ4 IFNλ4,	IL10,	IL22,	IL26
	JAK1	TYK2							

TABLE 1 | IFN families and their receptor complexes.

*IFN α 1/13 encode the same amino acid sequence [(see 9)].

the low affinity IL-10R2 chain is a shared receptor that also participates in IL10, IL22, and IL26 signaling complexes (12, 31–33).

IFN receptor complex formation activates Janus kinases (JAKs) that initiate IFN-mediated intracellular signaling cascades (34-38). The JAKs constitutively associate with the intracellular domains (ICDs) of the IFN receptors through noncovalent interactions (Table 1). Type-I and type-III IFN receptors use the same JAKs for signal transduction. The high affinity IFNAR2 and IFNAR1 receptors associate with JAK1, while low affinity IFNAR1 and IL10R2 associate with TYK2. In contrast, type-II IFNGR1 and IFNGR2 associate with JAK1 and JAK2, respectively (39, 40). The ICDs of the low affinity receptors are 69–100 amino acids long and their main purpose appears to be to bind their respective kinases for activation upon receptor complex formation. The high affinity receptor ICDs range from 223 to 271 amino acids in length and contain multiple tyrosine residues that upon phosphorylation by the JAKs, recruit STATs that become phosphorylated themselves, and translocate to the nucleus where they activate interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) (40, 41). In addition to using the same JAKs, type-I and type-III IFNs induce the same STAT1/STAT2/IRF9, ISGF3 transcription complex (40-42). IFNy activates phospho-STAT1 homodimers, but not ISGF3, which is reflected in the ~1,000-fold lower antiviral activity of IFNy compared to the type-I and type-III IFNs (43, 44). In addition to activating distinct intracellular signaling pathways, type-I/III IFNs are produced in cells upon viral infection, or infection by other pathogens, through pattern recognition receptor pathways, including RIGI, MDA7, PKR, TLR3, TLR7, TLR9, and STING (40, 45-48). In contrast, type-II IFNy is produced predominantly by antigen-activated T lymphocytes (39). Thus, type-I/III IFNs are products of innate immune system, designed to establish direct and immediate antiviral states in cells, yet can also modulate adaptive immune responses. Type-II IFNγ is itself a product of adaptive immunity that acts on cells of innate immunity, notably macrophages. As a potent macrophage activator, IFNy is essential for combating mycobacteria and other intracellular pathogens (49, 50). IFNGR1 deficiencies in individuals are associated with mycobacterial infections, while individuals with IFNAR2, or IFNAR1, deficiencies have had life threatening illness following vaccination with mumps, measles, and rubella (MMR) vaccines (51, 52). Together, these data highlight the distinct roles of these IFNs in controlling different pathogens.

While there is only one IFN γ , it is remarkable that humans encode 16 different type-I and 4 type-III IFNs that induce the same fundamental ISGF3-mediated anti-viral program in cells (17, 18, 53, 54). The necessity of this remarkable arsenal of IFNs to combat virus, and other pathogens (55–58), remains an area of intense investigation. Given the complexity of IFN signaling, this review describes the fundamental structural organization of each IFN receptor complex in generating IFN signaling responses. The main emphasis is to define how structure impacts IFN-IFN receptor affinity, specificity, and the role of the overall architecture of the complex to position receptor ICDs for intracellular JAK/STAT activation and subsequent cellular activity.

Structures of the Type-I, Type-II, and Type-III IFNs

All IFNs adopt α -helical structures with unique up-up-downdown topology (21), relative to other α -helix bundle proteins (Figure 1). Each IFN consists of six secondary structural elements, denoted A-F, of which helices A, C, D, and F form an anti-parallel four helix bundle. Loop elements B and E exhibit more variable secondary structures, ranging from additional helices to extended segments that pack against the edge of the four-helix bundle (helices A, C, D, and F). The α -helices of the Type-I IFNs are long, straight, and essentially parallel to one another (Figure 1A). Despite considerable sequence diversity (35%–95%), all 16 IFNs adopt the same α -helical structure (4, 5, 59-63). In contrast to type-I IFNs, type-III IFNs are comprised of shorter helices that contain several kinks, which form a more compact bundle (Figure 1B). As a result, type-III IFNs adopt structures that are more similar to the IL-10 family cytokine IL-22 than to type-I IFNs (12, 19, 23, 24, 64). This is interesting from a functional perspective since IL-22 induces anti-bacterial activity in the gut and skin through a tissue-restricted receptor complex of IL22R1 and IL10R2 (22, 32, 65-70). Thus, IFNλs and IL-22 control viral and bacterial challenges, respectively, at barrier surfaces (22, 64, 71). As a "mucosal IFN", IFNAs have been promoted as an optimal drug to treat respiratory viruses, such as Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), which causes COVID-19 (72). However, IFN λ signaling in mice prevents lung epithelial repair, leading to bacterial superinfections (73, 74). Other studies suggest type-I IFNs, not IFN λ s, might be most efficacious and safe in treating SARS-CoV-2 (75). Overall, these studies highlight the



complexity of IFN signaling at barrier surfaces and differences in IFN signaling outcomes in mice vs. humans.

In contrast to the monomeric type- I and type-III IFNs, IFN γ adopts an intercalated dimer structure, where helices E and F from one chain are "swapped" with the other subunit of the dimer (**Figure 1C**). Like the IFN λ s, the structure of IFN γ is most similar to IL10, which is the founding member of the IL-10 cytokine family (12, 21, 32, 76–78). These data confirm that each IFN family adopts a distinct α -helical scaffold, which must "handle" various amounts of sequence variation to regulate engagement of their cellular receptors. For example, there is one highly conserved type-II IFN γ dimer, whereas there are 16 monomeric type-I IFNs (35%–95% sequence identity) and 4 type-III IFNs (28%–96% sequence identity) that exhibit variable amino acid sequence identities. This highlights the distinct mechanisms used by each IFN family to regulate biological

activity. Receptor homodimerization by IFN γ , versus variable IFN/IFN-receptor contacts by monomeric type-I and type-III IFNs. These mechanisms will be reviewed in more detail below.

The Type-III IFNλ/IFNλR1/IL10R2 Complex

The type-III IFN λ receptor complex (79) exhibits the simplest architecture of the three IFN families. Monomeric IFN λ s assemble 1:1:1 signaling complexes with high affinity IFN λ R1 and low affinity IL10R2 receptors (**Figure 2A**). IFN λ R1 and IL10R2 both consist of two β -sandwich domains (D1, D2), where the D2 domains are positioned closest to the membrane. IFN λ R1 binds to the IFN λ s using five receptor loops (L2-L6) that are located at the junction of the D1 and D2 domains. The IFN λ R1 binding loops contact IFN λ residues located on helix A, the AB loop, and helix F. Although differing in detail, the high affinity IFN λ /IFN λ R1 site-1 binding site is conserved with type-I and





type-II high affinity receptor complexes (**Figure 2**). The low affinity IL10R2 binding site-2 consists of N-terminal IFN λ residues, prior to the start of helix A (e.g., the pre-A region (80), also see **Figure 3A**), residues on helix C, and on the segment of helix D that runs parallel to the pre-A region. IL10R2 uses a subset of the same loops used by IFN λ R1 (loops L2, L3, and L5) to contact IFN λ . Thus, the IFN λ -IL10R2 site-2 interface is discontinuous, making a smaller L2/helix D contact (site-2a) and a larger interaction between L3/L5 and IFN λ pre-A and helix D (Site 2b).

In addition to IFNλ-IL10R2 site-2 contacts, IL10R2 forms an additional D2-D2 site-3 interface with IFN λ R1. Thus, the complete IL10R2 binding site is only formed once IFNA binds to IFNλR1. This structural organization ensures IFNλ receptor complex formation is cooperative, where the IFN λ /IFN λ R1 complex forms first, followed by binding of IL10R2 to site-2 and site-3. Once formed, the assembled IFN λ complex positions the C-terminal ends of IFN λ R1 and IL10R2 30Å apart from one another, prior to entering the membrane. The combined site-2 and site-3 interfaces bury over 1,500Å (2) of surface area, which is more than twice the surface area buried in the high affinity IFN λ 3/IFN λ R1 site-1 interaction. However, despite this extensive interface, there are few energetically critical interactions. Thus, the affinity of IL-10R2 for the IFN λ 3/ IFN λ R1 complex (e.g., site-2 + site-3) is 15 μ M (79), which is ~15× lower than the affinity of IFNAR1 for most IFN subtypes (26, 27). While IFNλ3/IFNλR1 represents the "high affinity" interaction in the complex, the measured KD of 850nM (79) is ~1 log lower than the affinity of the weakest type-I IFN for IFNAR2 (e.g., IFNα1, KD ~100nM).

Due to the low affinity of the IFN λ s for their receptors, the IFN λ s are sensitive to the expression levels of their receptors on cells. In fact, a major distinction between type-I and type-III IFNs is the unique distribution of their receptors on different cell types (81, 82). Type-I IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 receptors are present on all nucleated cells, while IFN λ R1 expression is

predominantly limited to epithelial cells, as mentioned for IL22R1 earlier (22, 70). Thus, IFN λ signaling appears to be specialized for combating viral infections at epithelial barrier surfaces such as the lung, gut, and liver (83). This has most impressively been shown by demonstrating IFN λ , but not type-I IFN, is essential for controlling norovirus infection (84). Although gut epithelial cells in this study express type-I IFNARs, their expression is limited to the apical surface of the cells, and no IFNAR expression is observed on the basolateral surface. Thus, the selective signaling of IFN λ in gut epithelial cells was only fully appreciated within the organization of the intact gut in animals. While IFN λ activity appears "weak" in many cell-based assays, in vivo data suggests potent IFNA signaling in the context of tissues and organs. It should be noted that type-I IFNs, IFNe and IFNk, protect the female reproductive track (85-87) and skin (15, 88), respectively. Notably, like the IFN λ s, IFN ϵ and IFN κ exhibit "low" affinity for the type-I receptors, relative to most type-I IFNs (89).

Insights From IFN λ 1/IFN λ R1 and IFN λ 3/IFN λ R1 Binary Structures

Both IFN λ 1/IFN λ R1 and IFN λ 3/IFN λ R1 binary complex structures have been solved (79, 90). IFN λ 1 and IFN λ 3 adopt very similar structures, with a root-mean-square deviation (r.m.s.d.) of 0.6Å. Similarly, IFN λ R1 binding to either IFN λ 1 or IFN λ 3 exhibits an r.m.s.d. of 0.68Å. Finally, the structure of unbound IL10R2 (91) and IL10R2 bound to IFN λ 3 exhibit an r.m.s.d. of 1.3Å. The larger r.m.s.d. is due to changes in the conformation of the IL10R2 L5 binding loop upon contacting IFN λ 3. Despite this difference, the overall structures of bound and unbound IL10R2 are the same. These structural comparisons suggest all IFN λ s assemble a signaling complex with the same overall architecture. Thus, IFN λ biological potency is not regulated by the structure of the ternary complex, but by the affinity of each IFN λ for the IFN λ R1 and IL10R2 chains, and ultimately the stability of the complex.





Arg-175 (magenta) extends away from IFNλR1 Asp-91 towards the B loop.

In vitro cell-based assays demonstrate IFNλ3 exhibits twofold greater antiviral potency than IFN λ 1 (92). Although a detailed analysis of IFN λ receptor binding affinity has not been completed, we expect the IFN λ 3/IFN λ R1 complex should exhibit differences from the IFN λ 1/IFN λ R1 complex, consistent with a higher affinity interaction. Comparison of IFN λ 1 and IFN λ 3 structures (Figure 3A) reveals the B loop regions of IFNλ1 and IFNλ3 exhibit different conformations, particularly Pro-74^{IFN λ 1}/Pro-77^{IFN λ 3} (Figure 3B). In IFN λ 3, Pro-77 moves in toward helix F, while in IFNλ1 Pro-74 moves away from helix F. This "proline flip" alters the position of the conserved Arg-175^{IFN λ 1}/Arg-180^{IFN λ 3}, located on helix F (**Figure** 3B). In IFNλ3, the guanidino group of Arg-180 packs against Pro-77, which positions it for a bivalent salt bridge with IFN λ R1 residue Asp-91. A series of IFN₃ alanine mutants were tested for antiviral activity and identified Phe-179 as the most important IFNλ3 residue for inducing antiviral activity (19). Since IFN_{λ3} Phe-179 is adjacent to Arg-180, it is likely that mutation of Phe-179 to an alanine disrupts the Arg- $180^{IFN\lambda3}$ / Asp-91^{IFN λ R1} salt bridge, which reduces IFN λ R1 binding affinity and antiviral activity.

The "proline flip" observed between IFN\l and IFN\l3 (Figure 3B) may also provide mechanistic insight into the reduced biological activity of the IFNλ4 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), rs117648444. Rs11768444 corresponds to IFN λ 4-Pro70Ser, which exhibits reduced antiviral activity, relative to wildtype IFN λ 4 (25, 93). Understanding IFN λ 4 SNPs is important since several groups have mapped the major genetic determinant of hepatitis C virus (HCV) clearance, in response to treatment with IFN- α plus ribavirin, to the type-III IFN loci (94– 96). Ultimately, IFN λ 4 activity has been implicated as the causative agent of HCV clearance failure in patients that encode "active" IFN λ 4 protein, as opposed to inactive IFN λ 4 protein (25). Despite sharing ~28% sequence identity with IFN λ 3, IFN λ 4 adopts the same α -helical fold as other IFN λ s and binds to IFNAR1 and IL10R2 (97). Amino acid sequence alignments show IFNλ4 Pro-70 is identical to IFNλ3 Pro-77, suggesting the IFNλ4 Pro70Ser mutation impacts IFNλ4-IFN λ R1 interactions by altering the structure of IFN λ 4 Arg-163, as described for Arg-180 in IFN λ 3 (Figure 3B).

IFN λ 2 has not been studied to the same extent as the other IFN λ s, presumably because it was shown to exhibit ~5–10× lower antiviral activity (53, 98). The IFN λ 2 amino acid sequence differs from IFN λ 3 by only 6 amino acids. Modeling the structure of IFNλ2 based on the structure of IFNλ3 suggests, R28H occurs in a non-structured region at the N-terminus of the molecule, where it is not predicted to alter receptor binding. K70R and R72H are located in the AB loop of IFN λ 2, but do not contact IFNλR1. Furthermore, an IFNλ3 R72A mutant reduced IFNλ3 anti-viral activity by only 30%, suggesting these residue changes cannot explain the lower activity of IFN λ 2. Residues V92M and H156Y are located on exposed surfaces of IFN² helices C and E, respectively, which are located opposite the IFN λ R1 and IL10R2 binding sites. Thus, if these amino acids were responsible for the lower activity of IFN λ 2, this would support the hypothesis of some groups that IFN λ may bind to another, unidentified,

receptor chain (83). Finally, L133F is located on helix D, where the sidechain is buried in the hydrophobic core of IFN λ 2. The L-to-F amino acid change cannot be incorporated into the hydrophobic core of the IFN λ 3 structure without distorting helices A, D, or F. This suggests L133F may be the main residue responsible for the reduced biological activity of IFN λ 2, relative to IFN λ 3.

The Type-II IFNy/IFNGR1/IFNGR2 Complex

The type-II IFNy receptor complex provides an important structure to further understand the type-I and type-III complexes (99). The unique intercalated dimer structure (6) of IFNy distinguishes it from the disulfide-linked monomeric type-I and type-III IFNs (4, 19, 100). The IFN γ dimer assembles a symmetric 1:2:2 IFNGR1/IFNGR2 heterodimeric complex (99, 101) (Figure 4), compared to the 1:1:1 heterodimeric complexes of the type-I and type-III IFNs (Figure 2). In the dimeric complex, the twofold-related C-termini of the IFNGR1/ IFNGR2 heterodimers are positioned 85Å apart from one another. As suggested from the analysis of the structurally related IL10 dimer (102), the dimeric IFNy positions IFNGR1 and IFNGR2 (Figure 4), and their respective ICDs, in an optimal dimeric arrangement to recruit inactive STAT1 dimers (103) for subsequent phosphorylation and activation of STAT1 homodimers (104). Disruption of the dimeric IFNy receptor complex architecture, using engineered monomeric IFNys, which assembles ½ of the dimeric IFNy/IFNG1/IFNGR2 (see Figure 2 vs. Figure 4), drastically reduced some IFNy-induced biological activities (7, 8, 99, 102, 105). Additional IFNy mutants confirmed the dimeric arrangement of IFNGR1, not IFNGR2, was essential for full STAT1 phosphorylation (99). In contrast to





STAT1, many additional pathways activated by IFN γ , including MAP kinase, PI3K, and CaMKII (106), appear not to be equally sensitive to IFN γ -mediated IFNGR1/IFNGR2 dimerization. Thus, at least on some cells, engineered IFN γ monomers can induce the same levels of cell surface HLA-A as the WT IFN γ dimer (99). Interestingly, it should be noted that neurons appear to naturally manipulate IFN γ signaling outcomes by maintaining low STAT1 levels, which results in potent IFN γ -mediated activation of ERK1/2 (107). Overall, the dimeric architecture of the IFN γ /IFNGR1/IFNGR2 complex is critical for inducing the full spectrum of IFN γ -mediated pleotropic activities (108), which includes macrophage activation (109, 110), tumor surveillance (111, 112), and protection from intracellular pathogens, including mycobacteria (50, 113).

Despite the larger dimeric assembly, within one IFNy subunit, IFNGR1 and IFNGR2 form similar site-1, site-2, and D2-D2 site-3 interfaces, as previously described for the IFN λ /IFN λ R1/ IL10R2 complex (Figure 2B). Compared to IFN λ /IFN λ R1, the IFNy site-1 interface is more extensive with major contacts between the AB loop and helix F of IFNy and IFNGR1 L2-L6 loops. The site-2 IFNy/IFNGR2 interface is comprised almost exclusively of contacts with IFNy helix D and no contacts with helix A, the main contact region in the IFN λ complex. Despite these differences, IFNGR2 still forms a D2-D2 site 3 interface with the IFNGR1, which positions the C-termini of the receptors 22Å apart at the cell surface prior to their entry into the membrane. Thus, assembly of the IFN γ signaling complex is cooperative, requiring the formation of the IFNy/IFNGR1 binary complex first, followed by IFNGR2 binding to induce cell signaling.

The Type-I IFN/IFNAR1/IFNAR2 Complex

The type-I IFN receptor complex is distinct from both the type-II and type-III receptor complexes (Figure 2). The high affinity IFNAR2 chain adopts a two-domain D1/D2 receptor structure, as observed for IFN λ R1 and IFNGR1 chains (Figure 2) (114). NMR and X-ray structures confirm IFNAR2 binds to an IFN site-1 epitope that is comprised of residues on helix A, the AB loop, and helix F, similar to the type-II and type-III IFNs (100, 115, 116). IFNAR2 makes extensive interactions with Arg-33 (IFNα2 numbering) in the AB loop of the IFNs. Arg-33, and the structurally adjacent Leu-30, account for approximately two thirds of the IFNα2/IFNAR2 binding energy (29, 100, 117). Additional critical contacts occur with the IFNAR2 L3 and L4 binding loops, which contact helix F residues Met-148 and Arg-149 (IFN α 2 numbers) (117). Although we know that all 16 IFNs exhibit a variety of affinities for IFNAR2 (26-28, 89), the mechanisms that control IFNAR2 affinity for each IFN subtype remains incomplete. In general, it appears that subtle changes to residues around these energetically critical residues modulate IFN-subtype IFNAR2 affinity.

The type-I IFN low affinity receptor chain, IFNAR1, is completely unique relative to the other IFN and IL10 family cytokine receptors (**Figure 2**). IFNAR1 consists of four β sandwich domains (D1-D4), similar to tandem D1/D2 receptors, where the D4 domain is the membrane proximal domain. The D2 and D3 domains of the receptor form an extensive interface with one another, while the D1 domain can undergo rigid body movements. Overall, IFNAR1 D1-D3 domains form an IFN-binding module, while the D4 domain is attached to D3 by a flexible linker that allows the D4 domain to adopt multiple conformations, even when bound to IFN (100, 118). Despite a unique structure, IFNAR1 loops at the ends of D1, D2 and D3 domains contact IFN helices C, D, and E, with the D1 domain "closing down" on helix E, like a hand grabbing a glass.

Based on the features described above, the binding of type-I IFNs by IFNAR1 represents a novel protein recognition paradigm. First, the IFNAR1-IFN contact surface, consisting of IFN helices C, D, and E, is larger than for the other IFN complexes. Second, the membrane proximal D4 domain of IFNAR1 does not form a site 3 interface, at least not a stable interface, with the D2 domain of IFNAR2. This suggests that by increasing the size of the IFNAR1-IFN site-2 interface (see Figure 2C), using novel D1/helix E interactions, the type-I IFN complex no longer requires a site-3 interface. Thus, for the type-I IFN complex, there is no structure-based cooperativity enforced by a D2-D4 site-3 interaction. Rather, receptor complex assembly and stability is controlled completely by IFN-IFNAR2 and IFN-IFNAR1 affinities. While it is possible that free IFNs, and IFNs bound to IFNAR2, could exhibit different affinities for IFNAR1, resulting in an affinity-based cooperative binding mechanism, this has not been demonstrated experimentally.

The mechanistic role of the IFNAR1 D4 domain in type-I IFN receptor activation remains unclear since the D4 domain was not observed in crystal structures of the IFN/IFNAR1/IFNAR2 complex (Figure 5A). To identify possible location/s of the IFNAR1 D4 domain, the IFNλ3/IFNλR1/IL10R2 complex was superimposed onto the IFN@/IFNAR1/IFNAR2 complex (Figure 5B). In this model, the D1 domain of IL10R2 overlaps with the IFNAR1 D3 domain and the putative location of the IFNAR1 D4 domain, represented by the IL10R2 D2 domain, is adjacent to the IFNAR2 D2 domain creating a D2-D4 site-3 interface, as observed in type-II and type-III complexes (Figure **2**). A second possible position of the D4 domain is provided by the structure of the murine IFN β /IFNAR1 binary complex (119), where all four domains of IFNAR1 were observed. Superposition of the murine IFNβ/IFNAR1 complex on the IFN/IFNAR1/ IFNAR2 human complex places the C-terminal ends of IFNAR2 D2 and IFNAR1 D4 51Å apart (Figure 5C), in contrast to 30Å and 22Å for the IFN λ and IFN γ complexes, respectively. These models lead to two possible conclusions. First, type-I IFNs assemble a novel "open" complex with the C-terminal ends of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 separated by ~50Å. Second, the "open" conformation is an inactive complex, which must "close" to form a D2/D4 site-3 interface to induce IFN activity. Our analysis suggests that IFN binding to IFNAR2 and IFNAR1 promotes transient IFNAR2-D2/IFNAR1-D4 interactions. Thus, the stability of the IFN/IFNAR1/IFNAR2 interaction would control the number of transient "open"/ "closed" D2-D4 site-3 binding events, which could influence signaling strength. Thus, the stability of the IFN/IFNAR2 and



= 3WCY) on the IFN/IFNAR1/IFNAR2 complex. The position of the modeled D4 domain (green), derived from the murine IFNβ/IFNAR1 structure is shown in green, and the location of the IFNAR1 D4 domain obtained from superimposing the IFNλ receptor complex is shown in magenta. Since the human IFNAR1 D4 domain does not form a stable D2-D4 interaction with IFNAR2, D4 may transition between green and magenta conformations to induce biological activity. The exact role of the D4 domain in IFN signal transduction remains unknown.

IFN/IFNAR1 interactions would regulate signaling, as has been previously described (120).

Despite structures that reveal extracellular IFN-receptor recognition and assembly mechanisms, there remain questions about IFN-mediated signal transducing events that initiate and sustain cellular activation. For example, it remains unclear how all 16 IFNs, that exhibit a spectrum of affinities for the IFNARs (weak/strong), can all activate a subset of genes associated with antiviral activity on all cells, while additional cellular functions of the IFNs, one such readout being anti-proliferative activity, correlates with IFN-IFNAR affinity (121). These two distinct cellular readouts, labeled as robust and tunable activation (121), might be explained by an IFNAR1/2 pre-association model (122) and an IFN-mediated IFNAR1/2 heterodimerization model (123), respectively. The IFNAR pre-association could account for rapid IFN-mediated activation of antiviral gene expression, while IFN-mediated IFNAR dimerization could account for tunable gene expression. The implication of the pre-association model is that the IFNs induce a structural change in the IFNARs that activate JAK1/TYK2 and induce rapid anti-viral gene expression, while the dimerization model relies solely on IFNmediated dimerization of the IFNARs to activate JAK1/TYK2 and subsequently induce IFN-mediated gene expression. Technical issues, specifically analysis of artificially high IFNAR expression levels, have been suggested to be responsible for the observation of pre-associated IFNARs (123). Unfortunately, the investigators criticizing the pre-association model did not confirm that overexpression of the IFNARs leads to IFNAR1/2 interactions. Nonetheless, the cortical actin cellular meshwork and/or lipid rafts could provide a suitable mechanism to "concentrate" IFNARs for rapid induction of robust antiviral genes by all IFNs, while still allowing tunable activities that are dependent on IFN-IFNAR affinities (124). Overall, the data suggest that the major mechanism regulating IFN activation is IFN-mediated IFNAR1/2 heterodimerization, although some

recent data suggests IFN-induced IFNAR conformational changes may also regulate IFN activity (125).

The Murine Type-I IFN Family Is Distinct From Human Type-I IFNs

The murine IFNβ/IFNAR1 binary complex structure provides an important datapoint in the proposed model of human type-I IFN signaling. However, my lab and others have previously noted the "uniqueness" of type-I IFN families in different animals (10, 126-129). For example, the murine IFN system consists of 14 IFN α s (note that murine and human IFN α subtype designations have no bearing on their interspecies sequence and/or functional similarities), as well as IFN β , IFN ϵ , IFN κ , limitin (130), but do not encode an IFN ω (126). Thus, it is necessary to ask if the murine IFNs and receptor proteins, as well as their biological outcomes, can be extrapolated to humans. From a structural biology perspective, the overall folds of murine (62) and human (5) IFN β , which share 47% sequence identity, are almost identical (Figure 6A). The extracellular regions of human and murine IFNAR1 share 49% amino acid sequence identity and the structures of D1-D3 domains of murine and human IFNAR1s are also almost identical (119). These findings suggest the overall model proposed for the missing D4 domain in the human IFN/ IFNAR2/IFNAR1 complex is plausible (Figure 5).

Despite similar overall receptor complex structures, the receptor binding properties of murine and human IFN β are distinct. Human IFN β binds to IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 with ~30nM and ~0.1nM *K*D values, respectively (28). However, in the mouse, IFN β receptor affinities are "flipped" such that the IFN β -IFNAR1 forms the high affinity interaction (*K*D ~10nM) and the IFN β -IFNAR2 forms the low affinity interaction (*K*D ~1.7 μ M) (86). Structural comparisons of human and murine IFN β reveal the AB loop of murine IFN β , which forms a major part of the IFNAR2 site-1 binding site, exhibits a distinct structure compared to human IFN β (**Figure 6**). In human



IFN β , the AB-loop arches toward the N-terminal end of helix-F, "over" helix F itself, where the loop connects to helix F by a disulfide bond. In contrast, the murine IFNB AB-loop wraps "across" helix F where it would disrupt high affinity IFNAR2 interactions, as observed in the human IFNa/IFNAR2 crystal structure (Figure 6B). Interestingly, sequence alignments reveal the murine IFNAR2 receptor binding loops that contact the AB loop region of murine IFN β are the same length as human IFNAR2. In addition, murine IFNoxs bind with high affinity (KD ~1nM) to murine IFNAR2 (86). Thus, it is likely murine IFNAR2 receptor binding loops do not change their lengths, or grossly change their conformations, to accommodate the distinct murine IFN β AB loop structure. Together, these structural observations provide an explanation for the low affinity of the murine IFN β / IFNAR2 interaction, compared to the human IFNβ-IFNAR2 interaction. While this structural analysis is satisfying with respect to murine and human IFN β , it highlights the many distinct properties of the murine IFNs, from structure to mechanism to in vivo outcomes, remain uncharacterized.

Moving Forward

This review has focused on fundamental structural features of the three human IFN families, highlighting similar and unique features of each receptor complex. The ultimate goal of structural studies is to define mechanisms that can be used to discover optimal IFN therapeutics that harness the antiviral activity of the IFNs to improve human health (131). The importance of this goal is highlighted by the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic that is ravaging our society (72, 132–134). Based on the critical role that IFN – IFN receptor affinity plays in varying IFN activity (26, 120, 135), type-I and type-III IFNs with increased receptor affinity have been designed, yet they have not advanced into the clinic (79, 136, 137). Presumably because we still do not know the optimal design principles to create an optimal IFN therapeutic. Given that humans produce 20 different type-I/III IFNs in response to pathogens, the

design may not be simple and might require the synergistic actions of both type-I and type-III IFNs. For example, type-I IFN β and type-III IFN₃ induced distinct anti-viral gene expression profiles with distinct kinetics on human hepatocytes (138). Specifically, high affinity IFNB induced potent antiviral protection almost immediately (~2 h) after addition to cells that waned after ~48 h. In contrast, IFN\lambda3 antiviral activity was not observed until ~12 h after treatment, but was sustained for at least 72 h post-treatment (138). These data highlight the interplay of distinct receptor affinities and negative feedback mechanisms (139, 140), which synergistically control IFN-mediated antiviral signaling. Notably, type-III IFN signaling has been shown to be resistant to USP18mediated negative feedback regulation, which potently regulates type-I IFN signaling (141). USP18 is induced by type-I and type-III IFNs, but specifically binds to the ICD of IFNAR2 and disrupts IFNα-mediated IFNAR1/IFNAR2 complex formation. These studies demonstrate that the anti-viral signaling cascade induced by type-I and type-III IFNs is very similar, yet multiple mechanisms can tailor the response for optimal functional outcomes, which include eliminating the virus and protecting the host. These studies, and more like them, are providing new design principles to further our quest for safe and efficacious IFNs with broad-spectrum antiviral activity.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MRW performed literature searches, made figures, and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This manuscript was funded in part by NIH grant R01 AI143554.

REFERENCES

- Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci (1957) 147(927):258–67. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1957.0048
- Wheelock EF. Interferon-like virus-inhibitor induced in human leukocytes by phytohemagglutinin. *Science (New York NY)* (1965) 149(3681):310–1. doi: 10.1126/science.149.3681.310
- Stewart WE. 2nd. Interferon nomenclature recommendations. J Infect Dis (1980) 142(4):643. doi: 10.1093/infdis/142.4.643
- Radhakrishnan R, Walter LJ, Hruza A, Reichert P, Trotta PP, Nagabhushan TL, et al. Zinc mediated dimer of human interferon-alpha 2b revealed by Xray crystallography. *Structure* (1996) 4(12):1453–63. doi: 10.1016/S0969-2126(96)00152-9
- Karpusas M, Nolte M, Benton CB, Meier W, Lipscomb WN, Goelz S. The crystal structure of human interferon beta at 2.2-A resolution. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94(22):11813–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.22.11813
- Ealick SE, Cook WJ, Vijay-Kumar S, Carson M, Nagabhushan TL, Trotta PP, et al. Three-dimensional structure of recombinant human interferongamma. *Science (New York NY)* (1991) 252(5006):698–702. doi: 10.1126/ science.1902591
- Landar A, Curry B, Parker MH, DiGiacomo R, Indelicato SR, Nagabhushan TL, et al. Design, characterization, and structure of a biologically active single-chain mutant of human IFN-gamma. J Mol Biol (2000) 299(1):169– 79. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2000.3734
- Randal M, Kossiakoff AA. The structure and activity of a monomeric interferon-gamma:alpha-chain receptor signaling complex. *Struct (Camb)* (2001) 9(2):155–63. doi: 10.1016/S0969-2126(01)00567-6
- Díaz MO, Pomykala HM, Bohlander SK, Maltepe E, Malik K, Brownstein B, et al. Structure of the human type-I interferon gene cluster determined from a YAC clone contig. *Genomics* (1994) 22(3):540–52. doi: 10.1006/ geno.1994.1427
- Pestka S. The human interferon-alpha species and hybrid proteins. Semin Oncol (1997) 24(3 Suppl 9):S9–4-S9-17.
- Pestka S. The interferons: 50 years after their discovery, there is much more to learn. J Biol Chem (2007) 282(28):20047–51. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R700004200
- Pestka S, Krause CD, Sarkar D, Walter MR, Shi Y, Fisher PB. Interleukin-10 and related cytokines and receptors. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2004) 22:929–79. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104622
- Pestka S, Krause CD, Walter MR. Interferons, interferon-like cytokines, and their receptors. *Immunol Rev* (2004) 202:8–32. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.00204.x
- Hardy MP, Owczarek CM, Jermiin LS, Ejdeback M, Hertzog PJ. Characterization of the type I interferon locus and identification of novel genes. *Genomics* (2004) 84(2):331–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2004.03.003
- LaFleur DW, Nardelli B, Tsareva T, Mather D, Feng P, Semenuk M, et al. Interferon-kappa, a novel type I interferon expressed in human keratinocytes. J Biol Chem (2001) 276(43):39765–71. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M102502200
- Hauptmann R, Swetly P. A novel class of human type I interferons. Nucleic Acids Res (1985) 13(13):4739–49. doi: 10.1093/nar/13.13.4739
- Sheppard P, Kindsvogel W, Xu W, Henderson K, Schlutsmeyer S, Whitmore TE, et al. IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(1):63–8. doi: 10.1038/ni873
- Kotenko SV, Gallagher G, Baurin VV, Lewis-Antes A, Shen M, Shah NK, et al. IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(1):69–77. doi: 10.1038/ ni875
- Gad HH, Dellgren C, Hamming OJ, Vends S, Paludan SR, Hartmann R. Interferon-lambda is functionally an interferon but structurally related to the interleukin-10 family. *J Biol Chem* (2009) 284(31):20869–75. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M109.002923
- Walter MR. Strucure of interleukin-10/interleukin-10R1 complex: a paradigm for class 2 cytokine activation. *Immunol Res* (2002) 26(1-3): 303-8. doi: 10.1385/IR:26:1-3:303
- Walter MR. Structural analysis of IL-10 and Type I interferon family members and their complexes with receptor. *Adv Protein Chem* (2004) 68:171–223. doi: 10.1016/S0065-3233(04)68006-5

- Ouyang W, Rutz S, Crellin NK, Valdez PA, Hymowitz SG. Regulation and functions of the IL-10 family of cytokines in inflammation and disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:71–109. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101312
- Xu T, Logsdon NJ, Walter MR. Structure of insect-cell-derived IL-22. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr (2005) 61(Pt 7):942–50. doi: 10.1107/ S0907444905009601
- Nagem RA, Colau D, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Ogata C, Polikarpov I. Crystal structure of recombinant human interleukin-22. *Struct (Camb)* (2002) 10(8):1051–62. doi: 10.1016/S0969-2126(02)00797-9
- 25. Prokunina-Olsson L, Muchmore B, Tang W, Pfeiffer RM, Park H, Dickensheets H, et al. A variant upstream of IFNL3 (IL28B) creating a new interferon gene IFNL4 is associated with impaired clearance of hepatitis C virus. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45(2):164–71. doi: 10.1038/ng.2521
- Lavoie TB, Kalie E, Crisafulli-Cabatu S, Abramovich R, DiGioia G, Moolchan K, et al. Binding and activity of all human alpha interferon subtypes. *Cytokine* (2011) 56(2):282–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.07.019
- Deshpande A, Putcha BD, Kuruganti S, Walter MR. Kinetic analysis of cytokine-mediated receptor assembly using engineered FC heterodimers. *Protein Sci* (2013) 22(8):1100–8. doi: 10.1002/pro.2285
- Jaks E, Gavutis M, Uze G, Martal J, Piehler J. Differential receptor subunit affinities of type I interferons govern differential signal activation. J Mol Biol (2007) 366(2):525–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2006.11.053
- Piehler J, Schreiber G. Biophysical analysis of the interaction of human ifnar2 expressed in E. coli with IFNalpha2. J Mol Biol (1999) 289(1):57–67. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1999.2726
- Roisman LC, Jaitin DA, Baker DP, Schreiber G. Mutational analysis of the IFNAR1 binding site on IFNalpha2 reveals the architecture of a weak ligandreceptor binding-site. J Mol Biol (2005) 353(2):271–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.jmb.2005.08.042
- Donnelly RP, Sheikh F, Dickensheets H, Savan R, Young HA, Walter MR. Interleukin-26: an IL-10-related cytokine produced by Th17 cells. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21(5):393–401. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.09.001
- Donnelly RP, Sheikh F, Kotenko SV, Dickensheets H. The expanded family of class II cytokines that share the IL-10 receptor-2 (IL-10R2) chain. *J Leukoc Biol* (2004) 76(2):314–21. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0204117
- Fickenscher H, Hor S, Kupers H, Knappe A, Wittmann S, Sticht H. The interleukin-10 family of cytokines. *Trends Immunol* (2002) 23(2):89–96. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02149-4
- 34. Briscoe J, Guschin D, Rogers NC, Watling D, Muller M, Horn F, et al. JAKs, STATs and signal transduction in response to the interferons and other cytokines. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (1996) 351(1336):167–71. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104622
- Ferrao R, Lupardus PJ. The Janus Kinase (JAK) FERM and SH2 Domains: Bringing Specificity to JAK-Receptor Interactions. *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*) (2017) 8:71. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00071
- Kerr IM, Costa-Pereira AP, Lillemeier BF, Strobl B. Of JAKs, STATs, blind watchmakers, jeeps and trains. *FEBS Lett* (2003) 546(1):1–5. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2017.00071
- O'Shea JJ, Schwartz DM, Villarino AV, Gadina M, McInnes IB, Laurence A. The JAK-STAT pathway: impact on human disease and therapeutic intervention. *Annu Rev Med* (2015) 66:311–28. doi: 10.1146/annurevmed-051113-024537
- O'Shea JJ, Visconti R, Cheng TP, Gadina M. Jaks and stats as therapeutic targets. Ann Rheum Dis (2000) 59(Suppl 1):i115–8. doi: 10.1146/annurevmed-051113-024537
- Farrar MA, Schreiber RD. The molecular cell biology of interferon-gamma and its receptor. Annu Rev Immunol (1993) 11:571–611. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.iy.11.040193.003035
- Borden EC, Sen GC, Uze G, Silverman RH, Ransohoff RM, Foster GR, et al. Interferons at age 50: past, current and future impact on biomedicine. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2007) 6(12):975–90. doi: 10.1038/nrd2422
- Platanias LC. Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5(5):375–86. doi: 10.1038/nri1604
- 42. Samuel CE. Antiviral actions of interferons. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2001) 14 (4):778–809. doi: 10.1128/CMR.14.4.778-809.2001
- 43. Graham MB, Dalton DK, Giltinan D, Braciale VL, Stewart TA, Braciale TJ. Response to influenza infection in mice with a targeted disruption in the

interferon gamma gene. J Exp Med (1993) 178(5):1725-32. doi: 10.1084/ jem.178.5.1725

- Huang S, Hendriks W, Althage A, Hemmi S, Bluethmann H, Kamijo R, et al. Immune response in mice that lack the interferon-gamma receptor. *Science* (*New York NY*) (1993) 259(5102):1742–5. doi: 10.1126/science.8456301
- Wu J, Chen ZJ. Innate Immune Sensing and Signaling of Cytosolic Nucleic Acids. Annu Rev Immunol (2014) 32(1):461–88. doi: 10.1146/annurevimmunol-032713-120156
- Chow KT, Gale MJr., Loo YM. RIG-I and Other RNA Sensors in Antiviral Immunity. Annu Rev Immunol (2018) 36:667–94. doi: 10.1146/annurevimmunol-042617-053309
- Severa M, Fitzgerald KA. TLR-mediated activation of type I IFN during antiviral immune responses: fighting the battle to win the war. *Curr Topics Microbiol Immunol* (2007) 316:167–92. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-71329-6_9
- Park A, Iwasaki A. Type I and Type III Interferons Induction, Signaling, Evasion, and Application to Combat COVID-19. *Cell host Microbe* (2020) 27 (6):870–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.05.008
- Bach EA, Aguet M, Schreiber RD. The IFN gamma receptor: a paradigm for cytokine receptor signaling. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1997) 15:563–91. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.15.1.563
- Sologuren I, Boisson-Dupuis S, Pestano J, Vincent QB, Fernandez-Perez L, Chapgier A, et al. Partial recessive IFN-gammaR1 deficiency: genetic, immunological and clinical features of 14 patients from 11 kindreds. *Hum Mol Genet* (2011) 20(8):1509–23. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr029
- Hernandez N, Bucciol G, Moens L, Le Pen J, Shahrooei M, Goudouris E, et al. Inherited IFNAR1 deficiency in otherwise healthy patients with adverse reaction to measles and yellow fever live vaccines. *J Exp Med* (2019) 216 (9):2057–70. doi: 10.1084/jem.20182295
- Pöyhönen L, Bustamante J, Casanova J-L, Jouanguy E, Zhang Q. Life-Threatening Infections Due to Live-Attenuated Vaccines: Early Manifestations of Inborn Errors of Immunity. *J Clin Immunol* (2019) 39 (4):376–90. doi: 10.1007/s10875-019-00642-3
- 53. Diegelmann J, Beigel F, Zitzmann K, Kaul A, Goke B, Auernhammer CJ, et al. Comparative analysis of the lambda-interferons IL-28A and IL-29 regarding their transcriptome and their antiviral properties against hepatitis C virus. PLoS One (2010) 5(12):e15200. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015200
- 54. Zhou Z, Hamming OJ, Ank N, Paludan SR, Nielsen AL, Hartmann R. Type III interferon (IFN) induces a type I IFN-like response in a restricted subset of cells through signaling pathways involving both the Jak-STAT pathway and the mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Virol (2007) 81(14):7749–58. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02438-06
- Smeekens SP, Ng A, Kumar V, Johnson MD, Plantinga TS, van Diemen C, et al. Functional genomics identifies type I interferon pathway as central for host defense against Candida albicans. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:1342. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2343
- Abt MC, Osborne LC, Monticelli LA, Doering TA, Alenghat T, Sonnenberg GF, et al. Commensal bacteria calibrate the activation threshold of innate antiviral immunity. *Immunity* (2012) 37(1):158–70. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2012.04.011
- 57. Li S, Rouphael N, Duraisingham S, Romero-Steiner S, Presnell S, Davis C, et al. Molecular signatures of antibody responses derived from a systems biology study of five human vaccines. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(2):195–204. doi: 10.1038/ni.2789
- 58. Wu JQ, Dwyer DE, Dyer WB, Yang YH, Wang B, Saksena NK. Transcriptional profiles in CD8+ T cells from HIV+ progressors on HAART are characterized by coordinated up-regulation of oxidative phosphorylation enzymes and interferon responses. *Virology* (2008) 380 (1):124–35. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2008.06.039
- Klaus W, Gsell B, Labhardt AM, Wipf B, Senn H. The three-dimensional high resolution structure of human interferon alpha-2a determined by heteronuclear NMR spectroscopy in solution. J Mol Biol (1997) 274 (4):661–75. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1997.1396
- Radhakrishnan R, Walter LJ, Subramaniam PS, Johnson HM, Walter MR. Crystal structure of ovine interferon-tau at 2.1 A resolution. J Mol Biol (1999) 286(1):151–62. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1998.2480
- Walter MR. Three-dimensional models of interferon-alpha subtypes IFNcon1, IFN-alpha8, andIFN-alpha1 derived from the crystal structure of IFNalpha2b. Semin Oncol (1997) 24(3 Suppl 9):S9–52-S9-62.

- Senda T, Saitoh S, Mitsui Y. Refined crystal structure of recombinant murine interferon-beta at 2.15 A resolution. J Mol Biol (1995) 253(1):187–207. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1995.0544
- Ouyang S, Gong B, Li JZ, Zhao LX, Wu W, Zhang FS, et al. Structural insights into a human anti-IFN antibody exerting therapeutic potential for systemic lupus erythematosus. J Mol Med (Berl) (2012) 90(7):837–46. doi: 10.1007/s00109-012-0866-3
- Gad HH, Hamming OJ, Hartmann R. The structure of human interferon lambda and what it has taught us. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2010) 30 (8):565–71. doi: 10.1089/jir.2010.0062
- Kotenko SV, Langer JA. Full house: 12 receptors for 27 cytokines. Int Immunopharmacol (2004) 4(5):593–608. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2004.01.003
- 66. Trivella DB, Ferreira-Junior JR, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Polikarpov I. Structure and function of interleukin-22 and other members of the interleukin-10 family. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2010) 67(17):2909–35. doi: 10.1007/s00018-010-0380-0
- 67. Boniface K, Guignouard E, Pedretti N, Garcia M, Delwail A, Bernard FX, et al. A role for T cell-derived interleukin 22 in psoriatic skin inflammation. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2007) 150(3):407–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03511.x
- Brand S, Beigel F, Olszak T, Zitzmann K, Eichhorst ST, Otte JM, et al. IL-22 is increased in active Crohn's disease and promotes proinflammatory gene expression and intestinal epithelial cell migration. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2006) 290(4):G827–38. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00513.2005
- Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R. IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. *Immunity* (2004) 21(2):241–54. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2004.07.007
- Zheng Y, Valdez PA, Danilenko DM, Hu Y, Sa SM, Gong Q, et al. Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(3):282–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1720
- Lazear HM, Schoggins JW, Diamond MS. Shared and Distinct Functions of Type I and Type III Interferons. *Immunity* (2019) 50(4):907–23. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.025
- Prokunina-Olsson L, Alphonse N, Dickenson RE, Durbin JE, Glenn JS, Hartmann R, et al. COVID-19 and emerging viral infections: The case for interferon lambda. J Exp Med (2020) 217(5):1–4. doi: 10.1084/jem.20200653
- Major J, Crotta S, Llorian M, McCabe TM, Gad HH, Priestnall SL, et al. Type I and III interferons disrupt lung epithelial repair during recovery from viral infection. *Sci* (*N Y NY*) (2020) 369(6504):712–7. doi: 10.1126/ science.abc2061
- 74. Broggi A, Ghosh S, Sposito B, Spreafico R, Balzarini F, Lo Cascio A, et al. Type III interferons disrupt the lung epithelial barrier upon viral recognition. *Science(New York NY)* (2020) 369(6504):706–12. doi: 10.1126/ science.abc3545
- Grajales-Reyes GE, Colonna M. Interferon responses in viral pneumonias. Sci (N Y NY) (2020) 369(6504):626–7. doi: 10.1126/science.abd2208
- Walter MR, Nagabhushan TL. Crystal structure of interleukin 10 reveals an interferon gamma-like fold. *Biochemistry* (1995) 34(38):12118–25. doi: 10.1021/bi00038a004
- Zdanov A, Schalk-Hihi C, Gustchina A, Tsang M, Weatherbee J, Wlodawer A. Crystal structure of interleukin-10 reveals the functional dimer with an unexpected topological similarity to interferon gamma. *Structure* (1995) 3 (6):591–601. doi: 10.1016/S0969-2126(01)00193-9
- Kotenko SV. The family of IL-10-related cytokines and their receptors: related, but to what extent? *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2002) 13(3):223– 40. doi: 10.1016/S1359-6101(02)00012-6
- Mendoza JL, Schneider WM, Hoffmann HH, Vercauteren K, Jude KM, Xiong A, et al. The IFN-λ-IFN-λR1-IL-10Rβ Complex Reveals Structural Features Underlying Type III IFN Functional Plasticity. *Immunity* (2017) 46 (3):379–92. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.02.017
- Jones BC, Logsdon NJ, Walter MR. Structure of IL-22 bound to its highaffinity IL-22R1 chain. *Structure* (2008) 16(9):1333–44. doi: 10.1016/ j.str.2008.06.005
- Sommereyns C, Paul S, Staeheli P, Michiels T. IFN-lambda (IFN-lambda) is expressed in a tissue-dependent fashion and primarily acts on epithelial cells *in vivo. PLoS Pathog* (2008) 4(3):e1000017. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000017
- 82. Mordstein M, Neugebauer E, Ditt V, Jessen B, Rieger T, Falcone V, et al. Lambda interferon renders epithelial cells of the respiratory and

gastrointestinal tracts resistant to viral infections. J Virol (2010) 84 (11):5670–7. doi: 10.1128/jvi.00272-10

- Kotenko SV, Rivera A, Parker D, Durbin JE. Type III IFNs: Beyond antiviral protection. *Semin Immunol* (2019) 43:101303. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2019.101303
- Pott J, Mahlakoiv T, Mordstein M, Duerr CU, Michiels T, Stockinger S, et al. IFN-lambda determines the intestinal epithelial antiviral host defense. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2011) 108(19):7944–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1100552108
- Fung KY, Mangan NE, Cumming H, Horvat JC, Mayall JR, Stifter SA, et al. Interferon-epsilon protects the female reproductive tract from viral and bacterial infection. *Science (New York NY)* (2013) 339(6123):1088–92. doi: 10.1126/science.1233321
- Stifter SA, Matthews AY, Mangan NE, Fung KY, Drew A, Tate MD, et al. Defining the distinct, intrinsic properties of the novel type I interferon, IFN. *J Biol Chem* (2018) 293(9):3168–79. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.800755
- Couret J, Tasker C, Kim J, Sihvonen T, Fruitwala S, Quayle AJ, et al. Differential regulation of IFNalpha, IFNbeta and IFNepsilon gene expression in human cervical epithelial cells. *Cell Biosci* (2017) 7:57. doi: 10.1186/ s13578-017-0185-z
- Nardelli B, Zaritskaya L, Semenuk M, Cho YH, LaFleur DW, Shah D, et al. Regulatory effect of IFN-kappa, a novel type I IFN, on cytokine production by cells of the innate immune system. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950)* (2002) 169(9):4822–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.9.4822
- Harris BD, Schreiter J, Chevrier M, Jordan JL, Walter MR. Human Interferon-ε and interferon-kappa exhibit low potency and low affinity for cell surface IFNAR and the poxvirus antagonist B18R. J Biol Chem (2018) 293(41):16057–68. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.003617
- Miknis ZJ, Magracheva E, Li W, Zdanov A, Kotenko SV, Wlodawer A. Crystal structure of human interferon-lambda1 in complex with its highaffinity receptor interferon-lambdaR1. J Mol Biol (2010) 404(4):650–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2010.09.068
- Yoon SI, Jones BC, Logsdon NJ, Harris BD, Deshpande A, Radaeva S, et al. Structure and mechanism of receptor sharing by the IL-10R2 common chain. *Structure* (2010) 18(5):638–48. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2010.02.009
- Dellgren C, Gad HH, Hamming OJ, Melchjorsen J, Hartmann R. Human interferon-lambda3 is a potent member of the type III interferon family. *Genes Immun* (2009) 10(2):125–31. doi: 10.1038/gene.2008.87
- P3. Terczyńska-Dyla E, Bibert S, Duong FHT, Krol I, Jørgensen S, Collinet E, et al. Reduced IFNλ4 activity is associated with improved HCV clearance and reduced expression of interferon-stimulated genes. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5(1):5699. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6699
- Ge D, Fellay J, Thompson AJ, Simon JS, Shianna KV, Urban TJ, et al. Genetic variation in IL28B predicts hepatitis C treatment-induced viral clearance. *Nature* (2009) 461(7262):399–401. doi: 10.1038/nature08309
- Tanaka Y, Nishida N, Sugiyama M, Kurosaki M, Matsuura K, Sakamoto N, et al. Genome-wide association of IL28B with response to pegylated interferon-alpha and ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C. Nat Genet (2009) 41(10):1105–9. doi: 10.1038/ng.449
- Suppiah V, Moldovan M, Ahlenstiel G, Berg T, Weltman M, Abate ML, et al. IL28B is associated with response to chronic hepatitis C interferon-alpha and ribavirin therapy. *Nat Genet* (2009) 41(10):1100–4. doi: 10.1038/ng.447
- 97. Hamming OJ, Terczyńska-Dyla E, Vieyres G, Dijkman R, Jørgensen SE, Akhtar H, et al. Interferon lambda 4 signals via the IFNλ receptor to regulate antiviral activity against HCV and coronaviruses. EMBO J (2013) 32 (23):3055–65. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.232
- Meager A, Visvalingam K, Dilger P, Bryan D, Wadhwa M. Biological activity of interleukins-28 and -29: comparison with type I interferons. *Cytokine* (2005) 31(2):109–18. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2005.04.003
- Mendoza JL, Escalante NK, Jude KM, Sotolongo Bellon J, Su L, Horton TM, et al. Structure of the IFNγ receptor complex guides design of biased agonists. *Nature* (2019) 567(7746):56–60. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0988-7
- 100. Thomas C, Moraga I, Levin D, Krutzik PO, Podoplelova Y, Trejo A, et al. Structural linkage between ligand discrimination and receptor activation by type I interferons. *Cell* (2011) 146(4):621–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.06.048
- 101. Walter MR, Windsor WT, Nagabhushan TL, Lundell DJ, Lunn CA, Zauodny PJ, et al. Crystal structure of a complex between interferon-gamma and its soluble high-affinity receptor. *Nature* (1995) 376(6537):230–5. doi: 10.1038/376230a0

- Walter MR. The molecular basis of IL-10 function: from receptor structure to the onset of signaling. *Curr Topics Microbiol Immunol* (2014) 380:191–212. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-43492-5_9
- 103. Mao X, Ren Z, Parker GN, Sondermann H, Pastorello MA, Wang W, et al. Structural bases of unphosphorylated STAT1 association and receptor binding. *Mol Cell* (2005) 17(6):761–71. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2005.02.021
- 104. Chen X, Vinkemeier U, Zhao Y, Jeruzalmi D, Darnell JEJr., Kuriyan J. Crystal structure of a tyrosine phosphorylated STAT-1 dimer bound to DNA. *Cell* (1998) 93(5):827–39. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81443-9
- 105. Krause CD, Lunn CA, Izotova LS, Mirochnitchenko O, Kotenko SV, Lundell DJ, et al. Signaling by covalent heterodimers of interferon-gamma. Evidence for onesided signaling in the active tetrameric receptor complex. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275 (30):22995–3004. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M909607199
- 106. Gough DJ, Levy DE, Johnstone RW, Clarke CJ. IFNgamma signaling-does it mean JAK-STAT? Cytokine Growth Factor Rev (2008) 19(5-6):383–94. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2008.08.004
- 107. O'Donnell LA, Henkins KM, Kulkarni A, Matullo CM, Balachandran S, Pattisapu AK, et al. Interferon gamma induces protective non-canonical signaling pathways in primary neurons. J Neurochem (2015) 135(2):309–22. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13250
- 108. Ivashkiv LB. IFNγ: signalling, epigenetics and roles in immunity, metabolism, disease and cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 18(9):545–58. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0029-z
- 109. Nathan CF, Murray HW, Wiebe ME, Rubin BY. Identification of interferongamma as the lymphokine that activates human macrophage oxidative metabolism and antimicrobial activity. J Exp Med (1983) 158(3):670–89. doi: 10.1084/jem.158.3.670
- 110. Young HA, Bream JH. IFN-gamma: recent advances in understanding regulation of expression, biological functions, and clinical applications. *Curr Topics Microbiol Immunol* (2007) 316:97–117. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-71329-6_6
- Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(11):836–48. doi: 10.1038/ nri1961
- 112. Alspach E, Lussier DM, Schreiber RD. Interferon γ and Its Important Roles in Promoting and Inhibiting Spontaneous and Therapeutic Cancer Immunity. Cold Spring Harbor Perspect Biol (2019) 11(3):1–20. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a028480
- 113. Zhang SY, Boisson-Dupuis S, Chapgier A, Yang K, Bustamante J, Puel A, et al. Inborn errors of interferon (IFN)-mediated immunity in humans: insights into the respective roles of IFN-alpha/beta, IFN-gamma, and IFNlambda in host defense. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 226:29–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00698.x
- 114. Chill JH, Quadt SR, Levy R, Schreiber G, Anglister J. The human type I interferon receptor: NMR structure reveals the molecular basis of ligand binding. *Struct (Camb)* (2003) 11(7):791–802. doi: 10.1016/S0969-2126(03) 00120-5
- 115. Nudelman I, Akabayov SR, Scherf T, Anglister J. Observation of intermolecular interactions in large protein complexes by 2D-double difference nuclear Overhauser enhancement spectroscopy: application to the 44 kDa interferon-receptor complex. J Am Chem Soc (2011) 133 (37):14755–64. doi: 10.1021/ja205480v
- 116. Nudelman I, Akabayov SR, Schnur E, Biron Z, Levy R, Xu Y, et al. Intermolecular interactions in a 44 kDa interferon-receptor complex detected by asymmetric reverse-protonation and two-dimensional NOESY. *Biochemistry* (2010) 49(25):5117–33. doi: 10.1021/bi100041f
- 117. Piehler J, Schreiber G. Mutational and structural analysis of the binding interface between type I interferons and their receptor Ifnar2. J Mol Biol (1999) 294(1):223–37. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1999.3230
- 118. Li Z, Strunk JJ, Lamken P, Piehler J, Walz T. The EM structure of a type I interferon-receptor complex reveals a novel mechanism for cytokine signaling. J Mol Biol (2008) 377(3):715–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2007.12.005
- 119. de Weerd NA, Vivian JP, Nguyen TK, Mangan NE, Gould JA, Braniff SJ, et al. Structural basis of a unique interferon-beta signaling axis mediated *via the* receptor IFNAR1. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(9):901–7. doi: 10.1038/ni.2667
- 120. Kalie E, Jaitin DA, Podoplelova Y, Piehler J, Schreiber G. The stability of the ternary interferon-receptor complex rather than the affinity to the individual

subunits dictates differential biological activities. J Biol Chem (2008) 283 (47):32925-36. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806019200

- 121. Levin D, Schneider WM, Hoffmann HH, Yarden G, Busetto AG, Manor O, et al. Multifaceted activities of type I interferon are revealed by a receptor antagonist. *Sci Signal* (2014) 7(327):ra50. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004998
- 122. Krause CD, Digioia G, Izotova LS, Xie J, Kim Y, Schwartz BJ, et al. Ligandindependent interaction of the type I interferon receptor complex is necessary to observe its biological activity. *Cytokine* (2013) 64(1):286–97. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2013.06.309
- 123. Wilmes S, Beutel O, Li Z, Francois-Newton V, Richter CP, Janning D, et al. Receptor dimerization dynamics as a regulatory valve for plasticity of type I interferon signaling. *J Cell Biol* (2015) 209(4):579–93. doi: 10.1083/ jcb.201412049
- 124. You C, Marquez-Lago TT, Richter CP, Wilmes S, Moraga I, Garcia KC, et al. Receptor dimer stabilization by hierarchical plasma membrane microcompartments regulates cytokine signaling. *Sci Adv* (2016) 2(12): e1600452. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600452
- 125. Sharma N, Longjam G, Schreiber G. Type I Interferon Signaling Is Decoupled from Specific Receptor Orientation through Lenient Requirements of the Transmembrane Domain. J Biol Chem (2016) 291 (7):3371–84. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.686071
- 126. van Pesch V, Lanaya H, Renauld JC, Michiels T. Characterization of the murine alpha interferon gene family. J Virol (2004) 78(15):8219–28. doi: 10.1128/jvi.78.15.8219-8228.2004
- Hughes AL. The evolution of the type I interferon gene family in mammals. J Mol Evol (1995) 41(5):539–48. doi: 10.1007/bf00175811
- Hughes AL, Roberts RM. Independent origin of IFN-alpha and IFN-beta in birds and mammals. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2000) 20(8):737-9. doi: 10.1089/10799900050116444
- 129. van Pesch V, Michiels T. Characterization of interferon-alpha 13, a novel constitutive murine interferon-alpha subtype. J Biol Chem (2003) 278 (47):46321–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M302554200
- Oritani K, Medina KL, Tomiyama Y, Ishikawa J, Okajima Y, Ogawa M, et al. Limitin: An interferon-like cytokine that preferentially influences Blymphocyte precursors. *Nat Med* (2000) 6(6):659–66. doi: 10.1038/76233
- Wang BX, Fish EN. Global virus outbreaks: Interferons as 1st responders. Semin Immunol (2019) 43:101300. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2019.101300
- Zhou Q, Chen V, Shannon CP, Wei XS, Xiang X, Wang X, et al. Interferonα2b Treatment for COVID-19. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1061. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2020.01061
- Felsenstein S, Herbert JA, McNamara PS, Hedrich CM. COVID-19: Immunology and treatment options. *Clin Immunol (Orlando Fla)* (2020) 215:108448. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2020.108448

- 134. Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and Important Lessons From the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak in China: Summary of a Report of 72 314 Cases From the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. *Jama* (2020) 323(13):1239–42. doi: 10.1001/ jama.2020.2648
- 135. Jaitin DA, Roisman LC, Jaks E, Gavutis M, Piehler J, Van der Heyden J, et al. Inquiring into the differential action of interferons (IFNs): an IFNalpha2 mutant with enhanced affinity to IFNAR1 is functionally similar to IFN-beta. *Mol Cell Biol* (2006) 26(5):1888–97. doi: 10.1128/ MCB.26.5.1888-1897.2006
- 136. Kalie E, Jaitin DA, Abramovich R, Schreiber G. An interferon alpha2 mutant optimized by phage display for IFNAR1 binding confers specifically enhanced antitumor activities. J Biol Chem (2007) 282(15):11602–11. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610115200
- 137. Brideau-Andersen AD, Huang X, Sun SC, Chen TT, Stark D, Sas IJ, et al. Directed evolution of gene-shuffled IFN-alpha molecules with activity profiles tailored for treatment of chronic viral diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2007) 104(20):8269–74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0609001104
- 138. Forero A, Ozarkar S, Li H, Lee CH, Hemann EA, Nadjsombati MS, et al. Differential Activation of the Transcription Factor IRF1 Underlies the Distinct Immune Responses Elicited by Type I and Type III Interferons. *Immunity* (2019) 51(3):451–64.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.07.007
- Porritt RA, Hertzog PJ. Dynamic control of type I IFN signalling by an integrated network of negative regulators. *Trends Immunol* (2015) 36 (3):150–60. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.02.002
- 140. Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14(1):36–49. doi: 10.1038/nri3581
- 141. Francois-Newton V, Magno de Freitas Almeida G, Payelle-Brogard B, Monneron D, Pichard-Garcia L, Piehler J, et al. USP18-based negative feedback control is induced by type I and type III interferons and specifically inactivates interferon alpha response. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(7): e22200. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022200

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Walter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Interferon Receptor Trafficking and Signaling: Journey to the Cross Roads

Natacha Zanin^{1†}, Christine Viaris de Lesegno^{2,3,4†}, Christophe Lamaze^{2,3,4*} and Cedric M. Blouin^{2,3,4*}

¹ NDORMS, The Kennedy Institute of Rheumatology, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom, ² Institut Curie—Centre de Recherche, PSL Research University, Membrane Dynamics and Mechanics of Intracellular Signalling Laboratory, Paris, France, ³ Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), Paris, France, ⁴ Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), UMR 3666, Paris, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mark R. Walter, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

Reviewed by:

Dusan Bogunovic, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States Ignacio Moraga, University of Dundee, United Kingdom Lois Mulligan, Queen's University, Canada

*Correspondence:

Cedric M. Blouin cedric.blouin@curie.fr Christophe Lamaze christophe.lamaze@curie.fr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 09 October 2020 Accepted: 02 December 2020 Published: 20 January 2021

Citation:

Zanin N, Viaris de Lesegno C, Lamaze C and Blouin CM (2021) Interferon Receptor Trafficking and Signaling: Journey to the Cross Roads. Front. Immunol. 11:615603. doi: 10.3389/firmmu.2020.615603 Like most plasma membrane proteins, type I interferon (IFN) receptor (IFNAR) traffics from the outer surface to the inner compartments of the cell. Long considered as a passive means to simply control subunits availability at the plasma membrane, an array of new evidence establishes IFNAR endocytosis as an active contributor to the regulation of signal transduction triggered by IFN binding to IFNAR. During its complex journey initiated at the plasma membrane, the internalized IFNAR complex, i.e. IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 subunits, will experience post-translational modifications and recruit specific effectors. These finely tuned interactions will determine not only IFNAR subunits destiny (lysosomal degradation vs. plasma membrane recycling) but also the control of IFN-induced signal transduction. Finally, the IFNAR system perfectly illustrates the paradigm of the crosstalk between membrane trafficking and intracellular signaling. Investigating the complexity of IFN receptor intracellular routes is therefore necessary to reveal new insight into the role of IFNAR membrane dynamics in type I IFNs signaling selectivity and biological activity.

Keywords: transmembrane receptor, interferon, endocytosis, intracellular signaling, traffic, JAK - STAT signaling pathway

INTRODUCTION

The IFNAR signaling pathway plays a central role in the defenses of the organism by supporting one of the major anti-viral and anti-proliferative cellular responses. Its dysregulation can also lead to deleterious auto-inflammation in humans (1). Nowadays, it is accepted that endocytosis holds an essential role in the activity of a large number of receptors including receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) and G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) families [reviewed in (2, 3)]. The role of endocytosis in the modulation of type I interferons receptor (IFNAR) has however lagged behind. Endocytosis is an essential mechanism by which a cell can efficiently achieve the uptake of transmembrane proteins, lipids, nutrients, extracellular molecules, and more generally cell surface cargos. The identification and characterization of clathrin-coated pits shed light upon endocytosis as being an active and highly regulated process mediated by clathrin and dynamin (4–6). Over the last decades, a strong body of work has contributed to the complexification of the mechanisms involved in the regulation of endocytosis. Early on, endocytosis was categorized as being mediated either by

18

clathrin-dependent or clathrin-independent means. This simplistic binary classification did not resist further investigations and today several molecular machineries including caveolin, endophilinA2, RhoA, Cdc42, Arf6, flotillin or endophilinA3/galectin8 selectively control distinct endocytic pathways (7-9). Despite the existence of specific molecular machineries, these different endocytic pathways share the common property that is to modulate the cell surface density of a multitude of receptors, a process that is essential for the cell homeostasis and the transduction of receptor signaling (10, 11). Whereas the IFNAR signaling cascade has long been thought to be linear and exclusively controlled at the plasma membrane (PM) [reviewed in (12)], these studies allow to revisit its regulation in the context of membrane trafficking. In this review, we will describe recent studies on IFNAR journey from the cell surface to the different endosomal compartments and how it is connected with the regulation of signaling outputs.

MECHANISMS THAT CONTROL STEADY STATE TYPE I INTERFERON RECEPTOR LEVELS

The type I IFN receptor is composed of the IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 subunits. IFNAR1 exists only as one isoform whereas differential splicing of the *IFNAR2* gene generates three isoforms. The firstly discovered IFNAR2c is the longer isoform with the full intracellular domain (13). IFNAR2b is a shorter transmembrane isoform lacking the intracellular domain while IFNAR2a is a soluble truncated form. The two latter isoforms can still bind type I IFNs and interact with IFNAR1 but are unable to transduce signal (14), suggesting they would be negative regulators of JAK/STAT signaling (15). We will focus here only on the full-length IFNAR2c which will be referred to as IFNAR2.

IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 are ubiquitously expressed (16) albeit with highly variable levels. The first quantifications of PM levels relied on standard Scatchard analysis, which is based on the saturation of IFNAR binding with iodinated IFNs and allow to precisely determine ligand affinity and number of binding sites (17). Published results showed large variations among cell types with a number of binding sites ranging from 200 to up to 250,000 (18, 19). Today, Scatchard analysis has been replaced by more acute and sophisticated measurements. For instance, singlemolecule imaging of fluorescently labelled IFN-a2 by total internal reflection fluorescence (TIRF) microscopy could measure a density of around 0.55 IFN bound per µm² in HeLa cells, corresponding to 500-1000 binding sites per cell (20). The same technique measured 0.58 IFNAR1 and 0.72 IFNAR2 per µm² of PM in human retinal pigmented epithelial RPE1 cells (21). While the IFNAR cytoplasmic pool is likely to be important, few if any studies have determined the ratio of internal versus surface IFNAR. Likewise, the PM IFNAR1/ IFNAR2 ratio is certainly critical for IFNAR signal transduction. Finally, the two IFNAR2a and b shorter forms

can compete with the long IFNAR2c by forming a non-signaling complex (14).

Type I Interferon Receptor Intimate Cytosolic Interactors

The lack of IFNAR intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity is compensated by a non-covalent and constitutive association with Janus tyrosine Kinases (JAK). The JAK family is composed of four members: JAK1 and JAK2 (22), TYK2 (23, 24), and JAK3 (25). JAKs are large multidomain proteins with an N-terminal part dedicated to the recognition and interaction with the PM proximal region of the receptor and a C-terminal part regulating its kinase activity (Figures 1A, B) [for more details see reviews (26, 27)]. IFNAR1 is constitutively associated with TYK2 (28, 29) and IFNAR2 with JAK1 (13, 30, 31). IFNinduced association of the two IFNAR chains allow JAK1 and TYK2 to form a functional signaling unit (Figure 1C). The precise mapping of interactions between IFNAR and associated JAK are well described (32, 33). TYK2 interaction with IFNAR1 was shown to stabilize IFNAR1 at the PM (34-36) thereby controlling IFNAR1 PM pool. Moreover, both JAK1 and TYK2 play a central role in IFNAR trafficking and signaling by regulating the recruitment and/or the activity of other IFNAR interactors through JAK-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation.

The canonical type I IFN signaling pathway relies on the phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) proteins. STATs share a similar structure with an SH2 domain that allows the interaction with cytokine receptors and regulators, and a DNA binding domain that modulates gene transcription (37). Pull-down experiments suggested that STAT2 was constitutively associated with the cytosolic domain of IFNAR2 (Figure 1B) (38). This interaction was further confirmed and visualized in cells expressing HaloTag-IFNAR2 spatially constrained at the PM by HaloTag ligand functionalized on a micropatterned surface (39). Whereas STAT2-EGFP showed a strong colocalization with patterned IFNAR2, a very limited colocalization of STAT1-EGFP could be detected in the same conditions. This probably reflects that STAT1 docking to IFNAR2 occurs through STAT1-STAT2 heterodimerization in agreement with the requirement of STAT2 for STAT1 phosphorylation by IFN (37, 40). These results suggest that additional sites for STAT docking may be created by IFNAR phosphorylation, thus enhancing binding of STAT1 and STAT2. The precise mapping of STAT2 interaction that is still unknown should lead to a better understanding of the IFNAR complex organization.

STAT2 mediates the recruitment of the ubiquitin specific peptidase 18 (USP18) to the IFNAR2 subunit (**Figure 1B**). USP18 is an isopeptidase that promotes the de-conjugation of the ubiquitin-like modifier interferon-stimulated gene 15 (ISG15) (41), a reaction known as deISGylation. USP18 is first recruited to STAT2 (42), and then to IFNAR2 where it competes with JAK1 binding, which results in JAK/STAT signaling inhibition (43). USP18 binding to IFNAR2 stabilizes the



FIGURE 1 (**A**) The extracellular part of IFNAR1 is composed of four domains and exhibits 12 residues that are potentially N-glycosylated. IFNAR1 is Spalmitoylated on the PM proximal Cys⁴⁶³ residue. IFNAR1 cytosolic tail interacts with TYK2 kinase FERM and SH2 domains through a minimal region that corresponds to 486–511 residues (thick blue line). IFNAR1 interaction domain with TYK2 can be extended to a maximal region from residues 465 to 511 (thick and thin blue line) that also covers a canonical tyrosine-based linear endocytic motif ⁴⁶⁶YVFF⁴⁶⁹. IFNAR1 cytosolic tail has three lysine residues that can be ubiquitinated and a phosphodegron motif. (**B**) The extracellular part of IFNAR2 is composed of two domains presenting five putative N-glycosylation sites. IFNAR2 is meant to be S-palmitoylated on two Cys residues: one near the PM (Cys²⁷¹) and another one less likely, closer to the C-terminal part (Cys³⁹⁵). IFNAR2 interacts with its associated JAK1 kinase through cytosolic tail box 1 and box 2 domains. Therefore, it can compete with JAK1 binding on IFNAR2. (**C**) (1) IFN-α/-β binding to IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 subunits triggers several mechanistic events leading to the internalization of the receptor complex. (2) IFNAR associated JAK kinases are brought in close proximity resulting in the concomitant tyrosine phosphorylation of JAK1 and TYK2 on Tyr¹⁰²²-Tyr¹⁰²³ and Tyr¹⁰⁵⁴-Tyr¹⁰⁵⁵ residues, respectively. (3) Activated TYK2 can then phosphorylate the serine/threonine kinase PDK2 which in turn (4) phosphorylates the two serine residues of the IFNAR1, SCF^{βTrcp} is able to polyubiquitinate (blue spheres) lysine residues 501, 525 and 526 by adding Lys⁴⁸ and Lys⁶³ linkages. In parallel, the endocytic linear motif ⁴⁶⁶YVFF⁴⁶⁹ recruits AP50, the μ2 subunit of AP2 adaptor complex. (7) Together, AP50 binding and IFNAR1 polyubiquitination trigger the association of IFNAR receptor complex with the clathrin machinery and its endocytosis *via* clathrin-coated vesicles.

interaction of STAT2 with IFNAR2 (39) and inhibits IFN- α binding (44, 45). Thus, both STAT2 and USP18 are important for IFNAR complex trafficking and signaling.

The adaptor protein receptor for activated protein kinase C-1 (RACK-1) is also constitutively associated with IFNAR2 (46). This interaction is maintained after IFN stimulation. RACK-1 is

a scaffold protein with no enzymatic activity, which recruits specific signaling elements. RACK-1 directly interacts with IFNAR2, TYK2, and JAK1, and indirectly with IFNAR1 (47). RACK1 is necessary for STAT1 and STAT2 phosphorylation. The RACK-1 binding site on IFNAR2, partially overlaps with JAK1 binding site.

Type I Interferon Receptor Proper Function Depends on Posttranslational Modifications

Receptor glycosylation is an important posttranslational modification regulating their activity through various mechanisms including proper folding in the ER, localization at the PM (*via* interactions with galectins and with gangliosides in microdomains for instance), ligand binding, intracellular trafficking and signaling (48, 49). The two IFNAR subunit extracellular domains are highly glycosylated resulting in their high molecular weight (MW) (**Figures 1A, B**). Thus, human IFNAR1 has an approximately 130 kDa MW instead of the theoretically calculated 63.5 kDa MW corresponding to the 557 amino acids (aa) of IFNAR1, and human IFNAR2 has a 100-110 kDa MW instead of a theoretical 57.8 kDa MW for its 515 aa (50).

Levels of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 at PM are likely to be regulated independently from each other. The PEPD prolidase is required for the maturation and surface expression of IFNAR1 but not of IFNAR2 (51). The importance of these posttranslational modifications in IFN biological activity is illustrated by NS5 viral proteins that are produced by some Flaviviruses. NS5 can suppress IFNAR1 glycosylation by binding to PEPD thereby interfering with IFNAR1 delivery from the trans-Golgi network (TGN) to the PM (51, 52). Hence IFNAR1 glycosylation is likely to play an important role in signaling by regulating IFNAR1 density at the cell surface.

Both IFNAR chains are palmitoylated on cysteins (Figures **1A**, **B**) (53). Palmitoylation has been involved in the proper addressing of proteins from the TGN to the PM, in proteinprotein interactions, and in the association with lipid nanodomains, all steps that are important for the targeting, stability and function of receptors at the PM (54). IFNAR1 is mono-palmitoylated on Cys463 and the corresponding C463A IFNAR1 mutant, totally lacking palmitoylation, showed no alteration either in stability at the PM, IFN- α -induced endocytosis or intracellular distribution but showed some defects in the later steps of JAK/STAT signaling (53). Indeed, although the very first events of JAK/STAT signaling (i.e. JAK1, TYK2 and IFNAR1 tyrosine phosphorylations) were unchanged, IFNAR1 palmitoylation was found to be required for STAT1 and STAT2 downstream phosphorylation and nuclear translocation. Therefore, IFNAR1 palmitoylation may participate to target IFNAR1 to the proper PM nanodomains or the recruitment of effectors associated to the signaling receptor complex. Although IFNAR palmitoylation is not involved in IFNAR1 addressing to the PM and IFNAR1 internalization, it is worth noting that the inhibition of global protein palmitovlation by 2-bromopalmitate strongly affects IFNAR1 internalization after IFN stimulation, suggesting that yet to be identified palmitoylated effectors, associated or not with the IFNAR complex control these processes. Although little is known about the molecular mechanisms linking palmitoylation and JAK/STAT signaling, this posttranslational modification remains an interesting avenue of investigation, as it may help us to reveal new links between IFNAR subunit trafficking and its signaling.

Whether multi-chain cytokine receptors are pre-associated or not before their activation at the PM remains highly debated for some members of this family as recently illustrated by the IFN gamma receptor (55, 56). The debate seems closed for IFNAR as several studies convincingly established that IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 are not pre-associated at steady state and that receptor dimerization occurs only upon ligand binding (57– 60). The two chains are nevertheless associated to other partners such as lipids or proteins, whose main function is to maintain the receptor at the PM and keep the receptor-bound JAK kinases inactive.

Receptor Partitioning in Plasma Membrane Nanodomains

Based on IFNAR density at the cell surface, the constant rate of ligand association/dissociation predicts that IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 subunits should not be able to form stable complexes if they were uniformly distributed (59). The two chains of IFNAR should therefore be clustered in the same local structures at the PM. Twenty years ago, in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (60), IFNAR1, like many other receptors at that time (61), was proposed to be associated with lipid rafts, these PM asymmetric lipid assemblies thought to be detected in detergent resistant membranes (DRM). If this technique is today outdated, more sophisticated cell imaging methods have led to a finest characterization of the nanoscale distribution of IFNAR at the PM.

Caveolae are characteristic small buds present at the PM of many cell types, that are enriched in cholesterol and glycosphingolipids, and coated with the structural protein caveolins (Cav) and assembly proteins cavins (62). The early finding that caveolae could biochemically fractionate in DRM fractions has led to refer to them as a subtype of lipid rafts (63). While this definition is not accurate any longer (64), the role of caveolae in IFNAR distribution has remained elusive. Indeed, early electron microscopy (EM) studies failed to detect human IFN- α or murine IFN- β in caveolae (65, 66). More recently, the overexpression of the chain cytokine receptor family B1 (CRFB1), the zebrafish IFNAR ortholog, resulted in its colocalization with Cav1 β domains at the PM using super resolution microscopy (67). The finding that $Cav1\beta$ depletion significantly decreased CRFB1 PM clustering and IFN-induced STAT1 signaling is in strong support of an important role of Cav1 β in zebrafish IFN-R system and not of caveolae since the other caveolae constituents like cavins were not studied. However, the analysis of gene sequences and structures of zebrafish IFN-R complexes such as CRFB5 chain associated with either CRFB1 or CRFB2, revealed important differences with mammalian IFNAR and closer homology with IFN- λ R (68, 69). IFN- ϕ was proposed as a new nomenclature for fish IFN to close the debate (70). The regulation of CRFB1 by Cav1 β seems therefore less relevant to human IFNAR for which no strong evidence of a role of caveolae and/or caveolin was brought so far.

By using super-resolution microscopy restricted to the PM, a study revealed that overexpressed IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 were partially co-clustered in nanoscale domains (71). These clusters

were weakly co-localized with clathrin, the structural core protein of endocytic clathrin-coated pits, but frequently found in the vicinity of actin structures. On the contrary, a new study by the same team based on quantitative ligand-binding with fluorescently-labeled IFNs described the presence of continuously diffusing IFNAR in a random and non-clustered distribution at the PM (20). This apparent discrepancy could result from the high density of receptors caused by their overexpression, which could artificially induce IFNAR1/ IFNAR2 co-clustering at steady state (72). Nevertheless, the confinement of the receptor chains at physiological density (5-10 chains per μ m²) in the cortical actin meshwork was confirmed by single quantum dot tracking and localization microscopy (73). In this study, the longer lifetime of the IFN- $\alpha 2$ induced ternary complex measured in cells in comparison with artificial membranes in vitro was attributed to its stabilization through an active nano-confinement in 70 nm cortical actin sub-domains organizing larger domains of 300 nm. Disrupting these domains decreased the stability of the ternary complex and JAK/STAT downstream signaling. In summary, these studies indicate that IFNAR chains are confined in actin-dependent nanodomains at the PM. It is likely that the continuous technological developments in super-resolution microscopy will reveal new features of IFNAR nanoscale partitioning and functions at the PM that could not be detected with conventional fluorescence microscopy.

THE BASIC INTERFERON – TYPE I INTERFERON RECEPTOR COMPLEX

Binding of IFN to IFNAR2 is followed by IFNAR1 association with the IFN/IFNAR2 subcomplex (Figure 1C). IFNAR1 binding is associated with a major conformational change involving movement within the four extracellular SD domains, resulting in the efficient capping of IFN molecule (74, 75). IFN binding has also been shown to reduce the force needed to unfold the IFNAR1 extracellular domains (76). The reduction in IFNAR1 rigidity would enable the propagation of IFN-induced conformational changes closer to or even across the PM. Interestingly, comparison of the ternary complexes formed by the two IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 receptor chains with IFN- α or IFN- β by single-particle EM analysis could not reveal any difference (74). Likewise, no difference could be detected regarding the IFNAR1 residues involved in the interaction with IFN- α or IFN- β . For instance, IFN- β maintains the same overall fold, and shares the same binding interface with IFNAR1 and IFNAR2, similarly to IFN- $\alpha 2$ (10). Interestingly, it was observed that among the IFN subtypes, increased binding affinities are correlated with a higher rate of IFN-IFNAR endocytosis (75). This faster entry within the endosomal system has been proposed to lead to earlier signal triggering but also to rapid termination. Thus, it was proposed that it could explain, at least partially, some of the signaling differences, such as anti-proliferative activities, observed between IFN-α, IFN-β, and IFN-ω.

Upon formation of the ternary complex, JAK1 and TYK2 are both brought in close contact, which leads to a repositioning of

their respective pseudokinase domain, thereby relieving the selfinhibition by the JH1/JH2 domains (77). While the exact underlying molecular mechanism remains debated, the first activating events would involve the concomitant tyrosine phosphorylation of JAK1 and TYK2 on Tyr¹⁰²²-Tyr¹⁰²³ and Tyr¹⁰⁵⁴-Tyr¹⁰⁵⁵ residues, respectively (**Figure 1C**) (78).

Following JAK activation, several other post-translational modifications within the receptor complex lead to the recruitment and regulation of new partners, to the internalization of the complex and also to the priming of the IFN-induced signaling cascade. Several of these steps have been studied but there is still a lot of mechanisms of this finely tuned pathway that need further investigation.

Upon IFN stimulation, the serine/threonine kinase PKD2 is recruited to IFNAR1. PKD2 is then TYK2 phosphorylated on Tyr438 (79) and activated PKD2 can in turn phosphorylate IFNAR1 on Ser⁵³⁵ and Ser⁵³⁹ residues within the ⁵³⁴DSGNYS⁵³⁹ phosphodegron—also called destruction motif (Figure 1C) (80). The SCF^{β Trcp} (Skp1-Cullin1-F-box complex) E3 ubiquitin ligase binds to the destruction motif of IFNAR1 and adds polyubiquitin chains on lysine residues 501, 525, and 526 (80, 81). The ubiquitination process plays an import role in the internalization of the IFNAR complex since interfering with either Ser⁵³⁵ phosphorylation, SCF^{β Trcp} recruitment or polyubiquitination inhibits endocytosis (82). TYK2 kinase activity is essential for IFNAR1 Ser⁵³⁵ phosphorylation, which in turn is required for IFNAR1 ubiquitination-dependent endocytosis. It is therefore expected that IFNAR1 Ser⁵³⁵ phosphorylation and ubiquitination should represent the very first steps that follow the reunion of the two chains of the receptor initiated by IFN binding.

BEGINNING OF THE JOURNEY: EN ROUTE TO THE ENDOSOME

IFNAR, like most transmembrane signaling receptors, is endocytosed by clathrin mediated endocytosis (CME). Earlier EM studies localized IFN- α (65) and IFN- β (66) in clathrin coated pits (CCP). The role of CME in IFNAR uptake was definitely established by the finding that IFNAR uptake required key elements of the clathrin-dependent endocytosis machinery (**Figure 2**) including clathrin heavy chain, the α 2 adaptin protein-2 (AP2) complex, the GTPase dynamin and Eps15 (53, 82, 83).

CME is initiated at the PM by the recruitment of transmembrane receptors to the clathrin machinery thanks to the interaction of the AP2 adaptor complex with a tyrosine-based linear endocytic motif YXX Φ that is found in the receptor cytoplasmic tail (7). Although this endocytic motif is present in many transmembrane receptors, very few examples have documented a direct interaction with AP2 (5, 6, 84). It is therefore worth noting that AP50, the μ 2 subunit of AP2, was shown to recognize ⁴⁶⁶YVFF⁴⁶⁹ domain in IFNAR1 (**Figure 1A**), a canonical tyrosine-based linear endocytic motif. At steady state, the interaction between IFNAR1 and AP50 is prevented



FIGURE 2 | In the absence of IFN (left), constitutively internalized IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 subunits may recycle from the sorting endosome to the PM. While the mechanism is unknown for IFNAR2, IFNAR1 is sorted back to the PM through its interaction with the endosomal sorting nexin (SNX)-BAR sorting complex for promoting exit 1 (ESCPE-1). ESCPE-1 complex (top right inset) is composed of SNX heterodimers formed by SNX1 or SNX2 that are associated with SNX5 or SNX6. Whether IFNAR1 transits through the trans-Golgi Network during its recycling to the PM has not been investigated yet. Upon IFN stimulation (right), the IFN-bound receptor complex is endocytosed *via* clathrin-coated pits. Upon arrival to the sorting endosome, IFNAR receptor complex is dissociated: 1) IFNAR1 is addressed to the lysosomal degradative pathway, first through multivesicular bodies, then in lysosomes where it is fully degraded, and 2) IFNAR2 interacts with the endosomal retromer complex which controls its recycling to the PM. The retromer (bottom right inset) is formed by the cargo-selective-complex (CSC), a trimer composed of vacuolar protein sorting-associated protein 35 (VPS35)-VPS29-VPS26 proteins, associated with the nexin SNX3 and the small GTPase Rab 7.

by the physical masking of ⁴⁶⁶YVFF⁴⁶⁹ by TYK2 (36). The endocytic motif is in close proximity to the TYK2 minimal interaction domain (486-511) and is inserted in the TYK2 maximal interaction domain (465-511) (32). It was shown that IFNAR1 stability at the PM is reduced in the absence of TYK2, probably by allowing at steady state the interaction of the otherwise masked endocytic motif with AP50 and thus the internalization of IFNAR1 (34–36). Upon ligand binding, one can speculate that the endocytic motif would be unmasked by TYK2 as a result of the various conformational changes associated with IFNAR chains complexes and JAK rearrangement and activation.

The 466YVFF469 motif is highly conserved within species except for the mouse (36), which could explain why the stability of murine IFNAR1 at the PM was not affected by the absence of TYK2 (85-87). This does not explain however the mechanism by which the AP2 complex would be recruited to the murine receptor. Other sequences such as di-leucine and iso-leucine can also be recognized by clathrin adaptors subunits (84). Indeed, leucine-based motifs are found in the mouse but also in the human IFNAR1. While it is likely that these sequences can also modulate the uptake of IFNAR, no study has so far documented their function. It is also possible that the endocytosis of murine IFNAR depends exclusively on IFNAR1 ubiquitination since the S526A ubiquitination deficient mutant, which is unable to interact with $SCF^{\beta Trcp}$, shows a significant reduced internalization (80). Finally, one cannot rule out a participation of several of these mechanisms in a process as finely tuned as CME.

If the importance of IFNAR1 Tyr⁴⁶⁶ in clathrin-dependent endocytosis is clear, the role of phosphorylated Tyr⁴⁶⁶ is more obscure. Phosphorylation of the tyrosine motif $YXX\Phi$ is likely to inhibit AP50 recruitment, as the negatively charged phosphate group would prevent the endocytic motif to fit into AP50 binding pocket (88, 89). The fact that IFNAR1 Tyr⁴⁶⁶ phosphorylation occurs as early as 5 min after IFN- α stimulation (29) questions the chronology of these events within the time range of internalization and signaling. That AP50 cannot interact with the phosphorylated (pY)XX Φ motif (90) infers that IFNAR1 Tyr⁴⁶⁶ should not be phosphorylated during the recruitment of the endocytic machinery. It was suggested that Tyr⁴⁶⁶ was phosphorylated immediately after ligand binding, and then dephosphorylated by the PTP1B phosphatase, thereby allowing the interaction with AP50 (91). This phosphorylation/ dephosphorylation cycle is, however, unlikely if one considers that IFNAR1 is endocytosed very rapidly after IFN stimulation whereas IFNAR1 Tyr⁴⁶⁶ phosphorylation can still be detected by western blotting at longer time points (92). Although experimental evidence is yet lacking, it seems more likely that IFNAR1 Tyr⁴⁶⁶ phosphorylation occurs after AP50 binding. Whether it happens at the PM just after AP50 recruitment to the IFNAR1 or later after IFNAR complex endocytosis is unknown. In this context, it was shown that AP50 binding to the EGFR, that occurs only when the YXX Φ motif is not phosphorylated, was still maintained after phosphorylation of the YXX Φ motif (90).

The formation of the IFNAR complex allows the activation and recruitment of additional regulating partners such as

phosphatases (SHP1, SHP2, PTP1B, TCPTP, CD45) or SH2 domain-containing proteins (SOCS, LNK) [reviewed in (77, 78)]. Whether the recruitment of these effectors takes place at the PM or later along the endocytic route is a question that is difficult to tackle because of the intrinsic rapidity of the endocytic process. New approaches such as the functionalization of micropatterned surface with Halo ligands that retain IFN-IFNAR complex at the PM will help to better understand these processes (39).

During acute brain infection by the simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV), IFN- α signaling is drastically hampered with a down-regulation of downstream effectors such as TYK2, STAT1 and IRF7, in contrast to IFN- β signaling that remains fully active (93). A follow-up study using SIV as a model of infection in macrophages, revealed that the inhibition of IFN- α signaling in the central nervous system was triggered by CCL2, a chemokine secreted by astrocytes (94). Interestingly, confocal microscopy revealed in leukocytes that β -arrestin 2 was recruited to endomembranes positive for CCR2B, the CCL2 receptor, upon CCL2 treatment (95). β -arrestins (1 and 2) play a central role in GPCR desensitization, internalization and intracellular trafficking. They act as adapters that build a bridge between activated i.e. phosphorylated GPCRs and the two main components of the clathrin-dependent endocytic machinery, AP-2, and clathrin (96-98). In support of this, it was recently reported that silencing RNA against β -arrestin 2, but not β arrestin 1, restored IFN- α levels of SIV infected macrophages in a CCL2/CCR2-dependent manner (99). They further showed that β-arrestin2 was required for IFNAR1 internalization, in agreement with the first implication of AP2 in IFNAR1 endocytosis (83).

Type I Interferon Receptor Endocytosis Is Mandatory for JAK/STAT Signaling

Although JAK/STAT signaling has a pivotal role in key cellular processes, the underlying molecular mechanisms controlling its

activation by IFNAR and the determination of IFN signal specificity have remained poorly understood (100-104). In 2006, in line with the original studies establishing the role of endocytosis in the regulation of receptor signaling, the Lamaze group revealed for the first time that IFNAR endocytosis was required to trigger JAK/STAT signaling downstream of IFN-a stimulation (83) (Figure 3). Blocking IFNAR CME with the dominant negative mutant DynK44A or a siRNA against clathrin heavy chain strongly decreased the level of STAT1 and STAT2 phosphorylation induced by IFN- α but not by IFN- γ . Accordingly, it was later shown that IFN- γ receptor subunits need to be associated with specific cholesterol/sphingolipid enriched PM nanodomains for JAK/STAT activation IFN-y, independently from receptor endocytosis (55). The essential role of CME in JAK/STAT signaling was further confirmed a year later in Drosophila with the receptor Domeless (Dome) whose internalization is also required to transduce JAK/STAT signaling, (105). Like IFNAR1 and IFNAR2, Dome presents fibronectin type-III extracellular domains (106) and a conserved di-leucine motif in its cytosolic tail (107). These data emphasize that the control of JAK/STAT signaling by receptor endocytosis is a conserved mechanism among species.

SORTING ENDOSOME: THE PLACE TO BE

Today, the central role of the endosomal network in membrane trafficking is not questioned. Endosomes have been classically divided into early and late endosomes to reflect the chronology of cargo delivery. Early endosomes represent the first intracellular station downstream of endocytosis at the PM, where receptors are sorted from ligands. The central function of early endosomes in cargo sorting led to rename them as sorting endosomes [for review see (108, 109)]. In the late 1990s, two seminal studies simultaneously revealed that the sorting endosome could serve as





24

a relay where receptor signaling could be controlled. Thus, nerve growth factor (NGF) and its receptor gp140^{TrkA} (TrkA) were rapidly endocytosed by CME into early endosomes where TrkA -bound NGF could activate TrkA resulting in TrkA tyrosine phosphorylation and in the binding to the downstream effector PLC- γ 1 (110). At the same time, another study took advantage of the first molecular possibility to selectively inhibit clathrindependent endocytosis using a dominant negative mutant of dynamin, the GTPase required for the scission of clathrin-coated pits from the PM (111). Inhibition of EGF receptor (EGFR) endocytosis with the dynamin mutant revealed that in addition to attenuate EGFR signaling, endocytosis was also required to deliver activated EGFR in early endosomes where EGF specific signaling pathways could be either activated or terminated (112). These pioneering studies established the essential role that endosomes could play in the control of signal transduction. This groundbreaking work has been followed by numerous studies that contributed to definitely upgrade the early endosome from a sorting organelle to an active signaling hub and to establish the new concept of the signaling endosome. The signaling endosome has since been extensively investigated and became a major center of interest in the understanding of the cell biology of signaling receptor trafficking and signaling as described in many reviews (113-118).

The requirement for IFNAR endocytosis in JAK/STAT signaling implies that endosomal sorting machineries should be at work in this process. Recent studies have indeed uncovered the role of a major endosomal sorting machineries in IFNAR trafficking and signaling, namely the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT). ESCRT has a central position as the major complex mediating the entry of ubiquitinated cargos into the lysosomal degradation pathway (119, 120). The ESCRT machinery consists of four protein complexes: ESCRT-0, -I, -II, and -III, and include several accessory components that are highly conserved from yeast to human. Over the past decade, structural and biochemical studies have uncovered the sequential process by which ESCRT assembly occurs [reviewed in (121-123)]. ESCRT-0 is tethered on the endosomal membrane where it recruits ubiquitinated cargos and interacts with ESCRT-I. ESCRT-0 is composed of two subunits: hepatocyte growth factor-regulated tyrosine kinase substrate (Hrs), which binds to the ubiquitinated substrate, and signaltransducing adaptor molecule (STAM) (124-127). Hrs and its partner STAM, both ubiquitously expressed, play a vital role in biology and development as shown by the death of Hrs deficient mice in utero (128-130). Hrs is recruited to the early endosome where it binds to endosomal specific PI(3)P phosphoinositide through its FYVE-domain and initiates the formation of intraluminal vesicles (ILV) found inside multivesicular bodies (MVB) (123).

During the last decades, our understanding of the cellular functions of ESCRT have evolved from a sequential process controlling cargo entry into the lysosomal degradation pathway to more diverse biological activities such as virus budding, membrane repair, cytokinesis, regulation of gene transcription, autophagy, quality control of nuclear pore complexes (131–137).

Hrs/STAM for Type I Interferon Receptor Sorting: Insights From *Drosophila*

Following the first report of EGFR signaling control by clathrindependent endocytosis (112), efforts were directed at elucidating the molecular mechanisms underpinning EGFR endosomal sorting and signaling. Thus, EGFR sorting toward the lysosomal degradation pathway was found to require Hrs recognition of EGF-induced ubiquitinated EGFR (113, 138-142). Before arrival to the lysosome, ubiquitinated EGFR accumulate into ILVs of MVBs (143). This physically removes the signaling tail of EGFR from the cytosol, effectively terminating the downstream signaling cascade (144). In this context, cells depleted for the Hrs gene revealed that Hrs negatively controls EGFR signaling in Drosophila embryogenesis with an increase of EGFR signaling activity and an accumulation of ubiquitinated cargos in enlarged endosomes, including EGFR and other activated signaling receptors such as PDGF/VEGF receptors, or Notch (105, 145-147).

Based on the prototypical example of EGFR sorting and signaling control by Hrs, numerous studies have addressed the role of Hrs in receptor signaling especially for GPCRs. Thus, the $\beta_2\text{-adrenergic}$ receptor ($\beta_2AR)$ and the $\delta\text{-opioid}$ neuropeptide receptor (DOR), are two examples of GPCRs that are regulated by Hrs. Both receptors are ubiquitinated on lysine residues in the carboxyl terminal tail and are endocytosed in a clathrin- and β arrestin-dependent manner (148-155). Similarly to EGFR, DOR sorting toward the lysosomal degradation pathway requires Hrs (156). Hrs has a different effect on β_2AR since it mediates its recycling to the PM, a process associated with β_2AR resensitization (157). Hrs-dependent recycling was shown to rely on an acidic di-leucine motif present in the C-terminal tail of the β_2 AR but not on ubiquitination (158, 159). Hrs and STAM were also required for efficient fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) endosomal sorting and signaling in Drosophila. This study revealed an opposite role of Hrs and STAM depending on the location of the complex since EGFR signaling was downregulated by Hrs and STAM in the embryo but fully activated during wing development (147).

The role of Hrs in IFNAR trafficking and signaling had not been investigated until recently. A first evidence came from studies in Drosophila where the disruption of Hrs in egg chambers transiently expressing Dome receptor led to an inhibition of STAT activation upon Dome stimulation (105). A recent study showed the constitutive association of STAM2, without Hrs, with IFNAR1 and TYK2 at the PM preventing TYK2 activation by IFN (160). IFN- α induced receptor endocytosis delivers the STAM-IFNAR1-TYK2 complex to early endosomes positive for PI(3)P where Hrs interaction abolishes STAM inhibitory effect and triggers IFNAR endosomal signaling. In contrast, IFN- β stimulation results in IFNAR sorting to a distinct endosomal subdomain where endosomal JAK/STAT signaling occurs independently from Hrs. This study put into question the classical dogma stating that Hrs and STAM are always constitutively associated on the endosomal membrane to form the ESCRT-0 complex. Indeed, a few studies suggest that this assumption may suffer some

exceptions. Thus, a truncated mutant of STAM lacking the coiled-coil domain of interaction with Hrs was reported to promote the relocation of Hrs in the cytoplasm (161). Hrs was reported to be targeted to early endosomes independently of STAM, and STAM was also localized at the PM in HeLa cells (162). In line with this study, a recombinant Hrs purified in the absence of STAM could be detected on membranes as hexamers (163).

The role of Hrs/STAM in cytokine signaling is not exclusive to JAK/STAT signaling by the IFNAR complex. Indeed, more than fifty cytokines can signal via the JAK/STAT pathway (164). Among them, IL-4 signals through both the type I receptor consisting of the IL-4R α and the common gamma chain (γ C), and the type II receptor composed of IL-4Ra and IL-13Ra1 (164). IL-2 activates JAK/STAT signaling downstream of the trimeric IL-2R composed of α , β , and γ C chains (165). Hrs controls IL-2R and IL-4R signaling albeit through its classical regulatory function as it is required for IL-4R α and IL-2R β endosomal sorting toward the degradation pathway, resulting in receptor cell surface downregulation and signaling termination. Thus, in contrast to IFNAR1, the binding of Hrs on IL-4R α and IL-2R β is not required for endosomal signaling, (166, 167). Finally, as reported above for GPCRs, Hrs can regulate IL-2R α recycling to the PM by binding to a hydrophobic amino acid cluster in an ubiquitin-independent manner (167). The absence of such motifs in the C-terminal tail of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 may explain why Hrs is not involved in IFNAR recycling (see below).

ENDOSOMAL EXIT: CHOOSE YOUR DESTINY

After internalization and arrival in early endosomes, cargos are classically sorted to three possible destinations: (1) fast recycling to the cell surface *via* the endosomal recycling pathway, (2) recycling to the PM through the retromer or retriever complexes or *via* the TGN (retrograde recycling), and (3) degradation in lysosomes. Although these three main routes have been investigated for several signaling membrane receptors, mainly EGFR, IL2-R, and growth hormone receptor (GHR), the intracellular fate of the IFNAR receptor complex upon its endocytosis has long remained mysterious.

Type I Interferon Receptor Recycling to the Plasma Membrane

In contrast to IFNAR1, whose final fate is degradation in the lysosome (see below), IFNAR2, which is not ubiquitinated, takes a different path. IFNAR2 intracellular trafficking has long remained poorly characterized. A first study measured unchanged IFNAR2 levels at the PM during IFN- α stimulation while IFNAR1 was efficiently degraded (168). These data suggested that after IFNAR endocytosis, IFNAR2 was probably recycled back to the PM by unknown mechanisms.

The retromer complex plays a central role in both the retrograde transport of endosomal proteins to the TGN and in the endosomal recycling of cargos to the PM (169-171). The retromer complex is assembled by a first sub-complex called cargo-selective-complex (CSC), a trimer made of vacuolar protein sorting-associated protein 35 (VPS35)-VPS29-VPS26 proteins, that are highly conserved among species (169, 172, 173). The CSC binds PI(3)P, an early endosome specific phosphoinositide, through the Phox-homology (PX) domain present in sorting nexins (SNX), which together with the small GTPase Rab7a, assembles the second sub-complex of the retromer (174, 175). In addition to membrane tethering, SNX bend and remodel the endosomal membrane to create recycling tubules for cargo trafficking [reviewed in (176)]. Cargo selection is mediated through the FERM-like domain of SNX17 whereas SNX27 interacts with cargos via its PDZ domain. Recently, SNX17 has been shown to interact with another endosomal sorting complex called the retriever, a heterotrimer harboring similarities with the retromer. The retriever and SNX17 can associate with other complexes to prevent cargo lysosomal degradation and to promote cell surface recycling (177).

Upon IFN-α stimulation, IFNAR2, in contrast to IFNAR1, could not be colocalized with LAMP1, a bona fide marker of late endosomes and lysosomes (21). Instead, IFNAR2 was accumulated in early endosomes in the absence of Rab11A or Rab4, two GTPases involved in cargo recycling to the PM. These findings therefore suggest that IFNAR2 is not directed towards the lysosomal degradation pathway but recycled back to the PM. Indeed, mass spectrometry analysis revealed that upon IFN- α stimulation, IFNAR2 could interact with Rab11A and Rab4. IFNAR2 could also interact with Rab35 and VPS26A, VPS29 and VPS35 - the components of the retromer cargo-recognition trimer (Figure 2). Accordingly, under IFN stimulation, cells depleted of VPS35 accumulated IFNAR2 in early endosomes together with a decreased amount of IFNAR1 sorted for lysosomal degradation. The same phenotype was observed in the absence of IFN stimulation, indicating that IFNAR is sorted by the retromer complex under basal and stimulated conditions. In agreement with the interaction of the Rab7 GTPase with the retromer complex (175), Rab7 depletion led to the same phenotype than Vps35 depletion. These data agree with a previous study showing an accumulation of IFNAR1 in early endosomes in Rab7A depleted cells (178). Although the retromer complex has been involved in the retrograde trafficking of mannose-6-phosphate (179), sortilin-related (180) and Wnt receptors (181) from endosomes to the TGN, the possibility of IFNAR2 retrograde trafficking to the TGN by the retromer complex was ruled out (21).

A recent proteomic study identified IFNAR1 as a possible cargo recognized by SNX5 nexin through binding to 466 YVFFP 470 , a consensus $\Phi x \Omega x \Phi$ recycling motif (182). Interestingly, the SNX5-binding motif covers the endocytic motif 466 YVFF 469 described before (36). The endosomal SNX-BAR sorting complex for promoting exit 1 (ESCPE-1), identified in this study, allows to couple cargo recognition with SNXmediated biogenesis of tubulo-vesicular transport carriers that recycle cargo to the PM or send them to the TGN (182). Whether this new recycling pathway mediates IFNAR1 basal recycling to the PM will need further investigation (**Figure 2**).

Degradation of Type I Interferon Receptor 1 in Lysosomes

Early studies performed with human radiolabelled ¹²⁵I-IFN- α led to the first report of the degradation of IFN- α after IFNAR endocytosis, probably in lysosomes since it was blocked by chloroquine, a lysosomotropic agent (65, 183). IFNAR1 degradation was first described after IFN- α stimulation of Daudi cells (19). The lysosomal proteolysis of IFNAR1, excluding proteosomal degradation, was later established with lysosome inhibitors (80, 184). Several IFN-induced post-translational modifications in the cytosolic tail of IFNAR1 are necessary for its targeting to lysosomes. Upon IFN stimulation, the ubiquitination of IFNAR1 proximal lysine residues adds K48 and K63 linkages which are known to sort polyubiquitinated cargos to the proteasome or lysosomes for degradation (**Figure 2**) (81, 185, 186).

IFNAR1 ubiquitination occurs probably mainly at the PM after IFN binding, but could also take place at the endosomal level as described for GHR (187). This study showed that $SCF^{\beta-1}$ Trcp was active at the cell surface and in endosomes. Silencing SCF^{β-Trcp} or deleting the GHR ubiquitin-dependent endocytosis motif forced GHR recycling from endosomes to the PM, indicating that GHR sorting to lysosomes depends on an active ubiquitin system. More recently, several studies revealed that ubiquitinated receptors can be sorted to ILVs independently from ESCRT as shown for GPCR with ALG-2-interacting Protein X (ALIX) or EGFR, PDGFR and α5β1 integrin with the histidine domain phosphotyrosine phosphatase (HD-PTP) [review in (188)]. The precise molecular mechanism mediating IFNAR1 lysosomal degradation will require further investigations. Whether ALIX and HD-PTP are part of IFNAR1 sorting machinery are still open questions.

Type I Interferon Receptor Complex Dissociation and Signaling Termination

Whether and how the retromer complex contributes to the regulation of intracellular signaling are still poorly understood. How ligand-induced receptor phosphorylation can influence decisions between recycling versus degradation and signaling was first described for β_2 AR and EGFR. EGFR activation by TGF α led to sustained MAPK activation and retrieval/recycling of the receptor, whereas activation by EGF induces fast receptor degradation and a transient MAPK activation (189). The SNX27-retromer retrieval subdomain allows to terminate G protein-coupled parathyroid hormone receptor signaling, a key regulation as shown by the deleterious effect of its constitutive activation on bone formation observed in *Snx27* deficient mice (190).

By controlling the residency time of internalized IFNAR complex in the endosome, the retromer is directly implicated in the fine tuning of JAK-STAT signaling duration and downstream transcription outputs (**Figure 3**). Indeed, a significant upregulation of genes known to be dependent on IFN stimulation was observed in VPS35 depleted cells upon IFN-

 α /- β activation, suggesting an aberrant prolonged activation of the JAK/STAT pathway (21). Thus, this study establishes a direct link between retromer-mediated sorting and modulation of intracellular signaling and gene transcription. In this context, a recent study proposed that the long-term effects of type I IFN could be explained by the persistence of receptor bound IFN- α 2 inside endosomes. Endosomal IFN could even continue to signal from this compartment for days when the IFN-IFNAR complex negative regulators ISG15 or USP18 were missing (191). The endosome is therefore a crucial sorting station where a concerted choreography between Hrs/STAM and retromer complexes sequentially control the initiation and the termination of IFNinduced JAK/STAT signaling.

DISCUSSION

Since their discovery more than 60 years ago, numerous studies have tried to unravel the mechanisms underlying the signaling activity of IFNs and their cognate IFNAR receptor. Until recently, these studies have mainly focused on the initiation of JAK/STAT signaling at the plasma membrane in a linear manner. IFNAR membrane trafficking has been much less studied and all the less so when it comes to understand the role of the intracellular journey of IFNAR and its signaling. In agreement with the dogma that has long prevailed for transmembrane receptors, IFNAR trafficking was seen as a simple way to terminate signaling by passively removing receptors from the PM away from IFNs. This simplistic picture has recently changed with the demonstration that IFNAR trafficking is tightly associated with the control of JAK/STAT signaling. Nevertheless, the characterization of IFNAR trafficking has only recently begun and further studies are clearly needed to better understand the role of each trafficking step in the final IFN signaling response.

While most studies have addressed these mechanisms using IFN- α 2 as a ligand, how IFN- β can transduce distinct activities remains a challenging and unresolved question. This is also the case for the other human type I IFNs including the twelve subtypes of IFN- α , IFN- ϵ , IFN- κ , and IFN- ω . Their distinct structures and IFNAR binding affinities may be translated into a selective modulation of IFNAR trafficking characteristics that it would be interesting to relate to their specific activities. Distinct IFN affinities could determine distinct IFNAR endocytosis rate and potentially control when signal is terminated at the endosomal level. Modulations of these parameters would eventually adjust the signal duration for each IFN subtype. Therefore, the regulation of trafficking events may add another level of complexity and control of the IFN stimulation outcomes.

The importance of better understanding IFNAR trafficking is not restricted to IFNAR as it will probably establish new paradigms in the control of signaling by trafficking for cytokine and transmembrane receptors beyond the prototypical EGFR and GPCRs. The extremely dynamic nature of the endosomal network and the rapid movement of vesicles through the cytosol, make it challenging to follow receptors during their journey in live cells. In particular, it is not known whether IFN receptor complexes made from different IFN subtypes would be found in common or separate endosomal compartments. However, the recent and continuous improvements in live cell imaging such as super resolution microscopy and AI-based segmentation approaches will enable us to make substantial progress in the near future. No, the journey does not end here.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NZ, CV, CL, and CB wrote the review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Rodero MP, Crow YJ. Type I interferon-mediated monogenic autoinflammation: The type i interferonopathies, a conceptual overview. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(12):2527–38. doi: 10.1084/jem.20161596
- Goh LK, Sorkin A. Endocytosis of receptor tyrosine kinases. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2013) 5(5):1–17. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a017459
- Lobingier BT, von Zastrow M. When trafficking and signaling mix: How subcellular location shapes G protein-coupled receptor activation of heterotrimeric G proteins. *Traffic* (2019) 20(2):130–6. doi: 10.1111/ tra.12634
- 4. Roth TF, Porter KR. Yolk protein uptake in the oocyte of the mosquito aedes aegypti. l. J Cell Biol (1964) 20(2):313–32. doi: 10.1083/jcb.20.2.313
- Kirchhausen T. Clathrin. Annu Rev Biochem (2000) 69(1):699–727. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.69.1.699
- McMahon HT, Boucrot E. Molecular mechanism and physiological functions of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2011) 12(8):517–33. doi: 10.1038/nrm3151
- Kaksonen M, Roux AA. Mechanisms of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2018) 19(5):313–26. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2017.132
- Sandvig K, Kavaliauskiene S, Skotland T. Clathrin-independent endocytosis: an increasing degree of complexity. *Histochem Cell Biol* (2018) 150(2):107– 18. doi: 10.1007/s00418-018-1678-5
- Renard HF, Tyckaert F, Lo Giudice C, Hirsch T, Valades-Cruz CA, Lemaigre C, et al. Endophilin-A3 and Galectin-8 control the clathrin-independent endocytosis of CD166. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-15303-y
- Piehler J, Thomas C, Christopher Garcia K, Schreiber G. Structural and dynamic determinants of type I interferon receptor assembly and their functional interpretation. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 250(1):317–34. doi: 10.1111/ imr.12001
- You C, Richter CP, Löchte S, Wilmes S, Piehler J. Dynamic submicroscopic signaling zones revealed by pair correlation tracking and localization microscopy. *Anal Chem* (2014) 86(17):8593–602. doi: 10.1021/ac501127r
- Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14(1):36–49. doi: 10.1038/nri3581
- 13. Novick D, Cohen B, Rubinstein M. The human interferon α β receptor: Characterization and molecular cloning. *Cell* (1994) 77(3):391–400. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90154-6
- De Weerd NA, Samarajiwa SA, Hertzog PJ. Type I interferon receptors: Biochemistry and biological functions. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282(28):20053–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R700006200
- Gazziola C, Cordani N, Carta S, De Lorenzo E, Colombatti A, Perris R. The relative endogenous expression levels of the IFNAR2 isoforms influence the cytostatic and pro-apoptotic effect of IFNalpha on pleomorphic sarcoma cells. *Int J Oncol* (2005) 26(1):129–40. doi: 10.3892/ijo.26.1.129
- De Weerd NA, Nguyen T. The interferons and their receptors-distribution and regulation. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2012) 90(5):483–91. doi: 10.1038/icb.2012.9
- Scatchard G. The attractions of proteins for small molecules and ions. Ann NY Acad Sci (1949) 51(4):660–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1949.tb27297.x

FUNDING

This work was supported by institutional grants from the Curie Institute, INSERM, CNRS, and by specific grants from Agence Nationale de la Recherche grants ANR-11-LABX-0038, ANR-10-IDEX-0001-02, ANR-NANOSTAT-15-CE11-0025-01, and ANR-NanoGammaR-15-CE11-0025-01. NZ was supported by a PhD fellowship from Ministère de l'Enseignement Supérieur et de la Recherche, and Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer, and by the European Commission under the Seventh Framework Programme [grant agreement n° HEALTH-F2-2013-602222 (Athero-Flux)] and CB by a post-doctoral fellowship from Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer.

- Langer JA, Pestka S. Interferon receptors. *Immunol Today* (1988) 9(12):393–400. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(88)91241-8
- Constantinescu SN, Croze E, Wang C, Murti A, Basu L, Mullersman JE, et al. Role of interferon α/β receptor chain 1 in the structure and transmembrane signaling of the interferon α/β receptor complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) 91(20):9602–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.20.9602
- Wilmes S, Beutel O, Li Z, Francois-Newton V, Richter CP, Janning D, et al. Receptor dimerization dynamics as a regulatory valve for plasticity of type I interferon signaling. J Cell Biol (2015) 209(4):579–93. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201412049
- Chmiest D, Sharma N, Zanin N, Viaris De Lesegno C, Shafaq-Zadah M, Sibut V, et al. Spatiotemporal control of interferon-induced JAK/STAT signalling and gene transcription by the retromer complex. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:1–15. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13476
- Wilks AF. Two putative protein-tyrosine kinases identified by application of the polymerase chain reaction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1989) 86(5):1603– 7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.5.1603
- Firmbach-Kraft I, Byers M, Shows T, Dalla-Favera R, Krolewski JJ. tyk2, prototype of a novel class of non-receptor tyrosine kinase genes. *Oncogene* (1990) 5(9):1329–36.
- 24. Krolewski JJ, Lee R, Eddy R, Shows TB, Dalla-Favera R. Identification and chromosomal mapping of new human tyrosine kinase genes. *Oncogene* (1990) 5(3):277–82.
- 25. Kawamura M, McVicar DW, Johnston JA, Blake TB, Chen YQ, Lal BK, et al. Molecular cloning of L-JAK, a Janus family protein-tyrosine kinase expressed in natural killer cells and activated leukocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) 91(14):6374–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.14.6374
- Haan C, Kreis S, Margue C, Behrmann I. Jaks and cytokine receptors-An intimate relationship. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2006) 72(11):1348–56. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2006.04.013
- Ferrao R, Lupardus PJ. The Janus Kinase (JAK) FERM and SH2 domains: Bringing specificity to JAK-receptor interactions. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8 (71):1–11. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00071
- 28. Uzé G, Lutfalla G, Gresser I. Genetic transfer of a functional human interferon α receptor into mouse cells: Cloning and expression of its c-DNA. *Cell* (1990) 60(2):225–34. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90738-Z
- Colamonici O, Yan H, Domanski P, Handa R, Smalley D, Mullersman J, et al. Direct binding to and tyrosine phosphorylation of the alpha subunit of the type I interferon receptor by p135tyk2 tyrosine kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* (1994) 14(12):8133–42. doi: 10.1128/MCB.14.12.8133
- 30. Domanski P, Witte M, Kellum M, Rubinstein M, Hackett R, Pitha P, et al. Cloning and expression of a long form of the β subunit of the interferon $\alpha\beta$ receptor that is required for signaling. *J Biol Chem* (1995) 270(37):21606–11. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.37.21606
- 31. Lutfalla G, Holland SJ, Cinato E, Monneron D, Reboul J, Rogers NC, et al. Mutant U5A cells are complemented by an interferon- $\alpha\beta$ receptor subunit generated by alternative processing of a new member of a cytokine receptor gene cluster. *EMBO J* (1995) 14(20):5100–8. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb00192.x
- Yan H, Krishnan K, Lim JTE, Contillo LG, Krolewski JJ. Molecular Characterization of an Alpha Interferon Receptor 1 Subunit (IFNaR1)

Domain Required for TYK2 Binding and Signal Transduction. *Mol Cell Biol* (1996) 16(5):2074–82. doi: 10.1128/MCB.16.5.2074

- Wallweber HJA, Tam C, Franke Y, Starovasnik MA, Lupardus PJ. Structural basis of recognition of interferon-α receptor by tyrosine kinase 2. Nat Struct Mol Biol (2014) 21(5):443–8. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2807
- Gauzzi MC, Velazquez L, McKendry R, Mogensen KE, Fellous M, Pellegrini S. Interferon-α-dependent activation of Tyk2 requires phosphorylation of positive regulatory tyrosines by another kinase. J Biol Chem (1996) 271 (34):20494–500. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.34.20494
- Ragimbeau J, Dondi E, Alcover A, Eid P, Uzé G, Pellegrini S. The tyrosine kinase Tyk2 controls IFNAR1 cell surface expression. *EMBO J* (2003) 22 (3):537–47. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg038
- 36. Kumar KGS, Varghese B, Banerjee A, Baker DP, Constantinescu SN, Pellegrini S, et al. Basal ubiquitin-independent internalization of interferon α receptor is prevented by Tyk2-mediated masking of a linear endocytic motif. J Biol Chem (2008) 283(27):18566–72. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M800991200
- Li X, Leung S, Kerr IM, Stark GR. Functional subdomains of STAT2 required for preassociation with the alpha interferon receptor and for signaling. *Mol Cell Biol* (1997) 17(4):2048–56. doi: 10.1128/MCB.17.4.2048
- Saleh AZM, Nguyen VP, Krolewski JJ. Affinity of Stat2 for the subunits of the interferon alpha receptor. *Biochemistry* (2002) 41(37):11261–8. doi: 10.1021/ bi025913f
- Löchte S, Waichman S, Beutel O, You C, Piehler J. Live cell micropatterning reveals the dynamics of signaling complexes at the plasma membrane. J Cell Biol (2014) 207(3):407–18. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201406032
- Improta T, Schindler C, Horvath CM, Kerr IM, Stark GR, Darnell JE. Transcription factor ISGF-3 formation requires phosphorylated Stat91 protein, but Stat113 protein is phosphorylated independently of Stat91 protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) 91(11):4776–80. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.11.4776
- Malakhov MP, Malakhova OA, Kim KII, Ritchie KJ, Zhang DE. UBP43 (USP18) specifically removes ISG15 from conjugated proteins. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(12):9976–81. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109078200
- Arimoto KI, Löchte S, Stoner SA, Burkart C, Zhang Y, Miyauchi S, et al. STAT2 is an essential adaptor in USP18-mediated suppression of type I interferon signaling. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2017) 24(3):279–89. doi: 10.1038/ nsmb.3378
- Malakhova OA, Kim KII, Luo JK, Zou W, Kumar KGS, Fuchs SY, et al. UBP43 is a novel regulator of interferon signaling independent of its ISG15 isopeptidase activity. *EMBO J* (2006) 25(11):2358–67. doi: 10.1038/ sj.emboj.7601149
- 44. François-Newton V, de Freitas Almeida GM, Payelle-Brogard B, Monneron D, Pichard-Garcia L, Piehler J, et al. USP18-based negative feedback control is induced by type I and type III interferons and specifically inactivates interferon α response. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(7):1–12. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0022200
- Francois-Newton V, Livingstone M, Payelle-Brogard B, Uzé G, Pellegrini S. USP18 establishes the transcriptional and anti-proliferative interferon α/β differential. *Biochem J* (2012) 446(3):509–16. doi: 10.1042/BJ20120541
- 46. Croze E, Usacheva A, Asarnow D, Minshall RD, Perez HD, Colamonici O. Receptor for Activated C-Kinase (RACK-1), a WD Motif-Containing Protein, Specifically Associates with the Human Type I IFN Receptor. *J Immunol* (2000) 165(9):5127–32. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.9.5127
- 47. Usacheva A, Smith R, Minshall R, Baida G, Seng S, Croze E, et al. The WD Motif-containing Protein Receptor for Activated Protein Kinase C (RACK1) is Required for Recruitment and Activation of Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 1 through the Type I Interferon Receptor. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276(25):22948–53. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M100087200
- Boscher C, Dennis JW, Nabi IR. Glycosylation, galectins and cellular signaling. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2011) 23(4):383–92. doi: 10.1016/ j.ceb.2011.05.001
- Ferreira IG, Pucci M, Venturi G, Malagolini N, Chiricolo M, Dall'Olio F. Glycosylation as a main regulator of growth and death factor receptors signaling. *Int J Mol Sci* (2018) 19(580):1–28. doi: 10.3390/ijms19020580
- Ling LE, Zafari M, Reardon D, Brickelmeier M, Goelz SE, Benjamin CD. Human Type I Interferon Receptor, IFNAR, Is a Heavily Glycosylated 120-130 kD Membrane Protein. J Interf Cytokine Res (1995) 15(1):55–61. doi: 10.1089/jir.1995.15.55

- Lubick KJ, Robertson SJ, McNally KL, Freedman BA, Rasmussen AL, Taylor RT, et al. Flavivirus antagonism of type I interferon signaling reveals prolidase as a regulator of IFNAR1 surface expression. *Cell Host Microbe* (2015) 18(1):61–74. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.06.007
- Best SM. The Many Faces of the Flavivirus NS5 Protein in Antagonism of Type I Interferon Signaling. J Virol (2017) 91(3):e01970–16. doi: 10.1128/ jvi.01970-16
- 53. Claudinon J, Gonnord P, Beslard E, Marchetti M, Mitchell K, Johannes L, et al. Palmitoylation of Interferon-α (IFN-α) Receptor Subunit IFNAR1 Is Required for the Activation of Stat1 and Stat2 by IFN-α. J Biol Chem (2009) 284(36):24328–40. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.021915
- 54. Ko P, Dixon SJ. Protein palmitoylation and cancer. *EMBO Rep* (2018) 19 (10):1–14. doi: 10.15252/embr.201846666
- Blouin CM, Hamon Y, Gonnord P, Boularan C, Kagan J, Viaris de Lesegno C, et al. Glycosylation-Dependent IFN-γR Partitioning in Lipid and Actin Nanodomains Is Critical for JAK Activation. *Cell* (2016) 166(4):920–34. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.003
- Wilmes S, Hafer M, Vuorio J, Tucker JA, Winkelmann H, Löchte S, et al. Mechanism of homodimeric cytokine receptor activation and dysregulation by oncogenic mutations. *Science* (2020) 367(6478):643–52. doi: 10.1126/ science.aaw3242
- Cohen B, Novick D, Barak S, Rubinstein M. Ligand-induced association of the type I interferon receptor components. *Mol Cell Biol* (1995) 15(8):4208– 14. doi: 10.1128/MCB.15.8.4208
- Lamken P, Lata S, Gavutis M, Piehler J. Ligand-induced assembling of the type I interferon receptor on supported lipid bilayers. J Mol Biol (2004) 341 (1):303–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2004.05.059
- Gavutis M, Lata S, Lamken P, Müller P, Piehler J. Lateral ligand-receptor interactions on membranes probed by simultaneous fluorescenceinterference detection. *Biophys J* (2005) 88(6):4289–302. doi: 10.1529/ biophysj.104.055855
- 60. Takaoka A, Mitani Y, Suemori H, Sato M, Yokochi T, Noguchi S, et al. Cross talk between interferon- γ and $-\alpha/\beta$ signaling components in caveolar membrane domains. *Science* (2000) 288(5475):2357–60. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5475.2357
- Magee AI, Parmryd I. Detergent-resistant membranes and the protein composition of lipid rafts. *Genome Biol* (2003) 4(11):a234–undefined. doi: 10.1186/gb-2003-4-11-234
- Lamaze C, Tardif N, Dewulf M, Vassilopoulos S, Blouin CM. The caveolae dress code: structure and signaling. *Curr Opin Cell Biol (Elsevier Ltd)* (2017) pp:117–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2017.02.014
- Simons K, Toomre D. Lipid rafts and signal transduction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2000) 1(1):31–9. doi: 10.1038/35036052
- Parton RG, Pozo MA, Vassilopoulos S, Nabi IR, Le Lay S, Lundmark R, et al. Caveolae: The FAQs. *Traffic* (2019) 21(1):181–5. doi: 10.1111/tra.12689
- Zoon KC, Arnheiter H, Zur Nedden D, Fitzgerald DJP, Willingham MC. Human interferon alpha enters cells by receptor-mediated endocytosis. *Virology* (1983) 130(1):195–203. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(83)90127-7
- 66. Kushnaryov VM, MacDonald HS, Sedmak JJ, Grossberg SE. Murine interferon-β receptor-mediated endocytosis and nuclear membrane binding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1985) 82(10):3281–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.82.10.3281
- 67. Gabor KA, Stevens CR, Pietraszewski MJ, Gould TJ, Shim J, Yoder JA, et al. Super Resolution Microscopy Reveals that Caveolin-1 Is Required for Spatial Organization of CRFB1 and Subsequent Antiviral Signaling in Zebrafish. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(7):1–13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068759
- Levraud J-P, Boudinot P, Colin I, Benmansour A, Peyrieras N, Herbomel P, et al. Identification of the Zebrafish IFN Receptor: Implications for the Origin of the Vertebrate IFN System. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(7):4385–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4385
- Aggad D, Mazel M, Boudinot P, Mogensen KE, Hamming OJ, Hartmann R, et al. The Two Groups of Zebrafish Virus-Induced Interferons Signal via Distinct Receptors with Specific and Shared Chains. J Immunol (2009) 183 (6):3924–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901495
- Stein C, Caccamo M, Laird G, Leptin M. Conservation and divergence of gene families encoding components of innate immune response systems in zebrafish. *Genome Biol* (2007) 8(11):R251. doi: 10.1186/gb-2007-8-11-r251
- 71. Wilmes S, Staufenbiel M, Liße D, Richter CP, Beutel O, Busch KB, et al. Triple-Color Super-Resolution Imaging of Live Cells: Resolving

Submicroscopic Receptor Organization in the Plasma Membrane. Angew Chem (2012) 124(20):4952–5. doi: 10.1002/ange.201200853

- Schreiber G, Piehler J. The molecular basis for functional plasticity in type I interferon signaling. *Trends Immunol* (2015) 36(3):139–49. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2015.01.002
- 73. You C, Marquez-Lago TT, Richter CP, Wilmes S, Moraga I, Garcia KC, et al. Receptor dimer stabilization By hierarchical plasma membrane microcompartments regulates cytokine signaling. *Sci Adv* (2016) 2(12): e1600452. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600452
- 74. Strunk JJ, Gregor I, Becker Y, Li Z, Gavutis M, Jaks E, et al. Ligand Binding Induces a Conformational Change in ifnar1 that Is Propagated to Its Membrane-Proximal Domain. J Mol Biol (2008) 377(3):725–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.01.017
- Thomas C, Moraga I, Levin D, Krutzik PO, Podoplelova Y, Trejo A, et al. Structural linkage between ligand discrimination and receptor activation by Type i interferons. *Cell* (2011) 146(4):621–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.06.048
- Chuartzman SG, Nevo R, Waichman S, Shental D, Piehler J, Levy Y, et al. Binding of interferon reduces the force of unfolding for interferon receptor 1. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(4):e0175413. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175413
- Babon JJ, Lucet IS, Murphy JM, Nicola NA, Varghese LN. The molecular regulation of Janus kinase (JAK) activation. *Biochem J* (2014) 462(1):1–13. doi: 10.1042/BJ20140712
- Stanifer ML, Pervolaraki K, Boulant S. Differential regulation of and type III interferon signaling. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(6):1–22. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20061445
- Zheng H, Qian J, Baker DP, Fuchs SY. Tyrosine phosphorylation of protein kinase D2 mediates ligand-inducible elimination of the type 1 interferon receptor. J Biol Chem (2011) 286(41):35733–41. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.263608
- Kumar KGS, Tang W, Ravindranath AK, Clark WA, Croze E, Fuchs SY. SCFHOS ubiquitin ligase mediates the ligand-induced down-regulation of the interferon-α receptor. *EMBO J* (2003) 22(20):5480–90. doi: 10.1093/ emboj/cdg524
- Kumar KGS, Krolewski JJ, Fuchs SY. Phosphorylation and specific ubiquitin acceptor sites are required for ubiquitination and degradation of the IFNAR1 subunit of type I interferon receptor. J Biol Chem (2004) 279 (45):46614–20. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M407082200
- Kumar KGS, Barriere H, Carbone CJ, Liu J, Swaminathan G, Xu P, et al. Sitespecific ubiquitination exposes a linear motif to promote interferon-α receptor endocytosis. J Cell Biol (2007) 179(5):935–50. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200706034
- 83. Marchetti M, Monier M-N, Fradagrada A, Mitchell K, Baychelier F, Eid P, et al. Stat-mediated signaling induced by type I and type II interferons (IFNs) is differentially controlled through lipid microdomain association and clathrin-dependent endocytosis of IFN receptors. *Mol Biol Cell* (2006) 17 (7):2896–909. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e06-01-0076
- Traub LM, Bonifacino JS. Cargo recognition in clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2013) 5(11):a016790. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a016790
- Karaghiosoff M, Neubauer H, Lassnig C, Kovarik P, Schindler H, Pircher H, et al. Partial impairment of cytokine responses in Tyk2-deficient mice. *Immunity* (2000) 13(4):549–60. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00054-6
- Shimoda K, Kato K, Aoki K, Matsuda T, Miyamoto A, Shibamori M, et al. Tyk2 plays a restricted role in IFNα signaling, although it is required for IL-12-mediated T cell function. *Immunity* (2000) 13(4):561–71. doi: 10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)00055-8
- Sheehan KCF, Lai KS, Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Diamond MS, Heutel JD, et al. Blocking monoclonal antibodies specific for mouse IFN-α/β receptor subunit 1 (IFNAR-1) from mice immunized by in vivo hydrodynamic transfection. *J Interf Cytokine Res* (2006) 26(11):804–19. doi: 10.1089/jir.2006.26.804
- Owen DJ, Evans PR. A structural explanation for the recognition of tyrosinebased endocytotic signals. *Science* (1998) 282(5392):1327–32. doi: 10.1126/ science.282.5392.1327
- Kittler JT, Chen G, Kukhtina V, Vahedi-Faridi A, Gu Z, Tretter V, et al. Regulation of synaptic inhibition by phosphodependent binding of the AP2 complex to a YECL motif in the GABAA receptor γ2 subunit. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(9):3616–21. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707920105
- Nesterov A, Kurten RC, Gill GN. Association of epidermal growth factor receptors with coated pit adaptins via a tyrosine phosphorylation-regulated mechanism. J Biol Chem (1995) 270(11):6320–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.11.6320

- 91. Carbone CJ, Zheng H, Bhattacharya S, Lewis JR, Reiter AM, Henthorn P, et al. Protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B is a key regulator of IFNAR1 endocytosis and a target for antiviral therapies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(47):19226–31. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1211491109
- 92. Abramovich C, Shulman LM, Ratovitski E, Harroch S, Tovey M, Eid P, et al. Differential tyrosine phosphorylation of the IFNAR chain of the type I interferon receptor and of an associated surface protein in response to IFN-α and IFN-β. *EMBO J* (1994) 13(24):5871–7. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1994.tb06932.x
- Alammar L, Gama L, Clements JE. Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Infection in the Brain and Lung Leads to Differential Type I IFN Signaling during Acute Infection. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(7):4008–18. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003757
- Zaritsky LA, Gama L, Clements JE. Canonical Type I IFN Signaling in Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Macrophages Is Disrupted by Astrocyte-Secreted CCL2. J Immunol (2012) 188(8):3876–85. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1103024
- García Lopez MA, Aguado Martínez A, Lamaze C, Martínez-A C, Fischer T. Inhibition of dynamin prevents CCL2-mediated endocytosis of CCR2 and activation of ERK1/2. *Cell Signal* (2009) 21(12):1748–57. doi: 10.1016/ j.cellsig.2009.07.010
- 96. Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ. The role of β -arrestins in the termination and transduction of G-protein-coupled receptor signals. J Cell Sci (2002) 115(3):455–65.
- Neel NF, Schutyser E, Sai J, Fan GH, Richmond A. Chemokine receptor internalization and intracellular trafficking. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2005) 16(6):637–58. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.05.008
- 98. Beautrait A, Paradis JS, Zimmerman B, Giubilaro J, Nikolajev L, Armando S, et al. A new inhibitor of the β -arrestin/AP2 endocytic complex reveals interplay between GPCR internalization and signalling. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:15054. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15054
- Williams DW, Askew LC, Jones E, Clements JE. CCR2 Signaling Selectively Regulates IFN-α: Role of β-Arrestin 2 in IFNAR1 Internalization. *J Immunol* (2019) 202(1):105–18. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800598
- Pestka S, Langer JA, Zoon KC, Samuel CE. Interferons and their Actions. Annu Rev Biochem (1987) 56(1):727–77. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.56.070187.003455
- 101. Cousens LP, Peterson R, Hsu S, Dorner A, Altman JD, Ahmed R, et al. Two roads diverged: Interferon α/β- and interleukin 12-mediated pathways in promoting T cell interferon γ responses during viral infection. J Exp Med (1999) 189(8):1315–27. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.8.1315
- Platanias LC. Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5(5):375–86. doi: 10.1038/nri1604
- 103. Fish EN, Platanias LC. Interferon receptor signaling in malignancy: a network of cellular pathways defining biological outcomes. *Mol Cancer Res* (2014) 12(12):1691–703. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-14-0450
- 104. McNab F, Mayer-Barber K, Sher A, Wack A, O'Garra A. Type I interferons in infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(2):87–103. doi: 10.1038/ nri3787
- Devergne O, Ghiglione C, Noselli S. The endocytic control of JAK/STAT signalling in Drosophila. J Cell Sci (2007) 120(19):3457–64. doi: 10.1242/ jcs.005926
- 106. Brown S, Hu N, Hombría JCG. Identification of the first invertebrate interleukin JAK/STAT receptor, the Drosophila gene domeless. *Curr Biol* (2001) 11(21):1700–5. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(01)00524-3
- 107. Moore R, Vogt K, Acosta-Martin AE, Shire P, Zeidler M, Smythe E. Integration of JAK/STAT receptor–ligand trafficking, signalling and gene expression in Drosophila melanogaster cells. J Cell Sci (2020) 133(19): jcs246199. doi: 10.1242/jcs.246199
- Jovic M, Sharma M, Rahajeng J, Caplan S. The early endosome: A busy sorting station for proteins at the crossroads. *Histol Histopathol* (2010) 25 (1):99–112. doi: 10.14670/HH-25.99
- Naslavsky N, Caplan S. The enigmatic endosome Sorting the ins and outs of endocytic trafficking. J Cell Sci (2018) 131(13):1–14. doi: 10.1242/jcs.216499
- 110. Grimes ML, Zhou J, Beattie EC, Yuen EC, Hall DE, Valletta JS, et al. Endocytosis of activated trkA: Evidence that nerve growth factor induces formation of signaling endosomes. *J Neurosci* (1996) 16(24):7950–64. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-24-07950.1996
- Damke H, Baba T, Warnock DE, Schmid SL. Induction of mutant dynamin specifically blocks endocytic coated vesicle formation. *J Cell Biol* (1994) 127 (4):915–34. doi: 10.1083/jcb.127.4.915

- Vieira AV, Lamaze C, Schmid SL. Control of EGF receptor signaling by clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Science* (1996) 80-) 274(5295):2086–9. doi: 10.1126/science.274.5295.2086
- Sorkin A, Von Zastrow M. Signal transduction and endocytosis: Close encounters of many kinds. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2002) 3(8):600–14. doi: 10.1038/nrm883
- Miaczynska M, Bar-Sagi D. Signaling endosomes: seeing is believing. Curr Opin Cell Biol (2010) 22(4):535–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2010.05.007
- Gonnord P, Blouin CM, Lamaze C. Membrane trafficking and signaling: Two sides of the same coin. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2012) 23(2):154–64. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcdb.2011.11.002
- 116. Di Fiore PP, von Zastrow M. Endocytosis, signaling, and beyond. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2014) 6(8):1–14. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a016865
- 117. Villaseñor R, Kalaidzidis Y, Zerial M. Signal processing by the endosomal system. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2016) 39:53–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2016.02.002
- Schmid SL. Reciprocal regulation of signaling and endocytosis: Implications for the evolving cancer cell. J Cell Biol (2017) 216(9):2623–32. doi: 10.1083/ jcb.201705017
- Katzmann DJ, Odorizzi G, Emr SD. Receptor downregulation and multivesicular-body sorting. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2002) 3(12):893–905. doi: 10.1038/nrm973
- Raiborg C, Stenmark H. The ESCRT machinery in endosomal sorting of ubiquitylated membrane proteins. *Nature* (2009) 458(7237):445–52. doi: 10.1038/nature07961
- Hurley JH, Emr SD. The ESCRT complexes: Structure and mechanism of a membrane-trafficking network. *Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct* (2006) 35:277–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biophys.35.040405.102126
- 122. Saksena S, Sun J, Chu T, Emr SD. ESCRTing proteins in the endocytic pathway. Trends Biochem Sci (2007) 32(12):561–73. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2007.09.010
- 123. Hurley JH. The ESCRT complexes. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol (2010) 45 (6):463–87. doi: 10.3109/10409238.2010.502516
- Komada M, Kitamura N. Regulatory role of major tyrosine autophosphorylation site of kinase domain of c-met receptor (scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor receptor). J Biol Chem (1994) 269(23):16131–6.
- 125. Ren X, Hurley JH. VHS domains of ESCRT-0 cooperate in high-avidity binding to polyubiquitinated cargo. EMBO J (2010) 29(6):1045–54. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.6
- 126. Mayers JR, Fyfe I, Schuh AL, Chapman ER, Edwardson JM, Audhya A. ESCRT-0 assembles as a heterotetrameric complex on membranes and binds multiple ubiquitinylated cargoes simultaneously. J Biol Chem (2011) 286 (11):9636–45. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.185363
- 127. Takahashi H, Mayers JR, Wang L, Edwardson JM, Audhya A. Hrs and STAM function synergistically to bind ubiquitin-modified cargoes in vitro. *Biophys J* (2015) 108(1):76–84. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2014.11.004
- 128. Komada M, Soriano P. Hrs, a FYVE finger protein localized to early endosomes, is implicated in vesicular traffic and required for ventral folding morphogenesis. *Genes Dev* (1999) 13(11):1475–85. doi: 10.1101/ gad.13.11.1475
- 129. Kobayashi H, Tanaka N, Asao H, Miura S, Kyuuma M, Semura K, et al. Hrs, a mammalian master molecule in vesicular transport and protein sorting, suppresses the degradation of ESCRT proteins signal transducing adaptor molecule 1 and 2. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(11):10468–77. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M409969200
- Komada M, Kitamura N. The Hrs/STAM complex in the downregulation of receptor tyrosine kinases. J Biochem (2005) 137(1):1–8. doi: 10.1093/jb/ mvi001
- 131. Jimenez AJ, Maiuri P, Lafaurie-Janvore J, Divoux S, Piel M, Perez F. ESCRT machinery is required for plasma membrane repair. *Science* (2014) 343 (6174):1247136. doi: 10.1126/science.1247136
- 132. Raab M, Gentili M, De Belly H, Thiam HR, Vargas P, Jimenez AJ, et al. ESCRT III repairs nuclear envelope ruptures during cell migration to limit DNA damage and cell death. *Science* (2016) 80-) 352(6283):359–62. doi: 10.1126/science.aad7611
- Campsteijn C, Vietri M, Stenmark H. Novel ESCRT functions in cell biology: Spiraling out of control? *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2016) 41:1–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.ceb.2016.03.008
- Olmos Y, Carlton JG. The ESCRT machinery: New roles at new holes. Curr Opin Cell Biol (2016) 38:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2015.12.001

- Christ L, Raiborg C, Wenzel EM, Campsteijn C, Stenmark H. Cellular Functions and Molecular Mechanisms of the ESCRT Membrane-Scission Machinery. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2017) 42(1):42–56. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2016.08.016
- Lefebvre C, Legouis R, Culetto E. ESCRT and autophagies: Endosomal functions and beyond. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2018) 74:21–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcdb.2017.08.014
- Gatta AT, Carlton JG. The ESCRT-machinery: closing holes and expanding roles. Curr Opin Cell Biol (2019) 59:121–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2019.04.005
- Dikic I. Mechanisms controlling EGF receptor endocytosis and degradation. Biochem Soc Trans (2003) 31(6):1178–81. doi: 10.1042/bst0311178
- 139. Bache KG, Slagsvold T, Cabezas A, Rosendal KR, Raiborg C, Stenmark H. The Growth-regulatory protein HCRP1/h Vps37A is a subunit of mammalian ESCRT-I and mediates receptor down-regulation. *Mol Biol Cell* (2004) 15(9):4337–46. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e04-03-0250
- 140. Gruenberg J, Stenmark H. The biogenesis of multivesicular endosomes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2004) 5(4):317–23. doi: 10.1038/nrm1360
- 141. Barriere H, Nemes C, Du K, Lukacs GL. Plasticity of polyubiquitin recognition as lysosomal targeting signals by the endosomal sorting machinery. *Mol Biol Cell* (2007) 18(10):3952–65. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e07-07-0678
- 142. Roxrud I, Raiborg C, Pedersen NM, Stang E, Stenmark H. An endosomally localized isoform of Eps15 interacts with Hrs to mediate degradation of epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Cell Biol* (2008) 180(6):1205–18. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200708115
- 143. White IJ, Bailey LM, Aghakhani MR, Moss SE, Futter CE. EGF stimulates annexin 1-dependent inward vesiculation in a multivesicular endosome subpopulation. *EMBO J* (2006) 25(1):1–12. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7600759
- Eden ER, White IJ, Futter CE. Down-regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor signalling within multivesicular bodies. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2009) pp:173-7. doi: 10.1042/BST0370173
- Lloyd TE, Atkinson R, Wu MN, Zhou Y, Pennetta G, Bellen HJ. Hrs regulates endosome membrane invagination and tyrosine kinase receptor signaling in Drosophila. *Cell* (2002) 108(2):261–9. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00611-6
- 146. Jékely G, Rørth P. Hrs mediates downregulation of multiple signalling receptors in Drosophila. EMBO Rep (2003) 4(12):1163-8. doi: 10.1038/ sj.embor.7400019
- 147. Chanut-Delalande H, Jung AC, Baer MM, Lin L, Payre F, Affolter M. The Hrs/Stam Complex Acts as a Positive and Negative Regulator of RTK Signaling during Drosophila Development. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(4):e10245. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010245
- 148. Shenoy SK, McDonald PH, Kohout TA, Lefkowitz RJ. Regulation of receptor fate by ubiquitination of activated β 2-adrenergic receptor and β -arrestin. *Science (80)* (2001) 294(5545):1307–13. doi: 10.1126/science.1063866
- 149. Whistler JL, Tsao P, Von Zastrow M. A Phosphorylation-regulated Brake Mechanism Controls the Initial Endocytosis of Opioid Receptors but Is Not Required for Post-endocytic Sorting to Lysosomes. J Biol Chem (2001) 276 (36):34331–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M104627200
- 150. Petäjä-Repo UE, Hogue M, Bhalla S, Lapierrere A, Morello J-P, Bouvier M. Ligands act as pharmacological chaperones and increase the efficiency of δ opioid receptor maturation. *EMBO J* (2002) 21(7):1628–37. doi: 10.1093/emboj/21.7.1628
- 151. Zhang X, Wang F, Chen X, Li J, Xiang B, Zhang YQ, et al. β-arrestin1 and β-arrestin2 are differentially required for phosphorylation-dependent and -independent internalization of δ-opioid receptors. J Neurochem (2005) 95 (1):169–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03352.x
- 152. Shenoy SK, Barak LS, Xiao K, Ahn S, Berthouze M, Shukla AK, et al. Ubiquitination of β-arrestin links seven-transmembrane receptor endocytosis and ERK activation. J Biol Chem (2007) 282(40):29549–62. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M700852200
- Hislop JN, Henry AG, Marchese A, von Zastrow M. Ubiquitination regulates proteolytic processing of G protein-coupled receptors after their sorting to lysosomes. J Biol Chem (2009) 284(29):19361–70. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M109.001644
- 154. Xiao K, Shenoy SK. β2-adrenergic receptor lysosomal trafficking is regulated by ubiquitination of lysyl residues in two distinct receptor domains. J Biol Chem (2011) 286(14):12785–95. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.203091
- 155. Dores MR, Trejo JA. Endo-lysosomal sorting of G-protein-coupled receptors by ubiquitin: Diverse pathways for G-protein-coupled receptor destruction and beyond. *Traffic* (2019) 20(2):101–9. doi: 10.1111/tra.12619

- 156. Hislop JN, Marley A, Von Zastrow M. Role of mammalian vacuolar proteinsorting proteins in endocytic trafficking of a non-ubiquitinated G proteincoupled receptor to lysosomes. J Biol Chem (2004) 279(21):22522–31. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M311062200
- 157. Hanyaloglu AC, McCullagh E, Von Zastrow M. Essential role of Hrs in a recycling mechanism mediating functional resensitization of cell signaling. *EMBO J* (2005) 24(13):2265–83. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7600688
- Hanyaloglu AC, Von Zastrow M. A novel sorting sequence in the β2-adrenergic receptor switches recycling from default to the Hrs-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem (2007) 282(5):3095–104. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M605398200
- 159. Yamashita Y, Kojima K, Tsukahara T, Agawa H, Yamada K, Amano Y, et al. Ubiquitin-independent binding of Hrs mediates endosomal sorting of the interleukin-2 receptor β-chain. J Cell Sci (2008) 121(10):1727–38. doi: 10.1242/jcs.024455
- 160. Zanin N, Blouin CM, de Lesegno CV, Chmiest D, Johannes L, Lamaze C. STAM Interaction with Hrs Controls JAK/STAT Activation by Interferon-α at the Early Endosome. *bioRxiv* (2019), 509968. doi: 10.1101/509968
- 161. Mizuno E, Kawahata K, Okamoto A, Kitamura N, Komada M. Association with Hrs Is Required for the Early Endosomal Localization, Stability, and Function of STAM. J Biochem (2004) 135(3):385–96. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvh046
- 162. Kojima K, Amano Y, Yoshino K, Tanaka N, Sugamura K, Takeshita T. ESCRT-0 Protein Hrs Is Targeted to Endosomes Independent of STAM and the Complex Formation with STAM Promotes Its Endosomal Dissociation. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289(48):1–25. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.578245
- 163. Pullan L, Mullapudi S, Huang Z, Baldwin PR, Chin C, Sun W, et al. The Endosome-Associated Protein Hrs Is Hexameric and Controls Cargo Sorting as a "Master Molecule." *Structure* (2006) 14(4):661–71. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2006.01.012
- 164. Morris R, Kershaw NJ, Babon JJ. The molecular details of cytokine signaling via the JAK/STAT pathway. *Protein Sci* (2018) 27(12):1984–2009. doi: 10.1002/pro.3519
- 165. Sugamura K, Asao H, Kondo M, Tanaka N, Ishii N, Ohbo K, et al. The interleukin-2 receptor γ chain: Its role in the multiple cytokine receptor complexes and T cell development in XSCID. Annu Rev Immunol (1996) 14:179–205. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.179
- 166. Amano Y, Yamashita Y, Kojima K, Yoshino K, Tanaka N, Sugamura K, et al. Hrs recognizes a hydrophobic amino acid cluster in cytokine receptors during ubiquitin-independent endosomal sorting. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286 (17):15458–72. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.191924
- 167. Amano Y, Yoshino K, Kojima K, Takeshita T. A hydrophobic amino acid cluster inserted into the C-terminus of a recycling cell surface receptor functions as an endosomal sorting signal. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2013) 441(1):164–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.10.019
- 168. Marijanovic Z, Ragimbeau J, Van Der Heyden J, Uzé G, Pellegrini S. Comparable potency of IFN α 2 and IFN β on immediate JAK/STAT activation but differential down-regulation of IFNAR2. *Biochem J* (2007) 407(1):141–51. doi: 10.1042/BJ20070605
- Seaman MNJ, McCaffery MJ, Emr SD. A Membrane Coat Complex Essential for Endosome-to-Golgi Retrograde Transport in Yeast. J Cell Biol (1998) 142 (3):665–81. doi: 10.1083/jcb.142.3.665
- 170. Lauffer BEL, Melero C, Temkin P, Lei C, Hong W, Kortemme T, et al. SNX27 mediates PDZ-directed sorting from endosomes to the plasma membrane. *J Cell Biol* (2010) 190(4):565–74. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201004060
- 171. Temkin P, Lauffer B, Jäger S, Cimermancic P, Krogan NJ, von Zastrow M. SNX27 mediates retromer tubule entry and endosome-to-plasma membrane trafficking of signalling receptors. *Nat Cell Biol* (2011) 13(6):715–21. doi: 10.1038/ncb2252
- 172. Koumandou VL, Klute MJ, Herman EK, Nunez-Miguel R, Dacks JB, Field MC. Evolutionary reconstruction of the retromer complex and its function in Trypanosoma brucei. J Cell Sci (2011) 124(9):1496–509. doi: 10.1242/ jcs.081596
- 173. Seaman MNJ. Retromer and Its Role in Regulating Signaling at Endosomes. Prog Mol Subcell Biol (2018) 57:137–49. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-96704-2_5
- 174. Rojas R, Van Vlijmen T, Mardones GA, Prabhu Y, Rojas AL, Mohammed S, et al. Regulation of retromer recruitment to endosomes by sequential action of Rab5 and Rab7. *J Cell Biol* (2008) 183(3):513–26. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200804048

- 175. Seaman MNJ, Harbour ME, Tattersall D, Read E, Bright N. Membrane recruitment of the cargo-selective retromer subcomplex is catalysed by the small GTPase Rab7 and inhibited by the Rab-GAP TBC1D5. *J Cell Sci* (2009) 122(14):2371–82. doi: 10.1242/jcs.048686
- 176. Simonetti B, Cullen PJ. Actin-dependent endosomal receptor recycling. Curr Opin Cell Biol (2019) 56:22–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2018.08.006
- 177. McNally KE, Cullen PJ. Endosomal Retrieval of Cargo: Retromer Is Not Alone. Trends Cell Biol (2018) 28(10):807–22. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2018.06.005
- Girard E, Chmiest D, Fournier N, Johannes L, Paul JL, Vedie B, et al. Rab7 is functionally required for selective cargo sorting at the early endosome. *Traffic* (2014) 15(3):309–26. doi: 10.1111/tra.12143
- Arighi CN, Harmell LM, Aguilar RC, Haft CR, Bonifacino JS. Role of the mammalian retromer in sorting of the cation-independent mannose 6phosphate receptor. J Cell Biol (2004) 165(1):123–33. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200312055
- 180. Fjorback AW, Seaman M, Gustafsen C, Mehmedbasic A, Gokool S, Wu C, et al. Retromer binds the FANSHY sorting motif in sorLA to regulate amyloid precursor protein sorting and processing. J Neurosci (2012) 32 (4):1467–80. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2272-11.2012
- 181. Belenkaya TY, Wu Y, Tang X, Zhou B, Cheng L, Sharma YV, et al. The Retromer Complex Influences Wnt Secretion by Recycling Wntless from Endosomes to the Trans-Golgi Network. *Dev Cell* (2008) 14(1):120–31. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2007.12.003
- 182. Simonetti B, Paul B, Chaudhari K, Weeratunga S, Steinberg F, Gorla M, et al. Molecular identification of a BAR domain-containing coat complex for endosomal recycling of transmembrane proteins. *Nat Cell Biol* (2019) 21 (10):1219–33. doi: 10.1038/s41556-019-0393-3
- 183. Branca AA, D'Alessandro SB, Baglioni C. Internalization and Degradation of Human Alpha-A Interferon Bound to Bovine MDBK Cells: Regulation of the Decay and Resynthesis of Receptors. *J Interferon Res* (1983) 3(4):465–71. doi: 10.1089/jir.1983.3.465
- 184. Marijanovic Z, Ragimbeau J, Kumar KGS, Fuchs SY, Pellegrini S. TYK2 activity promotes ligand-induced IFNAR1 proteolysis. *Biochem J* (2006) 397 (1):31–8. doi: 10.1042/BJ20060272
- 185. Walczak H, Iwai K, Dikic I. Generation and physiological roles of linear ubiquitin chains. BMC Biol (2012) 10(23):1–6. doi: 10.1186/1741-7007-10-23
- 186. Zhang L, Xu M, Scotti E, Chen ZJ, Tontonoz P. Both K63 and K48 ubiquitin linkages signal lysosomal degradation of the LDL receptor. *J Lipid Res* (2013) 54(5):1410–20. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M035774
- 187. van Kerkhof P, Westgeest M, Hassink G, Strous GJ. SCFTrCP acts in endosomal sorting of the GH receptor. *Exp Cell Res* (2011) 317(7):1071– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.12.020
- Gruenberg J. Life in the lumen: The multivesicular endosome. *Traffic* (2020) 21(1):76–93. doi: 10.1111/tra.12715
- 189. Ioannou MS, Kulasekaran G, Fotouhi M, Morein JJ, Han C, Tse S, et al. Intersectin-s interaction with DENND2B facilitates recycling of epidermal growth factor receptor. *EMBO Rep* (2017) 18(12):2119–30. doi: 10.15252/ embr.201744034
- 190. Chan ASM, Clairfeuille T, Landao-Bassonga E, Kinna G, Ng PY, Loo LS, et al. Sorting nexin 27 couples PTHR trafficking to retromer for signal regulation in osteoblasts during bone growth. *Mol Biol Cell* (2016) 27 (8):1367–82. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E15-12-0851
- 191. Altman JB, Taft J, Wedeking T, Gruber CN, Holtmannspötter M, Piehler J, et al. Type I IFN is siloed in endosomes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2020) 117 (30):17510–2. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1921324117

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Zanin, Viaris de Lesegno, Lamaze and Blouin. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Type I Interferon (IFN)-Regulated Activation of Canonical and Non-Canonical Signaling Pathways

Candice Mazewski^{1,2}, Ricardo E. Perez^{1,2}, Eleanor N. Fish³ and Leonidas C. Platanias^{1,2,4*}

¹ Robert H. Lurie Comprehensive Cancer Center of Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States, ² Division of Hematology-Oncology, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States, ³ Toronto General Hospital Research Institute, University Health Network and Department of Immunology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁴ Department of Medicine, Jesse Brown Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Chicago, IL, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mark R. Walter, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

Reviewed by:

Howard M. Johnson, University of Florida, United States Piergiuseppe De Berardinis, Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Italy

*Correspondence:

Leonidas C. Platanias I-platanias@northwestern.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 15 September 2020 Accepted: 26 October 2020 Published: 23 November 2020

Citation:

Mazewski C, Perez RE, Fish EN and Platanias LC (2020) Type I Interferon (IFN)-Regulated Activation of Canonical and Non-canonical Signaling Pathways. Front. Immunol. 11:606456. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.606456 For several decades there has been accumulating evidence implicating type I interferons (IFNs) as key elements of the immune response. Therapeutic approaches incorporating different recombinant type I IFN proteins have been successfully employed to treat a diverse group of diseases with significant and positive outcomes. The biological activities of type I IFNs are consequences of signaling events occurring in the cytoplasm and nucleus of cells. Biochemical events involving JAK/STAT proteins that control transcriptional activation of IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs) were the first to be identified and are referred to as "canonical" signaling. Subsequent identification of JAK/STAT-independent signaling pathways, critical for ISG transcription and/or mRNA translation, are denoted as "non-canonical" or "non-classical" pathways. In this review, we summarize these signaling cascades and discuss recent developments in the field, specifically as they relate to the biological and clinical implications of engagement of both canonical and non-canonical pathways.

Keywords: interferon, signaling, MAP kinase signaling, signal transducer and activator of transcription, mammalian target of rapamycin, mRNA translation, SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19

INTRODUCTION

Established cellular signaling pathways have been referred to in the context of canonical or "classical" and non-canonical or "non-classical" signaling cascades that control distinct outcomes in the cell. A canonical pathway indicates the conventional protein signaling, typically considered the main effect or, maybe more appropriately, the first effect discovered and elucidated; non-canonical pathways are alternative pathways to the canonical, but that should not imply less importance (1). Perhaps, the most well-described signaling in terms of canonical and non-canonical pathways is Wnt signaling, specifically the canonical β -catenin pathway (2). Additionally, inflammation and immunoregulatory related pathways such as nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) and interferon (IFN) signaling are described as canonical and non-canonical (3, 4). Recent discoveries of additional non-canonical pathways, some that interconnect with canonical signaling, add to the complexity surrounding different biological outcomes.

The IFNs are cytokines that can be divided into three groups: type I (IFN α , IFN β , IFN δ , IFN ϵ , IFN κ , IFN τ , IFN ω , and IFN ζ), type II (IFN γ), and type III (IFN λ) (5). Type I IFNs were first discovered in 1957, followed by type II in 1965, while much more recently, in 2003, type III IFNs were identified (6–8). Type I IFNs have the most family members. The predominant type I IFN subtypes studied are IFN α and IFN β , partially due to IFN δ , IFN τ , and IFN ζ not having human homologs, more specific cellular sources of IFN ϵ and IFN κ , mainly female reproductive organs and keratinocytes, respectively, and IFN β in antiviral responses have been most reported, but these type I IFNs also have significant relevance in cancer and autoimmune diseases (11–13).

Production of type I IFNs is induced by pathogen-associated molecular patterns, viral RNA or DNA fragments, and is associated with activation of pattern recognition receptors (11). Once activated, the receptors initiate signal transduction that involves adapter proteins, eventually leading to activation and translocation of IFN regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) and NF- κ B, which promote type I IFN production either directly or indirectly through IRF7 (11). IFN α is mainly produced by plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), whereas IFN β is ubiquitously produced by immune cells (13).

Following transcriptional activation and mRNA translation, type I IFNs are secreted from immune cells and, on neighboring cells, bind to the two cellular receptor subunits IFNa receptor 1 (IFNAR1) and IFNAR2, which are associated with tyrosine kinases TYK2 and Janus kinase 1 (JAK1), respectively (9). Dimerization of the receptor initiates the autophosphorylation of JAK1, which phosphorylates and activates signal transducers and activators of transcription 1 (STAT1) and STAT2 proteins, which form a complex with IRF9, resulting in a wellcharacterized complex, IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3). ISGF3 translocates to the nucleus where it binds to IFNstimulated response elements (ISREs) in the promoters of genes, leading to transcription of IFN stimulated genes (ISG) (14). Additionally, JAKs can phosphorylate and initiate the formation of phosphorylated STAT complexes of STAT1 and STAT3 homodimers, where the STAT1 homodimer is associated with a pro-inflammatory response, mediated by binding to gamma activated sequences (GAS), and the STAT3 homodimer indirectly inhibits inflammatory gene expression, restraining pro-inflammatory responses (15). These JAK/STAT IFN-signaling pathways are considered the canonical pathways. In addition, type I IFNs have also been reported to activate the formation of STAT2:STAT3 heterodimers and a STAT5:CrkL complex, invoking transcriptional activation of ISGs (16, 17).

Non-canonical type I IFN signaling pathways are similarly activated by IFNs binding to the extracellular regions of the dimeric IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 complex, leading to JAK1/TYK2 activation, but diverge from that point, specifically, not involving STAT activation by the JAKs. Evidence points to the regulation of STATs by non-canonical modifiers, with serine phosphorylation of STATs versus the tyrosine phosphorylation by JAK1/TYK2 (18). The main non-canonical IFN pathways identified thus far are the MAP kinase (MAPK) and phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3K)/ mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathways, but there are other non-canonical modifiers such as SIRT2 and the Schlafen (SLFN) family (18, 19). MAPK and PI3K/mTOR pathways have been shown to elicit effects on ISG transcription and mRNA translation while also having some interaction with STATs in the canonical cascade (18). Further discoveries on the effectors of these pathways, such as the importance of Unc-51-like kinase (ULK1) in MAPK type I IFN-induced signaling, add to the complexity of type I IFN signaling cascades and demonstrate that the focus cannot be limited to the classical pathways (20). Other noncanonical modifiers include SLFN family members. Type I IFNs upregulate SLFN gene expression, and SLFN5 interaction with STAT1 has been demonstrated, indicating its effect downstream of JAK1 (21). SLFNs have been shown to be involved in antiviral responses, and their high expression in specific human immune cell subsets has been identified, such as elevated SLFN5 in T cells (22). These non-classical IFN-induced effectors have critical roles in ISG transcription, independent of or in conjunction with the canonical pathway, eliciting specific biological responses. A summary of the canonical and non-canonical pathways of type I interferon signaling is shown in Figure 1.

Below we provide an update on type I IFN canonical and noncanonical signaling, related to antiviral responses, antiproliferative effects in cancer, and immune regulation in autoimmune diseases, focusing on studies within the last few years. We address the type I IFN response to SARS-CoV-2 and the potential for therapeutic use for COVID-19.

BIOLOGICAL EFFECTS IN DISEASES

Canonical and Non-canonical IFN Signaling in Malignancies

Type I IFNs have been studied in a wide range of cancers in the last few years, as illustrated in **Table 1**. These studies have focused exclusively on the IFN α and IFN β subtypes, demonstrating their clinical relevance over other type I IFN subtypes. The signaling analyses in the last few years have still focused more on the JAK/STAT cascades, specifically STAT1 effects in type I IFN signaling. However, some reports explored the impact of STAT3 versus STAT1, as well as the non-canonical involvement of MAPKs, SIRT2, and SLFN5.

STAT1 phosphorylation and the induced expression of various ISGs such as *OASL* and *ISG15* have commonly been used as indicators of a type I IFN response (19, 27, 28, 34, 35). In a study on cervical cancer, the importance of IFN-inducible activation of STAT1 and STAT2 was demonstrated through the use of STAT1 and STAT2 knockout human HeLa cells, yet the STAT3 knockout did not have any effect on ISGs (24). By contrast, in colorectal cancer, inhibition of p-STAT3 but not p-STAT1 decreased IFN α and IFN β induced granzyme B expression in cytotoxic T lymphocytes (25). These differences highlight how different effectors activated by type I IFNs are dependent on cell type and disease specificity. Bazhin et al. also explored IFN-activated STAT3 effects, identifying a non-canonical



FIGURE 1 | Summary of the canonical and non-canonical pathways involved in type I interferon signaling. 4ebp1, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding protein 1; CCR, cell cycle regulation; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; GAS, gamma-activated sequence; GT, gene transcription; IFN, interferon; IFNR, interferon receptor; IRF, interferon regulatory factor; ISRE, interferon-stimulated response element; JAK, janus kinase; JnK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; MKK, mitogen activated protein kinase kinase; mTORC, mammalian target of rapamycin complex; PI3'K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PKC, protein kinase C; CD, Calmodulin-dependent kinase, R1/R2, receptor 1/2; Rap, Ras-related protein; RGT, regulation of gene transcription; RMT, regulation of mRNA translation; OBR, other biological responses; S6K, ribosomal protein S6 kinase; SLFN, Schlafen; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; SP, survival pathways.

interaction with p38 MAPK on STAT3 phosphorylation in mature DCs (31). ULK1 has been identified as a regulator of p38 MAPK and ISGs, downstream of mTOR, in type I IFN signaling in myeloproliferative neoplasms (20). This demonstrates a connection between both major IFN activated non-canonical signaling pathways. Another MAPK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), is involved in non-canonical type I IFN signaling in malignancy, where mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 8 (MAP3K8) and ERK phosphorylation were decreased upon IFN α treatment in bladder cancer cells (23). Further elucidation is needed on the STAT-dependent and -independent non-canonical functions of the many MAPK pathway proteins.

Additional effects of non-canonical type I IFN-induced signaling in various malignancies have been examined. A glioblastoma study identified SLFN5 as a regulator of STAT1 induction by type I IFNs (26). In leukemia and lymphoma cells, type I IFN induced phosphorylation of STAT1 on serine 727 is mediated by cyclin dependent kinase 9 (CDK9), and this activation is dependent on the deacetylation of CDK9 by SIRT2 (19). Additionally, quercetin, a natural compound, decreases Src Homology Phosphatase 2 (SHP2), a negative regulator of STAT1 (27).

An important issue related to the clinical use of IFNs is toxicity and adverse events. Although approved in 1986 by the FDA for the treatment of malignancies and viral disorders, with demonstrated positive disease outcomes, IFN α is currently not commonly used in cancer treatment due to adverse effects (36, 37). A pilot study looked at the potential of decreasing the dose of IFN- α 2b for the treatment of melanoma over the course of an 11-month treatment period. Despite the dose reduction, p-STAT1 levels were induced at comparable levels throughout the 11 months, and the IFN was well-tolerated (28). An alternative strategy has been to stimulate the endogenous type I IFN response in immune cells. Tsuchiya et al. genetically engineered induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived proliferation myeloid cells (iPSC-pMCs) to produce IFNa. When injected into mice, these IFN-producing iPSC-pMCs exerted immunomodulatory effects analogous to direct type I IFN administration, yet without adverse effects or hematopoietic stem cell exhaustion (37). Brown et al. studied recombinant poliovirus/rhinovirus chimera PVSRIPO effects in cancer immunosuppression and found PVSRIPO infection of DCs increased IFN β production and a sustained type I IFN response, as indicated by p-STAT1 and ISG induction (IFIT1, ISG15) (34). In a separate study, the use of photodynamic therapy (PDT) lead to the upregulation of type I IFNs in melanoma cells and DCs co-cultured with the PDT treated cells; the authors proposed this ex vivo strategy of stimulating DCs with the use of PDT as a possible immunotherapy (29).

Distinct from the positive outcomes of type I IFN treatment for malignancies, a number of studies have addressed the potential link of IFN treatment with chemotherapy resistance, immunosuppression, and driving of cancer stemness. Qadir et al. found chronic CD95 activation leading to cancer stemness was driven by IFN α/β -STAT1 canonical signaling (32). They also provided evidence that radio-resistant squamous cancer cells had increased p-STAT1 and ISG expression and that type I IFN treatment of breast and squamous cancer cells increased stemness and sphere formation, which was blocked by JAK inhibition, indicative of the involvement of canonical signaling.

Several studies have evaluated the effects of type I IFN administration in combination with immunotherapy. One group showed that IFN α increased programmed
TABLE 1 | Canonical and non-canonical type I interferon signaling in malignancies.

Type of IFN pathway Type I IFN cancer (canonical or (related) non-canonical) used/ analyzed		Methods/models	Main results					
Bladder	Non-canonical— MAP3K8 (TPL2)/ ERK	IFNα	<i>In vitro</i> bladder - T24, 5637, HEK293A <i>In vivo</i> : T24 or 5637 cells SC into flanks BALB/c (nu/nu): mice – IFNα, roflumilast <i>Clinical</i> : MIBC tissue microarray chips (n=126) <i>Bioinformatics</i> : TGCA & Oncomine	-IFN α decreased COX-2, TPL2, ERK, IKK α/β , & cAMP levels but little effect on JAK/STAT -TPL2 co-IP with IFNAR2 (not IFNAR1), IFN α & TPL2i decreased pTPL2-IFNAR2 -IFN α + roflumilast synergistically suppressed tumor growth, cAMP & PGE2 sera levels in mice	(23)			
Cervical	Canonical—JAK/ STAT1, 2, & 3	IFNα2 IFNβ (IFNAR1/2)	In vitro: HeLa human cervical cancer cells, KO clones: IFNAR1, IFNAR2, STAT1, STAT2, STAT1 + STAT2 dKO, STAT2 + IRF1 dKO, & STAT3	-KO of IFNAR1 or 2 inhibited p-STATs & ISGs -STAT1 or 2 KOs had low ISG & dKO blocked ISG -STAT3 KO had no effect on ISG, p-STAT1 or 2, or IFNβ induced negative feedback regulators	(24)			
Colorectal	Canonical or non- canonical—STAT3	IFNα IFNβ (IFNAR1)	Bioinformatics: TCGA dataset In vitro: Murine colon carcinoma -MC38 In vivo: IFNAR1-KO, IFNAR1-TKO, WT C57BL/6 & SJL mice - MCA or MC38 SC Clinical: Peripheral blood - healthy donors SCBC, CRC tissues - GCC	-Tumors grew faster & larger in IFNAR1-KO mice vs WT & in IFNAR1-TKO vs WT -Inhibition of p-STAT3 (not p-STAT1) decreased a granzyme B expression increase by IFN α/β in CTLs	(25)			
Glioma	Non-canonical— SLFN5-STAT1	IFNα IFNβ	Bioinformatics: GlioVis Database In vitro: GBM - LN18, LN229, LN443, U87MG, MBM - DAOY & D556, PDX derived GSC	-SLFN5 expression increased at basal levels & further induced by IFN α or IFN β in PDX glioma stem cell & established GBM & MBM cells -SLFN5 co-IP'd with STAT1, not STAT3 or 5, in 293T cells & signal increased with IFN β treatment	(26)			
Hepato- cellular	Non-canonical— SHP2/STAT1	IFNα	In vitro: hepatocellular - HepG2, Huh7, human embryonic kidney- HEK293A In silico: SHP2 & quercetin computational docking	-Quercetin increased IFNα induced p-STAT1 & ISG expression & decreased SHP2 expression in HepG2 -SHP2 overexpression decreased IFNα (+ quercetin) ISRE reporter expression in HepG2	(27)			
Leukemia, lymphoma	Non-canonical— SIRT2/CDK9	IFNα IFNβ	In vitro: leukemia – HEL, KT-1, lymphoma - U937, Sirt2+/+, Sirt2-/-, Sirt1+/+, Sirt1 –/-, Sirt6+/+, and Sirt6-/- MEF	-Sirt2-/- MEF had no IFNβ induced STAT1 activation or expression of ISG (Oasl2 Cxcl10 ISg15, ISg54) -SIRT2 regulated IFNβ induced CDK9-mediated p-STAT1 -SIRT2 KD leukemia cells less sensitive to IFNα-mediated antiproliferative effect	(19)			
Leukemia, lymphoma, myeloma	Non-canonical— ULK1	IFNβ	In vitro: leukemia—KT-1, lymphoma—U937, myeloma—U266, Akt1/2+/+, Akt1/2-/-, Ulk1/ 2+/+ & Ulk1/2-/- MEFs	-IFNβ induced p-ULK1 Ser757 (mTORC1 phospho site) -ULK1/2 KO reduced ISRE & GAS activity & IFNβ induced ISG transcription, p38 activation, & antiproliferative effects	(20)			
Melanoma	Canonical—JAK/ STAT1	IFN-α2b	Clinical: NCT01460875 – SC IFN- α -2b 3/week 10 MU/M ² -4 weeks, dose reduction every two weeks after first month-total 11 months	 –91% of patients had stable or increased p-STAT1 levels over time of dose reduction -ISGs (OAS1 CXCL10, CD69 and SOCS1), not significantly less at end/ with lower IFN-α-2b dose -Higher p-STAT1 after initial dose had lower recurrence 	(28)			
Melanoma	$ \begin{array}{lllllll} SLFN5-STAT1 & IFN\beta & In vitro: GBM - LN18, LN229, LN443, \\ U87MG, MBM - DAOY & D556, PDX derived \\ GSC \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		-PDT of melanoma cells increased IFNα/β and apoptosis -PDT increased cGAS receptor (not MDA-5, TLR3, RIG-1), p-STAT1 & ISGs (CXCL10, ISG15, MX1) -WT DCs migrated toward PDT melanoma cells more than IFNAR-/- DCs	(29)				
Ovarian			cancer cells - AZA In vivo: Pre-treated & ID8-VEGF-Defensin cells IP in C57BL/6 or NSG mice - AZA & anti-	-anti-IFNAR1 inhibited AZA induced anti-tumorigenic response, survival benefit, increase in CD45+ immune cells, activation of CD8+ T and NK cells, & increase in ISG15 in immunocompetent mice but not in NSG mice	(30)			
Immune focused	mune Non-canonical— IFNα <i>Ex vivo</i> mDC isolated from PBMCs from - cused p38/STAT3 human blood (MBDS):, DC/T cell co-culture of <i>In vivo:</i> C57BL/6 mice—IFNα IP		-IFNα upregulates PD-L1 expression on myeloid immune cell & T-cell populations & on DC in mice -IFNα increased p38 and STAT3 activation & STAT3i & p38i (not PI3Ki or ERKi) decreased IFNα induced PD-L1 expression in mDC	(31)				
Multiple	Canonical—JAK/ STAT1	IFNα IFNβ	<i>In vitro</i> : breast—MCF-7, Hs578T, SK-BR-3, HCC70, T47D, melanoma - MDA-MB-435, Squamous - SCC61, Nu61, MES glioma cells <i>In vivo</i> : MCF-7 pre-treated anti-APO-1 or IFNβ injected into fat pad NGS mice	-Long term CD95 stimulation induced type I IFNs, p-STAT1, & increased ISGs in cancer cells -CD95L or type I IFN increased stemness and sphere formation in MCF-7 & SCC61, blocked by JAK1/JAK2i -p-STAT1 correlates with cancer stemness & KO of STAT1 blocked CD95L or type I IFN induced stemness	(32)			

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Type of cancer	IFN pathway Type I IFN (canonical or (related) non-canonical) used/ analyzed		Methods/models	Main results				
Multiple	Canonical—JAK/ STAT1	IFNβ (IFNAR1)	In vitro melanoma—B16F10 lung—TC-1, lymphoma—YAC-1, thymoma—EG7 In vivo: C57BL/6, Ly5.1b & IFNAR1-/- mice, LCMV-clone 13 (Cl13),: IP or IV, anti-CD4	-Chronic Cl13 infection lead to elevated IFNβ in sera -STAT1 mRNA higher in NK & protein expression higher in NK & T cells from Cl13-infected mice -Anti-IFNAR1 increased tumor metastasis 20% in Cl13- infected mice	(33)			

death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression on various immune cells through non-canonical p38/STAT3 signaling (31). The inference is that combining immunotherapy with IFN α treatment would limit the immunosuppressive effects of IFN treatment and permit effective growth inhibition. Similarly, another study provided evidence that IFNa-iPSC-pMC treatment increased PD-L1 mRNA, and when combined with a PD-L1 inhibitor, synergistic anti-tumor effects were reported (37). The poliovirus/rhinovirus type I IFN induced response likewise increases PD-L1 expression (34). Additionally, a bioinformatics examination of IFN gene deletions revealed that homozygous deletion of IFN was significantly associated with non-response to anti-CTLA4 treatment among melanoma patients (38). Overall, these studies suggest type I IFNs may have a critical role in immunotherapy strategies, possibly via a combination of type I IFN treatment with PD-L1 inhibition. Moreover, the data suggest that PD-L1 expression may be affected by IFN-induced non-canonical signaling.

Canonical and Non-canonical Signaling in Autoimmune Diseases

Accumulating evidence implicates chronic and persistent type I IFN signaling in systemic inflammation that promotes the pathogenesis of some autoimmune diseases, including systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis (MS), type I diabetes (T1D) and Sjögren's syndrome, among others (13, 39). These conditions are associated with different clinical symptoms and management strategies, yet there are common features related to the underlying inflammatory signaling pathways involved and the dysregulated immune response. **Figure 2** summarizes the cell type-specific type I IFN-induced canonical and non-canonical signaling pathways recently implicated in autoimmune diseases.

IFN α has been shown to impact the onset and progression of T1D, which involves the autoimmune attack of pancreatic β cells (40). One study demonstrated that IFN α activated STAT1, STAT2, and STAT3 in pancreatic β cells through TYK2, and that STAT2 was more critical than STAT1 in mediating the inflammatory and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress response (41). Another study likewise reported on IFN α induction of ER stress in pancreatic β cells, leading to the downregulation of insulin production and influence on T1D onset (42). A mouse model study revealed that inhibition of IFN α , but not IFN β , in the pre-diabetes stage prevented the onset of T1D and blocked autoreactive T cells from entering and killing β cells in the

pancreatic islets (43). Notably, patients with neutralizing autoantibodies to type I IFNs, specifically IFN α s, are less likely to develop T1D (44). These studies identify the negative impact of IFN α on the development of T1D.

Sjögren's syndrome is an autoimmune disease with glandular lymphocyte infiltration leading to symptoms of dry mouth and eyes, where approximately 50% of patients have a type I IFN signature (45, 46). Given that this IFN signature is not present in all patients, one study analyzed the effects of IFN- α 2b treatment of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from patients with Sjögren's compared with PBMCs from healthy donors, including type I IFN signature-positive and negative patients (45). Baseline effector protein phosphorylation levels differed predominantly in T cells in Sjögren's patients compared with healthy individuals, with higher p-p38 and p-STAT1 (Y701, S727). Sjögren's patients also exhibited increased IFNαinducible JAK phosphorylation of STAT1 (Y701). Further, IFNα-2b treatment of PBMCs upregulated p-STAT1 (Y701) in B cells and downregulated p-STAT3 on S727 in T cells in type I IFN signature-positive patients.

SLE manifestations include organ damage and skin rash (47, 48). There is an IFN α signature in sera of SLE patients. A recent study using inducible IFN α transgenic mice found that upregulation of IFN α alone was capable of inducing an SLE phenotype (47). SLE pathogenesis is characterized by inflammasome overactivation; one study demonstrated that prolonged IFNa treatment increased inflammasome activity, which was eliminated with knockdown of IRF1 in SLE monocytes (49). IFNa treatment increased p-STAT1 and p-STAT2 at tyrosine residues, indicative of a classical JAK/STAT driven response. Another group that analyzed B cells from SLE patients, found increased baseline p-STAT3 (Y705), not p-STAT1, compared to B cells from healthy individuals (50). Additionally, these investigators found that IFNa treatment polarized naïve B cell differentiation towards a lupus-like phenotype, which was reversed by a STAT3 inhibitor and was absent in STAT3deficient donor naïve B cells. In SLE monocytes, Gkirtzimanaki et al. identified IFNa induced mTOR activity, which promoted oxidative stress, revealing non-canonical IFN α signaling in SLE (51).

Cognizant of the persistent IFN α signature in SLE patients, a phase IIb clinical trial evaluated the effects of vaccination with IFN α kinoid, which produces anti-IFN α antibodies (52). Although the trial did not see a benefit in Based Composite Lupus Assessment (BICLA), the drug did provoke anti-IFN- α 2b



serum antibodies and decreased the IFN gene signature in 91% of patients. An anti-IFNAR1 monoclonal antibody, anifrolumab, has been evaluated in 11 clinical trials for SLE (9), Sjögren's (1), and rheumatoid arthritis (1), with encouraging results (53). A recent phase III trial in SLE did not meet its primary endpoint of response, as per the SLE Responder Index; however, the same group conducted another phase III trial using the of British Isles Lupus Assessment Group (BILAG)-BICLA response as the primary endpoint and reported a statistically significant higher percentage of patients having a response as well as seeing a decrease in secondary endpoints, suggesting that a chronic IFN α response in SLE patients may contribute to disease pathogenesis (48).

Interestingly, while IFN α has been implicated in the pathogenesis of various autoimmune diseases, IFN β has been used to successfully treat MS (54). Employing a mouse model of MS, studies with mice that lack the IFN β gene revealed that in the absence of IFN β the mice had a more severe disease with earlier onset and that the lack of IFN β predisposed the mice to a pro-inflammatory Th17 immunophenotype (55, 56). Given the heterogeneity of the disease, and differing patient responses to IFN β treatment, the identification of potential biomarkers of

response to IFN β therapy is receiving considerable attention. One study suggested predictors of response could be based on cell type-specific responses to type I IFN signaling, such as higher activation of STAT1, STAT3, and p38, leading to higher TRAIL expression in monocytes of IFN responders (57). Hurtado-Guerrero et al. analyzed monocytes from MS patients ex vivo, either left untreated (baseline) or after short-term IFN β treatment (58). At baseline, there were no detectable differences in the levels of IFNAR1, IFNAR2, p-STAT1, and p-STAT2 among responders and non-responders, yet following IFNB treatment, differences were observed. They found a pattern of decreased IFNAR1 and increased IFNAR2, p-STAT1, and p-STAT2 levels representing 68.4% of responder IFNβ-stimulated monocytes. Other groups have employed bioinformatics to uncover gene signatures that determine a response to IFN β . One study used a feature selection computational method on a longitudinal microarray dataset of relapse-remitting MS (RRMS) patients treated with IFNβ-1b, and found a predictive seven gene signature (CXCL9, IL2RA, CXCR3, AKT1, CSF2, IL2RB, GCA) with 65.08% predictive accuracy (59). Using an alternative method of Elastic net modeling, Fukushima et al. analyzed time-course microarray datasets from PBMCs of

Type I IFN Signaling Pathways

MS patients and identified eleven (ZBTB16, ZFP37, HPS5, HOPX, ARFGAP3, CALML5, VPS26A, SLC5A4, MBL2, DLGAP4, CACNA1C) and eight (SMA4, MIR7114_NSMF, LSM8, FLAD1, RRN3P1, RASL10A, IER3IP1, CDH2) genes predictive of an IFNB response, with 81% and 78% accuracy, respectively, for each dataset (60). A different study employed the GeneRank method to identify monotonically expressed genes (MEGs) that determine a good response (AFTPH, ALOX5, ATG7, MYD88, LILRB1, PRKAB1, PSEN1, VAMP3) and a bad response (AGFG1, CHM, IGLL1, PELI1, PTEN) for responders, and two bad response MEGs for non-responders (NAP1L4, MMS19) in IFNB treated RRMS patients (61). As an alternative strategy to gene analysis, a logistic regression modeling method was used to examine metabolites from the sera of a cohort of MS patients to predict the production of anti-drug antibodies (ADA) to IFNB treatment (62). Differences in 29 metabolites were shown to be indicative of ADA production, and the top ten most significant metabolites were lipid related. Another study using a systems immunology approach evaluated ADA production differences in three IFNB treated cohorts and showed reduced baseline NOTCH2 expression and that a proinflammatory phenotype in monocytes was predictive of ADA development (63). Given the preceding, there is a need for further identification and characterization of biomarkers that are reproducibly predictive of an IFNB response in RRMS patients.

The differences between IFN α and IFN β in the generation of effects in autoimmune diseases requires additional analysis. Although both type I IFNs bind to and initiate signaling cascades through the dimeric IFNAR, they do differ in primary amino acid sequences and in binding affinity to the receptor which may account for varying impacts of the response on cells (54, 64). Binding affinity for IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 varies among IFN α subunits, with overall higher affinity for IFNAR2 over IFNAR1, and IFN β has tighter binding to each receptor subunit than any of the IFN α subunits (64, 65). How the induced signaling can differ after the type I IFN ligand binds is not well understood but studies have shown differences further downstream in genes and transcription factor binding sites of IFN α versus IFN β signaling, such as enrichment of IRF8 binding sites in IFN β response (54). As previously mentioned, cell-type and disease state lead to variance in type I IFN signaling which is further complicated by the differences invoked by IFN α and IFN β and requires further studies, especially to understand the protein signaling cascades after binding of type I IFNs to the IFNAR.

Canonical and Non-Canonical IFN Signaling in Antiviral Responses

IFNs are critical effectors of an antiviral response in mammalian cells. Following viral infection, type I IFNs are produced by immune and non-immune cells, bind to and activate IFNAR, and signal through canonical and non-canonical pathways (66–68). An area of interest has been the involvement of the IFN system in the pathophysiology of Coronavirus Disease 19 (COVID-19).

Since the emergence of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) in 2003 and Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) in 2012, therapeutic

options for treatment have been limited (69). Type I IFNs are attractive therapeutic candidates because of their ability to clear virus through direct inhibition of viral replication of both DNA and RNA viruses and their effects on the activation of specific immune cell subsets to assist with viral clearance (70). Many viruses, including coronaviruses, evade an IFN antiviral response by inhibiting the production of type I and III IFNs (71-73). Scrutiny of the SARS-CoV genome identified the genes NSP1, NSP3, ORF3b, and ORF6 that are antagonists for type I IFNs, as well as the N protein (74). ORF6 not only inhibits the production of IFN but can also inhibit the expression of ISGs by inhibiting STAT1 nuclear translocation, through disruption of karyopherin-mediated transport. IRF3 is an important transcription factor necessary for IFNB expression. The papain-like protease (PLpro), conserved in both SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2, inhibits the phosphorylation required for IRF3 homodimerization and nuclear translocation leading to its association with CBP/p300 and NF- κ B for IFN β expression (75-77). Comparing the gene sequences between SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2 for NSP3, ORF3b, and ORF6, revealed sequence differences that may contribute to the greater sensitivity of SARS-CoV-2 to type I IFNs (77). Konno et al. made the observation that ORF3b inhibits type I IFN induction more so in SARS-CoV-2 than in SARS-CoV, and a naturally arising SARS-CoV-2 variant exerts even greater antagonism of type I IFN induction by ORF3b (78). Accumulating data continue to provide further evidence of a blunted IFN response in COVID-19 cases (79-83).

Recently, data have emerged that indicate that SARS-CoV-2 is sensitive to the antiviral effects of both IFN α and IFN β in cell culture assays, similar to the sensitivity of SARS-CoV in vitro (84–86). A pilot clinical study during the SARS outbreak of 2003 demonstrated that treatment with an IFN α resulted in reduced disease-associated impaired oxygen saturation and rapid resolution of lung abnormalities (87). The evidence of SARS-CoV-2 sensitivity to IFN treatment and accumulating clinical studies suggest that IFN treatment may have therapeutic benefits for COVID-19 (88). Early on in the pandemic, Zhou et al. provided evidence that treating COVID-19 patients with nebulized IFN- α 2b with or without the antiviral drug, arbidol, accelerated viral clearance from the airways of infected patients and also reduced the circulating levels of the inflammatory cytokines, IL-6 and CRP (89). Following up from this exploratory study, there have been several clinical studies evaluating the therapeutic benefit of IFN α and IFN β treatment for COVID-19 (see Table 2). In vitro studies suggested greater antiviral effectiveness of IFN β over IFN α against SARS CoV (97). This prompted the WHO SOLIDARITY randomized controlled trial of a combination of lopinavir/ritonavir, ribavirin, and IFNβ-1b versus lopinavir/ritonavir in SARS-CoV-2 (90). The findings suggest that the triple combination treatment was more effective than lopinavir/ritonavir alone, reducing symptom severity and time to viral clearance. Given the emerging evidence that lopinavir/ritonavir treatment may be ineffective against SARS-CoV-2, the ongoing trial had been amended to compare the therapeutic effectiveness of IFN β with remdesivir, a viral

TABLE 2 | Clinical studies involving type I interferons in SARS-CoV-2.

Type I IFN (administration or collection)	Other drugs in Study type or combination		Outcomes if applicable	Trial # (reference)		
IFNα-2b (nebulized)	Umifenovir	Uncontrolled, exploratory cohort study	IFN- α 2b (\pm arbidol) reduced time to viral clearance and circulating inflammatory cytokine (IL-6, CRP) levels	(89)		
IFNβ-1b (subcutaneous)	Lopinavir/Ritonavir Ribavirin	Randomized controlled phase 2 trial	Triple combination treatment more effective than lopinavir/ritonavir alone, reducing symptom severity and time to viral clearance	NCT04276688 (90)		
IFNα-2b (intramuscular)	Lopinavir/Ritonavir Chloroquine	Multicenter prospective study	Higher proportion of patients discharged from hospital in IFN- treated vs. non-IFN treated group	RPCEC00000318 —Cuban Registry (91)		
IFN α -2b (nebulized)	Lopinavir/Ritonavir Umifenovir	Retrospective cohort study	Early IFN- α 2b administration reduced in-hospital mortality but increased mortality and delayed recovery with late administration (>5 days post hospital admission)	(92)		
IFNα	Lopinavir/Ritonavir Ribavirin	Retrospective, single-center study	Time to clearance positively correlated with length of hospital stay in patients treated with IFN- α +lopinavir/ritonavir (± ribavirin)	(93)		
IFNβ-1b IFNβ-1a (subcutaneous)	Hydroxychloroquine Lopinavir/Ritonavir	Single center randomized controlled phase 2 clinical trial	Completed no results posted	NCT04343768 (94)		
IFNβ-1b (subcutaneous)	Hydroxychloroquine	Prospective open-label randomized controlled phase 2 trial	Completed – no results posted	NCT04350281		
IFNα-2b (nebulized)	Ganovo Ritonavir	Open controlled phase 4 trial	Completed – no results posted	NCT04291729		
IFNβ-1a (subcutaneous)	Remdesivir	Adaptive randomized double- blind multicenter placebo- controlled phase 3 trial	Recruiting, Adaptive COVID-19 Treatment Trial 3	NCT04492475		
IFN α IFN κ (plasma and serum),		Observational study	Autoantibodies for IFN α , IFN κ , or both found in 101 of 987 patients with life-threatening pneumonia, none in 663 patients with no or mild symptoms, 4 of 1227 healthy patients	(95)		
ISGs (bronchoalveolar lavage fluid)		Observational study	COVID-19 patients had higher expression of ISGs with a proinflammatory subset, compared to healthy and pneumonia patients	(96)		

polymerase inhibitor that has demonstrated limited therapeutic efficacy in COVID-19 cases. A prospective observational study was conducted to assess the therapeutic efficacy of IFN- α 2b in SARS-CoV-2 patients during the first month after the COVID-19 outbreak began in Cuba. Intramuscular administration of IFN- α 2b improved both the rate of recovery and case fatalities (91). However, a retrospective cohort study demonstrated that there is great importance on the timing of administration of IFN- α 2b with reduction of in-hospital mortality when administered the first five days of admission but increased mortality and delayed recovery was seen if given later (92). Additionally, inborn errors of type I IFNs and presence of autoantibodies against type I IFNs can be determinants of severity of disease and effectiveness of type I IFN treatment (95, 98). Roughly 10% of COVID-19 patients with severe pneumonia in a cohort of 987 patients had neutralizing autoantibodies against IFNa, IFNa, or both, where patients with no or mild symptoms had no detectable autoantibodies (95). These findings demonstrate that administration of IFNa may not be effective in patients with severe condition and autoantibodies, but since IFNB autoantibodies were uncommon in the same patients, IFN β may provide a more beneficial treatment. The same group analyzed a separate cohort of patients with life-threatening pneumonia and found 3.5% had inborn errors in type I IFN related genes, specifically in loci pertaining to TLR3- and IRF7dependent type I IFN induction (98). This showed a

commonality with influenza since similar type I IFN related gene defects have been demonstrated in life-threatening influenza pneumonitis (99).

Similar to SARS-CoV, SARS-CoV-2 interacts with the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) for cell entry, while MERS-CoV exploits the dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP4) receptor for entry into human cells (100-102). Ziegler et al. demonstrated that nasal secretory cells (goblet cells), type II pneumocytes, and absorptive enterocytes of the ileum are positive for the two critical receptors for SARS-CoV-2 cell entry, ACE2 and the type II transmembrane serine protease, TMPRSS2 (103). Their observation that ACE2 expression is induced by type I IFNs in primary upper airway basal cells and lung tissue is hard to reconcile with IFNs inhibiting infection by SARS-CoV-2, yet recent emerging data suggesting a role for the renin-angiotensin pathway in protection from specific clinical features of COVID-19 would support a role for ACE2 in limiting COVID-19 severity. The inability of mice to uptake SARS-CoV-2 infection through the mouse ortholog of entry receptor ACE2 prompted Israelow et al. to create an adeno associated virus-mediated human ACE2 mouse model that can be utilized to analyze SARS-CoV-2 in mice, and they found increased type I IFN signaling ISGs in the lungs and limited control of SARS-CoV-2 replication by type I IFNs (104). The involvement of canonical versus non-canonical pathways in the induction of IFN-responses against SARS-CoV2 remains to be elucidated.

SARS-CoV-2 and influenza viruses are respiratory infections where disease severity results in lung hyper-inflammation and acute respiratory distress. Findings from clinical studies suggest that the early viral phase of both infections is associated with a blunted IFN response, yet progression to severe disease shows no such failed IFN response, specifically elevated levels of ISGs in PBMCs are observed (105-107). The implications are that the therapeutic benefits of IFN treatment are applicable in the early viral phases of COVID-19 and influenza, but that once the pulmonary phases of both infections progress to hyper-inflammation, IFN treatment is likely to be contra-indicated. Non-canonical effects in type I IFN signaling in influenza have been demonstrated as with p38 MAPK signaling, shown to be important in affecting type I IFN production and signaling in highly pathogenic avian influenza virus infected endothelial cells (108). Additionally, IFN-ĸ treatment inhibits influenza replication in lung cells, dependent on IFNAR, p38, CHD6, and Fos activation, but not STAT1 (109). Notably, IFNo. induced STAT3 activation is crucial for inhibition of influenza viral replication and ISG transcription in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (110).

Although antiretroviral therapy (ART) for Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection has transformed this infection from a fatal one to a chronic disease, viral reservoirs complicate efforts for HIV elimination, and a recent review paralleled HIV reservoir persistence to immuno-editing and immune evasion in cancer (111). The roles of type I IFNs in the pathophysiology of HIV infection are not fully understood, but IFN α has been implicated as an adverse factor in the persistence of HIV-1. When circulating levels of IFN α were measured for healthy donors, primary-infected, and chronically-infected patients, higher IFNa levels were associated with higher viral loads and higher expression of the ISG, USP18, which negatively regulates IFNa signaling by displacing JAK2 bound to IFNAR2 (112). Humanized mouse models have provided evidence that whereas type I IFNs suppress early HIV infection, type I IFN signaling induces T cell depletion and impaired functionality during persistent infection. When IFN signaling is blocked in HIV-infected mice or in monkeys receiving ART, this reduces the HIV reservoir, rescues anti-HIV T cells, and reduces HIV-induced inflammation (113-115). Notably, HIV-1 proteins, Vpu and Nef, inhibit ISG expression through canonical IFNa mediated JAK/STAT1 signaling, blocking any antiviral benefits from IFNa (116). Knockout of IFNAR1 in an HIV-induced brain injury mouse model provided memory benefits and neuronal injury protection while suppressing p38 activation, indicating involvement of type I IFN non-canonical signaling in HIV-1-related neurotoxicity (117). Indeed, there is accumulating evidence that sustained type I IFN signaling, surprisingly, can promote viral replication for a number of viruses, mediated by induction of certain ISGs and inhibition of IRFs (14). IFN induced 2'5'-oligoadenylate synthetase-like (OASL) limits RNA virus replication through enhancing RIG-I signaling yet inhibits cGAS and promotes viral replication for DNA viruses such as HSV.

Of late, there are emergent data that SLFN proteins, noncanonical effectors of type I IFN signaling, have a role as antivirals. IFN induced SLFN11 expression controls protein synthesis by regulating tRNA abundance, limiting West Nile virus, dengue virus, and Zika virus replication, all (+) ssRNA viruses, but having little effect on (-) ssRNA viruses (118). Interestingly, SLFN 11 control of HIV-1 infection is independent of type I IFN signaling (119). IFN β induced SLFN14 exhibits antiviral activity in mouse macrophages, limiting infection with influenza virus or the DNA virus, varicella-zoster virus (120).

Besides the duration of type I IFN signaling influencing whether there is inhibition or enhancement of viral replication (105, 112), cell environmental factors also contribute to a type I IFN response. In a mouse model of vesicular stomatitis virus infection, high salt levels augment type I IFN signaling through the non-canonical p38 pathway (121). In neurons, viral infection may cause pain hypersensitivity; type I IFNs elicit pain sensitization in neurons, by promoting MAPK interacting kinase phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation translation factor (122).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE EXPECTATIONS

Though over sixty years have elapsed since the original discovery of IFNs, in recent years, there has been mounting evidence for the critical roles of type I IFNs as immune regulators in multiple biological systems. The mechanisms of induction of type I IFNs and their subsequent biological responses are complex, due in part to the large number of family members, both cell typedependent and independent biological responses, and varying influences in different disease settings. As identified above, for acute and chronic virus infections, type I IFN signaling can have distinct and sometimes contrasting biological effects. In malignancies, type I IFNs induce antiproliferative and antineoplastic effects but may also upregulate PD-L1 expression, thereby limiting an anti-tumor immune response. In some autoimmune diseases, such as SLE, the persistent exposure of immune cells to endogenous IFN α appears associated with pathogenesis. On the other hand, IFN β provides therapeutic benefits in MS. Regardless of whether type I IFN associated responses contribute to favorable or poor outcomes, it is clear that both canonical and non-canonical IFN signaling pathways are critical for type I IFN responses. In many cases, both canonical and non-canonical are activated in parallel, but it is possible that in certain cell-type and disease states a given pathway may play a predominant role. With the identification of the roles of noncanonical MAPK and mTOR pathways, the involvement of PKC and SLFN proteins, our understanding of how type I IFN signaling alters the transcriptome to produce proteins that affect changes in biological responses has increased dramatically. The discovery of new non-canonical pathways and effectors has substantially advanced the field, but other non-canonical pathways may have yet to be identified. Understanding how there is connectivity between the classical, canonical JAK/STAT signaling, and noncanonical pathways will provide the basis for further targeting of type I IFN signaling in different diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have contributed in the writing and editing of this review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Platanias LC. Interferon Signals: What Is Classical and What Is Nonclassical? J Interferon Cytokine Res (2005) 25:732. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2005.25.732
- Komiya Y, Habas R. Wnt signal transduction pathways. Organogenesis (2008) 4(2):68-75. doi: 10.4161/org.4.2.5851
- Sun SC. The non-canonical NF-kappaB pathway in immunity and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17(9):545-58. doi: 10.1038/ nri.2017.52
- Majoros A, Platanitis E, Kernbauer-Holzl E, Rosebrock F, Muller M, Decker T. Canonical and Non-Canonical Aspects of JAK-STAT Signaling: Lessons from Interferons for Cytokine Responses. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:29. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00029
- Li SF, Gong MJ, Zhao FR, Shao JJ, Xie YL, Zhang YG, et al. Type I Interferons: Distinct Biological Activities and Current Applications for Viral Infection. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2018) 51(5):2377–96. doi: 10.1159/ 000495897
- Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. Proc R Soc Lond B (1957) 147:258–67. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1957.0048
- Wheelock EF. Interferon-Like Virus-Inhibitor Induced in Human Leukocytes by Phytohemagglutinin. *Science* (1965) 149:310–11. doi: 10.1126/science.149.3681.310
- Kotenko SV, Gallagher G, Baurin VV, Lewis-Antes A, Shen M, Shah NK, et al. IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(1):69–77. doi: 10.1038/ ni875
- Platanias LC. Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5(5):375–86. doi: 10.1038/nri1604
- Theofilopoulos AN, Baccala R, Beutler B, Kono DH. Type I interferons (alpha/beta) in immunity and autoimmunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2005) 23:307–36. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115843
- Acosta PL, Byrne AB, Hijano DR, Talarico LB. Human Type I Interferon Antiviral Effects in Respiratory and Reemerging Viral Infections. *J Immunol Res* (2020) 2020:1372494. doi: 10.1155/2020/1372494
- Borden EC. Interferons alpha and beta in cancer: therapeutic opportunities from new insights. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2019) 18(3):219–34. doi: 10.1038/s41573-018-0011-2
- Jiang J, Zhao M, Chang C, Wu H, Lu Q. Type I Interferons in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of Autoimmune Diseases. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2020) 59(2):248–72. doi: 10.1007/s12016-020-08798-2
- Lukhele S, Boukhaled GM, Brooks DG. Type I interferon signaling, regulation and gene stimulation in chronic virus infection. *Semin Immunol* (2019) 43:101277. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2019.05.001
- Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:36–49. doi: 10.1038/nri3581
- Brierley MM, Fish EN. Functional relevance of the conserved DNA-binding domain of STAT2. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(13):13029–36. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M500426200
- Grumbach IM, Mayer I, Uddin S, Lekmine F, Majchrzak B, Yamauchi H, et al. Engagement of the CrkL adapter in interferon α signaling in BCR-ABL expressing cells. Br J Haematol (2001) 112:327–36. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2001.02556.x
- Saleiro D, Platanias LC. Interferon signaling in cancer. Non-canonical pathways and control of intracellular immune checkpoints. *Semin Immunol* (2019) 43:101299. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2019.101299
- Kosciuczuk EM, Mehrotra S, Saleiro D, Kroczynska B, Majchrzak-Kita B, Lisowski P, et al. Sirtuin 2-mediated deacetylation of cyclin-dependent kinase 9 promotes STAT1 signaling in type I interferon responses. J Biol Chem (2019) 294(3):827–37. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.005956

FUNDING

The research of LP is supported by grants CA77816 and CA121192 by the NIH. REP is supported in part by NIH/NCI training grant T32 CA070085.

- Saleiro D, Mehrotra S, Kroczynska B, Beauchamp EM, Lisowski P, Majchrzak-Kita B, et al. Central role of ULK1 in type I interferon signaling. *Cell Rep* (2015) 11(4):605–17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.03.056
- Mavrommatis E, Fish EN, Platanias LC. The schlafen family of proteins and their regulation by interferons. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2013) 33(4):206– 10. doi: 10.1089/jir.2012.0133
- Puck A, Aigner R, Modak M, Cejka P, Blaas D, Stockl J. Expression and regulation of Schlafen (SLFN) family members in primary human monocytes, monocyte-derived dendritic cells and T cells. *Results Immunol* (2015) 5:23–32. doi: 10.1016/j.rinim.2015.10.001
- Qiang Z, Zhou ZY, Peng T, Jiang PZ, Shi N, Njoya EM, et al. Inhibition of TPL2 by interferon-alpha suppresses bladder cancer through activation of PDE4D. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2018) 37(1):288. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-0971-4
- Urin V, Shemesh M, Schreiber G. CRISPR/Cas9-based Knockout Strategy Elucidates Components Essential for Type 1 Interferon Signaling in Human HeLa Cells. J Mol Biol (2019) 431(17):3324–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb. 2019.06.007
- 25. Lu C, Klement JD, Ibrahim ML, Xiao W, Redd PS, Nayak-Kapoor A, et al. Type I interferon suppresses tumor growth through activating the STAT3granzyme B pathway in tumor-infiltrating cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Immunother Cancer* (2019) 7(1):157. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0635-8
- 26. Arslan AD, Sassano A, Saleiro D, Lisowski P, Kosciuczuk EM, Fischietti M, et al. Human SLFN5 is a transcriptional co-repressor of STAT1-mediated interferon responses and promotes the malignant phenotype in glioblastoma. Oncogene (2017) 36(43):6006–19. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.205
- 27. Igbe I, Liu WL, Shen X-F, Liu HW, Jiao W, Zhang G-L, et al. Dietary quercetin potentiates the antiproliferative effect of interferon- α in hepatocellular carcinoma cells through activation of JAK/STAT pathway signaling by inhibition of SHP2 phosphatase. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8 (69):113734–48. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.22556
- Suarez-Kelly LP, Levine KM, Olencki TE, Del Campo SEM, Streacker EA, Brooks TR, et al. A pilot study of interferon-alpha-2b dose reduction in the adjuvant therapy of high-risk melanoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2019) 68(4):619–29. doi: 10.1007/s00262-019-02308-w
- Lamberti MJ, Mentucci FM, Roselli E, Araya P, Rivarola VA, Rumie Vittar NB, et al. Photodynamic Modulation of Type 1 Interferon Pathway on Melanoma Cells Promotes Dendritic Cell Activation. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2614. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02614
- 30. Stone ML, Chiappinelli KB, Li H, Murphy LM, Travers ME, Topper MJ, et al. Epigenetic therapy activates type I interferon signaling in murine ovarian cancer to reduce immunosuppression and tumor burden. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2017) 114(51):E10981–E90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1712514114
- Bazhin AV, von Ahn K, Fritz J, Werner J, Karakhanova S. Interferon-alpha Up-Regulates the Expression of PD-L1 Molecules on Immune Cells Through STAT3 and p38 Signaling. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2129. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.02129
- Qadir AS, Ceppi P, Brockway S, Law C, Mu L, Khodarev NN, et al. CD95/Fas Increases Stemness in Cancer Cells by Inducing a STAT1-Dependent Type I Interferon Response. *Cell Rep* (2017) 18(10):2373–86. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2017.02.037
- 33. Oh JH, Kim MJ, Choi SJ, Ban YH, Lee HK, Shin EC, et al. Sustained Type I Interferon Reinforces NK Cell-Mediated Cancer Immunosurveillance during Chronic Virus Infection. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7(4):584–99. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0403
- 34. Brown MC, Holl EK, Boczkowski D, Dobrikova E, Mosaheb M, Chandramohan V, et al. Cancer immunotherapy with recombinant poliovirus induces IFN-dominant activation of dendritic cells and tumor antigen–specific CTLs. Sci Trans Med (2017) 9. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed. aan4220

- 35. Izquierdo-Bouldstridge A, Bustillos A, Bonet-Costa C, Aribau-Miralbes P, Garcia-Gomis D, Dabad M, et al. Histone H1 depletion triggers an interferon response in cancer cells via activation of heterochromatic repeats. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2017) 45(20):11622–42. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx746
- Gutterman JU. Cytokine Therapeutics: Lessons from Interferon α. Proc Natl Acad Sci (1994) 91:1198–205. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.4.1198
- Tsuchiya N, Zhang R, Iwama T, Ueda N, Liu T, Tatsumi M, et al. Type I Interferon Delivery by iPSC-Derived Myeloid Cells Elicits Antitumor Immunity via XCR1(+) Dendritic Cells. Cell Rep (2019) 29(1):162–75.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.08.086
- Ye Z, Dong H, Li Y, Ma T, Huang H, Leong HS, et al. Prevalent Homozygous Deletions of Type I Interferon and Defensin Genes in Human Cancers Associate with Immunotherapy Resistance. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24 (14):3299–308. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3008
- Muskardin TLW, Niewold TB. Type I interferon in rheumatic diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2018) 14(4):214–28. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2018.31
- Lombardi A, Tsomos E, Hammerstad SS, Tomer Y. Interferon alpha: The key trigger of type 1 diabetes. J Autoimmun (2018) 94:7–15. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaut.2018.08.003
- 41. Marroqui L, Dos Santos RS, Op de Beeck A, Coomans de Brachene A, Marselli L, Marchetti P, et al. Interferon-alpha mediates human beta cell HLA class I overexpression, endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis, three hallmarks of early human type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* (2017) 60 (4):656–67. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4201-3
- Lombardi A, Tomer Y. Interferon alpha impairs insulin production in human beta cells via endoplasmic reticulum stress. J Autoimmun (2017) 80:48–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.02.002
- 43. Marro BS, Ware BC, Zak J, de la Torre JC, Rosen H, Oldstone MB. Progression of type 1 diabetes from the prediabetic stage is controlled by interferon-alpha signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2017) 114(14):3708– 13. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1700878114
- 44. Meyer S, Woodward M, Hertel C, Vlaicu P, Haque Y, Karner J, et al. AIRE-Deficient Patients Harbor Unique High-Affinity Disease-Ameliorating Autoantibodies. *Cell* (2016) 166(3):582–95. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2016.06.024
- 45. Davies R, Hammenfors D, Bergum B, Vogelsang P, Gavasso S, Brun JG, et al. Aberrant cell signalling in PBMCs upon IFN-alpha stimulation in primary Sjogren's syndrome patients associates with type I interferon signature. *Eur J Immunol* (2018) 48(7):1217–27. doi: 10.1002/eji.201747213
- 46. Brkic Z, Maria NI, van Helden-Meeuwsen CG, van de Merwe JP, van Daele PL, Dalm VA, et al. Prevalence of interferon type I signature in CD14 monocytes of patients with Sjogren's syndrome and association with disease activity and BAFF gene expression. Ann Rheum Dis (2013) 72(5):728–35. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201381
- Akiyama C, Tsumiyama K, Uchimura C, Honda E, Miyazaki Y, Sakurai K, et al. Conditional Upregulation of IFN-alpha Alone Is Sufficient to Induce Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *J Immunol* (2019) 203(4):835–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1801617
- Morand EF, Furie R, Tanaka Y, Bruce IN, Askanase AD, Richez C, et al. Trial of Anifrolumab in Active Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. N Engl J Med (2020) 382(3):211–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1912196
- Liu J, Berthier CC, Kahlenberg JM. Enhanced Inflammasome Activity in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Is Mediated via Type I Interferon-Induced Up-Regulation of Interferon Regulatory Factor 1. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2017) 69(9):1840–9. doi: 10.1002/art.40166
- De Groof A, Ducreux J, Aleva F, Long AJ, Ferster A, van der Ven A, et al. STAT3 phosphorylation mediates the stimulatory effects of interferon alpha on B cell differentiation and activation in SLE. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2020) 59 (3):668–77. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kez354
- Gkirtzimanaki K, Kabrani E, Nikoleri D, Polyzos A, Blanas A, Sidiropoulos P, et al. IFNalpha Impairs Autophagic Degradation of mtDNA Promoting Autoreactivity of SLE Monocytes in a STING-Dependent Fashion. *Cell Rep* (2018) 25(4):921–33 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.09.001
- 52. Houssiau FA, Thanou A, Mazur M, Ramiterre E, Gomez Mora DA, Misterska-Skora M, et al. IFN-alpha kinoid in systemic lupus erythematosus: results from a phase IIb, randomised, placebo-controlled study. Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 79(3):347–55. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-216379

- 53. Felten R, Scher F, Sagez F, Chasset F, Arnaud L. Spotlight on anifrolumab and its potential for the treatment of moderate-to-severe systemic lupus erythematosus: evidence to date. *Drug Des Devel Ther* (2019) 13:1535–43. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S170969
- 54. de Jong TD, Vosslamber S, Mantel E, de Ridder S, Wesseling JG, van der Pouw Kraan TC, et al. Physiological evidence for diversification of IFNalpha- and IFNbeta-mediated response programs in different autoimmune diseases. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2016) 18:49. doi: 10.1186/ s13075-016-0946-9
- Galligan CL, Pennell LM, Murooka TT, Baig E, Majchrzak-Kita B, Rahbar R, et al. Interferon-beta is a key regulator of proinflammatory events in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Mult Scler* (2010) 16 (12):1458–73. doi: 10.1177/1352458510381259
- Pennell LM, Fish EN. Immunoregulatory Effects of Interferon-β in Suppression of Th17 cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2014) 34(5):330–41. doi: 10.1089/jir.2013.0088
- Zula JA, Green HC, Ransohoff RM, Rudick RA, Stark GR, van Boxel-Dezaire AH. The role of cell type-specific responses in IFN-beta therapy of multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(49):19689–94. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1117347108
- 58. Hurtado-Guerrero I, Pinto-Medel MJ, Urbaneja P, Rodriguez-Bada JL, Leon A, Guerrero M, et al. Activation of the JAK-STAT Signaling Pathway after In Vitro Stimulation with IFNss in Multiple Sclerosis Patients According to the Therapeutic Response to IFNss. *PloS One* (2017) 12(1):e0170031. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170031
- Jin T, Wang C, Tian S. Feature selection based on differentially correlated gene pairs reveals the mechanism of IFN-beta therapy for multiple sclerosis. *Peer J* (2020) 8:e8812. doi: 10.7717/peerj.8812
- Fukushima A, Sugimoto M, Hiwa S, Hiroyasu T. Elastic net-based prediction of IFN-beta treatment response of patients with multiple sclerosis using time series microarray gene expression profiles. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):1822. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-38441-2
- Tian S, Zhang L. Identification of Monotonically Differentially Expressed Genes for IFN-beta-Treated Multiple Sclerosis Patients. *BioMed Res Int* (2019) 2019:5647902. doi: 10.1155/2019/5647902
- 62. Waddington KE, Papadaki A, Coelewij L, Adriani M, Nytrova P, Kubala Havrdova E, et al. Using Serum Metabolomics to Predict Development of Anti-drug Antibodies in Multiple Sclerosis Patients Treated With IFNbeta. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1527. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01527
- Adriani M, Nytrova P, Mbogning C, Hassler S, Medek K, Jensen PEH, et al. Monocyte NOTCH2 expression predicts IFN-beta immunogenicity in multiple sclerosis patients. *JCI Insight* (2018) 3(11). doi: 10.1172/ jci.insight.99274
- 64. Schreiber G. The molecular basis for differential type I interferon signaling. *J Biol Chem* (2017) 292(18):7285–94. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R116.774562
- Lavoie TB, Kalie E, Crisafulli-Cabatu S, Abramovich R, DiGioia G, Moolchan K, et al. Binding and activity of all human alpha interferon subtypes. *Cytokine* (2011) 56(2):282–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.07.019
- Nan Y, Wu C, Zhang YJ. Interplay between Janus Kinase/Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription Signaling Activated by Type I Interferons and Viral Antagonism. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1758. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.01758
- Randall RE, Goodbourn S. Interferons and viruses: an interplay between induction, signalling, antiviral responses and virus countermeasures. J Gen Virol (2008) 89(Pt 1):1–47. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.83391-0
- Harrison AR, Moseley GW. The dynamic interface of viruses with STATs. J Virol (2020) 94(22):e00856-20. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00856-20
- 69. Yu C, Kang L, Chen J, Zang N. Evaluation of safety, efficacy, tolerability, and treatment-related outcomes of type I interferons for human coronaviruses (HCoVs) infection in clinical practice: An updated critical systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2020) 86:106740. doi: 10.1016/ j.intimp.2020.106740
- Wang BX, Fish EN. Global virus outbreaks: Interferons as 1st responders. Semin Immunol (2019) 43:101300. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2019.101300
- Frieman M, Ratia K, Johnston RE, Mesecar AD, Baric RS. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus papain-like protease ubiquitin-like domain and catalytic domain regulate antagonism of IRF3 and NFkappaB signaling. *J Virol* (2009) 83(13):6689–705. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02220-08

- Kopecky-Bromberg SA, Martinez-Sobrido L, Frieman M, Baric RA, Palese P. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus open reading frame (ORF) 3b, ORF 6, and nucleocapsid proteins function as interferon antagonists. *J Virol* (2007) 81(2):548–57. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01782-06
- 73. Menachery VD, Eisfeld AJ, Schafer A, Josset L, Sims AC, Proll S, et al. Pathogenic influenza viruses and coronaviruses utilize similar and contrasting approaches to control interferon-stimulated gene responses. *mBio* (2014) 5(3):e01174–14. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01174-14
- Totura AL, Baric RS. SARS coronavirus pathogenesis: host innate immune responses and viral antagonism of interferon. *Curr Opin Virol* (2012) 2 (3):264–75. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2012.04.004
- Yoneyama M, Suhara W, Fujita T. Control of IRF-3 activation by phosphorylation. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2002) 22(1):73-6. doi: 10.1089/107999002753452674
- Devaraj SG, Wang N, Chen Z, Chen Z, Tseng M, Barretto N, et al. Regulation of IRF-3-dependent innate immunity by the papain-like protease domain of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282 (44):32208–21. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M704870200
- Lokugamage KG, Hage A, Schindewolf C, Rajsbaum R, Menachery VD. SARS-CoV-2 is sensitive to type I interferon pretreatment. *bioRxiv* (2020) 2020.03.07.982264. doi: 10.1101/2020.03.07.982264
- Konno Y, Kimura I, Uriu K, Fukushi M, Irie T, Koyanagi Y, et al. SARS-CoV-2 ORF3b is a potent interferon antagonist whose activity is increased by a naturally occurring elongation variant. *Cell Rep* (2020) 32(12):108185. doi: 10.1101/2020.05.11.088179
- Li JY, Liao CH, Wang Q, Tan YJ, Luo R, Qiu Y, et al. The ORF6, ORF8 and nucleocapsid proteins of SARS-CoV-2 inhibit type I interferon signaling pathway. *Virus Res* (2020) 286:198074. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2020.198074
- Blanco-Melo D, Nilsson-Payant BE, Liu WC, Uhl S, Hoagland D, Moller R, et al. Imbalanced Host Response to SARS-CoV-2 Drives Development of COVID-19. *Cell* (2020) 181(5):1036–45.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.026
- Chu H, Chan JF, Wang Y, Yuen TT, Chai Y, Hou Y, et al. Comparative Replication and Immune Activation Profiles of SARS-CoV-2 and SARS-CoV in Human Lungs: An Ex Vivo Study With Implications for the Pathogenesis of COVID-19. *Clin Infect Dis* (2020) 71(6):1400–9. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa410
- Bost P, Giladi A, Liu Y, Bendjelal Y, Xu G, David E, et al. Host-Viral Infection Maps Reveal Signatures of Severe COVID-19 Patients. *Cell* (2020) 181(7):1475–88 e12. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.006
- Hadjadj J, Yatim N, Barnabei L, Corneau A, Boussier J, Smith N, et al. Impaired type I interferon activity and inflammatory responses in severe COVID-19 patients. *Science* (2020) 369:718-24. doi: 10.1126/ science.abc6027
- Dahl H, Linde A, Strannegard O. In vitro inhibition of SARS virus replication by human interferons. *Scand J Infect Dis* (2004) 36(11-12):829–31. doi: 10.1080/00365540410021144
- Moriguchi H, Sato C. Treatment of SARS with human interferons. *Lancet* (2003) 362(9390):1159. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14484-4
- Mantlo E, Bukreyeva N, Maruyama J, Paessler S, Huang C. Antiviral activities of type I interferons to SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Antiviral Res* (2020) 179:104811. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2020.104811
- Loutfy MR, Blatt L, Siminovitch K, Ward S, Wolff B, Lho H, et al. Therapeutic potential of interferon alfacon-1 plus corticosteroids in severe acute respiratory syndrome: a preliminary study. *J Am Med Assoc* (2003) 290 (24):3222–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.24.3222
- Sallard E, Lescure FX, Yazdanpanah Y, Mentre F, Peiffer-Smadja N. Type 1 interferons as a potential treatment against COVID-19. *Antiviral Res* (2020) 178:104791. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2020.104791
- Zhou Q, Chen V, Shannon CP, Wei XS, Xiang X, Wang X, et al. Interferonalpha2b Treatment for COVID-19. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1061. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.615275
- 90. Hung IF-N, Lung K-C, Tso EY-K, Liu R, Chung TW-H, Chu M-Y, et al. Triple combination of interferon beta-1b, lopinavir–ritonavir, and ribavirin in the treatment of patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19: an openlabel, randomised, phase 2 trial. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10238):1695–704. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31042-4
- Pereda R, González D, Rivero HB, Rivero JC, Pérez A, López LR, et al. Therapeutic effectiveness of interferon-α2b against COVID-19: the Cuban

experience. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2020) 40(9):438-42. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2020.0124

- 92. Wang N, Zhan Y, Zhu L, Hou Z, Liu F, Song P, et al. Retrospective Multicenter Cohort Study Shows Early Interferon Therapy Is Associated with Favorable Clinical Responses in COVID-19 Patients. *Cell Host Microbe* (2020) 28(3):455–64.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.07.005
- Yuan J, Zou R, Zeng L, Kou S, Lan J, Li X, et al. The correlation between viral clearance and biochemical outcomes of 94 COVID-19 infected discharged patients. *Inflammation Res* (2020) 69(6):599–606. doi: 10.1007/s00011-020-01342-0
- 94. Irvani SSN, Golmohammadi M, Pourhoseingholi MA, Shokouhi S, Darazam IA. Effectiveness of Interferon Beta 1a, compared to Interferon Beta 1b and the usual therapeutic regimen to treat adults with moderate to severe COVID-19: structured summary of a study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* (2020) 21(1):473. doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-04382-3
- Bastard P, Rosen LB, Zhang Q, Michailidis E, Hoffmann HH, Zhang Y, et al. Auto-antibodies against type I IFNs in patients with lifethreatening COVID-19. Sci (American Assoc Advancement Sci (2020) 370(6515):eabd4585. doi: 10.1126/science.abd4585
- 96. Zhou Z, Ren L, Zhang L, Zhong J, Xiao Y, Jia Z, et al. Heightened Innate Immune Responses in the Respiratory Tract of COVID-19 Patients. *Cell Host Microbe* (2020) 27(6):883–90.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.04.017
- Cinatl J, Morgenstern B, Bauer G, Chandra P, Rabenau H, Doerr HW. Treatment of SARS with human interferons. *Lancet* (2003) 362(9380):293–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13973-6
- Zhang Q, Bastard P, Liu Z, Le Pen J, Moncada-Velez M, Chen J, et al. Inborn Errors of Type I IFN Immunity in Patients with Life-threatening COVID-19. *Science* (2020) 370(6515):eabd4570. doi: 10.1126/science.abd4570
- 99. Zhang Q. Human genetics of life-threatening influenza pneumonitis. *Hum Genet* (2020) 139(6-7):941–8. doi: 10.1007/s00439-019-02108-3
- 100. Li W, Moore MJ, Vasilieva N, Sui J, Wong SK, Berne MA, et al. Angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 is a functional receptor for the SARS coronavirus. *Nature* (2003) 426(6965):450–4. doi: 10.1038/nature02145
- Letko M, Marzi A, Munster V. Functional assessment of cell entry and receptor usage for SARS-CoV-2 and other lineage B betacoronaviruses. *Nat Microbiol* (2020) 5(4):562–9. doi: 10.1038/s41564-020-0688-y
- 102. Raj VS, Mou H, Smits SL, Dekkers DH, Muller MA, Dijkman R, et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 is a functional receptor for the emerging human coronavirus-EMC. *Nature* (2013) 495(7440):251-4. doi: 10.1038/ nature12005
- 103. Ziegler CGK, Allon SJ, Nyquist SK, Mbano IM, Miao VN, Tzouanas CN, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Receptor ACE2 Is an Interferon-Stimulated Gene in Human Airway Epithelial Cells and Is Detected in Specific Cell Subsets across Tissues. *Cell* (2020) 181(5):1016–35.e19. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020. 04.035
- 104. Israelow B, Song E, Mao T, Lu P, Meir A, Liu F, et al. Mouse model of SARS-CoV-2 reveals inflammatory role of type I interferon signaling. J Exp Med (2020) 217(12):e20201241. doi: 10.1084/jem.20201241
- 105. Lee JS, Park S, Jeong HW, Ahn JY, Choi SJ, Lee H, et al. Immunophenotyping of COVID-19 and influenza highlights the role of type I interferons in development of severe COVID-19. *Sci Immunol* (2020) 5(49):eabd1554. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abd1554
- 106. Wu W, Metcalf JP. The Role of Type I IFNs in Influenza: Antiviral Superheroes or Immunopathogenic Villains? J Innate Immun (2020) 19:1– 11. doi: 10.1159/000508379
- 107. Lucas C, Wong P, Klein J, Castro TBR, Silva J, Sundaram M, et al. Longitudinal analyses reveal immunological misfiring in severe COVID-19. *Nature* (2020) 584(7821):463–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2588-y
- 108. Borgeling Y, Schmolke M, Viemann D, Nordhoff C, Roth J, Ludwig S. Inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase impairs influenza virusinduced primary and secondary host gene responses and protects mice from lethal H5N1 infection. J Biol Chem (2014) 289(1):13–27. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M113.469239
- 109. He Y, Fu W, Cao K, He Q, Ding X, Chen J, et al. IFN-K suppresses the replication of influenza A viruses through the IFNAR-MAPK-Fos-CHD6 axis. Sci Signaling (2020) 13(626):eaaz3381. doi: 10.1126/scisignal. aaz3381

- 110. Mahony R, Gargan S, Roberts KL, Bourke N, Keating SE, Bowie AG, et al. A novel anti-viral role for STAT3 in IFN-alpha signalling responses. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2017) 74(9):1755–64. doi: 10.1007/s00018-016-2435-3
- 111. Huang SH, McCann CD, Mota TM, Wang C, Lipkin SM, Jones RB. Have Cells Harboring the HIV Reservoir Been Immunoedited? *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1842. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01842
- 112. Dagenais-Lussier X, Loucif H, Cadorel H, Blumberger J, Isnard S, Bego MG, et al. USP18 is a significant driver of memory CD4 T-cell reduced viability caused by type I IFN signaling during primary HIV-1 infection. *PloS Pathog* (2019) 15(10):e1008060. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008060
- 113. Cheng L, Ma J, Li J, Li D, Li G, Li F. Blocking type I interferon signaling enhances T cell recovery and reduces HIV-1 reservoirs. J Clin Invest (2017) 127(1):269–79. doi: 10.1172/JCI90745
- 114. Zhen A, Rezek V, Youn C, Lam B, Chang N, Rick J. Targeting type I interferon-mediated activation restores immune function in chronic HIV infection. J Clin Invest (2017) 127(1):260–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI89488
- Su L. Pathogenic Role of Type I Interferons in HIV-Induced Immune Impairments in Humanized Mice. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* (2019) 16(3):224– 9. doi: 10.1007/s11904-019-00444-7
- Nguyen NV, Tran JT, Sanchez DJ. HIV blocks Type I IFN signaling through disruption of STAT1 phosphorylation. *Innate Immun* (2018) 24(8):490–500. doi: 10.1177/1753425918803674
- 117. Singh H, Ojeda-Juarez D, Maung R, Shah R, Roberts AJ, Kaul M. A pivotal role for Interferon-alpha receptor-1 in neuronal injury induced by HIV-1. *J Neuroinflamm* (2020) 17(1):226. doi: 10.1186/s12974-020-01894-2
- 118. Valdez F, Salvador J, Palermo PM, Mohl JE, Hanley KA, Watts D, et al. Schlafen 11 Restricts Flavivirus Replication. J Virol (2019) 93(15):e00104-19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00104-19

- 119. Borrego AR, Corona-Ayala C, Salvador JC, Valdez FC, Llano M. Gene Expression Regulation of the Type I Interferon-Induced Protein Schlafen 11. J Fed Am Societies Exp Biol (2020) 34(S1). doi: 10.1096/ fasebj.2020.34.s1.00603
- 120. Seong RK, Seo SW, Kim JA, Fletcher SJ, Morgan NV, Kumar M, et al. Schlafen 14 (SLFN14) is a novel antiviral factor involved in the control of viral replication. *Immunobiology* (2017) 222(11):979–88. doi: 10.1016/ j.imbio.2017.07.002
- 121. Zhang W-C, Du L-J, Zheng X-J, Chen X-Q, Shi C, Chen B-Y, et al. Elevated sodium chloride drives type I interferon signaling in macrophages and increases antiviral resistance. *J Biol Chem* (2018) 293(3):1030–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.805093
- 122. Barragan-Iglesias P, Franco-Enzastiga U, Jeevakumar V, Shiers S, Wangzhou A, Granados-Soto V, et al. Type I Interferons Act Directly on Nociceptors to Produce Pain Sensitization: Implications for Viral Infection-Induced Pain. *J Neurosci* (2020) 40(18):3517–32. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3055-19.2020

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Mazewski, Perez, Fish and Platanias. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





All About the RNA: Interferon-Stimulated Genes That Interfere With Viral RNA Processes

Emily Yang^{1,2} and Melody M. H. Li^{1,2*}

¹ Molecular Biology Institute, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ² Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Molecular Genetics, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mark R. Walter, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

Reviewed by:

Preeti Bharaj, University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston, United States Ronald L. Rabin, United States Food and Drug Administration, United States

*Correspondence:

Melody M. H. Li manhingli@mednet.ucla.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 11 September 2020 Accepted: 09 November 2020 Published: 09 December 2020

Citation:

Yang E and Li MMH (2020) All About the RNA: Interferon-Stimulated Genes That Interfere With Viral RNA Processes. Front. Immunol. 11:605024. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.605024 Interferon (IFN) signaling induces the expression of a wide array of genes, collectively referred to as IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs) that generally function to inhibit viral replication. RNA viruses are frequently targeted by ISGs through recognition of viral replicative intermediates and molecular features associated with viral genomes, or the lack of molecular features associated with host mRNAs. The ISGs reviewed here primarily inhibit viral replication in an RNA-centric manner, working to sense, degrade, or repress expression of viral RNA. This review focuses on dissecting how these ISGs exhibit multiple antiviral mechanisms, often through use of varied co-factors, highlighting the complexity of the type I IFN response. Specifically, these ISGs can mediate antiviral effects through viral RNA degradation, viral translation inhibition, or both. While the OAS/RNase L pathway globally degrades RNA and arrests translation, ISG20 and ZAP employ targeted RNA degradation and translation inhibition to block viral replication. Meanwhile, SHFL targets translation by inhibiting -1 ribosomal frameshifting, which is required by many RNA viruses. Finally, a number of E3 ligases inhibit viral transcription, an attractive antiviral target during the lifecycle of negative-sense RNA viruses which must transcribe their genome prior to translation. Through this review, we aim to provide an updated perspective on how these ISGs work together to form a complex network of antiviral arsenals targeting viral RNA processes.

Keywords: interferon-stimulated genes, co-factors, viral RNA degradation, translation inhibition, RNA sensing

INTRODUCTION

Organisms must constantly defend themselves against viral pathogens. In order to stem viral spread, cells must both signal the presence of viral infection and hinder their replication. One key first line of cellular defense in vertebrates is the type I interferon (IFN) response. Hosts possess sensors which recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) of invading viruses such as the viral replicative intermediate double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) and activate transcription factors such as IFN-regulatory factors 3 or 7 (IRF3/7) and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF κ B). As a result, these transcription factors translocate to the nucleus to activate expression of type I IFN and other proinflammatory cytokines.

46

The type I IFN receptor is expressed ubiquitously on almost all cell types, allowing for IFN signaling in both infected and neighboring cells that are uninfected. Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) is the predominant, canonical pathway that regulates ISG transcription. IFN binding to its cell surface receptor, comprised of IFN-a receptor 1 (IFNAR1) and IFN-a receptor 2 (IFNAR2), leads to phosphorylation of pre-associated JAK1. Phosphorylated JAK1 and tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2) then phosphorylate the IFN receptor, which recruits STAT1/2 to be phosphorylated themselves. Phosphorylated STAT1/2 recruit IRF9 to form the transcription factor complex IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3). ISGF3 translocates to the nucleus where STAT1 is further phosphorylated for full activation. Within the nucleus, ISGF3 binds to IFN-stimulated response elements present in the promoters of IFNstimulated genes (ISGs), which then effect an antiviral cellular environment [for a comprehensive review on IFN signaling, see (1)].

Interestingly, a growing body of evidence in recent years suggests a plethora of non-canonical mechanisms [for a comprehensive review on canonical and non-canonical regulation of ISG transcription, see (2)]. Non-canonical ISGF3 complexes containing unphosphorylated STAT2, unphosphorylated STAT1 and STAT2, or STAT2 and IRF9 only have been found to mediate expression of specific ISGs (3–6). Other transcription complexes such as STAT5-CrkL (7, 8) or transcription factors such as IRF1 (9) can induce ISG expression. Additionally, cytokines such as TNF- α can moderately induce a subset of ISGs through the NF κ B protein complex and further synergize with type I or II IFN to jointly upregulate antiviral ISG expression (10–13). Surprisingly, cellular pathways that have no apparent connection to the innate immune response have been linked to ISG induction. For example, inhibitors of nucleotide synthesis have been shown to effectively upregulate ISG expression in a JAK-STAT-independent manner (14–17). Differences in the extent and timing of ISG upregulation likely depend on the complex interplay between these various mechanisms.

Broadly speaking, an ISG is any gene whose expression is induced by IFN signaling. Advances in RNA-sequencing (RNAseq) technology have enabled the identification of ISGs across varied cell lines by measuring changes in the transcriptome in response to IFN stimulation. The online database INTERFEROME continues to catalog the results of such gene profiling studies (18). However, ISG expression is more nuanced in reality. A subset of ISGs are direct targets of IRF3/7 and can be induced with or without downstream IFN signaling (Figure 1) (1). Other ISGs are both basally expressed and IFN-inducible, while still others are cell-type specific (19, 20). Moreover, there are three types of IFN, wherein type I and III are the classic antiviral IFNs. Though type I and III IFNs bind to different receptors, they signal through the same JAK-STAT pathway, thus inducing a shared array of ISGs. Still, type I and III IFN signaling pathways are differentiated by expression kinetics and cell-type specific receptor expression [for a recent review, see (21)]. Tight regulation of ISG expression is necessary because dysregulation of the type I IFN response results in interferonopathies or systemic inflammation deleterious to the organism (22).

In addition to regulating their own expression, ISGs are well known for their inhibition of viral replication. They employ diverse mechanisms to block virtually every step of viral replication, though ISGs have been shown to target different viral life cycle stages for different viruses [for recent reviews on a broad range of antiviral ISGs, see (20, 23)]. For example, the IFITM family blocks viral entry of diverse viruses (24) while the Mx GTPases recognize diverse nucleocapsids and block their





nuclear import (25). TRIM5 disrupts retrovirus uncoating and targets several viral proteins for proteasomal degradation (26). However, these only represent a tip of the iceberg. Recent advances in systematic approaches have allowed us to unbiasedly uncover ISGs with previously uncharacterized antiviral activity. Compiled ISG libraries have facilitated focused loss-of-function or gain-of-function screens of hundreds of ISGs, illuminating the contribution of individual ISGs in varied viral contexts (27-30). Furthermore, as advances in omics approaches allow examination of cellular changes on a systemic level, attention is shifting to how ISGs interact and even synergize with one another (27, 31, 32). Moreover, detailed mechanistic studies are still needed in order to unravel their mode of action. As ISGs may employ different antiviral mechanisms against different viruses, studies in varied viral systems will illuminate how ISGs might recruit different cellular pathways or factors.

Rather than provide a comprehensive, surface-level view of myriad ISGs with their arrayed antiviral functions, we have chosen to focus on a subset of ISGs that interfere with viral RNA processes. Recent studies have provided an emerging view on the diversity and complexity of RNA-based mechanisms by which different ISGs inhibit viruses with an RNA genome. With the exception of retroviruses which replicate through a DNA intermediate, single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) viruses can generally be categorized as positive-sense and negative-sense. Positive-sense (+) ssRNA viruses possess genomes that generally resemble mRNA, in that it can be translated directly by host translation machinery. However, negative-sense (-) ssRNA viruses code their proteins in the reverse orientation. Therefore, they must package their own RNA-dependent RNA polymerases and transcribe their genomes before viral protein synthesis can occur. While there are many more ISGs that inhibit viral RNA processes (Tables 1 and 2), this review will highlight recent exciting work on a subset of ISGs that act in an RNAcentric manner to sense, degrade, or inhibit transcription or translation of both (+) and (-) ssRNA viral genomes (Figure 2). We have chosen the ISGs here because at the time of writing of this review, they have not been comprehensively reviewed in the antiviral innate immunity field, and exciting developments have either illuminated nuances of well-characterized mechanisms or uncovered entirely new mechanisms by which these ISGs inhibit viral replication. We synthesized diverse antiviral mechanisms of individual ISGs and provided hypotheses for how cellular cofactors mediate the distinct antiviral activities of these ISGs, which not many previously published reviews have done. We will begin our discussion with the 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS)/RNase L pathway, which both senses and degrades RNA, making it a potent early inhibitor of viral replication. We will then segue into ISGs that both degrade RNA and inhibit translation, such as ISG20 and zinc finger antiviral protein (ZAP), before focusing on a novel means of translation inhibition by Shiftless (SHFL). We will end with a discussion of E3 ligases that inhibit viral transcription. Though there are many additional ISGs that block these RNA-centric steps of viral replication, this review focuses on ISGs that possess multiple or

TABLE 1 | ISGs that must bind RNA to inhibit viral RNA processes.

Gene	Mode of inhibition	RNA motif	References
ADAR1	A-to-I sequence conversion	dsRNA	(33)
IFIT1, -2, -3, -5	Translation inhibition	Type 0 cap structure lacking 2'-O- methylation at the 5' end of ssRNA	(34, 35)
ISG20	RNA degradation, translation inhibition	Largely unknown; recognizes m ⁶ A on HBV RNA	(36–38)
MDA5	RNA sensor	Long cytosolic dsRNA (> 1,000-2,000 bp)	(39–41)
OAS1, -2, -3	RNA sensor, synthesize 2-5A to activate RNase L	dsRNA	(40, 42)
OASL	RNA sensor, promotes RIG-I signaling and inhibits cGAS signaling	dsRNA	(43)
PARP12	Translation inhibition	Unknown	(44-46)
PKR	RNA sensor, translation inhibition	dsRNA	(40)
RIG-I	RNA sensor	short cytosolic dsRNA or ssRNA (10-300 bp) with 5'-triphosphate ends, enriched in poly- U/UC or AU sequences	(39–41)
RNase L	RNA degradation	ssRNA, cleaves at ^ in U^N, where N is any nucleotide	(47)
TRIM25	Translation inhibition	Unknown	(48–50),
ZAP	RNA degradation, translation inhibition, ISG synergy	ssRNA, CG dinucleotide	(23)
ZCCHC3	RNA sensor	dsRNA	(51)
ZNFX1	RNA sensor	dsRNA	(52)

Mode of inhibition, RNA motif or substrate preference, and references for the most recent reviews are listed for ISGs that bind RNA to inhibit viral RNA processes.

 TABLE 2 | ISGs that inhibit viral RNA processes with no known dependence on RNA binding.

Gene Inhibited process		Known mechanism(s)	References		
RBBP6	Transcription	Competitively binds to viral RNA polymerase	(53)		
SHFL	Translation	Inhibits -1 ribosomal frameshifting	(54)		
TRIM22	Transcription	Prevents transcription factor binding to HIV-1 promoter	(55)		
TRIM25	Transcription	Blocks IAV RNA elongation	(56)		
TRIM32	Transcription	Targets IAV polymerase for degradation	(57)		
TRIM69 Viperin	Transcription Viral RNA synthesis	Sequesters VSV _{IND} P Synthesizes chain terminator from cytidine triphosphate	(58, 59) (60)		

Viral RNA process inhibited (viral RNA synthesis, transcription, or translation) known mechanism(s), and references for the most recent reviews are listed for ISGs that inhibit viral RNA processes without a strict requirement for RNA binding.

seemingly contradictory antiviral mechanisms. Protein-protein interactions or cellular co-factors could explain diverse antiviral mechanisms of individual ISGs.



host machinery. Following expression of viral replication of nive wirdses. opon infection, positive-sense single-stranded RNA genomes are directly training their own RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and viral co-factors to transcribe their genomes before the viral mRNAs can be translated by host machinery for genome replication. ISGs covered in this review are shown to block global or viral translation (RNaseL, ISG20, ZAP, SHFL) and viral transcription (RBBP6, TRIMs). They can also inhibit viral replication by degrading cellular and/or viral RNA (RNase L, ISG20, ZAP). TRIMs that inhibit transcription are limited to those mentioned in this review, specifically TRIM22, TRIM25, TRIM32, and TRIM69.

OAS/RNASE L: SENSING VIRAL PAMP TRIGGERS GLOBAL RNA DEGRADATION AND TRANSLATIONAL ARREST

Degrading viral genomes presents one potent method of antiviral activity; digesting viral genetic material ensures that no further steps in replication can occur. However, the challenge lies within being able to control RNA degradation to ensure cellular survival or limit destruction within the host. The OAS/RNase L pathway is activated upon sensing the PAMP of dsRNA, serving two functions: sensing viral intruders and inhibiting viral replication by degrading RNA almost indiscriminately, inducing global translational arrest.

The OAS/RNase L pathway was one of the first ISG antiviral mechanisms to be identified and elucidated in the 1970s [reviewed in (61–64)]. Binding to dsRNA activates OAS, which then synthesizes 2'-5' oligoadenylates (commonly abbreviated as 2-5A) that in turn activate RNase L to cleave cytoplasmic RNA, thereby inhibiting viral replication (**Figure 3A**). Humans possess three catalytically active OAS genes (OAS1-3) and one inactive gene (OASL). Each OAS is composed of 1 (OAS1 and OASL), 2 (OAS2), or 3 (OAS3) basal OAS units (**Figure 3A**). While only the C-terminal OAS unit in each protein is catalytically active and

responsible for synthesizing 2-5A, both active and inactive OAS units can still bind dsRNA. RNase L, present in cellular cytoplasm as an inactive monomer, forms a catalytically active dimer upon binding to 2-5A and cleaves RNA in a seemingly indiscriminate manner. Though OAS1-3 all carry signatures of positive selection, which is indicative of rapid evolution resulting from host-pathogen interactions, OASL does not. Furthermore, OAS1 displays much stronger signatures than OAS2 or OAS3 (65, 66). RNase L also carries signatures of positive selection and some of the positively selected residues are located within the RNA-binding domain (66).

In the past 10 years, great strides have been made in clarifying dsRNA substrate specificity and 2-5A synthesis activity of individual OAS isoforms due to the advent of CRISPR-Cas9 gene-editing techniques and generation of OAS knockout cell lines and mouse models. Moreover, sweeping improvements in genome-wide RNA-seq and in-depth proteomics have illuminated new intricacies of OAS/RNase L-mediated inhibition of viral replication, which we will review here.

OAS1-3: 2-5A Messenger Synthesis

Recent years have not only seen a flurry of biochemical and structural studies on individual OAS paralogs, which have advanced understanding of their RNA substrate specificity and



FIGURE 3 | Activation and dsRNA binding of OAS isoforms. (A) Diagram of how OAS is activated by viral dsRNA and synthesizes 2-5A to activate RNase L. Longer OAS isoforms are activated by longer dsRNA. Though all are able to synthesize 2-5A, OAS3 2-5A synthesis is necessary and sufficient for RNase L activation. RNase L exists as inactive free monomers, but dimerizes and activates upon binding to 2-5A and ATP, thereby cleaving RNA. Interestingly, IFN and some ISG transcripts are resistant to RNase L cleavage, resulting in preservation of antiviral signaling. (B) Schematic of known human OAS isoforms encoded by OAS genes OAS1, OAS2, OAS3, and OASL. Isoforms marked with * have demonstrated direct antiviral activity. Length of boxes approximates gene length, with different colored C-terminal boxes representing different coding sequences. Light blue OAS basal units are able to synthesize 2-5A, while dark blue OAS basal units are catalytically inactive. Most OAS1 isoforms are expressed by either G or A alleles, which differ by the inclusion of a G or A nucleotide at a splice acceptor site. However, OAS1 p41 and p49 have not been attributed to either G or A and are therefore labelled as "unknown." UBL, Ubiquitin-like domain.

activation, but also of their individual splice variants. Surprisingly, OAS3 has been identified as the main contributor to the OAS/RNase L pathway, as OAS3-mediated 2-5A synthesis has been demonstrated as necessary and sufficient for RNase L pathway (67).

Though there are four OAS genes in humans, alternative splicing of additional 3' exons generates 10 different catalytically active and 4 inactive isoforms (Figure 3B) (62, 68, 69). OAS isoforms can vary greatly in size and degree of catalytic activity within the same gene (69). Though OAS1 isoforms differ from each other in their Cterminal regions, all are able to synthesize 2-5A in vitro after incubation with poly(I:C), a dsRNA mimetic, with isoforms p42 and p46 expressed more highly in HEK293 cells (69). A yeast twohybrid screen for p42 and p44, predicted to be expressed by all humans (70), revealed different binding partners, suggesting that OAS1 unique C-terminal regions may alter protein-protein interactions mediating isoform-specific functions (69). In support of this hypothesis, p46 possesses a CaaX prenylation motif that causes it to localize to mitochondria, whereas p42 lacks the CaaX motif and is cytoplasmic (71, 72). This difference in cellular localization is thought to contribute to their divergent impact on cellular respiration upon overexpression (72), and could contribute to their differential antiviral activity.

Genome-wide association studies of 2-5A synthesis activity revealed the presence of two OAS1 alleles which differ by the presence of a G or A at a splice acceptor site (70). Individuals with the G allele have high 2-5A activity and express the OAS1 p46 isoform, whereas individuals with 1-2 copies of the A allele have significantly lower OAS activity and express the OAS1 p42, p44, p48, and p52 isoforms (Figure 3B) (70, 73). This G/A single nucleotide polymorphism is associated with a variety of infectious diseases, such as the (+) ssRNA viruses West Nile virus (WNV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV), in addition to a hepatitis B virus (HBV)associated autoimmune disease; wherein the G allele confers resistance and the A allele is associated with higher risk (74-78). A comprehensive study of OAS isoform-specific antiviral activity against dengue virus (DENV) found that out of all catalytically active isoforms, only OAS1 p42 and p46 and OAS3 p100 were able to block DENV replication through an RNase L-dependent mechanism (79). Furthermore, degree of antiviral activity was positively correlated with amount of RNase L activity, as measured by 28S and 18S rRNA cleavage, wherein OAS3 inhibited DENV replication more robustly than either OAS1 isoform.

This finding of RNase L-dependent antiviral activity of OAS3 was surprising at the time. OAS3 was thought to primarily

synthesize the minimal dimeric 2-5A molecule, composed solely of two adenylate groups, which poorly activates RNase L (80, 81). More recently, it was shown that not only does OAS3 require 3-4 logs lower concentration of dsRNA than OAS1 for 2-5A synthesis, but it also readily synthesizes 2-5As of 3 or more linked ATPs both in vivo and in vitro (82). Increased OAS3 sensitivity to dsRNA can be explained by its additional, catalytically inactive OAS units, which retain ability to bind dsRNA (83). Though catalytically inactive itself, deletion of the most N-terminal OAS unit in OAS3 (OAS3.DI) nearly abolished OAS3 catalytic activity and dsRNA binding (83). Given that OAS3 is thought to adopt an elongated conformation (82), dsRNA binding by OAS3.DI may determine OAS3 preference for longer dsRNA substrates, and may explain its greater dependency on dsRNA length for activation as compared to OAS1 (83, 84). This could help OAS3 discriminate self from nonself dsRNA, as long dsRNA is absent from uninfected cells (85). These studies culminated with the novel finding that OAS3 is the primary driver of RNase L antiviral activity (67). The replication of both DNA (vaccinia virus (VV)) and RNA viruses ((+) ssRNA: WNV, Sindbis virus (SINV); (-) ssRNA: influenza A virus (IAV)) was tested in OAS1-3 single KO cells. While wild-type WNV and SINV trigger the OAS/RNase L pathway, wild-type VV and IAV do not due to their active antagonism of the pathway. Therefore, mutant VV and IAV strains that lacked viral antagonists were used. OAS3 KO cells have negligible rRNA degradation and 2-5A production during both poly(I:C) treatment and viral infection, in stark contrast to OAS1 and OAS2 KO cells which had high rRNA degradation and 2-5A production (67). This generally correlated with inhibition of virion production, as OAS3 and RNase L single KO cells had significantly higher viral titers than parental and single OAS1 and OAS2 KO cells for all viruses tested. These data suggest that OAS3 is both necessary and sufficient to drive RNase L-dependent antiviral activity against diverse viruses.

Though OAS3 possesses a dominant role in RNase Ldependent antiviral activity, more antiviral and cellular roles of OAS1 and OAS2 are beginning to be elucidated. In fact, OAS1 and OAS2 are responsible for some antiviral activity against WNV and SINV, albeit to a lesser extent than OAS3/RNase L (67). OAS2 was found to inhibit the (+) ssRNA virus Zika virus (ZIKV) replication through positive regulation of IFN signaling (86). OAS2 may also play a role in lactation, as it was identified in a screen for genes with roles in mammary development (87). Moreover, a novel role for OAS1 and 2-5A synthesis was recently identified in the context of poly-ADP-ribosylation (PAR) and DNA damage-induced cell death (88). As part of the DNA damage response, poly-ADP-ribose polymerase 1 (PARP1) synthesizes PAR polymers to recruit and modify DNA repair proteins (89). Upon resolution of the response, PAR products are hydrolyzed and can trigger apoptosis. ADP-ribose is a known substrate of OAS (90) and addition of 2-5A linkage onto ADPribose effectively functions as a chain terminator of PARylation (88). As a result, OAS1 p42 protects cells from DNA damageinduced death by reducing PARP1-mediated PARylation. The absence of OAS1 dramatically increased PAR accumulation

within cells upon H_2O_2 treatment, which was not rescued by a catalytically inactive OAS1 mutant (88). These data agree with the observation that cancer cells resistant to DNA-damaging therapies frequently highly express OAS1 (91, 92), as it is hypothesized OAS1 confers resistance to DNA damage-induced cell death.

RNase L: RNA Degradation and Global Translational Arrest

Upon activation by 2-5A, ubiquitous RNA degradation by RNase L simultaneously inhibits many facets of viral replication. Not only does RNase L activity directly degrade single-stranded cellular and viral RNAs, but it also promotes apoptosis, stimulates immune signaling, and induces rapid translational arrest (61).

Activation of RNase L quickly arrests global translation. This rapid translational arrest is traditionally attributed to degradation of transcripts involved in host translation machinery, as evidenced by degradation of 28S and 18S rRNA upon RNase L activation. However, closer examination revealed that at least 50% of 28S rRNA remains and overall tRNA levels are unchanged at the onset of global translation shut-off, challenging this prevailing hypothesis (93). Thus, degradation of translational machinery transcripts cannot explain early translational arrest (93). Another group presents the compelling hypothesis that translational arrest results from almost indiscriminate degradation of cellular RNA by RNase L, crippling gene expression by depriving ribosomes of substrates (94). Comparison of mRNA abundance in parental and RNase L KO A549s revealed reduction in almost all abundant mRNAs in parental, but not in RNase L KO cells after poly(I:C) stimulation. However, some mRNAs are resistant to RNase L cleavage, such as IFN- β . Furthermore, mRNAs that substantially increase in both parental and RNase L KO cells in response to poly(I:C) are highly enriched for ISGs such as IFIT2, OAS2, MDA5, and RIG-I, suggesting that antiviral mRNAs are resistant to RNase L turnover (94). Determinants of RNase L resistance have yet to be identified. These data are compatible with the independent observation that both type I and III IFN are still produced from seemingly translationally arrested cells (95). Together, these data support a model in which the rapid translational arrest by the OAS-RNase L pathway is doubly beneficial to the organism by both inhibiting viral replication and by permitting antiviral signaling to inhibit viral spread within the host.

RNase L structural studies have uncovered nuances of RNase L substrate selectivity. The first near full-length human RNase L crystal structure allowed for detailed analysis of RNase L dimerization, substrate recognition, and ribonuclease activity (96). In agreement with previous studies that found RNase L cleavage after UU and UA dinucleotides (97), recent structural analysis suggests that RNase L recognizes and cleaves the pattern UN^N (N: any nucleotide, ^: cleavage site) (96). Two different RNA-seq approaches have been utilized to identify RNase L substrates. One approach sequenced RNAs enriched for poly-A-tails after incubating lysates with either 2-5A or pre-activated RNase L. Their results suggest that RNase L selectively degrades

transcripts similar to those regulated by miRNAs, achieving a redundant outcome of suppression of mammalian cell adhesion and proliferation (98, 99). In contrast, another approach capitalized on the characteristic 2',3'-cyclic phosphate termini of RNase L cleavage products. They used a 2',3'-cyclic phosphate RNA-seq analysis in order to identify small RNA cleavage products (93). Here, it was found that most highly-upregulated reads map to tRNAs and Y-RNAs. Analysis of these RNAs revealed site-specific cleavage in both tRNAs and Y-RNAs, which may be shaped by post-transcriptional modifications. Interestingly, though cleavage sites of the tRNAs and other Y-RNAs followed UN^N specificity, the Y-RNA RNY4 was cleaved at CA^G. This unusual cleavage was not recapitulated in the absence of cellular proteins, suggesting that RNase L may acquire site-specificity by recognizing protein/Y-RNA complexes. In this way, RNase L could require co-factors to determine cleavage specificity. It is interesting to speculate that putative co-factors bound to ISG transcripts could also shield cleavage sites to enable their escape from RNase L recognition.

OASL

Though OASL lacks the ability to synthesize 2-5A and thus to participate in RNase L-dependent antiviral activity, it is still potently induced upon IFN stimulation and is also a direct target of IRF3 (100). OASL is composed of an N-terminal, catalytically inactive basal OAS unit followed by a tandem ubiquitin-like domain (UBL) (Figure 3B) (43) and possesses antiviral activity against several RNA viruses (27, 68, 101, 102). However, OASL promotes replication of the DNA virus, Kaposi sarcoma herpesvirus (KSHV) (103). These conflicting data can be reconciled by the recently uncovered divergent roles of OASL in both enhancing signaling of the dsRNA sensor RIG-I, thus inhibiting replication of RNA viruses (104), and inhibiting signaling of the cytoplasmic dsDNA sensor cGAS, hence promoting replication of DNA viruses (105, 106). Activation of RIG-I requires its simultaneous binding to dsRNA and polyubiquitin chains (107). OASL was shown to interact and colocalize with RIG-I, enhancing RIG-I signaling via its Cterminal UBL domain which acts as a poly-ubiquitin mimic to activate RIG-I (104). Furthermore, OASL antiviral activity is suggested to be completely RIG-I dependent, as its viral inhibition is abolished in the absence of RIG-I (104).

Meanwhile, two independent groups simultaneously identified the role of OASL in suppressing cGAS activity (105, 106). One group took a proteomics-based approach to uncover cGAS interactors in the context of herpesvirus infection, identifying OASL as a cGAS interactor and inhibitor (105). Another group utilized a targeted approach to assess the role of OASL during infection with varied DNA viruses, and verified the importance of OASL in promoting DNA viral replication *in vivo* by using a murine model for OASL KO (106). They observed that OASL deficiency results in increased IFN induction and reduced viral titers (106). Both groups found that the OAS-like domain is responsible for interacting with cGAS and that OASL-cGAS interaction is independent of cGAS DNA binding (105, 106). Enzyme inhibition kinetics experiments with OASL, cGAS, and the cGAS substrates ATP and GTP showed that OASL non-competitively inhibits cGAS production of its signaling molecule, cGAMP (106).

The OAS/RNase L pathway effectively inhibits viral replication by linking viral sensing to global inhibition of cellular processes. Widespread RNA degradation by activated RNase L globally not only arrests translation, preventing viruses from synthesizing new proteins, but also still allows for IFNs and several ISGs to be translated, promoting the establishment of an antiviral environment. Furthermore, the catalytically inactive OASL functions as a double-edged sword in its modulation of innate immune signaling, simultaneously inhibiting replication of RNA viruses while enhancing replication of DNA viruses.

MULTIFACETED RNA-DEPENDENT ANTIVIRAL MECHANISMS: FROM TARGETED VIRAL RNA DEGRADATION TO TRANSLATION INHIBITION

The following three ISGs are like the OAS/RNase L pathway in inhibiting viral translation, but dissimilar in their mechanism of inhibition. While the OAS/RNase L pathway employs global translation inhibition, ISG20, ZAP, and SHFL target specific RNA substrates. Furthermore, both ISG20 and ZAP have been shown to directly or indirectly degrade viral RNA, but their RNA degradation differs from OAS/RNase L in two major ways. They target specific viral RNA substrates for degradation, and this activity is independent of their inhibition of viral translation. The multiple, diverse, independent antiviral mechanisms of ISG20, ZAP, and SHFL can be explained through their recruitment of different co-factors, which this section will explore in depth.

ISG20

Antiviral activity of ISG20 has been attributed to two distinct mechanisms so far: degradation of viral RNA and translation inhibition, which can be direct or indirect. ISG20 was first identified as upregulated in response to IFN over 20 years ago (108). ISG20 is expressed in both the cell nucleus and cytoplasm, and is part of the DEDDh subgroup of the larger 3' to 5' DEDD exonuclease superfamily, which possesses a large exonuclease domain (EXO III domain) of about 150 amino acids that can confer DNase and/or RNase activity. The EXO III domain is characterized by three distinct exonuclease motifs defined by four invariant amino acids which lend this superfamily its name: three aspartate (D) and one glutamate (E) residue (109). The DEDDh subgroup also includes a conserved histidine residue. DEDDh exonucleases share a conserved fold and active site but have divergent substrate-binding sites, allowing them to recognize and thus degrade different substrates. Biochemical studies have shown that ISG20 degrades both ssRNA and DNA, with higher nuclease activity against RNA substrates (110).

Because ISG20 is a 3' to 5' RNA exonuclease, it has long been thought that ISG20 antiviral activity results primarily from degradation of viral RNA. In line with this hypothesis, ISG20 has been shown to exhibit antiviral activity primarily against RNA viruses (111). Overexpression and knockdown experiments show that ISG20 widely suppresses viral replication of diverse (+) ssRNA viruses from Togaviridae (SINV), Flaviviridae (yellow fever virus (YFV), WNV, HCV), Picornaviridae (encephalomyocarditis virus, hepatitis A virus), and (-) ssRNA viruses from Rhabdoviridae (vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV)), Orthomyxoviridae (IAV), and Bunyaviridae (111, 112). ISG20 also inhibits human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1) and HBV, a DNA virus with an RNA replicative intermediate (36, 37, 113-115). However, ISG20 does not display pan-antiviral activity, as it fails to inhibit severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV), a member of the (+) ssRNA virus family Coronaviridae (38), and adenovirus, a DNA virus (111). The hypothesis that ISG20 degrades viral RNA is supported by reduced expression of various viral mRNAs and replicons in the presence of catalytically active, but not catalytically inactive ISG20 (36, 111, 112, 116).

One long-standing question has been how ISG20 selectively degrades RNA, given that ISG20 does not have any apparent regulatory domains and that its overexpression does not decimate cellular RNA. It is thought that ISG20 may interact with cellular co-factors, supported by its cell-type specific inhibition of YFV (38). The cellular N⁶-methyladenosine (m⁶A) pathway has been linked to ISG20 antiviral activity in the context of HBV infection. Briefly, m⁶A is the most common reversible post-transcriptional modification that occurs on cellular RNAs. The m⁶A pathway involves three primary types of proteins—writers, erasers, and readers—which respectively add, remove, and bind m⁶A (117). Readers affect stability,

translation, and localization of m⁶A mRNA (117). One main group of m⁶A readers is the YT521-B homology (YTH) domaincontaining proteins. The cytoplasmic YTH members (YTHDF1-3) were recently found to play redundant roles in mediating degradation of m⁶A-mRNAs (118). HBV transcripts are methylated within the epsilon stem-loop structure (ϵ), which is present at the 3' end of all HBV RNAs and repeated twice in the pregenomic RNA (pgRNA) (37). The HBV polymerase binds the 5' ϵ in pgRNA to initiate packaging and reverse transcription. ISG20 was shown to inhibit HBV replication by binding to $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ (115). Furthermore, ϵ contains a conserved m⁶A consensus sequence that negatively regulates HBV RNA stability in a YTHDF2-dependent manner (119). It was then demonstrated that YTHDF2 and ISG20 interact in an HBV-independent manner and that depletion of YTHDF2 abolishes IFNdependent HBV RNA degradation (37). They propose that m⁶A modification of ϵ is recognized by YTHDF2, which then recruits ISG20 to target HBV pgRNA for RNA degradation (Figure 4A). Based on these data, YTHDF2 was identified as an essential ISG20 co-factor, marking the first time any group has identified a regulator of ISG20 substrate specificity.

Still, the role of RNA degradation in ISG20 antiviral activity remains open for debate. Multiple studies have shown that ISG20 overexpression inhibits viral replication in an exonucleasedependent manner, and several have observed a corresponding decrease in viral RNA (38, 111–113, 120). Moreover, most studies on ISG20 have utilized the catalytically inactive mutant D94G (110) to support the hypothesis that ISG20 exonuclease





53

activity is required for antiviral activity (38, 111–113, 116, 120, 121). This invariant residue is crucial to ISG20 structure as it helps coordinate an Mn^{2+} ion in the active site (122). It is unknown what other deleterious effects D94G may have on the overall structure of ISG20. One group mutated all Asp residues in the DEDDh catalytic motif to Gly (D11G, D94G, and D154G) and found that while all three mutations abolished exonuclease activity, only D11G and D94G also lost antiviral activity against HBV. Surprisingly, the exonuclease-deficient ISG20-D154G was still able to inhibit HBV replication (36). This suggests that ISG20 possesses both exonuclease-dependent and -independent antiviral activities.

Recently, two groups have independently found that ISG20 mediates antiviral activity through translation inhibition and not RNA degradation, but propose two divergent mechanisms (121, 123). One group proposes that ISG20-mediated translation inhibition is indirect, mediated through ISG20-dependent upregulation of other ISGs (123). They found that overexpression of ISG20 upregulates expression of many IRF3-dependent genes in mouse embryonic fibroblasts, such as IFIT1, an ISG that inhibits translation of viral RNA with non-2'O-methylated 5' caps (124). Furthermore, they showed that mutant alphavirus normally recognized and attenuated by IFIT1 is equally virulent as the wild-type virus in the absence of ISG20 in vivo, suggesting that ISG20 inhibits translation by promoting IFIT1 expression (123). On the contrary, the second group proposes that ISG20 is critical for discrimination of non-self nucleic acids from self to inhibit viral translation (121). By examining luciferase reporter activity, they found that ISG20 inhibited translation for all exogenous DNA of both viral and host origins. However, when a CMV-GFP cassette was integrated into the host genome, ISG20 failed to inhibit GFP produced from this context as it did when the identical cassette was transfected into the same cells. They also generated a series of mutants outside of the invariant DEDD residues to explore how non-exonuclease regions impact ISG20 antiviral activity. Notably, mutations predicted to affect phosphorylation and cellular trafficking but not exonuclease activity still lose antiviral activity against VSV. This loss of antiviral activity correlates with inability to inhibit translation of non-self nucleic acids. Contrary to previous findings, the second group did not find that ISG20 induces IFIT1 expression in HEK293T or U937 cells. They propose instead that ISG20 recruits foreign RNA to P bodies, sites of RNA storage, where translation is repressed in the absence of RNA degradation (121).

All in all, ISG20 effectively inhibits viral replication by degrading or inhibiting translation of specific RNAs. ISG20 co-opts the cellular m⁶A pathway component, YTHDF2, to recognize and target modified HBV RNA (37). ISG co-factors such as IFIT1 may also be required in ISG20 translation inhibition, as ISG20 does not globally arrest translation like the OAS/RNase L pathway, but rather specifically targets non-self transcripts.

ZAP

ZAP, encoded by the gene *ZC3HAV1*, is a potent antiviral factor which broadly inhibits replication of HIV-1 (*Retroviridae*), HBV

(Hepadnaviridae), the (-) ssRNA viruses Ebola virus (EBOV, Filoviridae) and IAV (Orthomyxoviridae), and (+) ssRNA viruses such as alphaviruses (Togaviridae), coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3, Picornaviridae), and Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV, Flaviviridae) (125-132). ZAP antiviral activity can be selective within viral families and genera, as not all flaviviruses and picornaviruses tested are sensitive to ZAP (126, 131). It also posttranscriptionally regulates expression of cellular mRNA (133) and restricts retrotransposition of human retrotransposons (134, 135). ZAP possesses four N-terminal zinc fingers (136) that directly bind to viral RNA, are required for antiviral activity, and dictate its mostly cytoplasmic and stress granule localization (134, 137-139). Phosphorylation of this minimal antiviral N-terminal region by glycogen synthase kinase 3ß enhances ZAP antiviral activity, though its mechanistic contribution remains unclear (140). Alternative splicing results in multiple splice variants which differ from one another in expression, localization, and antiviral activity. ZAP is also known as PARP13, due to poly-ADP-polymerase 13 (PARP13), due to the inclusion of a catalytically inactive C-terminal PARP-like domain in its long splice variant (ZAPL). In addition to a short splice variant that lacks this C-terminal domain (ZAPS), alternative splicing of a 121 aa extension of exon 4 results in two additional splice variants ZAPM and ZAPXL, whose antiviral activities are similar to ZAPS and ZAPL, respectively (141).

ZAP targets viruses primarily by two distinct antiviral mechanisms, namely viral translation inhibition (for the (+) ssRNA viruses SINV and JEV) and viral RNA degradation (for HIV-1, HBV, the (-) ssRNA virus EBOV, and the (+) ssRNA viruses CVB3 and JEV). These disparate mechanisms can be explained in part by recruitment of co-factors and differing viral contexts. ZAP inhibition of SINV translation has been linked to its disruption of the interaction between translation initiation factors eIF4A and eIF4G (142). This disruption does not affect global translation seeing as polysome profiles were unchanged when ZAP was overexpressed (142). ZAP is also able to repress translation of a luciferase reporter containing the minimal ZAP responsive fragment in the SINV genome without promoting degradation of the reporter (142). More recently, the E3 ligase tripartite motifcontaining protein 25 (TRIM25) was uncovered as a novel ZAP cofactor in the context of alphavirus infection (47, 143). TRIM25 is absolutely required for inhibition of viral translation by ZAP, as ZAP is unable to inhibit translation of a replication-deficient reporter virus in TRIM25-deficient cells (47). Not only is TRIM25 putatively required for ZAP recognition of its RNA substrates, as TRIM25 knockdown decreases ZAP association with luciferase reporter RNA, but also TRIM25 ubiquitin ligase activity is essential for ZAP antiviral activity (47, 143). Curiously, though TRIM25 ubiquitinates ZAP, TRIM25 still contributes to ZAP antiviral activity in the presence of a ubiquitination-deficient ZAP mutant (47), suggesting that TRIM25-mediated ubiquitination of host factors other than ZAP is critical for the inhibitory effects (Figure 4B). Moreover, it is likely that K63-linked ubiquitination is required for ZAP antiviral activity, as overexpression of a ubiquitin K63R mutant unable to form K63 linkages reduces ZAP inhibition of SINV replication (143). The identity of these TRIM25 substrates that function in ZAP antiviral

activity remains to be discovered, as does how they contribute to viral translation suppression.

Apart from inhibiting viral translation, ZAP also induces viral RNA degradation by recruiting an array of RNA helicases, the endonuclease KHNYN, and exosome components (144-147). ZAP selectively affects cellular transcripts, as it destabilizes the TRAILR4 mRNA and inhibits retrotransposition of endogenous retroelements such as Long INterspersed Element-1 (LINE-1) and Alu (133, 134). ZAP substrate specificity determinants largely remained a mystery until it was demonstrated to inhibit HIV-1 with synonymous, elevated CG dinucleotide mutations (HIV^{CG}) but not wild-type HIV-1 (148). Interestingly, only elevation of CG dinucleotides in the 5' third of the HIV-1 envelope gene caused ZAP susceptibility (149). Solving the crystal structure of ZAP in complex with CG-rich RNA revealed that ZAP has a CGdinucleotide specific binding pocket and binds to ss nucleic acids (150, 151). ZAP preference for CG-rich substrates could explain in part why many RNA viruses infecting mammals and other vertebrates, such as IAV and SARS-CoV-2, exhibit CG suppression (152-155). ZAP can even sense CG dinucleotides within individual RNA transcripts of DNA viruses, as in the case of human cytomegalovirus (156). Here, CG suppression within the major immediate early transcript 1 confers ZAP resistance (156). However, CG suppression does not always confer resistance to ZAP as in the case of SARS-CoV-2 (154). Though initially identified in the context of translation inhibition, ZAP was also shown to form a complex with TRIM25 and the endonuclease KHNYN to inhibit HIV^{CG} (Figure 4C) and knockdown of KHNYN abolished HIV^{CG} sensitivity to ZAP (147).

All three ZAP antiviral activities of CG dinucleotide sensing, RNA degradation, and translation inhibition were linked in the context of JEV infection, wherein ZAP bound CG-rich regions of JEV RNA and inhibited translation at early time points without RNA degradation, and degraded RNA in an exosome-dependent manner at later time points of a JEV replicon (131). Therefore, ZAP can block viral translation in the context of alphavirus infection, target viral RNA for degradation in the context of retrovirus infection, and do both in the context of JEV infection.

To complicate matters further, ZAP splice variants also display differences in antiviral activity. ZAPL is more antiviral than ZAPS (141, 157). This boost to antiviral activity is attributed to its PARPlike domain. Not only does the PARP-like domain carry signatures of positive selection (157), but it also has a prenylation motif that targets ZAPL to endolysosomes (158, 159). Addition of this prenylation motif to ZAPS increases its antiviral activity, though not to the same extent as ZAPL (159). Curiously enough, ZAPL's catalytically dead PARP triad motif is required for its antiviral activity; its replacement with the canonical active PARP motif abolishes ZAPL antiviral activity, though it remains unclear how this inactive motif is required (160). Furthermore, ZAPL is constitutively expressed in cells, while ZAPS expression is induced by innate immune signaling (141, 159). Studies conflict as to how ZAPS contributes to innate immune signaling. Though one group showed that ZAPS stimulates RIG-I dependent IFN response upon stimulation with a RIG-I RNA agonist (161), others found that ZAP mediates a RIG-I-independent antiviral response to

retroviruses and HBV (128, 162, 163). More recently, ZAPS was shown to negatively regulate the type I IFN response by binding to and stimulating the degradation of *IFN* mRNAs; ZAP-deficient Huh7 cells had a higher and more prolonged IFN response upon treatment with a RIG-I agonist (159). On the other hand, ZAPS was found to synergize with other ISGs, wherein 31 ISGs have a statistically significant increase in antiviral activity in the presence of ZAP (32). In addition to its role as a co-factor in ZAP translation inhibition and CG sensing, TRIM25 may also modulate expression of ZAP isoforms by regulating alternative splicing, wherein TRIM25 is required for efficient expression of ZAPS (156).

All in all, ZAP inhibition of viral replication layers in complexity through its diverse mechanisms of translation inhibition and RNA degradation, recruitment of varied cofactors, and further differences between splice variants. The differing C-termini, expression kinetics, and cellular localization between splice variants could facilitate recruitment of divergent co-factors to enable different antiviral roles. As the PARP-like domain of ZAPL lacks any catalytic activity, it likely acts as an interaction domain to recruit specific co-factors that might be ADP-ribosylated to effect the RNA-centric antiviral mechanisms of ZAP.

SHFL

SHFL, variously referred to as C19orf66, RyDEN, IRAV, or FLJ11286, is a 291 amino acid protein that is predicted to consist of eight α -helices and seven β -strands and possess both a nuclear export and localization signal, a zinc-ribbon domain, and a coiled-coil motif (164). SHFL binds nucleic acids and shows greater preference for ss nucleic acids and for RNA over DNA *via* fluorescence polarization assays (165). No catalytic activity is currently attributed to SHFL.

In uninfected cells, SHFL resides primarily in the cytoplasm in punctate structures, associating with both stress granule and P body proteins in HEK293 and Huh7.5 cells (165, 166), but was also more recently identified as an antiviral effector counteracting replication of RNA viruses (27, 28, 164, 167). For example, SHFL broadly inhibits replication of members of the (+) ssRNA virus family Flaviviridae, including all four DENV serotypes, WNV, ZIKV, and HCV (164-166, 168). SHFL also inhibits the virion production of chikungunya virus and SINV, members of the (+) ssRNA virus family Togaviridae. However, SHFL selectively inhibits members of another (+) ssRNA family, Picornaviridae, inhibiting replication of encephalomyocarditis virus but not poliovirus or enterovirus 71 (164, 165). SHFL selective inhibition also extends to DNA viruses, as its overexpression inhibits virion production of Adenoviridae member human adenovirus type 3, and Herpesviridae members KSHV and herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1), but not HSV-2 (164, 169).

A recently proposed mechanism for SHFL antiviral activity is suppression of viral translation. In line with this hypothesis, SHFL associates specifically with DENV RNA (164) and coimmunoprecipitates with other RNA-binding proteins that bind to mRNA 3' UTRs such as PABPC1, LARP1, MOV10, and UPF1 (164, 165). Given that PABPC1 is critical for translation, overexpression of SHFL suppresses translation of a DENV replication-deficient luciferase reporter (164). Co-immunoprecipitation and immunofluorescence techniques were used to show that SHFL interacts with MOV10 and UPF1 even in the presence of RNase A, though the interaction was diminished (165). It is likely that SHFL mediates viral translation inhibition by interacting with the viral RNA 3'UTR binding proteins such as PABPC1 and LARP1 to block recruitment of further translation machinery (**Figure 4D**).

A separate, better characterized mechanism that SHFL utilizes to block viral translation is its broad inhibition of -1 programmed ribosomal frameshifting (-1PRF) which is crucial for many viruses to control protein expression levels (54). SHFL inhibits HIV-1 replication by altering the Gag to Gag-Pol protein ratio via inhibition of -1PRF, wherein knockdown of SHFL results in increased Gag-Pol expression without obviously altering either Gag or capsid expression (54). Noticeably, these data are in agreement with previous findings of unchanged p24 levels upon SHFL overexpression, which were originally interpreted as evidence that HIV-1 is not inhibited by SHFL (164). SHFL was also demonstrated to inhibit both viral and cellular mRNAs -1PRF signals in the context of a dual luciferase reporter construct (54). It is important to note that overall cellular translation and protein expression and ISG expression are unchanged in the presence of SHFL overexpression or knockdown in Huh7.5 cells (166), supporting the notion that SHFL antiviral activity is not due to modulating ISG expression or alteration of global translation (166).

However, SHFL may also act on some viruses independent of its direct effects on viral translation. For example, SHFL associates with the flavivirus replication complex in both DENV and ZIKV infections and interacts specifically with nonstructural protein 3 (NS3) in an RNA-independent manner (165, 168). By doing so, SHFL induces lysosomal-mediated degradation of NS3 in ZIKV-infected cells. SHFL is thought to inhibit HCV replication by interfering with the HCV-induced remodeling of the ER, which generates a membranous web that scaffolds assembly of viral replication complexes (166).

Taken together, SHFL inhibits viral replication by regulating translation through -1PRF-dependent and independent mechanisms and by specific antagonism of viral proteins and structures. SHFL displays both RNA-independent and -dependent interactions with other proteins, relying on RNA for its interaction with cellular RNA helicases MOV10 and UPF1 while interacting with flavivirus NS3 in the absence of RNA. These varied requirements for protein-protein interactions may reflect SHFL's diverse antiviral mechanisms.

RING IN VIRAL TRANSCRIPTION: UBIQUITIN LIGASE-DEPENDENT AND -INDEPENDENT INHIBITION

The really interesting new gene (RING) proteins are the most abundant family of E3 ligases, characterized by their N-terminal catalytic RING domain. E3 ligases occupy the final step in cellular ubiquitination. Ubiquitination of a protein can alter its cellular fate depending on the type of linkage, ranging from proteasomal degradation to scaffold formation for assembly of cellular signaling complexes (170). In order for ubiquitin to be ligated to an acceptor lysine, it must be sequentially activated by the E1 enzyme, carried by the E2 conjugating enzyme, and finally ligated to an acceptor lysine by one of over 600 human E3 ligases. Though many of the antiviral effectors mentioned in this section have other known cellular and antiviral roles, this section will focus on how IFN-inducible RING ligases inhibit viral transcription by both ligase-dependent and -independent mechanisms.

RBBP6: Ligase-Independent Viral Mimicry

Retinoblastoma binding protein 6 (RBBP6) is a RING E3 ligase that inhibits transcription of the (-) ssRNA virus EBOV (Filoviridae) (53). RBBP6 was identified in an affinity-purification mass spectrometry screen to map host-EBOV protein-protein interactions as the most robust host interactor with the EBOV transcription regulator viral protein 30 (VP30) (53). RBBP6 competes with the EBOV nucleoprotein for binding to VP30 in an RNA-independent manner; the minimal RBBP6 interaction motif is sufficient to inhibit viral transcription, demonstrating a ligase-independent antiviral mechanism for RBBP6 (53). However, full-length RBBP6 causes dose-dependent decrease of VP30 protein in a manner dependent on the RBBP6-VP30 interaction, potentially suggesting a ligase-dependent antiviral mechanism (53). Curiously, RBBP6 also causes a dose-dependent decrease of VP30 mRNA independent of RBBP6-VP30 interaction. This suggests that RBBP6 either degrades VP30 mRNA through an uncharacterized exonuclease domain or recruits co-factor(s) that possess exonuclease activity (53). Knockdown of RBBP6 enhances EBOV RNA synthesis and replication. Taken together, these results suggest that RBBP6 inhibits EBOV replication through a three-pronged approach, and that both ligase-dependent and -independent antiviral mechanisms and exonuclease-dependent mechanism may be waiting to be further characterized.

TRIMming Viral Transcription

The tripartite motif containing proteins (TRIM) are the largest group of RING E3 ligases and constitute an important family of proteins in the type I IFN response (171, 172). There are over 70 human TRIM proteins, many of which are induced by type I IFN (171, 173). Interestingly, the rapid expansion of the TRIM family coincides with the development of adaptive immunity, suggesting that TRIMs may have evolved to play a role in immune regulation (171). These proteins typically possess three conserved domains at the N-terminus—a catalytic RING domain, one to two B-box domains that are thought to function in higher order oligomerization, and a coiled-coil domain that allows TRIMs to dimerize and potentially oligomerize (174). Most TRIMs directly inhibit viral replication by targeting viral components for degradation, or indirectly inhibit by modulating innate immune signaling (175, 176).

Multiple TRIM members have been found to inhibit viral transcription *via* both ligase-dependent and -independent mechanisms. TRIM22 does both, though its ligase activity is required to inhibit HBV transcription, it inhibits HIV-1

transcription independent of its ligase activity (177-179). TRIM22 inhibits HBV core promoter activity, which is critical for HBV pgRNA synthesis and hence viral transcription and reverse transcription (177, 180). A single point mutation in its RING domain abolishes its inhibition of viral replication, strongly implicating ligase activity in anti-HBV effects of TRIM22 (177). Meanwhile, TRIM22 inhibits HIV-1 basal transcription independent of its ligase activity by indirectly preventing the transcription factor specific protein 1 (Sp1) from binding to the HIV-1 promoter, thus facilitating HIV-1 latency (181, 182). As TRIM22 neither directly interacts with Sp1 nor binds to the HIV-1 promoter, it is possible that TRIM22 recruits another co-factor to alter chromatin state or stimulate Sp1 post-translational modification (181). Two independent TRIMs inhibit IAV transcription, a (-) ssRNA virus. TRIM32 depends on its ligase activity, ubiquitinating the core component of the IAV RNA polymerase complex and targeting it for degradation, subsequently reducing polymerase activity (57). On the other hand, TRIM25 restricts IAV RNA synthesis in a ligaseindependent manner by binding to viral ribonucleoproteins and blocking RNA chain elongation (56).

TRIM69 is a more recently identified ISG and antiviral effector that shares high homology with TRIM25. Recently, two independent groups found that TRIM69 inhibits replication of the Indiana strain of VSV (VSV_{IND}), a (-) ssRNA virus, in ligaseindependent manner (58, 59). Both groups identified TRIM69 through targeted screens using complementary approaches, either overexpressing an array of known ISGs or knocking down VSVinduced host genes (58). In addition, both groups found that TRIM69 inhibition of VSV is highly specific, as overexpression of TRIM69 fails to inhibit the New Jersey strain of VSV (VSV_{NJ}) or other negative-strand RNA viruses such as SeV, rabies virus, or IAV (58, 59). VSV_{IND} sensitivity to TRIM69 was mapped to a short peptide sequence within the viral phosphoprotein P by serial passaging VSV_{IND} in the presence of TRIM69 overexpression and sequencing escape mutants (58, 59). VSV_{NJ} differs from VSV_{IND} at five out of six amino acids within this TRIM69 P sensitivity determinant, potentially explaining differential resistance between VSV strains. TRIM69 physically associates with VSV_{IND} P but does not require its ligase activity or target it for degradation. Instead, TRIM69-inhibition of VSV_{IND} requires its multimerization in order to sequester VSV_{IND} P into filamentous structures, thus disrupting viral replication machinery.

To summarize, RING E3 ligases combat viral transcription in myriad ways. Many do not rely on their ligase activity to inhibit transcription by directly binding to components of viral transcription machinery to inhibit protein-protein interactions, such as RBBP6, TRIM25, and TRIM69. Others ubiquitinate viral components to target them for degradation, such as TRIM22 and TRIM32.

DISCUSSION

Inhibition of viral replication by ISGs grows more nuanced as every new study promises to uncover new facets of antiviral or pro-viral activity. Even well-characterized ISGs such as OAS/ RNase L, ISG20, and ZAP have had new aspects of their antiviral mechanisms come to light in recent years. RNA viruses present a plethora of unique viral RNA processes that host cells can identify and inhibit. They rely on their own viral RNAdependent RNA polymerases to transcribe and replicate genomic RNA, generating dsRNA intermediates that host cells recognize as foreign. Each RNA-centric antiviral mechanism mentioned in this review affords specific advantages and disadvantages. Blocking viral translation is especially effective against positive-stranded RNA viruses, which must translate their incoming genomes before any further steps in viral replication can occur. Likewise, inhibiting viral transcription is especially effective against negative-stranded RNA viruses, which prioritize transcribing their genomes upon entry. While degrading genomes outright appears to be the most straightforward and universal way to inhibit replication of RNA viruses, RNA degradation presents its own set of challenges of distinguishing foreign from self RNA. In the case of OAS/RNase L, dsRNA sensing by OAS leads to virtually indiscriminate degradation of viral and host RNAs, curtailing viral replication but also killing the infected cell. Some especially pathogenic viruses such as Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) circumvent RNA degradation by enzymatically degrading 2-5A, thus preventing RNase L activation (183). Meanwhile, other ISGs, such as ZAP, recognize specific motifs in the viral genome distinct from host genomes so only viral RNA is selectively targeted. However, ZAP specificity for CG dinucleotides may have driven selection against high CG content in RNA viral genomes, thus potentially rendering ZAP ineffective (152, 153).

The perpetual arms race between antiviral effectors and viruses has likely driven the development of multilayered mechanisms of viral inhibition. Some individual ISGs have acquired multiple antiviral mechanisms, enabling them to circumvent viral evasion. For example, ZAP is still able to inhibit replication of SARS-CoV-2, a positive-sense ssRNA virus with highly suppressed CG content (154). This suggests that ZAP inhibits SARS-CoV-2 not by CG sensing alone and that there are likely additional sequence or structural motifs that are recognized and targeted by ZAP. Another way ISGs may prevent viral evasion is through the use of co-factors, which could function as a natural "antiviral cocktail" (Figure 4). By using co-factors, host cells employ a multipronged attack on viral replication that could help minimize evasion by RNA viruses. ISGs that work in concert to recognize specific viral RNA motifs could make it difficult for viruses to simultaneously mutate all recognizable motifs in their genomes. Though it is known that TRIM25 functions as a ZAP co-factor (47, 143), that both TRIM25 and ZAP bind RNA (48, 139, 184, 185), and that RNA binding is crucial for their antiviral activity (136, 185), it remains unexplored whether TRIM25 and ZAP work together to recognize viral RNA substrates or motifs or both. TRIM25 and ZAP putative cooperation in viral recognition could help explain why many alphaviruses have not acquired ZAP resistance and remain acutely sensitive to its inhibition (126, 141).

In-depth characterization of ISG antiviral mechanisms and methods of viral evasion has been facilitated by rapid expansion of CRISPR-Cas technologies. For example, identification of OAS3 as necessary and sufficient for RNase L activation was enabled by generation of single OAS KO cell lines (67). CRISPR-Cas technologies have also enabled the discovery and interrogation of functions of novel ISGs and their splice variants or polymorphisms (186). Genome-wide CRISPR-Cas9 KO and targeted ISG overexpression screens have been used to great effect, identifying novel host factors and highlighting important antiviral ISGs to characterize [reviewed in (20)]. One exciting new avenue for RNA-centric ISG identification lies at the intersection of chemical biology. Generation of nucleotide analogs that can be incorporated into RNA, crosslinked to proximally bound proteins, and immunoprecipitated for subsequent proteomic analysis enables the identification of novel RNA-binding proteins (187). Variations on this approach have been used several times in the context of positive-sense RNA virus infections by Togaviridae and Flaviviridae family members to elucidate new host-virus interactions (49, 188-190). It is not always feasible to target host factors required for viral replication, since these host factors may also be essential for cell survival. Furthermore, overexpression of any given protein may yield false phenotypes that are not biologically relevant. In contrast, in situ labeling and identification of endogenous RNA-binding proteins offers a more specific and minimally disruptive approach with fewer effects on cell viability. Cross-

REFERENCES

- Au-Yeung N, Horvath CM. Transcriptional and chromatin regulation in interferon and innate antiviral gene expression. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2018) 44:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2018.10.003
- Wang W, Xu L, Su J, Peppelenbosch MP, Pan Q. Transcriptional Regulation of Antiviral Interferon-Stimulated Genes. *Trends Microbiol* (2017) 25:573– 84. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2017.01.001
- Morrow AN, Schmeisser H, Tsuno T. Zoon KC. A Novel Role for IFN-Stimulated Gene Factor 3II in IFN-γ Signaling and Induction of Antiviral Activity in Human Cells. J Immunol (2011) 186:1685–93. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1001359
- 4. Fink K, Grandvaux N. STAT2 and IRF9. JAK-STAT (2013) 2:e27521. doi: 10.4161/jkst.27521
- Cheon H, Holvey-Bates EG, Schoggins JW, Forster S, Hertzog P, Imanaka N, et al. IFNβ-dependent increases in STAT1, STAT2, and IRF9 mediate resistance to viruses and DNA damage. *EMBO J* (2013) 32:2751–63. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.203
- Sung PS, Cheon H, Cho CH, Hong S-H, Park DY, Seo H-I, et al. Roles of unphosphorylated ISGF3 in HCV infection and interferon responsiveness. *PNAS* (2015) 112:10443–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1513341112
- Platanias LC. Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5:375–86. doi: 10.1038/nri1604
- Fish EN, Uddin S, Korkmaz M, Majchrzak B, Druker BJ, Platanias LC. Activation of a CrkL-Stat5 Signaling Complex by Type I Interferons. J Biol Chem (1999) 274:571–3. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.2.571
- Escalante CR, Yie J, Thanos D, Aggarwal AK. Structure of IRF-1 with bound DNA reveals determinants of interferon regulation. *Nature* (1998) 391:103– 6. doi: 10.1038/34224
- Bartee E, Mohamed MR, Lopez MC, Baker HV, McFadden G. The Addition of Tumor Necrosis Factor plus Beta Interferon Induces a Novel Synergistic Antiviral State against Poxviruses in Primary Human Fibroblasts. J Virol (2009) 83:498–511. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01376-08

referencing ISGs with novel viral RNA-binding proteins could yield promising candidates to characterize and open up new horizons for antiviral exploration.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EY and ML determined the scope and focus of the review. EY drafted the manuscript and generated all figures. ML provided critical feedback on the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by the UC Cancer Research Coordinating Committee Faculty Seed Grant (CRN-20-637544; M.M.L.), UCLA AIDS Institute and Charity Treks 2019 Seed Grant (ML), and Ruth L. Kirschstein Multidisciplinary Training Grant in Microbial Pathogenesis (NRSA AI007323; EY).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Michael Emerman and Quan (Dylan) Zhou for critically reading the manuscript.

- 11. Wang W, Xu L, Brandsma JH, Wang Y, Hakim MS, Zhou X, et al. Convergent Transcription of Interferon-stimulated Genes by TNF- α and IFN- α Augments Antiviral Activity against HCV and HEV. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:25482. doi: 10.1038/srep25482
- Mestan J, Brockhaus M, Kirchner H, Jacobsen H. Antiviral Activity of Tumour Necrosis Factor. Synergism with Interferons and Induction of Oligo-2',5'-adenylate Synthetase. J Gen Virol (1988) 69:3113–20. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-69-12-3113
- Lee J, Tian Y, Chan ST, Kim JY, Cho C, Ou JJ. TNF-α Induced by Hepatitis C Virus via TLR7 and TLR8 in Hepatocytes Supports Interferon Signaling via an Autocrine Mechanism. *PloS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1004937. doi: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1004937
- Lucas-Hourani M, Dauzonne D, Jorda P, Cousin G, Lupan A, Helynck O, et al. Inhibition of Pyrimidine Biosynthesis Pathway Suppresses Viral Growth through Innate Immunity. *PloS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003678. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003678
- Pan Q, de Ruiter PE, Metselaar HJ, Kwekkeboom J, de Jonge J, Tilanus HW, et al. Mycophenolic acid augments interferon-stimulated gene expression and inhibits hepatitis C Virus infection in vitro and in vivo. *Hepatology* (2012) 55:1673–83. doi: 10.1002/hep.25562
- Chung D-H, Golden JE, Adcock RS, Schroeder CE, Chu Y-K, Sotsky JB, et al. Discovery of a Broad-Spectrum Antiviral Compound That Inhibits Pyrimidine Biosynthesis and Establishes a Type 1 Interferon-Independent Antiviral State. Antimicrobial Agents Chemother (2016) 60:4552–62. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00282-16
- Wang Y, Wang W, Xu L, Zhou X, Shokrollahi E, Felczak K, et al. Cross Talk between Nucleotide Synthesis Pathways with Cellular Immunity in Constraining Hepatitis E Virus Replication. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* (2016) 60:2834–48. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02700-15
- Rusinova I, Forster S, Yu S, Kannan A, Masse M, Cumming H, et al. INTERFEROME v2.0: an updated database of annotated interferonregulated genes. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2013) 41:D1040-6. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gks1215

- Schneider WM, Chevillotte MD, Rice CM. Interferon-Stimulated Genes: A Complex Web of Host Defenses. Annu Rev Immunol (2014) 32:513–45. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120231
- Schoggins JW. Interferon-Stimulated Genes: What Do They All Do? Annu Rev Virol (2019) 6:567–84. doi: 10.1146/annurev-virology-092818-015756
- Lazear HM, Schoggins JW, Diamond MS. Shared and Distinct Functions of Type I and Type III Interferons. *Immunity* (2019) 50:907–23. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2019.03.025
- Melki I, Frémond M-L. Type I Interferonopathies: from a Novel Concept to Targeted Therapeutics. *Curr Rheumatol Rep* (2020) 22:32. doi: 10.1007/ s11926-020-00909-4
- Chemudupati M, Kenney AD, Bonifati S, Zani A, McMichael TM, Wu L, et al. From APOBEC to ZAP: Diverse mechanisms used by cellular restriction factors to inhibit virus infections. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) Mol Cell Res* (2019) 1866:382–94. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2018.09.012
- Liao Y, Goraya MU, Yuan X, Zhang B, Chiu S-H, Chen J-L. Functional Involvement of Interferon-Inducible Transmembrane Proteins in Antiviral Immunity. *Front Microbiol* (2019) 10:1097. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.01097
- Haller O, Staeheli P, Schwemmle M, Kochs G. Mx GTPases: dynamin-like antiviral machines of innate immunity. *Trends Microbiol* (2015) 23:154–63. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2014.12.003
- Ganser-Pornillos BK, Pornillos O. Restriction of HIV-1 and other retroviruses by TRIM5. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2019) 17:546–56. doi: 10.1038/ s41579-019-0225-2
- Schoggins JW, Wilson SJ, Panis M, Murphy MY, Jones CT, Bieniasz P, et al. A diverse range of gene products are effectors of the type I interferon antiviral response. *Nature* (2011) 472:481–5. doi: 10.1038/nature09907
- Li J, Ding SC, Cho H, Chung BC, Gale M, Chanda SK, et al. A Short Hairpin RNA Screen of Interferon-Stimulated Genes Identifies a Novel Negative Regulator of the Cellular Antiviral Response. *mBio* (2013) 4(3):e00385–13. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00385-13
- 29. Subramanian G, Kuzmanovic T, Zhang Y, Peter CB, Veleeparambil M, Chakravarti R, et al. A new mechanism of interferon's antiviral action: Induction of autophagy, essential for paramyxovirus replication, is inhibited by the interferon stimulated gene, TDRD7. *PloS Pathog* (2018) 14:e1006877. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006877
- OhAinle M, Helms L, Vermeire J, Roesch F, Humes D, Basom R, et al. A virus-packageable CRISPR screen identifies host factors mediating interferon inhibition of HIV. *eLife* (2018) 7:e39823. doi: 10.7554/eLife.39823
- Hubel P, Urban C, Bergant V, Schneider WM, Knauer B, Stukalov A, et al. A protein-interaction network of interferon-stimulated genes extends the innate immune system landscape. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20:493–502. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0323-3
- 32. Karki S, Li MMH, Schoggins JW, Tian S, Rice CM, MacDonald MR. Multiple Interferon Stimulated Genes Synergize with the Zinc Finger Antiviral Protein to Mediate Anti-Alphavirus Activity. *PloS One* (2012) 7:e37398. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037398
- Samuel CE. Adenosine deaminase acting on RNA (ADAR1), a suppressor of double-stranded RNA-triggered innate immune responses. J Biol Chem (2019) 294:1710–20. doi: 10.1074/jbc.TM118.004166
- Leung DW, Amarasinghe GK. When your cap matters: structural insights into self vs non-self recognition of 5' RNA by immunomodulatory host proteins. *Curr Opin Struct Biol* (2016) 36:133–41. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2016.02.001
- Vladimer GI, Górna MW, Superti-Furga G. IFITs: Emerging Roles as Key Anti-Viral Proteins. Front Immunol (2014) 5:94. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00094
- 36. Leong CR, Funami K, Oshiumi H, Mengao D, Takaki H, Matsumoto M, et al. Interferon-stimulated gene of 20 kDa protein (ISG20) degrades RNA of hepatitis B virus to impede the replication of HBV in vitro and in vivo. Oncotarget (2016) 7:68179–93. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11907
- Imam H, Kim G-W, Mir SA, Khan M, Siddiqui A. Interferon-stimulated gene 20 (ISG20) selectively degrades N6-methyladenosine modified Hepatitis B Virus transcripts. *PloS Pathog* (2020) 16:e1008338. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008338
- Zhou Z, Wang N, Woodson SE, Dong Q, Wang J, Liang Y, et al. Antiviral activities of ISG20 in positive-strand RNA virus infections. *Virology* (2011) 409:175–88. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2010.10.008
- Chow KT, Gale M, Loo Y-M. RIG-I and Other RNA Sensors in Antiviral Immunity. Annu Rev Immunol (2018) 36:667–94. doi: 10.1146/annurevimmunol-042617-053309

- Hur S. Double-Stranded RNA Sensors and Modulators in Innate Immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2019) 37:349–75. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-042718-041356
- Liu G, Gack MU. Distinct and Orchestrated Functions of RNA Sensors in Innate Immunity. *Immunity* (2020) 53:26–42. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.03.017
- Schwartz SL, Conn GL. RNA regulation of the antiviral protein 2'-5'oligoadenylate synthetase. WIREs RNA (2019) 10:e1534. doi: 10.1002/ wrna.1534
- Zhu J, Ghosh A, Sarkar SN. OASL—a new player in controlling antiviral innate immunity. *Curr Opin Virol* (2015) 12:15–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.coviro.2015.01.010
- Welsby I, Hutin D, Gueydan C, Kruys V, Rongvaux A, Leo O. PARP12, an Interferon-stimulated Gene Involved in the Control of Protein Translation and Inflammation. J Biol Chem (2014) 289:26642–57. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M114.589515
- Atasheva S, Frolova EI, Frolov I. Interferon-Stimulated Poly(ADP-Ribose) Polymerases Are Potent Inhibitors of Cellular Translation and Virus Replication. J Virol (2014) 88:2116–30. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03443-13
- Atasheva S, Akhrymuk M, Frolova EI, Frolov I. New PARP Gene with an Anti-Alphavirus Function. J Virol (2012) 86:8147–60. doi: 10.1128/ JVI.00733-12
- Gusho E, Baskar D, Banerjee S. New advances in our understanding of the "unique" RNase L in host pathogen interaction and immune signaling. *Cytokine* (2020) 133:153847. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2016.08.009
- Li MMH, Lau Z, Cheung P, Aguilar EG, Schneider WM, Bozzacco L, et al. TRIM25 Enhances the Antiviral Action of Zinc-Finger Antiviral Protein (ZAP). *PloS Pathog* (2017) 13:e1006145. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006145
- Sanchez JG, Sparrer KMJ, Chiang C, Reis RA, Chiang JJ, Zurenski MA, et al. TRIM25 Binds RNA to Modulate Cellular Anti-viral Defense. J Mol Biol (2018) 430:5280–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2018.10.003
- Garcia-Moreno M, Noerenberg M, Ni S, Järvelin AI, González-Almela E, Lenz CE, et al. System-wide Profiling of RNA-Binding Proteins Uncovers Key Regulators of Virus Infection. *Mol Cell* (2019) 74:196–211.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2019.01.017
- Lian H, Zang R, Wei J, Ye W, Hu M-M, Chen Y-D, et al. The Zinc-Finger Protein ZCCHC3 Binds RNA and Facilitates Viral RNA Sensing and Activation of the RIG-I-like Receptors. *Immunity* (2018) 49:438–448.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.08.014
- Wang Y, Yuan S, Jia X, Ge Y, Ling T, Nie M, et al. Mitochondria-localised ZNFX1 functions as a dsRNA sensor to initiate antiviral responses through MAVS. *Nat Cell Biol* (2019) 21:1346–56. doi: 10.1038/s41556-019-0416-0
- Batra J, Hultquist JF, Liu D, Shtanko O, Von Dollen J, Satkamp L, et al. Protein Interaction Mapping Identifies RBBP6 as a Negative Regulator of Ebola Virus Replication. *Cell* (2018) 175:1917–1930.e13. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2018.08.044
- Wang X, Xuan Y, Han Y, Ding X, Ye K, Yang F, et al. Regulation of HIV-1 Gag-Pol Expression by Shiftless, an Inhibitor of Programmed -1 Ribosomal Frameshifting. *Cell* (2019) 176:625–635.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.12.030
- Hattlmann CJ, Kelly JN, Barr SD. TRIM22: A Diverse and Dynamic Antiviral Protein. *Mol Biol Int* (2012) 2012:e153415. doi: 10.1155/2012/ 153415
- Meyerson NR, Zhou L, Guo YR, Zhao C, Tao YJ, Krug RM, et al. Nuclear TRIM25 Specifically Targets Influenza Virus Ribonucleoproteins to Block the Onset of RNA Chain Elongation. *Cell Host Microbe* (2017) 22:627– 638.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2017.10.003
- Fu B, Wang L, Ding H, Schwamborn JC, Li S, Dorf ME. TRIM32 Senses and Restricts Influenza A Virus by Ubiquitination of PB1 Polymerase. *PloS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1004960. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004960
- Kueck T, Bloyet L-M, Cassella E, Zang T, Schmidt F, Brusic V, et al. Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Transcription Is Inhibited by TRIM69 in the Interferon-Induced Antiviral State. J Virol (2019) 93:23. doi: 10.1128/ JVI.01372-19
- Rihn SJ, Aziz MA, Stewart DG, Hughes J, Turnbull ML, Varela M, et al. TRIM69 Inhibits Vesicular Stomatitis Indiana Virus. J Virol (2019) 93: e00951–19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00951-19
- Ghosh S, Marsh ENG. Viperin: An ancient radical SAM enzyme finds its place in modern cellular metabolism and innate immunity. J Biol Chem (2020) 295:11513–28. doi: 10.1074/jbc.REV120.012784

- Silverman RH. Viral Encounters with 2',5'-Oligoadenylate Synthetase and RNase L during the Interferon Antiviral Response. J Virol (2007) 81:12720– 9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01471-07
- Kristiansen H, Gad HH, Eskildsen-Larsen S, Despres P, Hartmann R. The Oligoadenylate Synthetase Family: An Ancient Protein Family with Multiple Antiviral Activities. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2010) 31:41–7. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2010.0107
- Chakrabarti A, Ghosh PK, Banerjee S, Gaughan C, Silverman RH. RNase L Triggers Autophagy in Response to Viral Infections. J Virol (2012) 86:11311–21. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00270-12
- Hornung V, Hartmann R, Ablasser A, Hopfner K-P. OAS proteins and cGAS: unifying concepts in sensing and responding to cytosolic nucleic acids. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14:521–8. doi: 10.1038/nri3719
- 65. Hancks DC, Hartley MK, Hagan C, Clark NL, Elde NC. Overlapping Patterns of Rapid Evolution in the Nucleic Acid Sensors cGAS and OAS1 Suggest a Common Mechanism of Pathogen Antagonism and Escape. *PloS Genet* (2015) 11:e1005203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005203
- Mozzi A, Pontremoli C, Forni D, Clerici M, Pozzoli U, Bresolin N, et al. OASes and STING: Adaptive Evolution in Concert. *Genome Biol Evol* (2015) 7:1016–32. doi: 10.1093/gbe/evv046
- 67. Li Y, Banerjee S, Wang Y, Goldstein SA, Dong B, Gaughan C, et al. Activation of RNase L is dependent on OAS3 expression during infection with diverse human viruses. *PNAS* (2016) 113:2241–6. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1519657113
- Guo X, Li X, Xu Y, Sun T, Yang G, Wu Z, et al. Identification of OASL d, a splice variant of human OASL, with antiviral activity. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2012) 44:1133–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2012.04.001
- Di H, Elbahesh H, Brinton MA. Characteristics of Human OAS1 Isoform Proteins. Viruses (2020) 12:152. doi: 10.3390/v12020152
- Bonnevie-Nielsen V, Leigh Field L, Lu S, Zheng D-J, Li M, Martensen PM, et al. Variation in Antiviral 2',5'-Oligoadenylate Synthetase (2'5'AS) Enzyme Activity Is Controlled by a Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism at a Splice-Acceptor Site in the OAS1 Gene. Am J Hum Genet (2005) 76:623–33. doi: 10.1086/429391
- Kjær KH, Pahus J, Hansen MF, Poulsen JB, Christensen EI, Justesen J, et al. Mitochondrial localization of the OAS1 p46 isoform associated with a common single nucleotide polymorphism. *BMC Cell Biol* (2014) 15:33. doi: 10.1186/1471-2121-15-33
- 72. Skrivergaard S, Jensen MS, Rolander TB, Nguyen TBN, Bundgaard A, Nejsum LN, et al. The Cellular Localization of the p42 and p46 Oligoadenylate Synthetase 1 Isoforms and Their Impact on Mitochondrial Respiration. *Viruses* (2019) 11:1122. doi: 10.3390/v11121122
- Carey CM, Govande AA, Cooper JM, Hartley MK, Kranzusch PJ, Elde NC. Recurrent Loss-of-Function Mutations Reveal Costs to OAS1 Antiviral Activity in Primates. *Cell Host Microbe* (2019) 25:336–343.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2019.01.001
- Lim JK, Lisco A, McDermott DH, Huynh I, Ward JM, Johnson B, et al. Genetic Variation in OAS1 Is a Risk Factor for Initial Infection with West Nile Virus in Man. *PloS Pathog* (2009) 5:e1000321. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000321
- 75. Awady MKE, Anany MA, Esmat G, Zayed N, Tabll AA, Helmy A, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphism at exon 7 splice acceptor site of OAS1 gene determines response of hepatitis C virus patients to interferon therapy. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2011) 26:843–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1746. 2010.06605.x
- Bader El Din NG, Anany MA, Dawood RM, Ibrahim MK, El-Shenawy R, El Abd YS, et al. Impact of OAS1 Exon 7 rs10774671 Genetic Variation on Liver Fibrosis Progression in Egyptian HCV Genotype 4 Patients. *Viral Immunol* (2015) 28:509–16. doi: 10.1089/vim.2015.0041
- 77. Liu X, Xing H, Gao W, Yu D, Zhao Y, Shi X, et al. A functional variant in the OAS1 gene is associated with Sjögren's syndrome complicated with HBV infection. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:17571. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-17931-9
- Wu S, Wang Y, Chen G, Zhang M, Wang M, He J-Q. 2'-5'-Oligoadenylate synthetase 1 polymorphisms are associated with tuberculosis: a case-control study. *BMC Pulmonary Med* (2018) 18:180. doi: 10.1186/s12890-018-0746-x
- 79. Lin R-J, Yu H-P, Chang B-L, Tang W-C, Liao C-L, Lin Y-L. Distinct Antiviral Roles for Human 2',5'-Oligoadenylate Synthetase Family Members against Dengue Virus Infection. J Immunol (2009) 183:8035–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902728

- Rebouillat D, Hovnanian A, Marié I, Hovanessian AG. The 100-kDa 2',5'-Oligoadenylate Synthetase Catalyzing Preferentially the Synthesis of Dimeric pppA2'p5'A Molecules Is Composed of Three Homologous Domains. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274:1557–65. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.3.1557
- Marié I, Blanco J, Rebouillat D, Hovanessian AG. 69-kDa and 100-kDa Isoforms of Interferon-Induced (2'-5')Oligoadenylate Synthetase Exhibit Differential Catalytic Parameters. *Eur J Biochem* (1997) 248:558–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1997.t01-1-00558.x
- Ibsen MS, Gad HH, Thavachelvam K, Boesen T, Desprès P, Hartmann R. The 2'-5'-Oligoadenylate Synthetase 3 Enzyme Potently Synthesizes the 2'-5'-Oligoadenylates Required for RNase L Activation. J Virol (2014) 88:14222–31. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01763-14
- Donovan J, Whitney G, Rath S, Korennykh A. Structural mechanism of sensing long dsRNA via a noncatalytic domain in human oligoadenylate synthetase 3. PNAS (2015) 112:3949–54. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1419409112
- Wang Y, Holleufer A, Gad HH, Hartmann R. Length dependent activation of OAS proteins by dsRNA. *Cytokine* (2020) 126:154867. doi: 10.1016/ j.cyto.2019.154867
- Schlee M, Hartmann G. Discriminating self from non-self in nucleic acid sensing. Nat Rev Immunol (2016) 16:566–80. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.78
- Liao X, Xie H, Li S, Ye H, Li S, Ren K, et al. 2', 5'-Oligoadenylate Synthetase 2 (OAS2) Inhibits Zika Virus Replication through Activation of Type t IFN Signaling Pathway. Viruses (2020) 12:418. doi: 10.3390/v12040418
- Oakes SR, Gallego-Ortega D, Stanford PM, Junankar S, Au WWY, Kikhtyak Z, et al. A mutation in the viral sensor 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase 2 causes failure of lactation. *PloS Genet* (2017) 13:e1007072. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pgen.1007072
- Kondratova AA, Cheon H, Dong B, Holvey-Bates EG, Hasipek M, Taran I, et al. Suppressing PARylation by 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase 1 inhibits DNA damage-induced cell death. *EMBO J* (2020) 39:e101573. doi: 10.15252/ embj.2019101573
- Luo X, Kraus WL. On PAR with PARP: cellular stress signaling through poly (ADP-ribose) and PARP-1. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26:417–32. doi: 10.1101/ gad.183509.111
- Cayley PJ, Kerr IM. Synthesis, Characterisation and Biological Significance of (2'-5')Oiigoadenylate Derivatives of NAD+, ADP-Ribose and Adenosine (5')Tetraphosph0(5')Adenosine. *Eur J Biochem* (1982) 122:601–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1982.tb06481.x
- Khodarev NN, Beckett M, Labay E, Darga T, Roizman B, Weichselbaum RR. STAT1 is overexpressed in tumors selected for radioresistance and confers protection from radiation in transduced sensitive cells. *PNAS* (2004) 101:1714–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0308102100
- 92. Weichselbaum RR, Ishwaran H, Yoon T, Nuyten DSA, Baker SW, Khodarev N, et al. An interferon-related gene signature for DNA damage resistance is a predictive marker for chemotherapy and radiation for breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:18490–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0809242105
- Donovan J, Rath S, Kolet-Mandrikov D, Korennykh A. Rapid RNase L-driven arrest of protein synthesis in the dsRNA response without degradation of translation machinery. *RNA* (2017) 23:1660–71. doi: 10.1261/rna.062000.117
- Burke JM, Moon SL, Matheny T, Parker R. RNase L Reprograms Translation by Widespread mRNA Turnover Escaped by Antiviral mRNAs. *Mol Cell* (2019) 75:1203–1217.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2019.07.029
- 95. Chitrakar A, Rath S, Donovan J, Demarest K, Li Y, Sridhar RR, et al. Real-time 2-5A kinetics suggest that interferons β and λ evade global arrest of translation by RNase L. *PNAS* (2019) 116:2103–11. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1818363116
- Han Y, Donovan J, Rath S, Whitney G, Chitrakar A, Korennykh A. Structure of Human RNase L Reveals the Basis for Regulated RNA Decay in the IFN Response. Science (2014) 343:1244–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1249845
- Chakrabarti A, Jha BK, Silverman RH. New Insights into the Role of RNase L in Innate Immunity. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2010) 31:49–57. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2010.0120
- Rath S, Donovan J, Whitney G, Chitrakar A, Wang W, Korennykh A. Human RNase L tunes gene expression by selectively destabilizing the microRNA-regulated transcriptome. *PNAS* (2015) 112:15916–21. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1513034112
- Banerjee S, Li G, Li Y, Gaughan C, Baskar D, Parker Y, et al. RNase L is a negative regulator of cell migration. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:44360–72. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6246

- 100. Melchjorsen J, Kristiansen H, Christiansen R, Rintahaka J, Matikainen S, Paludan SR, et al. Differential Regulation of the OASL and OAS1 Genes in Response to Viral Infections. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2009) 29:199–208. doi: 10.1089/jir.2008.0050
- 101. Marques J, Anwar J, Eskildsen-Larsen S, Rebouillat D, Paludan SR, Sen G, et al. The p59 oligoadenylate synthetase-like protein possesses antiviral activity that requires the C-terminal ubiquitin-like domain. J Gen Virol (2008) 89:2767–72. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.2008/003558-0
- 102. Ishibashi M, Wakita T, Esumi M. 2',5'-Oligoadenylate synthetase-like gene highly induced by hepatitis C virus infection in human liver is inhibitory to viral replication in vitro. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2010) 392:397–402. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.01.034
- 103. Bussey KA, Lau U, Schumann S, Gallo A, Osbelt L, Stempel M, et al. The interferon-stimulated gene product oligoadenylate synthetase-like protein enhances replication of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) and interacts with the KSHV ORF20 protein. *PloS Pathog* (2018) 14: e1006937. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006937
- 104. Zhu J, Zhang Y, Ghosh A, Cuevas RA, Forero A, Dhar J, et al. Antiviral Activity of Human OASL Protein Is Mediated by Enhancing Signaling of the RIG-I RNA Sensor. *Immunity* (2014) 40:936–48. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2014.05.007
- 105. Lum KK, Song B, Federspiel JD, Diner BA, Howard T, Cristea IM. Interactome and Proteome Dynamics Uncover Immune Modulatory Associations of the Pathogen Sensing Factor cGAS. *Cell Syst* (2018) 7:627– 642.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2018.10.010
- 106. Ghosh A, Shao L, Sampath P, Zhao B, Patel NV, Zhu J, et al. Oligoadenylate-Synthetase-Family Protein OASL Inhibits Activity of the DNA Sensor cGAS during DNA Virus Infection to Limit Interferon Production. *Immunity* (2019) 50:51–63.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.12.013
- 107. Chan YK, Gack MU. Viral evasion of intracellular DNA and RNA sensing. Nat Rev Microbiol (2016) 14:360–73. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.45
- 108. Gongora C, David G, Pintard L, Tissot C, Hua TD, Dejean A, et al. Molecular Cloning of a New Interferon-induced PML Nuclear Body-associated Protein. *J Biol Chem* (1997) 272:19457–63. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.31.19457
- 109. Zuo Y, Deutscher MP. Exoribonuclease superfamilies: structural analysis and phylogenetic distribution. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2001) 29:1017–26. doi: 10.1093/ nar/29.5.1017
- 110. Nguyen LH, Espert L, Mechti N, Wilson DM. The Human Interferon- and Estrogen-Regulated ISG20/HEM45 Gene Product Degrades Single-Stranded RNA and DNA in Vitro. *Biochemistry* (2001) 40:7174–9. doi: 10.1021/bi010141t
- 111. Espert L, Degols G, Gongora C, Blondel D, Williams BR, Silverman RH, et al. ISG20, a New Interferon-induced RNase Specific for Single-stranded RNA, Defines an Alternative Antiviral Pathway against RNA Genomic Viruses. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:16151–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209628200
- 112. Feng J, Wickenhagen A, Turnbull ML, Rezelj VV, Kreher F, Tilston-Lunel NL, et al. Interferon-Stimulated Gene (ISG)-Expression Screening Reveals the Specific Antibunyaviral Activity of ISG20. *J Virol* (2018) 92:e02140–17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02140-17
- 113. Espert L, Degols G, Lin Y-L, Vincent T, Benkirane M, Mechti N. Interferoninduced exonuclease ISG20 exhibits an antiviral activity against human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Gen Virol (2005) 86:2221–9. doi: 10.1099/ vir.0.81074-0
- 114. Wieland S, Thimme R, Purcell RH, Chisari FV. Genomic analysis of the host response to hepatitis B virus infection. PNAS (2004) 101:6669–74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401771101
- 115. Liu Y, Nie H, Mao R, Mitra B, Cai D, Yan R, et al. Interferon-inducible ribonuclease ISG20 inhibits hepatitis B virus replication through directly binding to the epsilon stem-loop structure of viral RNA. *PloS Pathog* (2017) 13:e1006296. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006296
- 116. Jiang D, Weidner JM, Qing M, Pan X-B, Guo H, Xu C, et al. Identification of Five Interferon-Induced Cellular Proteins That Inhibit West Nile Virus and Dengue Virus Infections. J Virol (2010) 84:8332–41. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02199-09
- 117. Zaccara S, Ries RJ, Jaffrey SR. Reading, writing and erasing mRNA methylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2019) 20:608–24. doi: 10.1038/s41580-019-0168-5
- Zaccara S. Jaffrey SR. A Unified Model for the Function of YTHDF Proteins in Regulating m6A-Modified mRNA. *Cell* (2020) 181:1582–1595.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.012

- 119. Imam H, Khan M, Gokhale NS, McIntyre ABR, Kim G-W, Jang JY, et al. N6methyladenosine modification of hepatitis B virus RNA differentially regulates the viral life cycle. *PNAS* (2018) 115:8829–34. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1808319115
- 120. Jiang D, Guo H, Xu C, Chang J, Gu B, Wang L, et al. Identification of Three Interferon-Inducible Cellular Enzymes That Inhibit the Replication of Hepatitis C Virus. J Virol (2008) 82:1665–78. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02113-07
- 121. Wu N, Nguyen X-N, Wang L, Appourchaux R, Zhang C, Panthu B, et al. The interferon stimulated gene 20 protein (ISG20) is an innate defense antiviral factor that discriminates self versus non-self translation. *PloS Pathog* (2019) 15:e1008093. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008093
- 122. Horio T, Murai M, Inoue T, Hamasaki T, Tanaka T, Ohgi T. Crystal structure of human ISG20, an interferon-induced antiviral ribonuclease. *FEBS Lett* (2004) 577:111–6. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2004.09.074
- 123. Weiss CM, Trobaugh DW, Sun C, Lucas TM, Diamond MS, Ryman KD, et al. The Interferon-Induced Exonuclease ISG20 Exerts Antiviral Activity through Upregulation of Type I Interferon Response Proteins. *mSphere* (2018) 3:e00209–18. doi: 10.1128/mSphere.00209-18
- 124. Diamond MS. IFIT1: A dual sensor and effector molecule that detects non-2'-O methylated viral RNA and inhibits its translation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2014) 25:543–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2014.05.002
- 125. Gao G, Guo X, Goff SP. Inhibition of Retroviral RNA Production by ZAP, a CCCH-Type Zinc Finger Protein. *Science* (2002) 297:1703–6. doi: 10.1126/ science.1074276
- 126. Bick MJ, Carroll J-WN, Gao G, Goff SP, Rice CM, MacDonald MR. Expression of the Zinc-Finger Antiviral Protein Inhibits Alphavirus Replication. J Virol (2003) 77:11555–62. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.21.11555-11562.2003
- 127. Müller S, Möller P, Bick MJ, Wurr S, Becker S, Günther S, et al. Inhibition of Filovirus Replication by the Zinc Finger Antiviral Protein. J Virol (2007) 81:2391–400. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01601-06
- 128. Mao R, Nie H, Cai D, Zhang J, Liu H, Yan R, et al. Inhibition of Hepatitis B Virus Replication by the Host Zinc Finger Antiviral Protein. *PloS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003494. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003494
- 129. Zhu Y, Chen G, Lv F, Wang X, Ji X, Xu Y, et al. Zinc-finger antiviral protein inhibits HIV-1 infection by selectively targeting multiply spliced viral mRNAs for degradation. *PNAS* (2011) 108:15834–9. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1101676108
- 130. Li M, Yan K, Wei L, Yang J, Lu C, Xiong F, et al. Zinc finger antiviral protein inhibits coxsackievirus B3 virus replication and protects against viral myocarditis. Antiviral Res (2015) 123:50-61. doi: 10.1016/ j.antiviral.2015.09.001
- Chiu H-P, Chiu H, Yang C-F, Lee Y-L, Chiu F-L, Kuo H-C, et al. Inhibition of Japanese encephalitis virus infection by the host zinc-finger antiviral protein. *PloS Pathog* (2018) 14:e1007166. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1007166
- 132. Liu C-H, Zhou L, Chen G, Krug RM. Battle between influenza A virus and a newly identified antiviral activity of the PARP-containing ZAPL protein. *PNAS* (2015) 112:14048–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1509745112
- 133. Todorova T, Bock FJ, Chang P. PARP13 regulates cellular mRNA posttranscriptionally and functions as a pro-apoptotic factor by destabilizing TRAILR4 transcript. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:5362. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6362
- 134. Goodier JL, Pereira GC, Cheung LE, Rose RJ, Kazazian HH. The Broad-Spectrum Antiviral Protein ZAP Restricts Human Retrotransposition. *PloS Genet* (2015) 11:e1005252. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005252
- 135. Moldovan JB, Moran JV. The Zinc-Finger Antiviral Protein ZAP Inhibits LINE and Alu Retrotransposition. *PloS Genet* (2015) 11:e1005121. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005121
- 136. Chen S, Xu Y, Zhang K, Wang X, Sun J, Gao G, et al. Structure of N-terminal domain of ZAP indicates how a zinc-finger protein recognizes complex RNA. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2012) 19:430–5. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2243
- 137. Youn J-Y, Dunham WH, Hong SJ, Knight JDR, Bashkurov M, Chen GI, et al. High-Density Proximity Mapping Reveals the Subcellular Organization of mRNA-Associated Granules and Bodies. *Mol Cell* (2018) 69:517–532.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2017.12.020
- Law LMJ, Razooky BS, Li MMH, You S, Jurado A, Rice CM, et al. ZAP's stress granule localization is correlated with its antiviral activity and induced by virus replication. *PloS Pathog* (2019) 15:e1007798. doi: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1007798

- 139. Guo X, Carroll J-WN, MacDonald MR, Goff SP, Gao G. The Zinc Finger Antiviral Protein Directly Binds to Specific Viral mRNAs through the CCCH Zinc Finger Motifs. J Virol (2004) 78:12781–7. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.23.12781-12787.2004
- 140. Sun L, Lv F, Guo X, Gao G. Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3β (GSK3β) Modulates Antiviral Activity of Zinc-finger Antiviral Protein (ZAP). J Biol Chem (2012) 287:22882–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.306373
- 141. Li MMH, Aguilar EG, Michailidis E, Pabon J, Park P, Wu X, et al. Characterization of Novel Splice Variants of Zinc Finger Antiviral Protein (ZAP). J Virol (2019) 93:e00715–19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00715-19
- 142. Zhu Y, Wang X, Goff SP, Gao G. Translational repression precedes and is required for ZAP-mediated mRNA decay: ZAP-mediated translational repression versus mRNA decay. *EMBO J* (2012) 31:4236–46. doi: 10.1038/ emboj.2012.271
- 143. Zheng X, Wang X, Tu F, Wang Q, Fan Z, Gao G. TRIM25 Is Required for the Antiviral Activity of Zinc Finger Antiviral Protein. J Virol (2017) 91:e00088– 17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00088-17
- 144. Guo X, Ma J, Sun J, Gao G. The zinc-finger antiviral protein recruits the RNA processing exosome to degrade the target mRNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2007) 104:151–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607063104
- 145. Chen G, Guo X, Lv F, Xu Y, Gao G. p72 DEAD box RNA helicase is required for optimal function of the zinc-finger antiviral protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2008) 105:4352–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0712276105
- 146. Ye P, Liu S, Zhu Y, Chen G, Gao G. DEXH-Box protein DHX30 is required for optimal function of the zinc-finger antiviral protein. *Protein Cell* (2010) 1:956–64. doi: 10.1007/s13238-010-0117-8
- 147. Ficarelli M, Wilson H, Pedro Galão R, Mazzon M, Antzin-Anduetza I, Marsh M, et al. KHNYN is essential for the zinc finger antiviral protein (ZAP) to restrict HIV-1 containing clustered CpG dinucleotides. *eLife* (2019) 8: e46767. doi: 10.7554/eLife.46767
- Takata MA, Gonçalves-Carneiro D, Zang TM, Soll SJ, York A, Blanco-Melo D, et al. CG dinucleotide suppression enables antiviral defence targeting non-self RNA. *Nature* (2017) 550:124–7. doi: 10.1038/nature24039
- 149. Kmiec D, Nchioua R, Sherrill-Mix S, Stürzel CM, Heusinger E, Braun E, et al. CpG Frequency in the 5' Third of the env Gene Determines Sensitivity of Primary HIV-1 Strains to the Zinc-Finger Antiviral Protein. *mBio* (2020) 11: e02903–19. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02903-19
- 150. Meagher JL, Takata M, Gonçalves-Carneiro D, Keane SC, Rebendenne A, Ong H, et al. Structure of the zinc-finger antiviral protein in complex with RNA reveals a mechanism for selective targeting of CG-rich viral sequences. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2019) 116:24303–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1913232116
- 151. Luo X, Wang X, Gao Y, Zhu J, Liu S, Gao G, et al. Molecular Mechanism of RNA Recognition by Zinc-Finger Antiviral Protein. *Cell Rep* (2020) 30:46– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.11.116
- 152. Greenbaum BD, Levine AJ, Bhanot G, Rabadan R. Patterns of Evolution and Host Gene Mimicry in Influenza and Other RNA Viruses. *PloS Pathog* (2008) 4:e1000079. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000079
- Cheng X, Virk N, Chen W, Ji S, Ji S, Sun Y, et al. CpG Usage in RNA Viruses: Data and Hypotheses. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e74109. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074109
- 154. Nchioua R, Kmiec D, Müller J, Conzelmann C, Groß R, Swanson C, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Is Restricted by Zinc Finger Antiviral Protein despite Preadaptation to the Low-CpG Environment in Humans. *mBio* (2020), 11:e01930–20. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01930-20
- 155. Gioacchino AD, Šulc P, Komarova AV, Greenbaum BD, Monasson R, Cocco S. The heterogeneous landscape and early evolution of pathogen-associated CpG dinucleotides in SARS-CoV-2. *bioRxiv* (2020), 2020.05.06.074039. doi: 10.1101/2020.05.06.074039
- 156. Lin Y-T, Chiweshe S, McCormick D, Raper A, Wickenhagen A, DeFillipis V, et al. Human cytomegalovirus evades ZAP detection by suppressing CpG dinucleotides in the major immediate early 1 gene. *PloS Pathog* (2020) 16: e1008844. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008844
- 157. Kerns JA, Emerman M, Malik HS. Positive Selection and Increased Antiviral Activity Associated with the PARP-Containing Isoform of Human Zinc-Finger Antiviral Protein. *PloS Genet* (2008) 4:e21. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pgen.0040021
- 158. Charron G, Li MMH, MacDonald MR, Hang HC. Prenylome profiling reveals S-farnesylation is crucial for membrane targeting and antiviral

activity of ZAP long-isoform. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2013) 110:11085–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1302564110

- 159. Schwerk J, Soveg FW, Ryan AP, Thomas KR, Hatfield LD, Ozarkar S, et al. RNA-binding protein isoforms ZAP-S and ZAP-L have distinct antiviral and immune resolution functions. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20:1610–20. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0527-6
- 160. Gläsker S, Töller M, Kümmerer BM. The alternate triad motif of the poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-like domain of the human zinc finger antiviral protein is essential for its antiviral activity. J Gen Virol (2014) 95:816–22. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.060988-0
- 161. Hayakawa S, Shiratori S, Yamato H, Kameyama T, Kitatsuji C, Kashigi F, et al. ZAPS is a potent stimulator of signaling mediated by the RNA helicase RIG-I during antiviral responses. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:37–44. doi: 10.1038/ni.1963
- 162. Lee H, Komano J, Saitoh Y, Yamaoka S, Kozaki T, Misawa T, et al. Zincfinger antiviral protein mediates retinoic acid inducible gene I-like receptorindependent antiviral response to murine leukemia virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2013) 110:12379–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1310604110
- Wang X, Tu F, Zhu Y, Gao G. Zinc-Finger Antiviral Protein Inhibits XMRV Infection. *PloS One* (2012) 7:e39159. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039159
- 164. Suzuki Y, Chin W-X, Han Q, Ichiyama K, Lee CH, Eyo ZW, et al. Characterization of RyDEN (C19orf66) as an Interferon-Stimulated Cellular Inhibitor against Dengue Virus Replication. *PloS Pathog* (2016) 12:e1005357. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005357
- 165. Balinsky CA, Schmeisser H, Wells AI, Ganesan S, Jin T, Singh K, et al. IRAV (FLJ11286), an Interferon-Stimulated Gene with Antiviral Activity against Dengue Virus, Interacts with MOV10. J Virol (2017) 91:e01606–16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01606-16
- 166. Kinast V, Plociennikowska A, Anggakusuma, Bracht T, Todt D, Brown RJP, et al. C19orf66 is an interferon-induced inhibitor of HCV replication that restricts formation of the viral replication organelle. *J Hepatol* (2020) 73 (3):549–558. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.03.047
- 167. Schmeisser H, Mejido J, Balinsky CA, Morrow AN, Clark CR, Zhao T, et al. Identification of Alpha Interferon-Induced Genes Associated with Antiviral Activity in Daudi Cells and Characterization of IFIT3 as a Novel Antiviral Gene. J Virol (2010) 84:10671–80. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00818-10
- 168. Wu Y, Yang X, Yao Z, Dong X, Zhang D, Hu Y, et al. C19orf66 interrupts Zika virus replication by inducing lysosomal degradation of viral NS3. *PloS Neglected Trop Dis* (2020) 14:e0008083. doi: 10.1371/journal. pntd.0008083
- 169. Rodriguez W, Srivastav K, Muller M. C19ORF66 Broadly Escapes Virus-Induced Endonuclease Cleavage and Restricts Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus. J Virol (2019) 93:e00373–19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00373-19
- Komander D, Rape M. The Ubiquitin Code. Annu Rev Biochem (2012) 81:203–29. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-060310-170328
- 171. Rajsbaum R, García-Sastre A, Versteeg GA. TRIMmunity: The Roles of the TRIM E3-Ubiquitin Ligase Family in Innate Antiviral Immunity. J Mol Biol (2014) 426:1265–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.12.005
- 172. Bottermann M, James LC. Thirteen Intracellular Antiviral Immunity. Elsevier (2018) 100:309–54. doi: 10.1016/bs.aivir.2018.01.002
- 173. Vunjak M, Versteeg GA. TRIM proteins. Curr Biol (2019) 29:R42-4. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2018.11.026
- 174. Esposito D, Koliopoulos MG, Rittinger K. Structural determinants of TRIM protein function. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2017) 45:183–91. doi: 10.1042/ BST20160325
- 175. van Gent M, Sparrer KMJ, Gack MU. TRIM Proteins and Their Roles in Antiviral Host Defenses. Annu Rev Virol (2018) 5:385–405. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-virology-092917-043323
- 176. Hage A, Rajsbaum R. To TRIM or not to TRIM: the balance of host-virus interactions mediated by the ubiquitin system. J Gen Virol (2019) 100:1641– 62. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.001341
- 177. Gao B, Duan Z, Xu W, Xiong S. Tripartite motif-containing 22 inhibits the activity of hepatitis B virus core promoter, which is dependent on nuclearlocated RING domain. *Hepatology* (2009) 50:424–33. doi: 10.1002/hep.23011
- Tissot C, Mechti N. Molecular Cloning of a New Interferon-induced Factor That Represses Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Long Terminal Repeat Expression. J Biol Chem (1995) 270:14891–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.25.14891

- 179. Kajaste-Rudnitski A, Marelli SS, Pultrone C, Pertel T, Uchil PD, Mechti N, et al. TRIM22 Inhibits HIV-1 Transcription Independently of Its E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Activity, Tat, and NF-κB-Responsive Long Terminal Repeat Elements. J Virol (2011) 85:5183–96. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02302-10
- 180. Yuen M-F, Chen D-S, Dusheiko GM, Janssen HLA, Lau DTY, Locarnini SA, et al. Hepatitis B virus infection. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2018) 4:1–20. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.35
- 181. Turrini F, Marelli S, Kajaste-Rudnitski A, Lusic M, Van Lint C, Das AT, et al. HIV-1 transcriptional silencing caused by TRIM22 inhibition of Sp1 binding to the viral promoter. *Retrovirology* (2015) 12:104. doi: 10.1186/s12977-015-0230-0
- 182. Turrini F, Saliu F, Forlani G, Das AT, Van Lint C, Accolla RS, et al. Interferoninducible TRIM22 contributes to maintenance of HIV-1 proviral latency in T cell lines. *Virus Res* (2019) 269:197631. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2019.05.009
- 183. Thornbrough JM, Jha BK, Yount B, Goldstein SA, Li Y, Elliott R, et al. Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus NS4b Protein Inhibits Host RNase L Activation. *mBio* (2016) 7(2):e00258–16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00258-16
- Choudhury NR, Heikel G, Trubitsyna M, Kubik P, Nowak JS, Webb S, et al. RNAbinding activity of TRIM25 is mediated by its PRY/SPRY domain and is required for ubiquitination. *BMC Biol* (2017) 15:105. doi: 10.1186/s12915-017-0444-9
- 185. Choudhury NR, Heikel G, Michlewski G. TRIM25 and its emerging RNAbinding roles in antiviral defense. WIREs RNA (2020) 11:e1588. doi: 10.1002/ wrna.1588
- 186. Adli M. The CRISPR tool kit for genome editing and beyond. Nat Commun (2018) 9:1911. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04252-2

- 187. Hentze MW, Castello A, Schwarzl T, Preiss T. A brave new world of RNAbinding proteins. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2018) 19:327–41. doi: 10.1038/ nrm.2017.130
- 188. Flynn RA, Martin L, Spitale RC, Do BT, Sagan SM, Zarnegar B, et al. Dissecting noncoding and pathogen RNA-protein interactomes. *RNA* (2015) 21:135–43. doi: 10.1261/rna.047803.114
- Ooi YS, Majzoub K, Flynn RA, Mata MA, Diep J, Li JK, et al. An RNA-centric dissection of host complexes controlling flavivirus infection. *Nat Microbiol* (2019) 4:2369–82. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0518-2
- 190. Kim B, Arcos S, Rothamel K, Jian J, Rose KL, McDonald WH, et al. Discovery of Widespread Host Protein Interactions with the Pre-replicated Genome of CHIKV Using VIR-CLASP. *Mol Cell* (2020) 78:624–40.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2020.04.013

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Yang and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Shared and Unique Features of Human Interferon-Beta and Interferon-Alpha Subtypes

Megen C. Wittling, Shannon R. Cahalan, Eric A. Levenson and Ronald L. Rabin*

Division of Bacterial, Parasitic, and Allergenic Products, Office of Vaccines Research and Review, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, US Food and Drug Administration, Silver Spring, MD, United States

Type I interferons (IFN-I) were first discovered as an antiviral factor by Isaacs and Lindenmann in 1957, but they are now known to also modulate innate and adaptive immunity and suppress proliferation of cancer cells. While much has been revealed about IFN-I, it remains a mystery as to why there are 16 different IFN-I gene products, including IFN β , IFN ω , and 12 subtypes of IFN α . Here, we discuss shared and unique aspects of these IFN-I in the context of their evolution, expression patterns, and signaling through their shared heterodimeric receptor. We propose that rather than investigating responses to individual IFN-I, these contexts can serve as an alternative approach toward investigating roles for IFN α subtypes. Finally, we review uses of IFN α and IFN β as therapeutic agents to suppress chronic viral infections or to treat multiple sclerosis.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Helena Stabile, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

Reviewed by:

Kathrin Sutter, University of Duisburg-Essen, Germany Luciana D'Apice, National Research Council (CNR), Italy

*Correspondence:

Ronald L. Rabin ronald.rabin@fda.hhs.gov

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 12 September 2020 Accepted: 18 November 2020 Published: 19 January 2021

Citation:

Wittling MC, Cahalan SR, Levenson EA and Rabin RL (2021) Shared and Unique Features of Human Interferon-Beta and Interferon-Alpha Subtypes. Front. Immunol. 11:605673. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.605673 Keywords: type I interferon, interferon-beta, interferon-alpha, interferon-omega, human, primate

INTRODUCTION

Type I interferons (IFN-I) are monomeric cytokines that are best known for their antiviral activity but that also suppress proliferation of cancer cells and modulate innate and adaptive immune responses. IFN-I were first discovered as an antiviral factor by Isaacs and Lindenmann in 1957 and were subsequently revealed to include IFN β and multiple subtypes of IFN α (1, 2). We now know that human type I IFNs comprise a family of 17 functional genes and 9 pseudogenes clustered on chromosome 9 (3) that encode 16 proteins: IFN β , ε , - κ , - ω , and 12 subtypes of IFN α (**Figure 1**). Since protein sequences for mature IFN α 1 and IFN α 13 are identical, we will collectively refer to them as IFN α 1.

IFN β may be considered the "primary" IFN-I because it is expressed by all nucleated cells and may be expressed in isolation of all other IFN-I (except IFN α 1, discussed below). Two IFN-I genes are selectively expressed in specific organs or by specific cell types: IFN ϵ is hormonally regulated and primarily expressed in the female genital tract (4) and has recently been reviewed elsewhere. IFN κ is primarily expressed by keratinocytes (5) where it has recently been shown to have a role in protection against cutaneous herpes simplex virus (6), papilloma virus (7), and cutaneous lupus erythematosus (8). Like IFN ϵ , IFN κ is constitutively expressed (9). By contrast, IFN κ expression is activated and suppressed by TGF β and ERK1/2 kinases, respectively (7, 10).

While IFN ω is the least studied IFN-I in human biology, feline IFN ω is well characterized and licensed as a veterinary antiviral therapeutic. In felines, IFN ω is leukocyte specific (11, 12). While little is known about IFN ω expression patterns, the presence of neutralizing autoantibodies is

64



indirect proof that it is expressed and suggest a role in human disease. For example, in 2006, Meager et al. reported that 100% of *AIRE*-deficient patients with the autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome have high titers of neutralizing autoantibodies against both IFN ω and IFN α (13). More recently, Bastard et al. reported that ~1% of patients with severe Covid19 has selective neutralizing auto-antibodies against IFN ω (14), suggesting that the importance of this type I IFN is in viral infections is underappreciated.

Mature IFN β and eleven of the 12 IFN α subtypes are 166 a.a. in length (IFN α 2 is 165 a.a. due to deletion of D44) with a MW of ~20 kD. IFN ϵ and IFN ω are 187 a.a. and 174 a.a., respectively, both due to an elongated carboxy-terminal, while IFN κ is 179 a.a. due to an insertion following residue 116. As shown in **Supplemental Figure 1** (15), IFN β and IFN ω share 31%–38% and 55%–60% identity with all IFN α subtypes, respectively, whereas identity among the IFN α subtypes ranges from 76%– 96%. IFN β , IFN ω , and two IFN α subtypes are glycosylated; IFN β at N80 (16), IFN ω at N78 (17), IFN α 2 at T108 (18), and IFN α 14 at N72 (19).

Despite sharing only ~30% identity across all IFN-I, the threedimensional structures are remarkably similar (20, 21). The salient structural features of all IFN-I, which are reviewed in detail by Walter et al. in this series include: 1) cylindrical proteins that consist of five 11-24 residue α -helices (labeled A–E), each parallel to the long axis of the cylinder; 2) Loops that connect the helices, of which the AB loop is relatively long and includes three short 3₁₀ helices (22, 23); 3) conserved bonding including disulfide bridges (one in IFN β , two each in IFN ω and all IFN subtypes) and a network of hydrogen bonds to form and stabilize the tertiary structure; 4) IFNAR2 binding residues in Helix A, the AB loop and Helix E, and IFNAR1 binding sites spaced among helices B–D and the CD loop (21).

All IFN-I signal through a heterodimeric receptor that is comprised of two subunits, IFNAR1 and IFNAR2. In the classical model of IFN signaling, IFN first binds IFNAR2 forming a highaffinity binary complex which then recruits IFNAR1 to form a functional ternary structure that triggers phosphorylation of Jak1 and Tyk2-initiating "canonical" signaling (24). In canonical IFN-I signaling (**Figure 2**), activation of Jak1 and Tyk2 is followed by phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2, which trimerize with IRF9 to form the transcription factor interferonstimulated growth factor-3 (ISGF3) (25). Once assembled, ISGF3 translocates to the nucleus and binds to interferon stimulated response elements (ISRE) to promote transcription of interferon stimulated genes (ISGs). Through this canonical pathway, many genes are highly susceptible to shifts in expression with small amounts of IFN-I, thus earning the label of "robust" ISGs (26). Robust ISGs include most antiviral effectors from which the name "interferon" was derived.

Non-canonical IFN-I signaling includes cell-specific pathways such as those mediated by STAT1 homodimerization, other STAT family members, and MAP- or PI₃-kinases (Figure 2). To better characterize these pathways, Urin and colleagues used HeLa cell signaling-component deletion mutants to show that except for the formation of STAT1 homodimers or STAT2/IRF9 heterodimers, non-canonical signaling depends on phosphorylation of both STAT1 and STAT2 (27). For the most part, non-canonical signaling induces "tunable" ISGs (26), which exhibit gradual rather than steep dose-response curves, and higher IFN concentrations for peak expression (26). Non-canonical pathways such as suppression of cell proliferation best correlates with the stability of the IFN/IFNAR1/IFNAR2 ternary complex [defined as (IFN-I K_D IFNAR1* IFN-I K_D IFNAR2)] (24). Non-canonical signaling also mediates expression of chemokines and cytokines that modulate innate or adaptive immunity, transcription factors that modulate cell phenotype, and some antiviral responses. As examples, APOBEC3, a cytidine deaminase that blocks HIV replication in macrophages, and IRF1, a transcription factor that mediates IFN-dependent and -independent viral immunity (28-31), share characteristics of tunable ISGs. While IFNAR2independent signaling has been reported in mice (32), there are no data to controvert the current model that both IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 are necessary for signaling in humans.

Why there are so many IFN-I genes, and specifically so many IFN α subtypes, remains a mystery. As would be predicted by their common use of a shared receptor, evidence to date points to quantitative rather than qualitative differences among the IFN-I. In other words, differences in gene expression, antiviral, or antiproliferative activity at subsaturation are equalized by dose adjustments or in the extreme, by receptor saturation. Thus, while their evolutionary history and expression patterns suggest that at least some IFN-I serve specific functions, very few have been defined. Here, we focus on differences among IFN β and the IFN α subtypes to propose a model by which patterns of expression mirror their evolutionary history, and thus provide an alternative approach toward deciphering their roles in human biology.

EVOLUTION OF TYPE I INTERFERONS

Types I and III IFNs evolved from a common ancestor gene that shares the 5-exon/4-intron organizational structure of the IL-10



ternary signaling complex (IFN/IFNAR1/IFNAR2). Following that, Jak1 and Tyk2 kinases, which are pre-associated with IFNAR2 and IFNAR1 respectively, phosphorylate each other and tyrosine residues on each receptor (red dots) upon which STAT (signal transducers and activators of transcription) family members dock. Canonical signaling consists of a trimer of pSTAT1, pSTAT2, and IRF9 which is referred to as ISGF3 (interferon-stimulated gene factor 3). ISGF3 translocates to the nucleus to bind ISRE (interferon-stimulated response elements) to stimulate transcription of robust ISGs. There are many non-canonical signaling pathways, one of which is formation of phosphorylated STAT1 homodimers that bind to GAS (gamma activation site) promoter elements. k_a and k_d are association and disassociation rates, respectively. K_D is the equilibrium disassociation constant (k_d/k_a). k_p and k_{dp} are rates of phosphorylation and dephosphorylation, respectively. K^B and K^T refer to binary (IFN/IFNAR2) and ternary (IFN/IFNAR2/IFNAR1) complexes, respectively. This figure was adapted from **Figure 1** of (24).

family of cytokines. The intronless IFN-I genes of all higher order primates evolved and diversified from those of cartilaginous and bony fish. As shown in **Figure 3A**, IFNK was the first to evolve from the "most recent common ancestor" (MRCA), followed by IFN β . Both were present ~200 million years ago (MYA) before eutherians and marsupials diverged. IFN ϵ arose from IFN β , which later duplicated to give rise to IFN ω and the IFN α genes (15). Primate IFN-I are highly divergent from other mammals. For example, in bats and ungulates, IFN ω emerged as a multigene subtype (33) while primates have one functional IFN ω gene and multiple IFN α subtypes.

The first *IFNA* gene appeared 95–105 MYA, which through duplication and conversion gave rise to an expanded set of IFN α subtypes in a subset of placental mammals (15). *IFNA* gene duplication and conversion that occurred before speciation gave rise to a conserved cluster of IFN α subtypes that are dissimilar, but that are shared across species. Conversely, duplication after speciation gave rise to variant clusters that are highly similar within each species but are not shared across species. As shown in

Figure 3B, the first IFN α subtypes that are present in humans and similforms-IFNA13, -A2, -A8, and -A21-were present before the divergence of new world and old world monkeys (NWM and OWM) 65-47 MYA. NWM have one gene each for IFNA13 (syntenic with IFNA13 in monkeys and apes), IFNA2 and IFNA21, and two genes each that are similar to IFNA8 and IFNA5 in higher order primates. Subsequently, IFNA13 duplicated to give rise to IFNA1 (present in OWM and apes), and IFNA5, IFNA6, and IFNA14 arose to complete the set of IFNA subtypes that are conserved during primate evolution (Figure 3B, blue background). The subset of human IFNA subtypes that are variant among primates (pink background) arose after orangutans and the other great apes diverged. It has been proposed that IFNA4, IFNA10, IFNA17 are products of partial conversions from IFNA14 or IFNA21 (IFNA4, -A10, and -A17) (15) and that IFNA10 may have converted IFNA7 or vice versa (34).

Based upon a detailed analysis of human polymorphisms in sub-Saharan African, Asian, and European populations, Manry et al. (35) found the fewest polymorphisms in *IFNA6*, -*A8*, -*A13*, and -*A14*. Exclusion of *IFNA1* from this group appeared to be



FIGURE 3 | Evolution of IFN-I. **(A)** Simplified evolution of type IFN-I in mammals adapted from Krause and Petska. The most recent common ancestor (MRCA) gave rise to IFNk and a progenitor for IFN β . A duplicate of the IFN β progenitor gave rise to IFNk, IFNv (a pseudogene in mammals), and a progenitor for IFN ω . The IFN ω progenitor gave rise to the remaining subtypes. In similforms, IFN $\alpha\omega$ is deleted and IFN δ is a pseudogene. **(B)** Evolution of IFN subtypes from similans to homininae showing conserved (blue) and variant (orange) subtypes. Figure adapted from: http://humanorigins.si.edu/evidence/genetics.

based on the A137V substitution (residue 114 of the mature peptide), that is predicted to have no damaging effects, and in our experience, is not functionally different from A137 IFN α 1 (36). Manry et al. concluded that these evolutionarily conserved subtypes have have undergone selection against nonsynonymous variants. Taken together, the conserved cluster may have evolved to counter pathogens common that threatened the MRCA to OWM and great apes, and there is a selective advantage for having two genes, *IFNA1* and *IFNA13*, that express IFN α 1.

REGULATION OF TYPE I INTERFERON EXPRESSION BY IRF3 AND IRF7

Comparing promoter regions and transcription factor usage provides insight toward specialized roles for the different IFN-I. The interferon regulatory factor (IRF) family members are the dominant transcription factors that regulate IFN-I expression. While IRF1, -2, -5, and -8 have been shown to regulate IFN-I expression, this review will focus on the two most important members, IRF3 and IRF7. IFN β is expressed after stimulation of pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) such as RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs) and tolllike receptors (TLRs) by pathogen-specific molecular motifs referred to as pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) [reviewed in (37)]. Once activated, PRRs trigger signaling cascades that activate assembly of the "enhanceosome," which consists of the transcription factors ATF-2/c-Jun, NF κ B (p50/65 heterodimer) and two interferon response factor (IRF) dimers [**Figure 4** (39)] that bind to four promoter regulatory domains (PRDs). Based primarily on mouse models, it was initially thought that PRDs III and I required either IRF7 homodimers or IRF3/IRF7 heterodimers for a functional enhanceosome (40).



FIGURE 4 [*IFNB1* and *IFNA* gene transcription is controlled by IRF3 and IRF7. (A) Promoter region of *IFNB1* gene showing the four promoter regulatory domains (PRD), all of which must be engaged for gene transcription. (B) Promoter regions of *IFNA1*, *IFNA16*, and *IFNA2* aligned with the promoter region of *IFNB1* showing the three IRF regulatory modules and their relative sensitivity to IRF3 and IRF7. Differences from *IFNA1* promoter are shown in red. The promoter region of *IFNA16*, and *IFNA2* aligned with the promoter region of *IFNA16* is representative of *IFNA21* and the variant subtypes (*IFNA17*, *IFNA16*, *IFNA17*, *IFNA16*, and *IFNA2* promoter region is representative of all IFNA^{-1/13} conserved subtypes except *IFNA21*. (C–E) Model of differential regulation of human *IFNA* genes. Blue and orange shading show evolutionarily conserved and variant IFNα subtypes, respectively, *IFNA* genes expressed in response to increasing levels of activated IRF3 alone (C), IRF7 alone (D), or IRF3 and IRF7 together (E) as described by Genin et al. (38). (F) Proposed model of IFNα subtype expression in the context of initial activation of IRF3 followed by IRF7 expression (and subsequent activation) in response to a forward feedback loop initiated by IFNβ.

68

In most cells, however, basal IRF7 expression is low while IRF3 is ubiquitously expressed. Thus, in most cells, viral PAMPs trigger activation of IRF3, which homodimerizes to complete the functional enhanceosome and initiate transcription of IFN β . Subsequently, autocrine/paracrine IFN β increases expression of IRF7 (a robust ISG) in infected and bystander cells—a welldocumented critical step in a forward feedback loop for IFN β to enhance its own expression (41).

The critical importance of IRF3 toward initiating IFN expression is emphasized by the number of pathogens with gene products that antagonize its activation (41) and by reports that cells from IRF3-deficient patients express little or no IFN β (42, 43). The critical importance of the IRF7-mediated forward feedback loop is supported by an *in vitro* study in which the percentage of IFN β -expressing cells after viral infection was dependent on cell density, and secretion of IFN β (44), and reports that IRF7 deficient patients poorly express IFNB (45, 46). By contrast, cells that constitutively express IRF7, as is the case for macrophages and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC) (47) highly express IFN-I in response to synthetic ligands (imiquimod or CpG oligonucleotides) or pathogens such as influenza (48, 49). Taken together, the IFNB-IRF7 forward feedback loop is a sentinel at the early stages of viral infection in local environments that enhances the antiviral state of common target cells for viral infection such as respiratory or gastrointestinal epithelium.

After the crystal structure of the IFNB1 enhanceosome was published, Genin et al. described promoter regions of the IFNA genes (38) and modulated cellular expression of IRF3 and IRF7 to determine their effects on IFN α subtype expression. Figure 4A shows the promoter region of IFNB1, and Figure 4B shows the IFNB1 promoter region aligned to representative IFNA subtypes up to -30 bp from the transcription start site. Overall, the IFNA promoter regions align well to that of IFNB1 with 95% identity excluding several insertions and three short deletions. As shown in Figure 4B, the insertions into the IFNA promoters shift the IRF binding sites, referred to as modules B, C, and D, 5' from the transcriptional start site such that the B module ends half-way through IFNB1 PRDIII, the IFNA C module straddles IFNB1 PRDIII and PRDI, and the IFNA D module straddles IFNB1 PRDI and PRDII (to which NFkB binds in the IFNB1 promoter). Among the three modules, only module B, which is equally responsive to IRF3 and IRF7, is essentially identical among all the subtypes. By contrast, module C, which preferentially binds to IRF3, is functional only in the IFNA1 (and IFNA13) promoter. Module D also differs between IFNA1/13 and the other subtypes. For IFNA1, module D binds equally to IRF3 and IRF7, while for all the other IFNA subtypes, module D preferentially binds to IRF7. Binding of IRF3 to IFNA1 promoter modules C and D explains why IFNA1 and IFNB1 can be co-expressed in the absence of any other IFNA subtypes (38, 49-51).

The promoter regions of the *IFNA* subtypes other than *IFNA1* (which we will refer to as *IFNA^{-1/13}* or *IFN* $\alpha^{-1/13}$ for the gene and protein, respectively) cluster into two groups. The first cluster consists of *IFNA4*, -*A7*, -*A10*, -*A16*, -*A17*, and -*A21*, (represented by *IFNA16* in **Figure 4B**). Note that this set

includes all the evolutionarily variant *IFNA* subtypes (15) along with *IFNA21*, from which the variant subtypes may have arisen. The substitutions in the C modules of these subtypes renders them nonfunctional, and the 73G/A substitution in their D modules renders them more sensitive to IRF7. The B, C, and D modules are identical among the *IFNA* subtypes in this cluster.

The second cluster of $IFNA^{-1/13}$ subtypes is represented by IFNA2 and includes IFNA5, -A6, -A8, and -A14. These are all evolutionarily conserved subtypes. The C module for this cluster is also non-functional, and their D modules include the 73G/A substitution that renders them more sensitive to IRF7. Unlike the cluster represented by IFNA16, however, there are substitutions in the B and D modules that may affect their relative sensitivity to IRF3 and IRF7 (52).

Based on analysis of the *IFNA* promoter regions and expression studies with EBV-transformed B cells, Genin et al. proposed a model for differential regulation of the *IFNA* genes by either activation of IRF3 or IRF7, or by co-activation of both IRF3 and IRF7 Genin, 2009 #71} (15, 52). In this model, low activation of IRF3 is sufficient to induce expression of IFN α 1, while increased IRF3 activation may induce expression of IFN α 2, - α 5, and - α 8 (**Figure 4C**). Similarly, increasing levels of IRF7 activation will first induce expression of IFN α 21 and the evolutionarily variant subtypes followed by the remaining subtypes (**Figure 4D**). Co-activation of IRF3 and IRF7 at low levels induces expression of all subtypes, but coactivation increases, IRF3 inhibits IRF7 and thus limits the number of subtypes expressed (**Figure 4E**).

PATTERNS OF HUMAN TYPE I INTERFERON EXPRESSION IN RESPONSE TO SYNTHETIC LIGANDS AND VIRAL INFECTION

To characterize expression patterns of IFN α subtypes in response to synthetic ligands or viral infection, transcripts are usually measured with RT-qPCR. Table 1 summarizes human IFN β and IFN α subtype expression patterns reported in the literature. As predicted by Genin et al., IFNa1 is co-expressed with IFN β after activation of IRF3 with poly I:C. Additionally, when potently stimulated, pDC (which constitutively express IRF7) express all IFNa subtypes, while weaker stimulation of IRF7 with CpG B class oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN) induced expression of a set of IFNα subtypes that share the IRF7-sensitive promoter region exemplified by IFNA16 (Figure 4B). By contrast, stimulation of cells that do not constitutively express IRF7 with viral RNA or the synthetic analog poly I:C primarily induces expression of a core set of conserved subtypes. Table 1 also suggests the possibility that specific pathogens such as influenza virus, HIV, or hepatitis C may preferentially induce IFNα5.

Of particular interest is the report by Zaritsky et al., who infected the U937 histiocytic cell line with Sendai virus at low and high multiplicity of infections (MOI). While the U937 cells

TABLE 1 Reported expression	patterns of human IFN-I.
-------------------------------	--------------------------

Cell type	Stimulus			Cons	erve	d clu	ster		Variant cluster					сс	Reference
		β	α1	α8	α2	α6	α5	α14	α17	α16	α10	α7	α4	α21	
PBMC	poly I:C	Х	Х		Х			Х			Х				(49)
	CpG B-D class	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х		Х	Х	Х		Х	(53)
	Imiquimod	Х	Х		Х			Х							(53)
	Sendai Virus ^a	nd	Х	Х	Х			Х			Х			Х	(19)
	Hepatitis C virus		Х				Х								(54)
Мо	poly I:C	Х	Х					Х							(49)
MDM	poly I:C	Х						Х			Х				(49)
	CpG D class	Х						Х			Х				
	M. tuberculosis	Х	Х												(50)
MDDC	poly I:C	Х	Х												(49)
	RSV	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х						Х	(55)
pDC	poly I:C, LPS	Х	Х				Х	Х							(49)
	Imiquimod	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	. ,
	CpG A, C, D	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	CpG B class	nd							Х			Х	Х	Х	(48)
	IAV H1N1	nd	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	(48)
	HIV	nd	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	(56)
	HIV	nd	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х							(57)
Calu3 ^b	IAV H5N1 IAV pH1N1 SARS-CoV MERS-CoV	Х					Х								(58)
BEAS2B	RSV	Х	Х												(51)
Lung explants	IAV H3N2	nd	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х		Х				(59)
U937°	Sendai Virus (low MOI)	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	(60)
	Sendai Virus (high MOI)	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х		Х				Х	

^aExpression patterns determined by mass spectrometry.

^bExpression patterns determined by RNAseq, which may be insensitive to detecting highly identical transcripts.

^cLower case "x" refers to the IFNα subtypes that were not expressed after IFNAR2 blockade (see text).

PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; Mo, monocytes; MDM, monocyte derived macrophages; MDDC, monocyte derived dendritic cells; pDC, plasmacytoid dendritic cells; poly I:C, polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid; CpG, CpG oligodeoxynucleotides; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; SARS-Cov, Severe adult respiratory syndrome coronavirus; MERS-CoV, Mideast respiratory syndrome coronavirus; MOI, multiplicity of infection. Blue and orange shading show evolutionarily conserved and variant IFNα subtypes, respectively.

expressed all IFNα subtypes after infection at low MOI, expression was limited almost exclusively to the conserved set after infection at a high MOI. Furthermore, while IFNAR2 blockade (which repressed the IFNβ-IRF7 forward feedback loop) did not affect the expression pattern in the high MOI infection, it significantly repressed all subtypes except IFNα1, -α2, and -α8 after low MOI infection (60). Taken together, these studies support the model of Genin et al. in which activated IRF3 alone induces expression of conserved IFNα subtypes (**Figure 4C**), and IRF7 alone first induces IFNα21 and variant subtypes and subsequently induces expression of all subtypes (**Figure 4D**). In the context of the IFNβ-IRF7 forward feedback loop, however, **Table 1** suggests that conserved subtypes are first expressed, followed by variant subtypes (**Figure 4F**).

It is important to note that the evolutionarily conserved or variant IFN α subtype clusters are not expressed *en bloc*. One possible explanation is that unlike the variant subtypes, the B and D promoter modules vary by one or two bp, which may affect their relative sensitivity to IRF3 or IRF7 (52). Another factor is that IRF3 and IRF7 are not the only mediators of subtype expression. For example, a set of *IFNA* transcripts is regulated by a competing endogenous RNA (ceRNA) network. Kimura

and colleagues first described stabilization of *IFNA1* transcripts by a natural antisense transcript (NAT) that spans the coding region and extends well beyond the 3' poly-A UTR (61). They subsequently determined that the *IFNA1* NAT includes binding sites for microRNA-1270 (i.e., a microRNA response element) which otherwise represses *IFNA1* transcript levels. Additionally, NAT for *IFNA8*, -*A10*, -*A14*, and -*A17* (Kimura et al., personal communication) also sequester miRNA-1270 to enhance their transcript levels (62).

IFN β , THE HIGH-AFFINITY SENTINEL

In addition to its evolutionary emergence as the first non-tissue specific IFN-I and its high sensitivity to IRF3/IRF7, IFN β also has exceptionally high affinities for IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 (K_D = 0.1 uM and 0.1 nM, respectively). As estimated by the product of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 affinities (K_D IFNAR1 * K_D IFNAR2), the stability of the IFN β /IFNAR1/IFNAR2 ternary complex is 10-fold higher than for IFN ω and at least 50-fold higher than the highest affinity IFN α subtypes, IFN α 14 and IFN α 6 (**Figure 5**).



As reviewed elsewhere in this series, a consequence of its high affinity is more effective internalization of ternary receptor complexes (66) into early endosomes where signaling may be amplified and prolonged, or more rapidly terminated due to shuttling of IFNAR1 to proteasomes for degradation (67).

A second consequence of the high affinity that IFN β has for the receptor is that unlike the other IFN-Is, signaling is unaffected by ubiquitin-specific protease-18 (USP18). USP18 is a deubiquitinating enzyme that deconjugates the ubiquitin-like interferon-stimulated gene-15 (ISG15) from its target proteins (68). Conversely, ISG15 prevents ubiquitination and proteolytic degradation of USP18, thus stabilizing its expression (69). Unrelated to its enzymatic function, USP18 is shuttled by STAT2 to IFNAR2, which sterically blocks binding of Jak2 to interfere with recruitment of IFNAR1 to assemble a stable ternary complex (68, 70, 71). Since USP18 is an ISG (72), this inhibitory function is considered a negative feedback regulator of IFN signaling. Due to its very high affinity for IFNAR1, however, IFN β can override USP18 and recruit IFNAR1 to form a ternary complex to initiate signaling (70). Thus, the negative feedback regulation by USP18 is selective and is presumed to affect all IFN-I other than IFNB. To our knowledge, selective inhibition has been demonstrated by comparing IFNB induced signaling with that of IFN α 2, but not higher affinity IFNAR1 ligands such as IFN α 6 or - α 8, or those with higher IFNAR1 × IFNAR2 K_D products such as IFNw or IFNa14 (Figure 5). The critical importance of USP18-mediated inhibition of IFN signaling is exemplified by pseudo-TORCH syndrome, a severely incapacitating or fatal "interferonopathy" in patients deficient in ISG15, USP18, or with a mutation to the STAT2 binding site for USP18 (69, 73, 74).

Two additional qualities of IFN β bear discussion. First, in addition to IFN κ (9), IFN β also binds to highly sulfated proteoglycans (PG), proposed to be mediated through a

heparin binding site in an arginine-rich region of IFN β that spatially separates the binding sites for IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 (75). PG binding of IFN β may sequester it to buffer IFN-I signaling, which can be reversed by desulfation or shedding the IFN β -bound PG (75) which may result in a depot effect. Second, amino acid residues 25-27 uniquely contain the sequence motif NGR which binds CD13. Asparagine residues undergo spontaneous deamidation, which may be increased during oxidative conditions. Deaminated NGR gives rise to DGR, which binds to $\alpha V\beta 3$ and possibly other integrins that similar to CD13, are expressed in blood vessels during angiogenesis (76) and by some cancer stem cells (77) and mediates tumor invasion (78). It is proposed that CD13 or $\alpha V\beta 3$ in tumors or tumor vasculature may sequester IFNB and thus limit its antiproliferative effects (79). In addition to these biologic effects, binding of IFN β to abundant PG and integrins (in addition to its propensity to stick to plastic) may limit its detection in biological fluids or tissue culture supernatants.

IFN α 1, THE LOW-AFFINITY SUBTYPE

As discussed above, IFN α 1 stands apart from the IFN $\alpha^{-1/13}$ subtypes for its responsiveness to IRF3, for having two genes (*IFNA1* and *IFNA13*) on chromosome 9, and for the low frequency of polymorphisms in either of those genes. Most remarkable, however, is the low affinity of IFN α 1 for IFNAR2, at least 100-fold lower than most other IFN α subtypes while it binds with relatively high affinity to IFNAR1 (**Figure 5**). **Figure 6** shows the protein sequences of the IFN α subtypes aligned to IFN α 1, with secondary structures and receptor contact points. Residues 20-35 cover most of the AB loop, including two 3₁₀ helices. In this span, two substitutions in IFN α 1 contribute to the low affinity of IFN α 1 for IFN α 1 for IFN α 2. F27S, which decreases its


FIGURE 6 | Amino acid sequence of human IFN α subtypes. IFN α subtypes are shown in order of arrangement on chromosome 9 with evolutionarily conserved and variant subtypes highlighted in blue and pink respectively. Secondary structure and IFNAR1/2 contact residues, labeled 1 and 2 respectively, are shown in the gray and blue highlighted text. Amino acids are shown with IFN α 1 as the comparator, showing those that are unique to IFN α 1 and otherwise identical among all the IFN $\alpha^{-1/13}$ subtypes, or otherwise varies among the other IFN $\alpha^{1/13}$ subtypes. * and † indicate cysteine disulfide bonds. Figure modified from (80).

affinity for IFNAR2 by 4-fold as the polar side chain of serine is predicted to disrupt the hydrophobic interaction otherwise stabilized by phenylalanine (80), and R22S, which together with S27 decreases affinity by ~14-fold (65). Although not a contact point, the substitution K31M in IFN α 1 may also contribute to its decreased affinity for IFNAR2 by disrupting the second 3₁₀ helix. While the low affinity of IFN α 1 for IFNAR2 suggests the possibility of a qualitative difference in signaling or functional outcome, the evidence to date only supports a quantitative difference. Reports of IFNAR2-independent signaling in mice (32) have not been replicated in human cells, for which it has been reported that both IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 are essential for signaling and gene expression (27). Additionally, while IFN α 1

also has unique substitutions at contact points for IFNAR1 that may affect its conformation at the SD2-SD3 hinge that affect binding affinity (81), conformational changes do not necessarily indicate an effect in IFN signaling (25).

The substitutions that decrease the affinity of IFN α 1 for IFNAR2 also decrease its affinity for B18R, a soluble receptor antagonist encoded by vaccinia virus. According to this model, secreted B18R (or other poxvirus orthologues) block high affinity IFN-I from binding their receptors, while leaving these low affinity IFNs relatively unaffected (65). Similarly, the organ-specific IFN-I, IFN κ , and IFN ϵ also bind to IFNAR2 and B18R with low affinity. While IFN κ and IFN ϵ may protect against poxviruses that infect local environments (skin and female reproductive tract), IFN α 1 may defend against invasive strains such as variola. It is intriguing to speculate that the low frequency of polymorphisms in human *IFNA1* and *IFNA13* (35) is a consequence of a selective advantage toward surviving smallpox.

Among the IFN $\alpha^{-1/13}$ subtypes, there are fewer substantial differences in their peptide sequences. Figure 6 shows the shared residues that account for the high levels of identity among the evolutionarily conserved subtypes (**Supplementary Figure 1**) and differences in the unstructured C-terminal tail that contribute to higher antiviral and antiproliferative potencies of IFN α 8 (82). Since the receptor contact points are conserved, variation in their binding affinities is apparently due to substitutions in adjacent residues.

THERAPEUTIC USES OF TYPE I INTERFERON

The antiviral and antiproliferative activities of interferons led to the development of their use as therapeutics. In 1986, IFN α 2b (Intron A[®], Merck Sharp & Dohme) was the first IFN-I approved for use in the United States (83). The current U.S. market for interferons, including IFN γ for chronic granulomatous disease and malignant osteopetrosis, has grown to \$5B per year. **Table 2** shows the nine IFN-I licensed in the United States along with indications for use. As discussed elsewhere in this series of reviews (84), there are several ongoing clinical studies to test efficacy of IFN-I and IFN-III to treat Covid19.

IFN α 2a or IFN α 2b, which differ only at residue 23 (lysine or arginine, respectively), are prescribed for their antiviral or antiproliferative activity. These products are injectable preparations of either native or pegylated IFN proteins. Pegylation is modification of proteins with linear or branched polyethylene glycol to retards degradation and increase its serum half-life (85). While IFN α 2 was used to treat chronic hepatitis C, it has been replaced with the highly specific inhibitors of HCV NS3/4A, NS5A, and NS5B proteins, which may be curative and are associated with fewer adverse events (86).

IFN β was first approved for treatment of relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis in 1993 after showing an 18-34% reduction in relapse rate. The efficacy for IFN β was considered to be due suppression of viral infections that are associated with relapses and to direct immunomodulatory effects that include reduction of pathogenic Th1 and Th17 CD4+ T cells, and to increases in IL-10 producing T_{reg} cells (87). All these may be mediated by increased expression of PD-L1 (CD274), an ISG that in mice is more responsive to IFN β due to its high receptor affinity (88).

The rapeutic IFN-I has severe adverse events that are an obstacle to their use as the rapeutics. The package inserts for pegylated IFN α includes black box warnings for the potential development of neuropsychiatric, autoimmune, ischemic, or infectious disorders. The package inserts also warn that treatment symptoms such as fever, fatigue, headache, myalgia, and nausea, which are usually associated with viral infections, are common side effects. More serious side effects can include cardiovascular and neurologic disorders, bone marrow, hepatic, and renal toxicity, and hypersensitivity reactions. Additionally, IFN β for MS is associated with seizures, depression, suicide, and

Proprietary Name	Proper Name	Dosage Form	Dosage	Route	Indication	Expression System
Avonex	IFNβ-1a	30 µg/0.5 ml	30 µg per week	IM	Multiple sclerosis including relapsing-remitting and secondary	CHO cells
Rebif	IFNβ-1a	8.8 µg/0.2 ml 22/44 µg/0.5 ml	22 or 44 μg 3 times per week	SC	active disease	CHO cells
Plegridy	IFNβ-1a	63/94/125 μg/ 0.5 ml	125 µg every 14 days	SC		CHO Cells
Betaseron	IFNβ-1b	0.3 mg	0.25 mg every other day	SC		E. coli
Extavia	IFNβ-1b	0.3 mg	0.25 mg every other day	SC		E. coli
Pegasys	Peg IFNα2a	180 µg	Adult: 180 ug per week Pediatric: 180 ug/1.73 m ²	SC	Chronic Hepatitis C, Chronic Hepatitis B	E. coli
Pegintron	Peg IFNα2b	50/80/120/150 µg/0.5 ml	Adult: 1.5 ug/Kg/ week Pediatric: 60 ug/m ² / week	SC	Chronic Hepatitis C in patients with compensated liver disease	E. coli
Intron A	IFNα2b	10/18/25 MIU	Diagnosis Dependent	IV, IM, SC, IL	Hairy Cell Leukemia, Malignant Melanoma, Follicular Lymphoma, Condylomata Acuminata, AIDS-related Kaposi's Sarcoma, Chronic Hepatitis C, Chronic Hepatitis B	E. coli
Sylatron	Peg IFNα2b	200/300/600 µg	6 ug/Kg/week for 8 weeks then 3 ug/Kg/week for up to 5 years	SC	Melanoma with metastasis to lymph nodes-to begin within 84 days of surgical resection	E. coli

Peg, polyethylene glycol; MIU, million international units; BSA; IM, intramuscular; IV, intravenous; IL, intralesional; SC, subcutaneous; CHO, Chinese hamster ovary cells.

other psychiatric disorders. It is therefore not too surprising that as more selective therapeutic agents have been developed and licensed, use of IFN-I has become adjunctive rather than a primary treatment for chronic viral infections, cancer, or MS.

CONCLUSIONS

As reviewed here, most if not all reported biological differences among IFN-I are quantitative rather than qualitative. While the antiviral subtype that most potently neutralizes infection *in vitro* may vary according to pathogen (57, 59, 89, 90), these differences may be overcome by increasing doses (57, 91). Similarly, differences in antiproliferative activity are largely dose dependent (92). While this may also be true for modulation of cytokine expression (36), immunosuppressive activity (i.e., induction of PD-L1) may be dependent on the exceptionally high affinity of IFN β for IFNAR1/2.

As for the IFN α subtypes, other than escape from poxvirus soluble receptor antagonists (such as B18R by IFN α 1), any suggestion of specialized roles is inferred from their evolutionary history or expression patterns. It is therefore possible that the primary role of IFN α is to prolong or amplify the effects of IFN β and that multiple IFN α subtypes simply provide multiple layers of redundancy, albeit with a range of receptor affinities. However, it is also possible that unique functions for IFN α subtypes have not been revealed because the common experimental approach of comparing treatment with individual IFN-I does not reflect the biological context in which defined patterns of IFN α are coexpressed together and with with IFN β . These patterns are likely most relevant at sub-saturating doses, which may more accurately reflect the environment of structural cells where organ specific immune responses are initiated (93).

REFERENCES

- 1. Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (1957) 147:258–67. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1957.0048
- Pestka S, Langer JA, Zoon KC, Samuel CE. Interferons and their actions. Annu Rev Biochem (1987) 56:727–77. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.56.070187.003455
- Freaney JE, Zhang Q, Yigit E, Kim R, Widom J, Wang J-P, et al. High-density nucleosome occupancy map of human chromosome 9p21-22 reveals chromatin organization of the type I interferon gene cluster. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2014) 34:676–85. doi: 10.1089/jir.2013.0118
- Fung KY, Mangan NE, Cumming H, Horvat JC, Mayall JR, Stifter SA, et al. Interferon-epsilon protects the female reproductive tract from viral and bacterial infection. *Science* (2013) 339:1088–92. doi: 10.1126/science.1233321
- LaFleur DW, Nardelli B, Tsareva T, Mather D, Feng P, Semenuk M, et al. Interferon-kappa, a novel type I interferon expressed in human keratinocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276:39765–71. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102502200
- Li Y, Song Y, Zhu L, Wang X, Richers B, Leung DYM, et al. Interferon Kappa Is Important for Keratinocyte Host Defense against Herpes Simplex Virus-1. *J Immunol Res* (2020) 2020:5084682. doi: 10.1155/2020/5084682
- Woodby BL, Songock WK, Scott ML, Raikhy G, Bodily JM. Induction of Interferon Kappa in Human Papillomavirus 16 Infection by Transforming Growth Factor Beta-Induced Promoter Demethylation. *J Virol* (2018) 92(8): e01714–17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01714-17
- Sarkar MK, Hile GA, Tsoi LC, Xing X, Liu J, Liang Y, et al. Photosensitivity and type I IFN responses in cutaneous lupus are driven by epidermal-derived interferon kappa. Ann Rheum Dis (2018) 77:1653–64. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-213197
- 9. Nardelli B, Zaritskaya L, Semenuk M, Cho YH, LaFleur DW, Shah D, et al. Regulatory effect of IFN-kappa, a novel type I IFN, on cytokine production by

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MW, SC, EL, and RR performed the literature searches and contributed to draft versions of the manuscript. RR wrote and revised the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Internal funds, US Food and Drug Administration. MW and SC were supported by an appointment to the Research Participation Program at the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research administered by the Oak Ridge Institute for Science Education through an Interagency agreement between the U.S. Department of Energy and the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Philippa Hillyer for critical review of the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2020. 605673/full#supplementary-material

cells of the innate immune system. J Immunol (2002) 169:4822–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.9.4822

- Klein K, Habiger C, Iftner T, Stubenrauch F. A TGF-beta- and p63-Responsive Enhancer Regulates IFN-kappa Expression in Human Keratinocytes. *J Immunol* (2020) 204:1825–35. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1901178
- Yang LM, Xue QH, Sun L, Zhu YP, Liu WJ. Cloning and characterization of a novel feline IFN-omega. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2007) 27:119–27. doi: 10.1089/jir.2006.0094
- Li SF, Zhao FR, Shao JJ, Xie YL, Chang HY, Zhang YG. Interferon-omega: Current status in clinical applications. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2017) 52:253– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2017.08.028
- Meager A, Visvalingam K, Peterson P, Moll K, Murumagi A, Krohn K, et al. Anti-interferon autoantibodies in autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome type 1. *PLoS Med* (2006) 3:e289. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed. 0030289
- Bastard P, Rosen LB, Zhang Q, Michailidis E, Hoffmann HH, Zhang Y, et al. Autoantibodies against type I IFNs in patients with life-threatening COVID-19. *Science* (2020) 370(6515):eabd4585. doi: 10.1126/science.abd4585
- Krause CD, Pestka S. Cut, copy, move, delete: The study of human interferon genes reveal multiple mechanisms underlying their evolution in amniotes. *Cytokine* (2015) 76:480–95. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.07.019
- Hosoi K, Utsumi J, Kitagawa T, Shimizu H, Kobayashi S. Structural characterization of fibroblast human interferon-beta 1. J Interferon Res (1988) 8:375–84. doi: 10.1089/jir.1988.8.375
- Adolf GR, Fruhbeis B, Hauptmann R, Kalsner I, Maurer-Fogy I, Ostermann E, et al. Human interferon omega 1: isolation of the gene, expression in Chinese hamster ovary cells and characterization of the recombinant protein. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1991) 1089:167–74. doi: 10.1016/0167-4781(91)90004-6

- Adolf GR, Kalsner I, Ahorn H, Maurer-Fogy I, Cantell K. Natural human interferon-alpha 2 is O-glycosylated. *Biochem J* (1991) 276(Pt 2):511–8. doi: 10.1042/bj2760511
- Nyman TA, Tolo H, Parkkinen J, Kalkkinen N. Identification of nine interferon-alpha subtypes produced by Sendai virus-induced human peripheral blood leucocytes. *Biochem J* (1998) 329(Pt 2):295-302. doi: 10.1042/bj3290295
- Renauld JC. Class II cytokine receptors and their ligands: key antiviral and inflammatory modulators. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2003) 3:667–76. doi: 10.1038/ nri1153
- Thomas C, Moraga I, Levin D, Krutzik PO, Podoplelova Y, Trejo A, et al. Structural linkage between ligand discrimination and receptor activation by type I interferons. *Cell* (2011) 146:621–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.06.048
- Karpusas M, Nolte M, Benton CB, Meier W, Lipscomb WN, Goelz S. The crystal structure of human interferon beta at 2.2-A resolution. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94:11813–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.22.11813
- Radhakrishnan R, Walter LJ, Hruza A, Reichert P, Trotta PP, Nagabhushan TL, et al. Zinc mediated dimer of human interferon-alpha 2b revealed by X-ray crystallography. *Structure* (1996) 4:1453–63. doi: 10.1016/S0969-2126(96)00152-9
- Piehler J, Thomas C, Garcia KC, Schreiber G. Structural and dynamic determinants of type I interferon receptor assembly and their functional interpretation. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 250:317–34. doi: 10.1111/imr.12001
- Sharma N, Longjam G, Schreiber G. Type I Interferon Signaling Is Decoupled from Specific Receptor Orientation through Lenient Requirements of the Transmembrane Domain. J Biol Chem (2016) 291:3371–84. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.686071
- Levin D, Schneider WM, Hoffmann HH, Yarden G, Busetto AG, Manor O, et al. Multifaceted activities of type I interferon are revealed by a receptor antagonist. *Sci Signal* (2014) 7:ra50. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004998
- Urin V, Shemesh M, Schreiber G. CRISPR/Cas9-based Knockout Strategy Elucidates Components Essential for Type 1 Interferon Signaling in Human HeLa Cells. J Mol Biol (2019) 431:3324–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2019.06.007
- Novatt H, Theisen TC, Massie T, Massie T, Simonyan V, Voskanian-Kordi A, et al. Distinct Patterns of Expression of Transcription Factors in Response to Interferonbeta and Interferonlambda1. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2016) 36:589–98. doi: 10.1089/jir.2016.0031
- Panda D, Gjinaj E, Bachu M, Squire E, Novatt H, Ozato K, et al. IRF1 Maintains Optimal Constitutive Expression of Antiviral Genes and Regulates the Early Antiviral Response. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1019. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01019
- Vazquez N, Schmeisser H, Dolan MA, Bekisz J, Zoon KC, Wahl SM. Structural variants of IFNalpha preferentially promote antiviral functions. *Blood* (2011) 118:2567–77. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-325027
- Yamane D, Feng H, Rivera-Serrano EE, Selitsky SR, Hirai-Yuki A, Das A, et al. Basal expression of interferon regulatory factor 1 drives intrinsic hepatocyte resistance to multiple RNA viruses. *Nat Microbiol* (2019) 4:1096–104. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0425-6
- de Weerd NA, Vivian JP, Nguyen TK, Mangan NE, Gould JA, Braniff SJ, et al. Structural basis of a unique interferon-beta signaling axis mediated via the receptor IFNAR1. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:901–7. doi: 10.1038/ni.2667
- 33. Shields LE, Jennings J, Liu Q, Lee J, Ma W, Blecha F, et al. Cross-Species Genome-Wide Analysis Reveals Molecular and Functional Diversity of the Unconventional Interferon-omega Subtype. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1431. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01431
- Woelk CH, Frost SD, Richman DD, Higley PE, Kosakovsky Pond SL. Evolution of the interferon alpha gene family in eutherian mammals. *Gene* (2007) 397:38–50. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2007.03.018
- Manry J, Laval G, Patin E, Fornarino S, Itan Y, Fumagalli M, et al. Evolutionary genetic dissection of human interferons. J Exp Med (2011) 208:2747–59. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111680
- Hillyer P, Raviv N, Gold DM, Dougherty D, Liu J, Johnson TR, et al. Subtypes of type I IFN differentially enhance cytokine expression by suboptimally stimulated CD4(+) T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:3197–208. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201243288
- Durbin RK, Kotenko SV, Durbin JE. Interferon induction and function at the mucosal surface. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 255:25–39. doi: 10.1111/imr.12101
- Genin P, Vaccaro A, Civas A. The role of differential expression of human interferon–a genes in antiviral immunity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2009) 20:283–95. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2009.07.005

- Panne D, Maniatis T, Harrison SC. An atomic model of the interferon-beta enhanceosome. *Cell* (2007) 129:1111–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.019
- Honda K, Yanai H, Negishi H, Asagiri M, Sato M, Mizutani T, et al. IRF-7 is the master regulator of type-I interferon-dependent immune responses. *Nature* (2005) 434:772–7. doi: 10.1038/nature03464
- Schwanke H, Stempel M, Brinkmann MM. Of Keeping and Tipping the Balance: Host Regulation and Viral Modulation of IRF3-Dependent IFNB1 Expression. *Viruses* (2020) 12:733. doi: 10.3390/v12070733
- Andersen LL, Mork N, Reinert LS, Kofod-Olsen E, Narita R, Jorgensen SE, et al. Functional IRF3 deficiency in a patient with herpes simplex encephalitis. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212:1371–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20142274
- 43. Thomsen MM, Jorgensen SE, Storgaard M, Kristensen LS, Gjedsted J, Christiansen M, et al. Identification of an IRF3 variant and defective antiviral interferon responses in a patient with severe influenza. *Eur J Immunol* (2019) 49:2111–4. doi: 10.1002/eji.201848083
- 44. Patil S, Fribourg M, Ge Y, Batish M, Tyagi S, Hayot F, et al. Single-cell analysis shows that paracrine signaling by first responder cells shapes the interferonbeta response to viral infection. *Sci Signal* (2015) 8:ra16. doi: 10.1126/ scisignal.2005728
- 45. Ciancanelli MJ, Huang SX, Luthra P, Garner H, Itan Y, Volpi S, et al. Infectious disease. Life-threatening influenza and impaired interferon amplification in human IRF7 deficiency. *Science* (2015) 348:448–53. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa1578
- 46. Thomsen MM, Jorgensen SE, Gad HH, Storgaard M, Gjedsted J, Christiansen M, et al. Defective interferon priming and impaired antiviral responses in a patient with an IRF7 variant and severe influenza. *Med Microbiol Immunol* (2019) 208:869–76. doi: 10.1007/s00430-019-00623-8
- 47. Izaguirre A, Barnes BJ, Amrute S, Yeow WS, Megjugorac N, Dai J, et al. Comparative analysis of IRF and IFN-alpha expression in human plasmacytoid and monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2003) 74:1125–38. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0603255
- Szubin R, Chang WL, Greasby T, Beckett L, Baumgarth N. Rigid interferonalpha subtype responses of human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2008) 28:749–63. doi: 10.1089/jir.2008.0037
- Hillyer P, Mane VP, Schramm LM, Puig M, Verthelyi D, Chen A, et al. Expression profiles of human interferon-alpha and interferon-lambda subtypes are ligand- and cell-dependent. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2012) 90:774– 83. doi: 10.1038/icb.2011.109
- Novikov A, Cardone M, Thompson R, Shenderov K, Kirschman KD, Mayer-Barber KD, et al. Mycobacterium tuberculosis triggers host type I IFN signaling to regulate IL-1beta production in human macrophages. *J7nbsp; Immunol* (2011) 187:2540–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100926
- 51. Hillyer P, Shepard R, Uehling M, Krenz M, Sheikh F, Thayer KR, et al. Differential Responses by Human Respiratory Epithelial Cell Lines to Respiratory Syncytial Virus Reflect Distinct Patterns of Infection Control. *J Virol* (2018) 92(15):e02202–17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02202-17
- 52. Genin P, Lin R, Hiscott J, Civas A. Differential regulation of human interferon A gene expression by interferon regulatory factors 3 and 7. *Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 29:3435–50. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01805-08
- Puig M, Tosh KW, Schramm LM, Grajkowska LT, Kirschman KD, Tami C, et al. TLR9 and TLR7 agonists mediate distinct type I IFN responses in humans and nonhuman primates in vitro and in vivo. *J Leukoc Biol* (2012) 91:147–58. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0711371
- Larrea E, Alberdi A, Castelruiz Y, Boya P, Civeira MP, Prieto J. Expression of interferon-alpha subtypes in peripheral mononuclear cells from patients with chronic hepatitis C: a role for interferon-alpha5. *J Viral Hepat* (2001) 8:103– 10. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2893.2001.00273.x
- 55. Hillyer P, Mane VP, Chen A, Dos Santos MB, Schramm LM, Shepard RE, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection induces a subset of types I and III interferons in human dendritic cells. *Virology* (2017) 504:63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2017.01.017
- Thomas JM, Pos Z, Reinboth J, Wang RY, Wang E, Frank GM, et al. Differential responses of plasmacytoid dendritic cells to influenza virus and distinct viral pathogens. J Virol (2014) 88:10758–66. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01501-14
- Harper MS, Guo K, Gibbert K, Lee EJ, Dillon SM, Barrett BS, et al. Interferonalpha Subtypes in an Ex Vivo Model of Acute HIV-1 Infection: Expression, Potency and Effector Mechanisms. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1005254. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005254

- 58. Menachery VD, Eisfeld AJ, Schafer A, Josset L, Sims AC, Proll S, et al. Pathogenic influenza viruses and coronaviruses utilize similar and contrasting approaches to control interferon-stimulated gene responses. *mBio* (2014) 5: e01174–01114. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01174-14
- Matos ADR, Wunderlich K, Schloer S, Schughart K, Geffers R, Seders M, et al. Antiviral potential of human IFN-alpha subtypes against influenza A H3N2 infection in human lung explants reveals subtype-specific activities. *Emerg Microbes Infect* (2019) 8:1763–76. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2019.1698271
- Zaritsky LA, Bedsaul JR, Zoon KC. Virus Multiplicity of Infection Affects Type I Interferon Subtype Induction Profiles and Interferon-Stimulated Genes. J Virol (2015) 89:11534–48. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01727-15
- Kimura T, Jiang S, Nishizawa M, Yoshigai E, Hashimoto I, Nishikawa M, et al. Stabilization of human interferon-alpha1 mRNA by its antisense RNA. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2013) 70:1451–67. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1216-x
- Kimura T, Jiang S, Yoshida N, Sakamoto R, Nishizawa M. Interferon-alpha competing endogenous RNA network antagonizes microRNA-1270. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2015) 72:2749–61. doi: 10.1007/s00018-015-1875-5
- Lavoie TB, Kalie E, Crisafulli-Cabatu S, Abramovich R, DiGioia G, Moolchan K, et al. Binding and activity of all human alpha interferon subtypes. *Cytokine* (2011) 56:282–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.07.019
- 64. Jaitin DA, Roisman LC, Jaks E, Gavutis M, Piehler J, Van der Heyden J, et al. Inquiring into the differential action of interferons (IFNs): an IFN-alpha2 mutant with enhanced affinity to IFNAR1 is functionally similar to IFN-beta. *Mol Cell Biol* (2006) 26:1888–97. doi: 10.1128/MCB.26.5.1888-1897.2006
- Harris BD, Schreiter J, Chevrier M, Jordan JL, Walter MR. Human interferonand interferon-kappa exhibit low potency and low affinity for cell-surface IFNAR and the poxvirus antagonist B18R. J Biol Chem (2018) 293:16057–68. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.003617
- 66. Marijanovic Z, Ragimbeau J, van der Heyden J, Uze G, Pellegrini S. Comparable potency of IFNalpha2 and IFNbeta on immediate JAK/STAT activation but differential down-regulation of IFNAR2. *Biochem J* (2007) 407:141–51. doi: 10.1042/BJ20070605
- Chmiest D, Sharma N, Zanin N, Viaris de Lesegno C, Shafaq-Zadah M, Sibut V, et al. Spatiotemporal control of interferon-induced JAK/STAT signalling and gene transcription by the retromer complex. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:13476. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13476
- Basters A, Knobeloch KP, Fritz G. USP18 a multifunctional component in the interferon response. *Biosci Rep* (2018) 38(6):BSR20180250. doi: 10.1042/ BSR20180250
- Zhang X, Bogunovic D, Payelle-Brogard B, Francois-Newton V, Speer SD, Yuan C, et al. Human intracellular ISG15 prevents interferon-alpha/beta overamplification and auto-inflammation. *Nature* (2015) 517:89–93. doi: 10.1038/ nature13801
- Wilmes S, Beutel O, Li Z, Francois-Newton V, Richter CP, Janning D, et al. Receptor dimerization dynamics as a regulatory valve for plasticity of type I interferon signaling. J Cell Biol (2015) 209:579–93. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201412049
- Arimoto KII, Lochte S, Stoner SA, Burkart C, Zhang Y, Miyauchi S, et al. STAT2 is an essential adaptor in USP18-mediated suppression of type I interferon signaling. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2017) 24:279–89. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.3378
- 72. Francois-Newton V, Magno de Freitas Almeida G, Payelle-Brogard B, Monneron D, Pichard-Garcia L, Piehler J, et al. USP18-based negative feedback control is induced by type I and type III interferons and specifically inactivates interferon alpha response. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e22200. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022200
- Meuwissen ME, Schot R, Buta S, Oudesluijs G, Tinschert S, Speer SD, et al. Human USP18 deficiency underlies type 1 interferonopathy leading to severe pseudo-TORCH syndrome. J Exp Med (2016) 213:1163–74. doi: 10.1084/jem.20151529
- 74. Gruber C, Martin-Fernandez M, Ailal F, Qiu X, Taft J, Altman J, et al. Homozygous STAT2 gain-of-function mutation by loss of USP18 activity in a patient with type I interferonopathy. *J Exp Med* (2020) 217(5):e20192319. doi: 10.1084/jem.20192319
- 75. Gordts P, Foley EM, Lawrence R, Sinha R, Lameda-Diaz C, Deng L, et al. Reducing macrophage proteoglycan sulfation increases atherosclerosis and obesity through enhanced type I interferon signaling. *Cell Metab* (2014) 20:813–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.09.016
- Schulze AB, Evers G, Kerkhoff A, Mohr M, Schliemann C, Berdel WE, et al. Future Options of Molecular-Targeted Therapy in Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11:690. doi: 10.3390/cancers11050690

- Liu YC, Yeh CT, Lin KH. Cancer Stem Cell Functions in Hepatocellular Carcinoma and Comprehensive Therapeutic Strategies. *Cells* (2020) 9:1331. doi: 10.3390/cells9061331
- Gritsenko PG, Friedl P. Adaptive adhesion systems mediate glioma cell invasion in complex environments. J Cell Sci (2018) 13:131. doi: 10.1242/ jcs.216382
- Mastrangeli R, D'Amici F, D'Acunto CW, Fiumi S, Rossi M, Terlizzese M, et al. A deamidated interferon-beta variant binds to integrin alphavbeta3. *Cytokine* (2018) 104:38–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2018.01.024
- Sharma N, O'Neal AJ, Gonzalez C, Wittling M, Gjinaj E, Parsons LM, et al. S27 of IFNalpha1 Contributes to Its Low Affinity for IFNAR2 and Weak Antiviral Activity. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2019) 39:283–92. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2018.0135
- Li H, Sharma N, General IJ, Schreiber G, Bahar I. Dynamic Modulation of Binding Affinity as a Mechanism for Regulating Interferon Signaling. J Mol Biol (2017) 429:2571–89. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2017.06.011
- Slutzki M, Jaitin DA, Yehezkel TB, Schreiber G. Variations in the unstructured C-terminal tail of interferons contribute to differential receptor binding and biological activity. J Mol Biol (2006) 360:1019–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2006.05.069
- 83. Purple Book. Lists of Licensed Biological Products with Reference Product Exclusivity and Biosimilarity or Interchangeability Evaluations. US Food and Drug Administration.
- Schreiber G. The Role of Type I Interferons in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of COVID-19. Front Immunol (2020) 11:595739. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.595739
- Turecek PL, Bossard MJ, Schoetens F, Ivens IA. PEGylation of Biopharmaceuticals: A Review of Chemistry and Nonclinical Safety Information of Approved Drugs. J Pharm Sci (2016) 105:460–75. doi: 10.1016/j.xphs.2015.11.015
- 86. AASLD-IDSA. Recommendations for testing, managing, and treating hepatitis C. Available at: http://www.hcvguidelines.org.
- Goldschmidt CH, Hua LH. Re-Evaluating the Use of IFN-beta and Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis: Safety, Efficacy and Place in Therapy. *Degener Neurol Neuromuscul Dis* (2020) 10:29–38. doi: 10.2147/DNND.S224912
- Harari D, Kuhn N, Abramovich R, Sasson K, Zozulya AL, Smith P, et al. Enhanced in vivo efficacy of a type I interferon superagonist with extended plasma half-life in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289:29014–29. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.602474
- Foster GR, Rodrigues O, Ghouze F, Schulte-Frohlinde E, Testa D, Liao MJ, et al. Different relative activities of human cell-derived interferon-alpha subtypes: IFN-alpha 8 has very high antiviral potency. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (1996) 16:1027–33. doi: 10.1089/jir.1996.16.1027
- Dubois A, Francois C, Descamps V, Fournier C, Wychowski C, Dubuisson J, et al. Enhanced anti-HCV activity of interferon alpha 17 subtype. *Virol J* (2009) 6:70. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-6-70
- Schlaepfer E, Fahrny A, Gruenbach M, Kuster SP, Simon V, Schreiber G, et al. Dose-Dependent Differences in HIV Inhibition by Different Interferon Alpha Subtypes While Having Overall Similar Biologic Effects. *mSphere* (2019) 4: e00275–19. doi: 10.1128/mSphere.00637-18
- Moll HP, Maier T, Zommer A, Lavoie T, Brostjan C. The differential activity of interferon-alpha subtypes is consistent among distinct target genes and cell types. *Cytokine* (2011) 53:52–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2010.09.006
- Krausgruber T, Fortelny N, Fife-Gernedl V, Senekowitsch M, Schuster LC, Lercher A, et al. Structural cells are key regulators of organ-specific immune responses. *Nature* (2020) 583:296–302. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2424-4

Disclaimer: This article is an informal communication that represents the authors' judgment. These comments do not bind or obligate FDA.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Wittling, Cahalan, Levenson and Rabin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Context Is Key: Delineating the Unique Functions of IFN α and IFN β in Disease

Lindsey E. Fox^{1†}, Marissa C. Locke^{1†} and Deborah J. Lenschow^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Pathology and Immunology, Washington University School of Medicine, Saint Louis, MO, United States, ² Department of Medicine, Washington University School of Medicine, Saint Louis, MO, United States

Type I interferons (IFNs) are critical effector cytokines of the immune system and were originally known for their important role in protecting against viral infections; however, they have more recently been shown to play protective or detrimental roles in many disease states. Type I IFNs consist of IFN α , IFN β , IFN ϵ , IFN κ , IFN ω , and a few others, and they all signal through a shared receptor to exert a wide range of biological activities, including antiviral, antiproliferative, proapoptotic, and immunomodulatory effects. Though the individual type I IFN subtypes possess overlapping functions, there is growing appreciation that they also have unique properties. In this review, we summarize some of the mechanisms underlying differential expression of and signaling by type I IFNs, and we discuss examples of differential functions of IFN α and IFN β in models of infectious disease, cancer, and autoimmunity.

Keywords: type I interferons, infection, autoimmunity, cancer, IFN α subtypes, IFN β

INTRODUCTION

Interferons (IFNs) are cytokines that were originally discovered and named for their ability to interfere with viral replication (1). IFNs are grouped into three classes according to the receptor that mediates their effects: type I IFNs (the focus of this review), type II IFN (IFN γ), and type III IFNs (IFN λ s) (2, 3). Broadly speaking, each IFN class signals through receptor-associated Janus kinases (JAKs), which activate various Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription (STAT)-signaling pathways. Type I IFNs signal through the heterodimeric IFN- α/β receptor 1 (IFNAR1) and IFNAR2, which are associated with the JAKs tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2) and JAK1, respectively (4). Canonically, activation of TYK2 and JAK1 leads to the formation of the IFN-stimulated gene (ISG) factor 3 (ISGF3) complex, composed of STAT1, STAT2, and interferon regulatory factor 9 (IRF9). The ISGF3 complex then translocates to the nucleus to regulate the expression of hundreds of IFN-stimulated genes. Type I IFN signaling can activate other STAT complexes, often in a cell-type dependent manner. Additionally, alternative signaling cascades, including the mitogen-activated protein kinase p38 pathway and the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway, are also required for optimal generation of type I IFN responses (4).

Type I IFNs have broad, pleiotropic effects that include antiviral activity, antiproliferative effects, and immunomodulatory properties. There is growing evidence that the overall outcome of type I IFN responses can be beneficial or detrimental for the host depending on the timing, magnitude, and source of IFN production, as well as the specific biological context (5). Moreover, despite

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mark R. Walter, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

Reviewed by:

Gilles Uzé, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France Mario Santiago, University of Colorado, United States

*Correspondence:

Deborah J. Lenschow dlenschow@wustl.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 15 September 2020 Accepted: 11 November 2020 Published: 21 December 2020

Citation:

Fox LE, Locke MC and Lenschow DJ (2020) Context Is Key: Delineating the Unique Functions of IFNα and IFNβ in Disease. Front. Immunol. 11:606874. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.606874

77

signaling through a shared receptor, type I IFN subtypes possess important functional differences, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The purpose of this review is to summarize the current understanding of differential type I IFN properties, focusing on the role of human and mouse IFN α and IFN β in infectious disease, cancer, and autoimmunity. In particular, we seek to highlight the few examples that demonstrate or suggest differential activities for type I IFN subtypes *in vivo*.

TYPE I IFNS: A MULTIGENE FAMILY

Type I IFNs exist as a multigene family across many species (**Figure 1**) (6). IFN α s, IFN β , IFN ε , IFN κ , and IFN ω are found in many species, whereas IFN δ and IFN τ are only found in pigs and cattle (7). In humans (HuIFN), the type I IFN genes are located

on chromosome 9 and encode 13 IFN α subtypes and single forms of IFN β , IFN ϵ , IFN κ , and IFN ω (7). Type I IFNs in mice (MuIFN) are located on chromosome 4, and likewise, consist of multiple genes with some differences compared to human. MuIFNs include 14 IFN α subtypes, IFN β , IFN ϵ , IFN κ , an IFN-like cytokine IFN ζ (also known as limitin), but lack a functional IFN ω , which is present as a pseudogene (8).

Phylogenetic analyses reveal that the type I IFN subtypes form clades consistent with mammalian speciation (7, 9, 10). For the most part, placental mammals possess single copies of the genes encoding IFN κ , IFN β , and IFN ϵ , and these unduplicated subtypes represent the first major clade within mammalian IFNs (11). IFN κ is the first subtype to diverge within mammalian type I IFNs and forms an outgroup, possibly the result of a unique evolutionary route for IFN κ relative to IFN β and IFN ϵ (11). IFN κ is additionally distinctive as the only



FIGURE 1 | Type I IFNs are a closely related family of related cytokines. (A) Depicted is a summary of existing phylogenetic analyses of the type I IFNs. The branches are not drawn to scale. IFN κ , IFN β , and IFN ϵ are mostly present in placental mammals as single copies and the first subtypes to diverge from the other type I IFNs. IFN β and IFN ϵ are especially similar and can be found within the same clade in some analyses. IFN δ and IFN ζ are the next subtypes to diverge and are only found in pigs and mice, respectively. IFN τ and IFN ω are closely related, despite their differences in function and distribution—IFN τ is only expressed in placental tissues of ungulate species and involved in pregnancy, whereas IFN ω is found in many species and possesses the more canonical antiviral and immunomodulatory functions. IFN ω and IFN α loci are expanded to include many subtypes in a number of species. (B) The chromosomal locations of human (top) and murine (bottom) IFN κ , IFN β , and IFN ϵ genes are depicted. The arrow direction indicates on which strand the gene is encoded: a left-to-right arrow depicts the forward or positive strand and a right-to-left arrow indicates the reverse or negative strand. IFN κ is the only subtype to contain an intron and is situated further away from the other type I IFNs, though its positioning relative to the other IFNs is different in mice and humans. IFN β and IFN ϵ roughly form the boundaries of the type I IFN locus, with the other type I IFNs falling between the two genes.

Unique Functions of IFN α/β

mammalian type I IFN that contains an intron, and for many species, the gene encoding IFN κ is situated further away from the IFN locus (7, 9, 11). Depending on the analysis, IFN β or IFN ϵ is the next subtype to diverge from mammalian type I IFNs, and in some analyses IFN β and IFN ϵ fall within the same clade, suggesting that these subtypes might be more closely related to each other than the other type I IFN subtypes (7, 9, 11, 12). The genes encoding IFN β and IFN ϵ are situated at the "beginning" and "end" of the type I IFN locus across many species, which is relatively conserved across mammalian species. IFN δ and IFN ζ (limitin) are the next type I IFNs to diverge within mammalian IFNs and are only found in pigs and mice, respectively (7). However, recent identification of a putative HuIFN δ gene calls this into question (11).

The last subtypes to diverge are the IFN α s, IFN ω s, and IFN τ s. These subtypes are thought to be exclusively found in placental mammals and are usually situated between the IFNe and IFNB genes within the type I IFN locus. IFN ω and IFN τ are closely related, even though they possess different functions (7, 11). IFN τ is only found in placental tissues of ungulate species, is involved in pregnancy, and may have arisen from an IFN ω subtype (10, 13). In contrast, IFN ω is an antiviral and immunomodulatory molecule, like IFNa, and functional copies have been identified in humans and other animal groups including felines, pigs, cattle, serotine bats, and others but are not present in canines or mice (14). Notably, humans have only one IFN₀, but there is evidence that IFN_w is still expanding and diversifying in many species, including bats and pigs (15–17). Lastly, the genes encoding IFN α are found in all placental mammals and form species-specific clades, with some exceptions for closely related organisms (e.g. chimpanzees, humans, and gorillas); a combination of gene duplication and gene conversion events likely gave rise to the expanded IFN α genes present in many mammals (6). Of note, a recent study found that for some IFNa subtypes, such as HuIFN α 6, α 8, α 13, and α 14, amino acid-altering variation was more constrained in the human population, suggesting that they might perform non-redundant functions in host responses (18).

As sequenced genomes of other species become available, the phylogenetic clustering of some type I IFNs may change. However, the key point is that the multigene nature of type I IFNs is conserved across many species. Both IFN α and IFN ω subtypes expanded independently and multiple times, suggesting that it is advantageous for the host to possess a large repertoire of at least several type I IFN subtypes. Unfortunately, the fact that type I IFNs expanded multiple times complicates directly applying results of IFN studies from animal models to clinical settings, and caution is warranted in drawing conclusions about specific human IFN α subtypes.

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS UNDERLYING DISTINCT FUNCTIONS OF TYPE I IFNS

Though type I IFNs possess many overlapping functions, it is now appreciated that the individual subtypes have different

potencies of their shared functions and some unique functions in vitro. An important early example demonstrating this was the finding that HuIFN β was 100-fold more potent than HuIFN α 2 in inhibiting osteoclastogenesis through its ability to preferentially induce the chemokine CXCL11 (19). Since this observation, it is now appreciated that the pleiotropic activities ascribed to different type I IFN subtypes are the product of distinct patterns and kinetics of expression, as well as signaling differences that arise from differential binding affinities and susceptibility to negative feedback loops (20, 21). The ability of the type I IFN receptor to have fine-tuned responses to many ligands is likely advantageous considering the array of pathogens that have co-evolved alongside humans, mice, and other animals.

Differential Dependence on IRF3 and IRF7 for Transcription

Before examining the signaling and functional properties of IFN subtypes, it should be noted that type I IFNs are differentially induced downstream of pattern recognition receptor (PRR) signaling, except for IFN¢, which is hormonally regulated (see below). PRR signaling converges on the phosphorylation and activation of the transcription factors IRF3 and IRF7, though other IRFs can be involved in IFN-dependent antiviral responses (22, 23). For most cell types IRF3 is constitutively expressed, whereas IRF7 is induced downstream of type I IFN signaling to then amplify and diversify the type I IFN response (22). The exception to this rule is plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), which constitutively express IRF7 and are thus poised to rapidly secrete large amounts of type I IFN (24). The promoters of specific type I IFN genes differ in their requirement of IRF3 or IRF7 binding for maximal transcription. Thus, the temporal regulation of IRFs dictates the expression of IFN subtypes.

Early in a response, IRF3 activation first induces transcription of MuIFN β and MuIFN α 4 via unique IRF3 binding sites within their promoters (25–31). For the most part, the other MuIFN α subtypes require both IRF3 and IRF7 for maximal transcription, and so they depend on type I IFN-mediated upregulation of IRF7 (32-34). Similar to mice, IRF3 also initiates human type I IFN responses by upregulating transcription of HuIFN β and HuIFNa1, while the other HuIFNA genes require both IRF3 and IRF7 (35, 36). Altogether, these findings demonstrate that for most cell types, activation of constitutive IRF3 by PRR signaling initiates a first wave of HuIFN β and HuIFN α 1 (or MuIFN β and MuIFN α 4 for mice). Subsequently, a second, amplified wave of diverse IFN α subtypes follows that is IRF7dependent. As the ratio of IRF3 to IRF7 or other IRFs changes over time, the repertoire of IFN subtypes expressed changes as well.

There are several intriguing deviations from this paradigm. First, the IFN β promoter has additional response elements that make it responsive to NF- κ B signaling through activating transcription factor 2 (ATF-2) and c-Jun, which allows other signaling pathways to augment IFN β production (29, 37, 38). This unique promoter feature also permits IRF3-independent basal expression of low amounts of IFN β in the absence of infection, which can have significant impact on mounting

successful innate immune responses against a variety of infections (39–47). IFN κ may have somewhat restricted expression, as it was named for its high expression in keratinocytes; however, other cell types, including immune cells and lung epithelial cells, can upregulate IFN κ expression (48–50). Further characterization is needed to determine which cells are capable of expressing IFN κ in different contexts. Lastly, IFN ϵ is the most notable exception to the IRF-mediated IFN induction paradigm, as it is not regulated at all by PRR signaling and IRF3/7. Instead, it is constitutively expressed in the epithelium of reproductive organs and hormonally regulated, and this is reflected in its unique promoter (51–53).

Differential Binding Affinity Determines Signaling and Function

All type I IFNs bind to and signal through the heterodimeric receptor IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 to activate canonical JAK/STAT signaling pathways (4). A unique feature of type I IFN signaling is that the signaling outcome can vary depending on the cell type, specific ligand, and concentration of the type I IFN subtype. The molecular mechanisms that underlie the plasticity of type I IFN signaling have been extensively reviewed elsewhere, so only key features will be outlined in this review (20, 54, 55).

In general, IFNAR2 is the primary ligand binding receptor subunit and binds type I IFNs with high affinity (typically nanomolar affinity); IFNAR1 is subsequently recruited to the receptor-ligand complex and binds with relatively lower affinity (approximately micromolar affinity) (54). HuIFN β has the highest natural binding affinity to the type I IFN receptors with picomolar affinity for IFNAR2 and nanomolar affinity for IFNAR1, whereas HuIFNa2 possesses nanomolar affinity for IFNAR2 and micromolar affinity for IFNAR1 (56-58). This higher affinity interaction may enable IFN β to uniquely signal through IFNAR1 in an IFNAR2-independent manner, but further work is needed to corroborate this finding and to determine if other receptors are involved in this phenomenon (59, 60). Engineered IFN α 2 and IFN ω mutants that mimic the range of affinities for the receptor complex have demonstrated that type I IFN signaling outcomes can be directly linked to IFN affinity to the receptor complex. Hence, type I IFN mutants that acquire IFN β -like affinity acquire IFN β -like potency (61, 62).

In line with these findings for IFN α , IFN β , and IFN ω , recent work showed that HuIFN ϵ and HuIFN κ bound IFNAR2 with particularly weak affinity and demonstrated approximately 1000fold decreased potency in ISGF3-mediated gene expression compared to HuIFN α 2, whereas their affinity for IFNAR1 was comparable to other type I IFN subtypes (63). HuIFN ϵ and HuIFN κ also bound the poxvirus antagonist B18R with weaker affinity relative to the other IFN subtypes, perhaps suggesting a fitness advantage for the host to have some weaker binding IFN subtypes in order to avoid virus inhibition (63). In influenza A virus (IAV) infection, HuIFN κ , but not IFN α or IFN β , relied on chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 6 (CHD6) to efficiently suppress viral replication (50). Moreover, induction of CHD6 was not dependent on STAT1, but rather, IFN κ signaled through the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) p38 and the transcription factor c-Fos to mediate its antiviral effects. Altogether, these findings suggest that in addition to having unique expression patterns, IFN ϵ and IFN κ may possess additional biochemical and signaling features that grant unique properties *in vivo*.

Differential Sensitivity to Feedback Loops

The affinity of individual subtypes, as outlined above, is a key component in determining the signaling outcome from IFNAR1/ 2 engagement, but negative feedback loops are an additional level of regulation and fine-tuning. IFNAR1/2 surface abundance is typically quite low, and modulating the surface receptor expression is one means of regulating type I IFN signaling after type I IFN induction (64). Manipulation of a cell line's IFNAR expression demonstrated that the antiproliferative and proapoptotic activities induced by HuIFN β are less sensitive to decreased receptor levels than those induced by HuIFN α 2 (65, 66). The physiological relevance of receptor expression influencing type I IFN signaling is demonstrated in the number of IFN-dependent mechanisms that downregulate IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 levels. We will outline a few examples.

First, protein kinase D2 (PKD2) is a negative regulator activated downstream of IFN signaling. It phosphorylates IFNAR1, enabling interaction with a ubiquitin E3 ligase, and subsequent ubiquitination leads to endocytosis of the IFN signaling complex (67, 68). Endosomes with short-lived receptor-ligand complexes formed by lower affinity IFNos are more likely to be recycled to the cell surface; endosomes with longer-lived complexes formed by higher affinity IFN β ultimately fuse with the lysosome, but signaling can continue to take place as trafficking progresses through the endosomal compartment (69-72). Second, Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling 1 (SOCS1) can directly dampen the type I IFN response by interacting with TYK2 to disrupt TYK2-STAT signaling, but it also decreases surface levels of IFNAR1, which requires TYK2 for stability at the cell surface (73). Lastly, ubiquitin-specific peptidase 18 (USP18) can bind the cytoplasmic domain of IFNAR2 and interfere with IFNAR1 recruitment and ternary receptor complex formation without decreasing surface IFNAR2 levels (74, 75). The USP18-IFNAR2 interaction makes it so that only higher affinity ligands such as IFN β are able to recruit IFNAR1 into the receptor complex, making the cell less responsive to weaker affinity type I IFNs (76, 77).

Key Principles for Differential Activities

Altogether, differential expression, binding affinity to the receptor, and downstream feedback loops enable IFNAR1/2 to have graded responses to multiple ligands. Redundancy and pleiotropy are key features of type I IFN responses. Essentially, any type I IFN subtype can induce robust (or redundant) properties, such as antiviral activity, even at low surface receptor density. In contrast, tunable (or pleiotropic) functions, like antiproliferative activity, are more heavily influenced by affinity of the ligand, receptor density, and intracellular negative regulators, and so higher affinity ligands, like IFN β , tend to be more potent (21). However, as noted above, some type I IFN

subtypes may be able to signal through alternative pathways, in spite of or, more likely, because of possessing lower binding affinity. Understanding the molecular mechanisms underlying differential signaling by IFNs is an active area of research and how the differential activities of IFN α and IFN β impact disease will be explored in the remaining sections.

INFECTIOUS DISEASES

Type I IFNs have been extensively studied in the context of infectious diseases, and this body of work includes most of the studies that have directly compared the functions of IFN α and IFN β *in vivo*. In the following subsections we highlight key findings from animal models and human studies that have contributed to understanding the mechanisms of differential properties of IFN α and IFN β in viral, bacterial, and parasitic infections.

Viral Infections

The important role that viral infections have served in helping us understand type I IFN biology cannot be understated. Viral infections were key instruments in the discovery of the antiviral properties of type I IFNs (1). It is now widely appreciated that type I IFNs play a much larger role in coordinating protective immunity beyond directly eliciting an antiviral state, including their role in DC maturation, augmenting antibody production by B cells, and improving cytolytic T cell effector functions (5). Intriguingly, type I IFNs can also play a detrimental role in certain contexts, such as persistent viral infections. Given their key roles in disease outcome, viral systems also include some of the clearest examples of differential functions of IFN α and IFN β in vivo (Table 1). The following viral models collectively highlight that differential functions of IFN α s and IFN β can profoundly influence disease pathogenesis and that the mechanisms underlying differential functions vary depending on the biological context.

Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus

Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) is a nonlytic, negative-strand RNA virus and a prototypic member of the *Arenaviridae* family, which are causative agents of hemorrhagic fevers in humans (100). The host genetics, viral strain, dose, and inoculation route all have profound impacts on host responses and disease outcome, and this remains true for the role of type I IFN responses during LCMV pathogenesis (101). LCMV infection serves as an excellent example of the pathogenic potential of type I IFNs.

LCMV-Clone-13 (Cl-13), which differs from its parent strain LCMV-Armstrong (Arm) by just three amino acids, causes a persistent infection, whereas LCMV-Arm is acutely and effectively cleared by immunocompetent mice (102). A clear pathogenic role for type I IFNs during persistent LCMV-Cl-13 infection has been established (78, 79, 103–105). Loss of IFNAR1 caused increased viral loads early during infection but ultimately restored splenic organization, decreased expression of the negative immune regulators IL-10 and programmed deathligand 1 (PD-L1), increased protective adaptive immune responses, and accelerated clearance of persistent virus (78, 79, 105). While both LCMV-Arm and LCMV-Cl-13 infection led to high IFNa levels in the serum, only LCMV-Cl-13 induced significant serum IFN β (79). In a seminal study, Ng and colleagues showed that the pathogenic activity of type I IFNs in persistent LCMV infection could be ascribed to just one subtype-IFNB. Using monoclonal antibody (mAb) blockade and genetic deletion, they showed that IFN β was dispensable for controlling early LCMV-Cl-13 viral loads, suggesting that IFNa or other subtypes mediate these antiviral responses (80). Instead, blockade of IFN β but not IFN α improved splenic architecture, decreased infection of $CD8\alpha^-$ DC, and enhanced antiviral T cell responses that led to clearance of persistent virus, mimicking many of the effects seen with IFNAR1 blockade. Altogether, persistent LCMV-Cl-13 infection serves as an important example that the type I IFN subtypes can have distinct properties in vivo that have profound impacts on viral pathogenesis.

As discussed above, LCMV-Cl-13 infection causes persistent infection in certain mouse strains (C57BL/6, BALB/C, C3H, or SWR/J); however, LCMV-Cl-13 infection of other strains (NZB, SJL/J, PL/J, NZO, or FVB/N mice) causes type I IFN- and CD8 T cell-dependent severe vascular leakage and death by about 6-8 days post infection (dpi) (81, 82, 106, 107). NZB.Ifnar1^{-/-} but not NZB.Ifnb^{-/-} mice were protected from LCMV-Cl-13 induced lethal vascular leakage, suggesting that IFN β is dispensable for the detrimental effects of type I IFN in this model and that other subtypes like IFN α may drive this phenotype (81). However, this is challenged by the fact that blockade of IFN β alone, pan-IFN α (α 1, α 4, α 5, α 11, and α 13) alone, or combined pan-IFN α / β did not replicate the protection provided by anti-IFNAR1 treatment in FVB/N mice (82). The inability of IFN β or IFN α blockade to phenocopy IFNAR1 blockade could be due to dosing issues, as the serum levels of IFNα were severely elevated (roughly 18-fold over IFN β levels), involvement of IFN α subtypes not blocked by the mAb, or involvement other type I IFN subtypes altogether could be responsible for the lethal phenotype. Nevertheless, type I IFNs are clearly important host determinants of lethal LCMV infection, and the individual IFN subtype(s) responsible remains an open question.

Chikungunya and West Nile Viruses

Chikungunya virus (CHIKV) is a mosquito-transmitted, reemerging alphavirus that causes outbreaks of acute fever, rash, polyarthritis, arthralgia, and myositis (108). West Nile virus (WNV) is a mosquito-transmitted flavivirus that can cause encephalitis in severe cases (109). It is helpful to consider these models together because both models utilize a peripheral route of infection by inoculating the footpad subcutaneously (s.c.), and type I IFNs are essential for controlling both CHIKV and WNV, as *Ifnar1^{-/-}* mice rapidly succumb to a severe, disseminated infection with either virus (83, 84, 88, 89). The collective evidence from these models suggest that IFN α and IFN β play nonredundant protective roles.

Loss of IRF7, the master transcriptional regulator of IFN α subtypes, in acute WNV infection increased lethality and viral

TABLE 1 | Summary of IFN α and IFN β functions in mouse models of viral infections.

Intervention	Clinical Outcome	Virological and Immune Characterization	Refs.
Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus CI-1	3, i.v. (persistent infection)		
<i>lfnar1^{-/-}</i> or αIFNAR1 mAb	Improved splenic architecture	V: ↑ viremia, ↑ tissue titers (early); ↓ viremia, ↓ tissues titers (late) I: ↓ IL10 (serum), ↓ PD-L1 expression (splenic cells), ↑ Ag ⁺ CD4 T (spleen)	
αlFNα mAb	ND	V: ND (early); no Δ viremia, \uparrow splenic titer (late)	(80)
<i>lfnb^{-/-}</i> or α IFN β mAb	Improved splenic architecture	V: no Δ (early); \downarrow viremia, \downarrow tissue titers (late) I: no Δ IL-10 (serum), no Δ PD-L1 expression (splenic cells), \uparrow Ag ⁺ CD4 T (spleen)	(80)
Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus CI-1 NZB. <i>lfnar</i> 1 $^{-/-}$ or α IFNAR1 mAb (NZB)	3, i.v. (lethal infection) ↓ vascular leakage, ↓ lethality (0%)	V: ↑ viremia that persists I: ↓ CTL activity, ↓ lung infiltrate, ↓ BALF cytokines	(81)
NZB.Ifnb ^{-/-}	No Δ lethality	ND	(81)
α IFNAR1 mAb (FVB/N or NZO)	\downarrow vascular leakage, \downarrow lethality (0%)	V: ↑ viremia that persists I: ↑ platelet count	(82)
α IFN β mAb (FVB/N)	No Δ lethality	ND	(82)
αIFNα mAb (FVB/N)	No Δ lethality	ND	(82)
$\alpha IFN\alpha$ and $\alpha IFN\beta$ mAbs co-treatment (FVB/N)	No Δ lethality	ND	(82)
West Nile virus, s.c. (footpad)			
Ifnar1-/-	↑ lethality (100%)	V: ↑ viremia, ↑ tissue titers	(83, 84)
Irf7 ^{-/-}	↑ lethality (100%)	V: ↑ viremia, ↑ tissue titers I: ↓ serum IFNα, ↓ IFNα mRNA (cells)	(85, 86)
αlFNα mAb	↑ lethality	ND	
α IFN β mAb or Ifnb ^{-/-}	↑ lethality (100%)	V: \uparrow viremia, \uparrow tissue titers (some but not all tissues) I: no Δ Ab responses, no Δ brain infiltrate	(86, 87)
Chikungunya virus, s.c. (footpad)			(00.00)
Ifnar1 ^{-/-} Irf7 ^{-/-}	↑ lethality (100%)	V: ↑ viremia, ↑ tissue titers	(88, 89)
	↑ foot swelling	V: ↑ viremia, ↑ tissue titers I: ↓ serum IFN, ↓ IFNα mRNA (tissue)	(90–91)
		V: ↑ viremia, ↑ tissue titers	(90)
α IFN β mAb or <i>lfnb</i> -/-	↑ foot swelling V: minimal Δ viremia and tissue titers I: ↑ neutrophil infiltrate (foot)		(90)
Influenza A virus, PR/8/34 (H1N1), i.n.	• 1-1 11.		(00)
B6. <i>Mx1.lfnar1^{-/-}</i> (functional Mx1 Kl) B6. <i>Mx1.lfnb^{-/-}</i> (functional Mx1 Kl)	↑ lethality		(92)
	↑ lethality	V: ↑ lung titer	(92)
Vaccinia virus, i.n. Ifnb ^{-/-}	↑ weight loss, ↑ lethality	V: ↑ tissue titers	(93)
Friend retrovirus, i.v.			
Ifnar1 ^{-/-}	ND	V: ↑ viremia, ↑ spleen titer I: ↓ CD4 T%, ↓ CD8 T% (spleen)	(94)
Ifnb-/-	ND V: no Δ viremia, ↑ splenic titer I: ↓ CD4 T% (spleen)		(94)
rIFN α1, α4, α6, or α9 (B10.A×A.BY)F ₁	ND	V: \downarrow viremia, \downarrow spleen titer (α 1, α 4, α 9); no Δ titers (α 6) I: \uparrow Ag ⁺ CD8 T (α 1 only), \uparrow NK activation (α 1, α 4, α 9)	
rIFNa2, a5, or a11 (B6 or (B10.A×A.BY)F1)	ND	V: ↓ spleen titer (α11 only) I: ↑ NK activation	(96)
Hepatitis B virus, hydrodynamic injection			
		V: \downarrow viremia (α 4, α 5); no Δ viremia (α 1, α 2, α 6, α 11) I: \uparrow CTL and NK activity (α 4, α 5)	(97)
plFN α , plFN β (hydrodynamic i.v.)	ND	V: ↓ viremia (pIFNα > pIFNβ) I: ↑ liver ISG induction (pIFNα > pIFNβ), no Δ T cell responses (pIFNα or pIFNβ)	(98)

The mouse genetic background is C57BL/6 unless otherwise specified.

↑, increased; ↓, decreased; Δ, change; α/FN, anti-IFN; Ag, antigen-specific; BALF, bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; CTL, cytotoxic lymphocyte (CD8 T cell); I, immune; i.n., intranasal; i.v., intravenous; ISG, interferon-regulated gene; KI, knock-in; mAb, monoclonal antibody; ND, no data; p, plasmid; r, recombinant; V, virological.

loads in both peripheral and central nervous system (CNS) tissues compared to WT animals (34, 85). Similarly, Irf7^{-/-} mice infected with CHIKV developed worse clinical disease (foot swelling) and sustained high viral loads at the site of infection and sites of dissemination (90-92). The poor clinical outcome of *Irf7^{-/-}* mice during WNV and CHIKV infection may be the result of decreased IFN α activity in the serum (85, 86, 91, 92). This postulation is supported by the observation that $Irf7^{-/-}$ mice produce little to no systemic IFN α activity when infected with a number of viruses, including Dengue virus (DENV), herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1), and encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV), and this loss of systemic IFNa activity correlated with increased susceptibility to those infections (34, 110, 111). Pan-IFNα mAb blockade closely mimicked the clinical and virologic phenotype of $Irf7^{-/-}$ mice in CHIKV infection and phenocopied the lethality observed in WNV infection (86, 90). Altogether, these findings suggest that an important protective function of IRF7 is the production and amplification of IFNa responses and that IFN as are important for controlling viral replication and dissemination.

In contrast with IFN α , the role of IFN β *in vivo* is more varied and dependent on the biological context. If nb-/- mice are more susceptible than WT mice to WNV infection, and this increased lethality was accompanied with elevated viral burden in some but not all tissues (87). Specifically, WT and Ifnb^{-/-} mice similarly controlled WNV replication in the spleen and serum, consistent with IFNa subtypes dominating serum IFN activity. WNV did replicate to a larger extent in the brain, spinal cord, and the draining lymph in $Ifnb^{-/-}$ mice compared to WT mice (87). An antiviral role for IFNB has also been described for vaccinia virus and IAV infections (93, 94). In contrast to WNV infection, loss of IFNB exacerbated CHIKV-induced disease but with minimal impact on viral burden at the inoculation site or distant tissues, suggesting that IFN β may be important in restricting viral replication within certain but not all tissues (90). Rather, the increased disease severity of CHIKV-infected Ifnb^{-/-} mice correlated with increased neutrophil accumulation at the site of infection, and depletion of neutrophils in $Ifnb^{-/-}$ mice reversed the disease exacerbation to WT levels. Altogether, these data from CHIKV and WNV infections point to the particular importance of IFNa subtypes in restricting viral replication and spread and highlight that the primary role of IFN β varies depending on the specific context.

Human Immunodeficiency Virus 1 and Friend Retrovirus

Human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1) is a highly pathogenic retrovirus that leads to acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). The relationship between type I IFNs and HIV-1 pathogenesis is complex, and it is outside the scope of the this review to cover all the protective and pathogenic functions, which have been extensively reviewed elsewhere (112–114). The purpose of reviewing HIV and Friend retrovirus (FV) infection is not to delve into whether type I IFNs have a net protective or pathogenic role, but rather, we seek to underscore that the IFN α subtypes are not equivalent in their antiviral or immunomodulatory properties *in vivo*.

Harper and colleagues evaluated the mRNA expression of specific IFNa subtypes in human pDCs following HIV-1 exposure (115). Intriguingly, they found an inverse relationship between the subtypes induced and their antiviral potency. HuIFN α 1/13 and HuIFN α 2 were highly expressed, but they demonstrated weaker antiviral activity in vitro, whereas HuIFN α 6, α 8, and α 14 represented a smaller fraction of the IFN α subtypes induced but demonstrated the highest antiviral activity against HIV-1. Likewise, a study from Lavender and colleagues showed that therapeutic administration of HuIFNα14 was more beneficial than administration of HuIFN $\alpha 2$ in controlling HIV-1 replication in a humanized mouse model (116). The efficacy of IFNa14 was associated with increased ability to stimulate intrinsic immune responses including expression of tetherin and Mx2 as well as a greater frequency of TRAIL⁺ natural killer (NK) cells. Conversely, IFNα2 was superior in increasing the frequency of CD8⁺ T cells. An additional study used humanized mice that lack pDCs (Hu-PBL mice) and do not express much endogenous type I IFN during acute HIV-1 infection to study the impact of IFNa subtypes. They performed a single hydrodynamic injection of plasmid encoding different type I IFN subtypes (HuIFN α 2, α 6, α 8, α 14, or β) into Hu-PBL mice prior to HIV-1 infection (117). The authors found that all subtypes tested limited HIV-1 replication and prevented HIV-induced CD4⁺ T cell depletion by 10 dpi, but only HuIFNa14- and HuIFNβ-expressing mice demonstrated this protective effect out to 40 dpi. Altogether these findings demonstrate nonredundant functions of IFN α subtypes, with HuIFN α 14 emerging as an intriguing subtype for further studies during HIV-1 infection.

Distinct properties of murine IFNa subtypes have also been observed in FV infection, a commonly used murine retrovirus model. A protective role for type I IFNs in controlling FV infection in vivo was demonstrated with Ifnar1-/- and Ifnb-/mice both having increased viral loads in the spleen. However, only $Ifnar1^{-/-}$ mice showed a significant increase in viremia (95). These findings suggest that both IFN α and IFN β protect against FV infection, but IFN α may be more important for controlling systemic infection and dissemination. Different potencies among IFNa subtypes have also been revealed. Ex vivo stimulation of FV-specific CD8⁺ T cells demonstrated differential activities among the IFN α subtypes. IFN α 4, α 6, and α 9 had the strongest effects on CD8⁺ T cells, including inhibiting proliferation, stimulating cytokine production, and enhancing cytotoxicity (118). Treatment of FV-infected mice with MuIFN α 1, α 4, or α 9, but not α 6, significantly decreased viral loads, and subtype effectiveness was associated with different mechanisms (96). Only IFNa1 treatment correlated with activated FV-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the spleen, whereas NK cell activation was observed after treatment with all examined IFN α subtypes. Another study demonstrated that prophylactic administration of MuIFN α 11, but not α 2 or α 5, significantly reduced viral loads by activating NK cells and ultimately provided long-term protection (6 weeks) (97). Together with the HIV-1 studies, retroviruses have proven to be effective tools for probing the diverse functions IFN α subtypes.

Hepatitis B and Hepatitis C Viruses

Hepatitis B (HBV) and hepatitis C viruses (HCV) are drastically distinct pathogens from a virological perspective-HBV is a double-stranded DNA virus belonging to the Hepadnaviridae family, whereas HCV is a positive-strand RNA virus and a member of Flaviviridae. However, both viruses display tropism for hepatocytes, and chronic infection with either virus can lead to liver failure, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (119). Beginning in the 1980s, derivatives of recombinant HuIFNα2 were used to treat chronic HBV and HCV, but treatment was successful in a limited subset of patients and severe side effects were common [reviewed in reference (120)]. These issues have led to the phasing out of type I IFN-based therapeutics in favor of direct-acting antiviral drugs (120). Though HuIFNa2-based therapeutics are the only approved type I IFN therapies for HCV or HBV treatment, pilot studies of IFNB therapy in IFNanonresponding HBV or HCV patients suggest some beneficial effects of IFN β as well (121–123). These findings suggest that other IFN subtypes in addition to IFNa2 may offer protective effects against hepatitis viruses.

Indeed, one study with the HBV hydrodynamic injection model demonstrated that prophylactic treatment with MuIFNo4 or $\alpha 5$ was more effective than other IFN α subtypes in decreasing HBV replication in vivo, and both $\alpha 4$ or $\alpha 5$ also increased effector NK and CD8⁺ T cell frequencies in the liver and spleen (98). Hydrodynamic injection of plasmids expressing MuIFN α 4, α 5, or combined α 4 and α 5 was more effective than treatment with the respective recombinant proteins, highlighting the importance of long-lasting endogenous IFNa expression in the liver during HBV infection. Another study directly showed differential effects of IFN α 4 and IFN β in the hydrodynamic injection HBV model (99). Co-injection of a plasmid encoding MuIFN04 with HBV DNA decreased HBV serum markers, elevated liver ISG expression, and reduced HBV⁺ cells in the liver, whereas co-injection of an IFNB-expressing plasmid demonstrated weaker inhibition of HBV and surprisingly led to a transient increase in HBV⁺ hepatocytes. This increase in HBV⁺ hepatocytes was not observed if the IFN β plasmid was injected 14 dpi instead of co-injected with HBV (99). Even as the currently approved type I IFN therapies are being phased out of clinical use, these findings add to the accumulating evidence of distinct potencies and functions of IFN α and IFN β subtypes in mouse models of relevant human pathogens.

IFN_w Subtype Differences

IFN ω is understudied compared to IFN α/β subtypes likely because mice lack a functional IFN ω , but there is much *in vitro* evidence that it signals and functions similarly to IFN α/β (61, 124). Humans have only one IFN ω subtype, but several species possess an expansion of IFN ω genes (15–17, 125, 126). A number of these IFN ω subtypes have been cloned from several species and have been demonstrated to be functional type I IFNs (127–129). Just as there is growing appreciation that expanded IFN α subtypes provide an evolutionary advantage beyond redundancy, it stands to reason that the expansion of IFN ω genes likewise imparts a fitness advantage for those species. Indeed, a recent study compared two different IFN ω subtypes from *Rousettus aegyptiacus* bats and found that IFN ω 9 displayed more effective antiviral activity against several RNA viruses *in vitro* compared to IFN ω 4 (130). Additionally, differences in expression and activity of porcine IFN ω subtypes have also been demonstrated, with IFN ω 7 demonstrating the best antiviral activity *in vitro* (131). Several of these animals with expanded IFN ω subtypes represent important reservoirs and transmitters of relevant human pathogens, so IFN ω functional studies may provide valuable information on understanding the interactions between pathogens and their natural hosts.

Remarks on Viral Infections

When type I IFNs act on the proper cell type at the opportune time, they can induce an antiviral state, promote apoptosis of virally infected cells, coordinate recruitment of immune cells, enhance activation of antigen-presenting cells, and augment protective B and T cell responses. Not all IFNs are equal in their ability to induce these protective effects, and exploring this idea in vivo is an active area of research. Studies from infection with LCMV, WNV, and CHIKV have made it evident that endogenous IFN α subtypes are particularly important for limiting viremia and viral spread, likely due to their abundant activity in the serum in a number of viral infections. In peripheral tissues, IFN α s and IFN β can exert important antiviral or immunomodulatory activity. Whether a particular subtype emerges as more important than others is likely going to depend on its biochemical properties, the cellular tropism of the virus, the source and magnitude of its induction, how long its expression is sustained, and the specific cell types responding to IFN.

If type I IFN signaling is sustained too long, immunosuppression and viral persistence can occur through the upregulation of negative immune regulators, like IL-10 and PD-L1. LCMV infection is a good example of this scenario, and strikingly, IFN β was critical in promoting many detrimental features of type I IFN signaling in this model. We did not have space to discuss the growing evidence that type I IFNs can promote tissue damage during acute viral infections by promoting excessive inflammation and cell death [discussed in references (132, 133)]. This has been observed for mouse strains highly susceptible to influenza or coronavirus infection (134–136). The mechanisms responsible for these detrimental effects of type I IFN are an active area of research, but initial observations suggest that excessive or delayed IFN induction may play a role. It is also unknown whether specific IFN subtypes are responsible for these effects. Future studies exploring this possibility could have an important impact on human disease.

Bacterial Infections

Type I IFNs can play a pathogenic or protective role during bacterial infection depending on the pathogen. The mechanisms underlying the beneficial or detrimental roles during bacterial infection remain poorly understood and warrant further study. Below we explore some of the properties of type I IFNs during models of bacterial infections (**Table 2**). However, compared to the examples from viral infections, few of these studies directly compare the functions of IFN α and IFN β . We draw attention to

TABLE 2 | Summary of IFN α and IFN β functions in mouse models of bacterial infections.

Intervention	Clinical Outcome	Bacterial Load and Immune Characterization	Refs.
Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb)		
129. <i>lfnar1^{-/-} Mtb</i> (H37Rv)	↓ lethality	B: ↓ lung titer I: ↓ iNOS expression (lung), ↓ IL-1 β , IL-1 α , IL-6 (lung)	(137)
129. <i>lfnar1^{-/-} Mtb</i> (HN878)	↓ lethality	B: ↓ lung titer	(138)
<i>lfnar1^{-/-}</i> or B6. <i>Sst1^S.lfnar1^{-/-} Mtb</i> (Erdman)			(139, 140)
Ifnar1 ^{-/-} Mtb (H37Rv)	ND	B: ↓ lung titer I: ↑ IL-1α, IL-1β expression (lung myeloid cells <i>in vivo</i>), ↑ PGE2 in BALF	(141, 142)
Poly-ICLC (i.n.), <i>Mtb</i> (H37Rv)	↑ lethality, ↑ lung necrosis IFNAR1	B: ↑ lung titer (acute, chronic) I: ↑ CD11b ⁺ F4/80 ⁺ GR1 ^{int} infiltrate (lung)	(142, 143)
Salmonella enterica serovar Typh	imurium		
<i>lfnar1^{-/-}</i> adult (i.v.)	↓ lethality	B: ↓ spleen CFU I: ↑ Mφ freq. (spleen), ↓ Mφ cell death (spleen)	(144)
<i>lfnb^{-/-}</i> adult (oral)	↓ lethality	B: ↓ liver CFU I: ↓ IL-10 mRNA, ↑ CXCL2 mRNA, ↑ MPO activity (small bowel)	(145)
Streptococci spp.			
Ifnar1 ^{-/-} S. pyogenes, s.c.	↑ lethality	B: ND I: ↑ neutrophil infiltrate (lung)	(146)
129 <i>.lfnar1^{-/-}</i> (adult) Group B, type V, i.p.	↑ lethality	B: ↑ blood and kidney CFU	(147)
<i>lfnb^{-/-}</i> (adult) Group B, type V, i.p.	↑ lethality	B: ND I: ↓ TNFα and IFNγ induction by peritoneal Mφ (ex vivo)	
129. <i>lfnar1^{-/-} S. pneumoniae</i> , i.v. or i.c.	, ↑ lethality B: ↑ blood CFU (i.v. and i.c. routes)		(147)
<i>Ifnar1^{-/-} S. pneumoniae</i> , i.n. or i.p.	^{/-} S. pneumoniae, i.n. or i.p. ND B: ↑ blood CFU (i.n. route), no Δ viremia (i.p. route) I: ↑ lung permeability, ↓ tight junction mRNA (lung)		(148)
rIFNβ (i.n.), <i>S. pneumoniae</i> , i.n.	↓ lethality	B:↓blood CFU	(148)
AdIFNα (i.n.), <i>S. pneumoniae</i> , i.n.	↓ lethality	B: ↓ lung, ↓ spleen CFU I: ↓ neutrophil and Mφ infiltrate (lung), ↓ BALF TNFα, IL-1β, and CXCL10	(149)
Listeria monocytogenes			
Ifnar1 ^{-/-} (various routes)	↓ lethality	B: ↓ liver, ↓ spleen CFU I: ↓ TRAIL expression (spleen), ↓ apoptosis (spleen), ↑ serum IL-12p70, ↓ serum TNFα and IL-6	(150–151)
<i>lrf3^{-/-}</i> (i.v.)	↓ lethality	B: \downarrow liver, \downarrow spleen CFU I: \downarrow IFNβ induction in Mφ (<i>ex vivo</i>), \downarrow apoptosis (spleen)	(152)

The mouse genetic background is C57BL/6 unless otherwise specified.

↑, increased; ↓, decreased; Δ, change; Ad, adenoviral vector expression; B, bacterial load; BALF, bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; CFU, colony forming unit; dep., dependent; freq., frequency I, immune; i.c., intracranial; i.v., intravenous; Mφ, macrophage; MPO, myeloperoxidase; ND, no data; Poly-ICLC, polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid stabilized with poly-L-lysine; s.c., subcutaneous; spp., species.

a few instances in which specific subtypes have been examined and highlight areas where this may be an interesting avenue to explore.

Mycobacterium Tuberculosis

Mycobacterium tuberculosis (*Mtb*) causes the disease tuberculosis and represents a global health burden. This intracellular pathogen primarily infects the lungs, and it can enter latency if it is not eliminated, persisting in granulomas (154). The actions of type I IFNs during *Mtb* infections are complex, and there are numerous examples of contradictory findings. Overall, there is strong evidence that type I IFNs are detrimental to the host, but depending on the timing of IFN induction, the bacterial strain, and host genetics, IFNs may occasionally benefit the host during infection [reviewed in reference (155)]. Numerous studies have shown a type I IFN-inducible transcriptional profile in blood isolated from patients with active tuberculosis, but this signature is typically absent in patients with latent infection or patients who have undergone successful treatment (156–158). Concordantly, infection with hypervirulent *Mtb* laboratory strains showed increased recruitment of type I IFN-producing pDCs and classical DCs and elevated expression of IFN α or IFN β in the lung, depending on the study (138, 139, 159–162). Multiple studies with human and mouse models have shown that type I IFNs are associated with impaired IFN γ -mediated antibacterial effects, decreased expression of IL-1 α and IL-1 β , decreased production of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), and upregulation of IL-10 (138–142, 159, 162–165). Type I IFNs are also associated with increased cell death of macrophages and increased recruitment of myeloid cells

permissive to *Mtb* infection (137, 143). Limited work has addressed the pathogenic potential of individual type I IFNs, but one recent study found that *in vitro* blockade of IFN α (subtypes unspecified), but not IFN β blockade, significantly decreased intracellular *Mtb* bacterial load in a macrophage cell line (166). It remains to be determined if a similar effect could be observed *in vivo*.

Despite all of the evidence pointing to detrimental effects of type I IFNs in *Mtb* infection, type I IFNs may play a beneficial role in particular circumstances. First, several case reports have suggested that coadministration of IFN α with antimycobacterial therapy decreased bacterial burden in individuals who failed to respond to antimycobacterial therapy alone (167-170). However, these studies were employed before the pathogenic effects of type I IFNs were appreciated, and the mechanisms driving the apparent protection remain elusive. Second, in agreement with the findings that the detrimental effects of type I IFNs are largely due to inhibition of IFNy, type I IFNs appear to be protective in contexts of IFNy deficiency. Mice lacking both type I and type II IFN receptors displayed increased mortality and pathology compared to mice lacking only the type II IFN receptor in Mtb infection (171, 172). Mechanistically, type I IFNs may dampen recruitment of *Mtb*-permissible macrophages and suppress macrophages from entering an alternative activation state. In accord with these mice studies, administration of IFNa2b combined with antimycobacterial chemotherapy had beneficial effects in Mtb-infected children with underlying IFNy signaling deficiencies (173, 174). It is unclear whether IFN β can induce these effects as well. Further head-to-head comparison studies of IFN α and IFN β are needed to determine if this protective effect of type I IFNs is unique to IFNα.

Type I IFNs may also benefit the host in infection with less virulent Mycobacterium strains, such as the bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccine derived from M. bovis (175, 176). Administration of IFN α at the time of BCG vaccination (s.c.) in mice followed by intramuscular IFNa boosts (subtype not disclosed) promoted production of IFNy, tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and IL-12, thus slightly increasing the protection seen upon re-challenge with Mtb intranasal (i.n.) compared to immunization with BCG alone (175). Moreover, the bacterial ESX-1 secretion system promotes type I IFN induction, and its recombinant expression in the BCG vaccine better protected against Mtb infection than other versions of the vaccine (176-179). In vitro data also highlight the complexity of type I IFN functions, as pretreatment of permissible cells with IFN before Mycobacterium infection can promote bacterial growth or increase immune activation, depending on the cell type and bacterial strain (180, 181). Thus, type I IFNs may play a protective role in vaccination with weaker Mycobacterium strains.

Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium

Salmonella is a common, pathogenic genus of bacteria that causes acute gastroenteritis. Type I IFNs largely play a pathogenic role in Salmonella infection by promoting necroptosis and suppressing protective innate cell recruitment and proinflammatory responses. Deletion of IFNAR1 increased survival of adult mice infected (i.v.) with S. enterica serovar Typhimurium (S. Typhimurium) and decreased splenic bacterial loads (144). Additionally, splenic macrophages in If $nar1^{-/-}$ mice were resistant to S. Typhimurium-induced necroptosis ex vivo, and a follow-up mechanistic study further determined that type I IFN signaling impaired antioxidative stress responses to S. Typhimurium infection of bone marrow-derived macrophages (144, 182). IFN β may be the dominant type I IFN subtype driving this necroptosis phenotype, as blockade of IFN β , but not IFN α , prevented necroptosis and enhanced survival of bone marrow-derived macrophages during S. Typhimurium infection in vitro (144). It is unclear how many IFN α subtypes the antibody used blocks (clone: RMMA-1), so it is premature to rule out a contribution of IFN α . A role for IFN β was further demonstrated in a separate study which showed that $Ifnb^{-/-}$ mice were more resistant to oral infection of S. Typhimurium, which was characterized by decreased bacterial burden, dampened expression of IL-10, and increased levels of CXCL2 and myeloperoxidase activity in the liver (145). Altogether, these findings suggest that IFN β may play a detrimental role in S. Typhimurium infection by negatively regulating protective immune responses, but further studies are needed to rule out the involvement of other type I IFN subtypes.

Listeria monocytogenes

Listeria monocytogenes is an intracellular, pathogenic bacteria that causes sepsis and meningitis in immunocompromised and pregnant individuals (183). Many groups have shown that type I IFN signaling is detrimental to the host in systemic L. monocytogenes infection, but not in all routes of infection (150-153, 184, 185). Despite the important role that type I IFNs play in L. monocytogenes pathogenesis, the contribution of individual subtypes remains unknown. Irf3^{-/-} mice displayed increased resistance to L. monocytogenes infection (60% survival), which almost phenocopied the resistance seen in Ifnar1^{-/-} mice (80% survival) (152). Additionally, C57BL/6ByJ mice, which have a polymorphism in Irf3 causing inefficient splicing of its mRNA, demonstrated reduced IFNB induction and increased resistance to Mtb infection (186). These observations may suggest an important role for IFN β in susceptibility to L. monocytogenes infection. However, these studies did not assess IFN α induction, and characterization of *Ifnb^{-/-}* mice is needed to confirm this hypothesis. Mechanistically, loss of type I IFN attenuated Listeria-induced cell death in myeloid cells and lymphocytes in vivo and ex vivo (150, 152, 187, 188). Antigenstimulated T cells were more sensitive to lysteriolysin O (LLO)induced apoptosis after exposure to IFN accompared to cells only treated with LLO (150). Thus, a role for IFN α subtypes should not be discounted. Altogether, it is impossible to draw firm conclusions about the roles of individual type I IFNs in L. monocytogenes infection with the currently available information. Studies that specifically block IFN α or IFN β in Listeria infection might yield important insight into the functions of type I IFN subtypes.

Streptococci Species

Streptococci species often colonize mucosal surfaces and skin of healthy individuals without causing disease, but they can cause a variety of serious diseases in immunocompromised individuals or newborns (189). Type I IFNs appear to play a protective role during infection with a variety of *Streptococci* species (146–149).

S. pneumoniae, an alpha-hemolytic species commonly known as pneumococcus, is an opportunistic pathogen that colonizes the mucosal surfaces of the upper respiratory tract and is a leading bacterial cause of otitis media, pneumonia, sepsis, and meningitis (190). Type I IFNs play a beneficial role during pneumococcal infection, though the route of infection matters (147, 148). Loss of IFNAR1 increased lung permeability by decreasing tight junction protein expression, which is consistent with increased bacterial titer in the blood if S. pneumoniae was inoculated via an i.n. route but not via an intraperitoneal (i.p.) route (148). IFN β played a role in mediating these protective effects because pre-treatment of mice with recombinant IFN β i.n. significantly increased survival following S. pneumoniae challenge and decreased blood bacterial titer. However, IFN α subtypes likely provide beneficial effects as well since a separate study showed that prophylactic or therapeutic administration (i.n.) of an adenoviral vector expressing IFNa enhanced survival after pneumococcal infection and decreased lung and spleen bacterial burden (149). It is unclear which IFN α subtype was used in this study, so more work is needed to determine if some IFN α subtypes are more potent than others.

A protective role of type I IFNs was also demonstrated in infection with the beta-hemolytic species S. pyogenes (group A streptococcus, GAS) and S. agalactiae (group B streptococcus, GBS) (146, 147). In GBS i.v. challenge, IFN β transcript was more robustly induced in the spleen compared to IFN α 4, and *Ifnb*^{-/-} mice demonstrated increased lethality compared to WT mice (147). Additionally, in vitro GBS infection poorly activated peritoneal macrophages from $Ifnar1^{-/-}$ or $Ifnb^{-/-}$ mice compared to WT controls, suggesting that IFNB may function to augment macrophage antibacterial properties. However, carefully controlled experiments need to be performed in order to determine if IFN β is directly modulating macrophage activation or if IFN β acts indirectly by influencing bacterial loads. The role of specific subtypes was not evaluated in GAS infection; however, macrophages and DCs were found to induce IFNB downstream of unique pathways. Macrophages required IRF3, STING, TBK1, MyD88, and stimulation with streptococcal DNA, whereas DCs depended on MyD88, IRF5, and streptococcal RNA (146). It might be interesting to evaluate Irf3^{-/-}, Irf5^{-/-}, and Ifnb^{-/-} mice in S. pyogenes infection to determine if the cellular source of IFN affects pathogenesis. Additionally, better characterization of the IFNa subtypes induced and their role in GAS and GBS is needed.

Remarks on Bacterial Infections

Similar to viral infections, type I IFNs can be either detrimental or beneficial to the host during bacterial infections, depending on the specific pathogen. The mechanisms underlying these divergent outcomes share many features with viral infections. The ability of type I IFNs to regulate cell death, suppress protective IFNy responses, and/or upregulate IL-10 can account for the detrimental functions of type I IFNs during Mtb, Salmonella, and L. monocytogenes infection. These activities are reminiscent of the type I IFN-driven increases in IL-10 and PD-L1 observed in LCMV, as well as the increased cell death observed in acute influenza infection (132, 135). Even though a detrimental role for type I IFNs is well documented in Mtb infection, in special contexts type I IFNs may be able to serve a protective function. Of particular interest is the possibility of type I IFN serving as an adjuvant with certain, less virulent Mycobacterium vaccination strains. As is the case with some viral infections, the timing, magnitude, and cellular source of type I IFNs underlie these distinct outcomes. In the future it will be interesting to explore if these divergent phenomena are also due to differential induction or functions of type I IFN subtypes.

There are also examples of type I IFNs having a protective role in bacterial infections, such as with several Streptococcus species. This net beneficial effect may reflect many of the functions commonly observed in viral infections, such as coordinating protective immune cell recruitment and activation and promoting the right level of inflammation needed to clear the bacterial infection. The exact mechanisms underlying these protective effects are understood at a very general level and questions remain. Which cells do IFNs signal on to mediate these protective effects? What ISGs are responsible for mediating protection, and are they different from those acting in viral infections? Importantly, do specific type I IFN subtypes drive particular protective functions? We are only beginning to grasp how type I IFNs contribute to protective antibacterial immune responses, and there are many interesting avenues to explore relevant to human health.

Parasitic Infections

Parasites include single-cellular protozoa (e.g. *Plasmodium* and *Leishmania* species) and multicellular helminths, which include flatworms (e.g. *Schistosoma* species) and roundworms (e.g. *Ascaris* species) (191–194). Previously, parasite-host interaction studies have not investigated the functions of type I IFNs, but recent studies in malaria have identified both protective and pathogenic properties of IFN α/β [reviewed in references (195, 196)]. Below we explore the roles of IFN α and IFN β during *Plasmodium* infection, the causative agent of malaria (**Table 3**).

Plasmodium Overview

Malaria initially presents as a wide variety of symptoms, including periodic fever, chills, headache, malaise, and muscle and joint aches, but as disease progresses severe anemia, blood acidosis, splenomegaly, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and spread to the brain are possible, which can be fatal (210). Infected mosquitoes transmit *Plasmodium* sporozoites to humans during a blood meal. The sporozoites initially infect hepatocytes, where they replicate as merozoites (liver stage), and eventually, merozoites enter the blood stream to infect red blood cells, where they begin asexual reproduction (blood stage) (191). Symptoms in humans usually begin developing several days after release of parasites into the blood. *P. falciparum* and

TABLE 3 Summa	ary of IEN and IEN B	functions in mouse	models of malaria infection.

Intervention	Clinical Outcome	Bacterial Load and Immune Characterization	Refs.
Liver-stage			
<i>Ifnar1^{-/-} P. berghei</i> (ANKA) (early time points)	ND	P: ↑ parasitemia, ↑ liver titer I: ↓ ISG induction (liver)	(197)
f3 ^{-/-} P. berghei (ANKA) ND P: ↑ liver titer (early time points) I: ↓ ISG induction (liver)		•	(197)
<i>Irf7^{-/-} P. berghei</i> (ANKA) (early time points)	o ()		(197)
lfnar1 ^{-/-} P. yoelii (Py17XNL)	NL) ND P: ↑ liver titer (bioluminescence) I: ↓ NKT cells (liver); no ∆ NK, CD4, and CD8 T cells (liver)		(198)
<i>Irf3^{-/-} P. yoelii</i> (Py17XNL)	ND	P: ↑ liver titer (bioluminescence)	(198)
<i>Irf7^{-/-} P. yoelii</i> (Py17XNL)	ND	P: no Δ liver titer (bioluminescence)	(198)
Blood-stage Ifnar1 ^{-/-} P. chabaudi	ND	P:↓parasitemia I: ↑ serum IFNγ	(199)
rf7 ^{-/-} P. chabaudi	ND	P: ↓ parasitemia I: ↑ serum IFNγ, ↑ IFNγ⁺ CD4 T freq. (spleen)	(199)
Ifnar1 ^{-/-} P. yoelii (Py17XNL) ND P: ↓ parasitemia (late) I: ↑ serum Ab titer, ↑ Tfh cells and GC B cells (s		P: ↓ parasitemia (late) I: ↑ serum Ab titer, ↑ Tfh cells and GC B cells (spleen)	(200)
rIFNα (18 hpi, i.v.), lethal <i>P. yoelii</i> (YM)	↓ lethality (0%)	P: ↓ parasitemia	(201)
rIFNα1/α8 (i.p.), <i>P. yoelii</i> (265 BY)	ND	P: ↓ parasitemia I: no Δ RBC count, ↓ reticulocytosis	(202)
rlFNα1/α8 (i.p.), <i>P. yoelii</i> (Py17XNL)	ND	P:↓ parasitemia (early); trend ↑ parasitemia (late)	(202)
Cerebral-stage Ifnar1 ^{-/-} P. berghei (ANKA)	↓ lethality (0%); ↓ cerebral hemorrhage	P: ↓ parasitemia (variable); ↓ brain titer I: ↑ serum IFNγ, ↑ IFNγ⁺ CD4 T (brain, liver, spleen); ↓ CD8 T infiltrate (brain), ↓ BBB leakage	(199, 203–207
Irf3 ^{-/-} Irf7 ^{-/-} P. berghei (ANKA)	↓ lethality (0%)	P: ND	(203)
Irf7 ^{-/-} P. berghei (ANKA) ↓ lethality P: ↓ parasitemia, no ∆ brain titer I: ↓ CD8 T infiltrate (brain)			(199)
rlFNβ (i.p.), <i>P. berghei</i> (ANKA)	↓ lethality	P: ND I: ↓ BBB leakage, ↓ CXCL9 (brain), ↑ CXCL10 (brain), ↓ T cell infiltrate (brain)	(208)
rlFNα1/α8 (i.p.), <i>P. berghei</i> (ANKA)	↓ lethality	P: ↓ parasitemia, ↓ brain titer I: ↓ M\phi, neutrophil, CD4 T, and CD8 T infiltrate (brain)	(209)

The mouse genetic background is C57BL/6 unless otherwise specified.

↑, increased; ↓, decreased; Δ, change; Ab, antibody; BBB, blood brain barrier; freq., frequency; GC, germinal center; hpi, hours post infection; I, immune; i.p., intraperitoneal; i.v., intravenous; LN, lymph node; Mφ, macrophage; ND, no data; P, parasite; RBC, red blood cell; Tfh, T follicular helper.

P. vivax are the most common species responsible for malaria disease in humans, and several *Plasmodium* species (*P. berghei*, *P. yoelii*, *P. chabaudi*, and *P. vinckei*) infect rodents and recapitulate various stages of human disease (210).

Liver-Stage Malaria

Two important studies recently revealed a protective role for type I IFNs in controlling liver-stage *Plasmodium* infection. First, Liehl and colleagues showed that all of the early upregulated genes in the liver from mice infected with *P. berghei* (ANKA) were classified as IFN-stimulated genes or linked to the type I IFN signaling pathway (197). Similarly, Miller *et al.* also uncovered an early type I IFN signature in the liver of mice infected with *P. yoelii* (Py17XNL) (198). Upon global IFNAR1 deficiency or conditional deletion of IFNAR1 on hepatocytes (Albumin-Cre), mice failed to control parasite replication in the liver (197, 198). These studies suggest that type I IFN signaling protects against malaria infection by controlling early parasite

replication in the liver. Further characterization revealed that $Irf3^{-/-}$ mice, but not $Irf7^{-/-}$ mice, showed a similar early increase in liver parasite burden as $Ifnar1^{-/-}$ mice following *P. yoelii* (Py17XNL) infection (198). This is consistent with the observation that $Irf3^{-/-}$ mice demonstrated a more severe decrease in early liver ISG induction compared to $Irf7^{-/-}$ mice following *P. berghei* (ANKA) infection (197). Given that IRF3 is a key regulator of IFN β induction, these findings could suggest that endogenous IFN β is more important than IFN α subtypes for controlling parasite burden in liver stage malaria. Additional studies are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

Blood-Stage Malaria

There is conflicting evidence for whether type I IFNs have a net beneficial or detrimental effect during the blood stage of malaria. Evidence for a protective role is as follows. First, treatment of mice with recombinant hybrid HuIFN α 1/ α 8, which has activity on murine cells, concurrent with *P. yoelii* (265 BY) infection decreased early parasitemia, and the authors proposed that this was due to IFN α -dependent inhibition of reticulocyte (immature red blood cell) development, as opposed to direct antiplasmodium effects (202, 211). Moreover, deletion of inflammasome components or some intracellular PRR sensing components decreased parasitemia and increased resistance to lethal *P. yoelii* infection through alleviation of SOCS1-mediated suppression of type I IFN responses (201, 212).

Other studies have demonstrated that type I IFNs might play a detrimental role during blood-stage malaria. First, a group showed that Ifnar1^{-/-} and Irf7^{-/-} mice better controlled parasitemia in non-lethal P. chabaudi infection compared to WT controls (199). Additionally, Sebina and colleagues showed that IFNAR1 deletion in P. yoelii (Py17XNL) infection increased pathogen-specific antibody titers and decreased parasitemia late in infection (17-21 dpi) (200). Mechanistically, type I IFN signaled on DCs to limit their activation of T follicular helper cells in an inducible T cell co-stimulator (ICOS) signalingdependent manner, and this interaction ultimately influenced downstream germinal center B cell responses (200). However, it should be noted that IFNAR1 deletion in the Sebina et al. study also trended toward increased parasitemia early in infection (6-11 dpi), suggesting that these findings are not completely incongruous with the studies that found a protective role for type I IFNs. Altogether, type I IFNs might be detrimental in the blood stage malaria by impeding humoral immunity later in infection, but the Plasmodium strain and timing of IFN action may influence the overall effect of type I IFNs on disease outcome. It would be interesting to determine if this effect is dependent on certain type I IFN subtypes.

Cerebral Malaria

Similar to the blood stage, the role of type I IFNs during cerebral malaria remains controversial. Several independent groups have demonstrated that Ifnar1^{-/-} mice are either completely or partially protected from lethal experimental cerebral malaria (P. berghei ANKA sporozoite infection), demonstrating a net pathogenic effect for type I IFNs in this context (199, 203-207). Loss of type I IFN signaling may increase IFN_γ-producing CD4⁺ T cells, reduce pathogenic CD8⁺ T cell recruitment and/or activation in the brain, improve DC priming of CD4⁺ T cell responses, or some combination thereof (199, 204–207). $Irf7^{-/-}$ mice only partially recapitulated the decreased brain pathology and protection from P. berghei (ANKA) lethality observed in Ifnar1^{-/-} mice, but loss of IRF7 perfectly phenocopied the decreased parasitemia observed in *Ifnar1^{-/-}* mice (199). These findings may suggest IFN as are more important in promoting parasitemia, whereas IFN β and IFN α might both contribute to brain pathology, but specific antibody blockade of type I IFN subtypes would confirm this hypothesis.

Paradoxically, a few groups have shown that systemically administering either recombinant IFN β or hybrid IFN α 1/ α 8 concurrently with infection alleviated cerebral malaria (*P. berghei* ANKA) (208, 209). Both IFN treatments reduced parasite burden in the brain and decreased infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells in the brain compared to control mice, but only IFN α 1/ α 8 treatment decreased blood parasitemia (208, 209). A more recent study identified receptor transporter protein 4 (RTP4) as a positive regulator of type I IFN responses, and $Rtp4^{-/-}$ mice were completely protected from P. berghei (ANKA) lethality and brain pathology (213). This protection in $Rtp4^{-/-}$ mice correlated with increased type I IFN responses in microglia isolated from the brain, suggesting a protective role for IFNs, but blockade of type I IFN signaling in $Rtp4^{-/-}$ mice is needed to confirm a causal link (213). Overall, an issue of magnitude and timing of IFN response might underlie these apparent discrepancies with the protective phenotypes of Ifnar1^{-/-} mice (discussed below). Indeed, antibody blockade of IFNAR1 as late as 5 dpi was almost as protective as Ifnar1^{-/-} mice, suggesting that the detrimental effects of type I IFNs occurred during priming of adaptive immune responses (199).

Remarks on Parasitic Infections

It is clear that the role of type I IFNs in malaria is complex and depends on the stage of *Plasmodium* life cycle. Type I IFNs seem to play a protective role during the liver stage, but there are contradictory findings from various models of blood-stage and cerebral malaria. Perhaps infection with some strains of Plasmodium yields suboptimal type I IFN production very early in infection, ultimately leading to delayed and higher levels later in infection when parasite burden is not effectively controlled. Proper intervention at either step would benefit the host, and this could explain why loss of IFN signaling or exogenous IFN treatment can both be protective. The contribution of individual IFN subtypes remains unclear, though divergent phenotypes in $Irf3^{-/-}$ and $Irf7^{-/-}$ mice suggest this could be an interesting question to explore. Importantly, genetic variants in IFNAR1 have been associated with either greater or lower risk of severe malaria disease (205, 214-217). The impact of each genetic variant on IFNAR1 expression and function still need to be determined, but these findings suggest that type I IFNs are important regulators of malaria disease in humans.

Overall, parasitic pathogens are biologically very diverse, so data from other parasitic infection models are needed to begin drawing broad conclusions. A recent study demonstrated that the TLR4-IRF1-IFN β axis played a protective role in mice infected with Leishmania infantum by dampening proinflammatory pathways and IFN γ production by CD4 $^{\rm +}$ T cells (218). RNA sequencing analysis of human samples revealed that upregulation of TLR4 and type I IFN pathways was associated with asymptomatic individuals compared to patients with visceral leishmaniasis (218). Another group found that Ifnar1-/- mice were more susceptible to Toxoplasma gondii infection (219). It would be interesting to know if IFNs are generally more important in single-cellular parasitic infections. That said, the multicellular helminth Schistosoma mansoni can induce a systemic type I IFN signature in mice and activate TLR3 in DCs in vitro, suggesting that a role for type I IFNs in parasitic worm infections is certainly possible (220, 221). Continued work to delineate the cellular sources and functions of type I IFNs in malaria and other

parasitic diseases may reveal novel opportunities for therapeutic intervention and help uncover novel functions of type I IFNs.

CANCER

The majority of reports from animal models and the clinic demonstrate that type I IFNs play an important protective role in enhancing anti-tumor immune responses and restricting tumor growth [reviewed in (222, 223)]. However, similar to persistent viral infections, the functions of type I IFNs in cancer can change throughout disease course, and there is evidence that, in certain contexts, IFN might act as a barrier to efficacious checkpoint-blockade therapy [reviewed in (224)]. Below we discuss the actions of endogenous IFN α/β and IFN-based therapies in animal models and clinical studies (**Figure 2**).

Animal Studies: Endogenous Type I IFN Activity

An early study showed that mice transplanted with human tumors and treated with neutralizing antibodies to type I IFNs demonstrated exacerbated tumor growth and metastasis compared to controls, suggesting a protective role for endogenous type I IFN activity (225). Since this finding, we now know that endogenous type I IFN can mediate tumor rejection through signaling on immune cells or tumor cells.

A seminal paper showed that type I IFN signaling on host hematopoietic cells was crucial for development of anti-tumor immune responses (226). Using conditional IFNAR1 deletion, bone marrow chimeras, and adoptive transfer experiments, a number of studies have shown that type I IFN signaling on several types of immune cells is important for immunity in



FIGURE 2 | Summary of the Properties of IFN α and IFN β in cancer and autoimmunity. Type I IFNs display both unique and overlapping properties in various disease states. In cancer, depending on the tumor and degree of metastases, both IFN α and IFN β can contribute to tumor rejection by directly limiting tumor cell proliferation (depicted) but also through modulation of antitumor immune responses (not depicted). In certain cases, type I IFNs can induce PD-L1 expression on tumor cells, suppressing immune-mediated killing of the tumor. The factors that cause type I IFNs to exert detrimental effects remain poorly understood. In T1D, there is evidence that IFN α subtypes play an important role in pathogenesis. Forced expression of IFN α by pancreatic β -cells accelerated the onset and severity of T1D in a mouse model, and patients receiving IFN α therapy for treatment of other diseases have a higher incidence of T1D. Similarly, immune complex-driven activation of pDCs induces robust IFN α production, which may participate in initiation of SLE. Finally, IFN β -derived therapeutics have well-established efficacy for treating MS patients. Though still largely debated, the mechanism of protection mediated by IFN β is complex and possibly includes limiting cytokine production from pathogenic CD4⁺ T cells and augmenting IL-10 production in a number of cell types. β -cell, pancreatic β -cell; DC, dendritic cell; IL, interleukin; M ϕ , macrophage; MS, multiple sclerosis; pDC, plasmacytoid dendritic cell; Rx, prescription drug; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; T1D, type I diabetes.

cancer. For instance, type I IFN signaling on DCs, but not granulocytes or macrophages, was required for rejection of highly immunogenic tumors (227). Additionally, $Itgax-Cre^+$ $Ifnar1^{fl/fl}$ (CD11c-Cre) mice showed diminished cross presentation by DCs to CD8⁺ T cells, which likely contributed to their failed tumor rejection (227, 228). In an NK cell sensitive tumor model, endogenous type I IFN was required for NK cell-mediated tumor rejection and homeostasis (229).

Other studies have shown that type I IFN signaling on tumor stromal cells may be important for controlling tumor burden. *In vivo*, both IFN α and IFN β have antiangiogenic activity *via* signaling on vascular endothelial cells to downregulate growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (230, 231). Stromal cells such as mesenchymal stem cells may play a role in controlling tumor growth by producing IFN α in order to enhance NK and CD8⁺ T cell responses (232). However, extended low level IFN signaling on tumor cells may render them resistant to apoptosis and immune-mediated killing (233, 234). These differences highlight the complexities of type I IFN actions and the need to delineate cell-type specific IFN signaling and consequent gene regulation.

Limited studies have directly compared the endogenous functions of individual IFN α/β subtypes in cancer models, but there have been a few studies conducted with IFN β -deficient mice. *Ifnb*^{-/-} mice showed expedited tumor growth, enhanced angiogenesis, and increased neutrophil infiltration to the tumor compared to WT mice (235–238). These findings demonstrate that endogenous IFN β is important for the host anti-tumor response, but the specific signaling pathways downstream of IFN β and cell types mediating these effects remain unclear. The direct contributions of endogenous IFN α remain uninvestigated, so much work is needed to fully characterize the contribution of endogenous IFN in tumor rejection.

Animal Studies: Type I IFN-Based Therapies

The possibility that IFNs might be therapeutically useful in cancer was first shown in the early 1970s, when crude preparations of were administered to mice with syngeneic tumors increased their survival compared to untreated mice (239, 240). IFN therapies have been quite effective against hematological cancers, including hairy cell leukemia and chronic myelogenous leukemia but vary in efficacy against solid tumors, such as melanoma [reviewed in (222, 223, 241, 242)]. Below we discuss various therapeutic strategies derived from either IFN α or IFN β subtypes. Collectively, these studies show that IFN α and IFN β are able to promote a similar range of immunomodulatory and antitumor effects, so studies that directly compare the activities of IFN α s and IFN β are needed to discern if there are bona fide differential properties.

IFN α -Based Therapies

Derivatives of IFN α 2b have long been used in the clinic, but toxicity issues are associated with systemic administration and persistent use. Consequently, many groups have sought ways to

increase IFN α expression with more precision. An influential study developed RNA-lipoplexes encoding neoantigens or endogenous self-antigens, which yielded rapid and robust IFN α production by macrophages and DCs (IFN β induction was not determined) (243). Importantly, these RNA-lipoplex vaccines were able to mediate rejection of several different types of aggressive tumors in mice (243). Another group developed a method to genetically modify human hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) to express HuIFN α 2b, but only in differentiated monocytes (244). The engineered HSCs were able to repopulate immunodeficient mice and effectively inhibit tumor progression in a murine breast cancer model (244). AcTakines (Activity-on-Target), which are optimized cytokines that only act on cells for which they are targeted, represent another interesting alternative to traditional IFN therapies. Indeed, CD20-targeted IFNa2b-derived AcTaferon reduced lymphoma and melanoma tumors engineered to express CD20 (245, 246). Increasing tumor cell production of IFN α is another approach, and a very recent study demonstrated that IFN α subtypes are not all equal in their antitumor properties. B16 melanoma cells were engineered to overexpress IFN α 2, α 4, α 5, α 6, or α 9, but only IFN α 2- and α 9expressing tumors were effectively controlled in an adaptiveimmunity dependent manner (247). Other studies have used a variety of genetic engineering methods to augment IFNa production in the tumor microenvironment and improve antitumor immunity (248-251).

IFNβ-Based Therapies

Derivatives of IFN α 2 have been the focus of most IFN-based therapies, but several studies have explored the effect of IFN β during various models of cancer. IFNB treatment of transformed human mammary epithelial cells in vitro led to a less aggressive state (252). Another group showed that treating mice with an anti-tumor antibody fused to IFN β increased clearance of antibody-resistant tumor cells by increasing cross presentation by tumor-infiltrating DCs and activation of CD8⁺ T cells (253). Unfortunately, this treatment also upregulated the inhibitory molecule PD-L1 on tumor cells, but this negative effect was overcome with co-administration of anti-PD-L1 antibody (253). Another group transduced induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived myeloid cells with an IFN\beta-encoding lentivirus to treat disseminated gastric cancer (254). When injected into immunocompromised mice, the modified myeloid cells accumulated in the tumors and inhibited growth of the peritoneally disseminated cancer (254). Lastly, intratumoral injection of an mRNA encoding a fusion protein consisting of IFN β and the ectodomain of transforming growth factor- β receptor II enhanced DC activation of CD8⁺ T cells in vitro and promoted rejection of the TC-1 tumor cell line in vivo (255).

Human Studies

The antitumor and immunomodulatory effects of IFN α therapy have been demonstrated in the treatment of a variety of cancers, and here we present a few representatives. IFN α -derived therapies are the only approved adjuvant therapies in melanoma patients after surgical resection, and immunomodulatory actions, such as increased tumor-infiltrating cells and decreased circulating T-regulatory cells, are key mechanisms of action [reviewed in reference (242)]. After being replaced with tyrosine kinase inhibitors like imatinib, interest in IFNα-based therapy has recently reemerged for treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) [reviewed in reference (241)]. This is because there is evidence that IFN α therapy is able to target and sensitize the rare CML stem cell population to subsequent killing by chemotherapy, whereas imatinib is more effective against more differentiated CML progenitors (256, 257). Lastly, an analysis of matched primary breast cancer tumors and bone metastases revealed that primary tumor cells expressed IRF7, whereas metastases consistently demonstrated downregulation of IRF7 expression (258). This may suggest that IRF7-mediated IFNa production in primary tumors is an important factor for limiting metastases, but further studies are needed to determine if this is an IFNαspecific effect or if there is also a role for IFNB. Fewer clinical studies have been conducted with IFNB-derived therapies, but there is evidence that IFN β also plays a protective role in tumor rejection. Increased IFN β mRNA expression significantly correlated with improved survival in patients with triplenegative breast cancer, though the mechanism is undetermined (252). In vitro studies have shown that IFN β is more potent in inducing apoptosis in melanoma cells compared to IFN α (259). The relevance of this differential potency has yet to be extensively explored in vivo.

Detrimental Effects of Type I IFNs in Cancer

Despite all the evidence that type I IFNs can facilitate protective antitumor immune responses, IFNs can also impede cancer therapies. We provide just a few mechanistic examples. Persistent type II IFN signaling on tumors can result in PD-L1-dependent and PD-L1-independent resistance to immune checkpoint blockade, and the authors identified a role for type I IFNs in maintaining PD-L1-independent resistance (233). Radiation and chemotherapy stimulate immune-mediated destruction of tumor cells partly through induction of type I IFNs (260-264). However, recent work showed that conditional deletion of IFNAR1 on tumor cells enhanced responsiveness to radiation therapy through increased susceptibility to CD8⁺ T cell-mediated killing (265). Lastly, oncolytic viruses can preferentially kill cancer cells, but tumor responsiveness to type I IFN activity confers resistance to this therapeutic method. One study showed that IFN α and IFN β differ in their ability to confer resistance to oncolytic virus treatment in vitro. Exogenous IFNB more effectively prevented oncolysis of human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells by vesicular stomatitis virus compared to IFNa, but differential effects were not observed for normal keratinocytes or endothelial cells (266).

Remarks on Cancer Studies

Collectively, this large body of cancer studies has shown that the roles of type I IFNs are complex and likely context specific. The

extensive use of IFN α -derived therapies to treat a number of cancers in the clinic has greatly increased our understanding of the range of IFN α properties *in vivo*. Cancer models are uniquely advantageous for studying protective immunomodulatory effects of IFNs compared to infection models because pathogen load is not a confounding factor. Despite the large body of work suggesting the benefits of type I IFN signaling in cancer, the actions of specific IFN subtypes, for the most part, remain undefined. The beneficial effects of indirect activators of type I IFNs, such as the RNA-lipoplexes (discussed above) or STING agonists, may be due to their ability to induce multiple IFN subtypes with either overlapping or unique functions (222, 244). The heterogeneity of cancer makes it all the more important to appropriately stratify patients to ensure a beneficial effect of treatment.

AUTOIMMUNITY

Type I IFNs have emerged as critical mediators of autoimmunity. Patients with a variety of autoimmune diseases display serum type I IFN signatures, and IFN treatments for other diseases have correlated with the development of autoimmunity. These observations have led to the assumption that type I IFNs may contribute to autoimmunity pathogenesis. However, IFNβ-derived therapeutics have been used to treat multiple sclerosis, highlighting that caution is warranted in attempting to summarize the mechanisms of autoimmune disorders. Below we outline the current understanding of the roles of IFN α and IFN β during systemic lupus erythematosus, type 1 diabetes, and multiple sclerosis (**Figure 2**). This is not an exhaustive analysis of autoimmune disorders, and active research is exploring the function of type I IFNs in other disorders, such as rheumatoid arthritis and Sjögren's syndrome (267, 268).

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is an autoimmune disease that affects organs such as the skin, joints, kidneys, and CNS (269). A type I IFN gene signature in the blood of SLE patients is well established (270-272). Additionally, a number of genetic risk factors for SLE are associated with type I IFN production or signaling, including IRF5, IRF7, IRAK1, and TYK2 [reviewed in reference (273)]. The majority of patients (70-80%) develop antinuclear autoantibodies (ANA), which form immune complexes with extracellular nucleic acids and induce production of type I IFN, especially IFNa, by pDCs (274). Type I IFNs promote disease by signaling on a variety of immune cells, including DCs, B cells, and T cells (275–277). It has been shown that IFN α or IFN β treatment in vitro induced different transcriptional programs in DCs, with IFN\alpha-primed DCs demonstrating increased phagocytic uptake of apoptotic cells and nucleic acids (278). Given the prevalence of IFN α in the serum of SLE patients and role of pathogenic responses to nucleic acids, the impact of IFN α versus IFN β on DC activation in the context of SLE might be an interesting topic to interrogate.

A recent study from Klarquist *et al.* sought to dissect the effect of type I IFN signaling on $CD4^+$ T cells and B cells on the

development of T follicular helper cells, germinal center B cells, and plasmablasts. They found that IFN signaling decreased the threshold for B cell receptor signaling, increased MHC-II expression, and promoted germinal center B cell function, thus lowering the threshold for autoreactive B cell activation (276). They also found that type I IFN protected T follicular helper cells from NK cell-mediated death, thus further promoting B cell responses (276). Other studies suggest that IFN α may further drive SLE by increasing production of multiple TNF family members, such as BAFF and APRIL, which promote B cell survival and can drive SLE pathogenesis (279-281). Due to the apparent pathogenic role of IFNa during SLE, attempts have been made to neutralize type I IFNs in SLE patients (282-287). Both anti-IFN α and, more recently, anti-IFNAR1 therapies have been tested (282-287). Both treatment strategies showed disparate efficacy in patients, so further work is needed to clarify if this type of therapeutic intervention would be beneficial for patients. It might be that IFN α only plays a key role in the initiation and early stages of disease, so the disease stage may be important in stratifying patients [reviewed in reference (288)].

Type 1 Diabetes

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is a chronic, autoimmune disease caused by the immune-mediated destruction of pancreatic β -cells that leads to insulin deficiency and hyperglycemia (289). A blood type I IFN signature in T1D patients precedes the development of autoantibodies and disease (290-293). One study detected a significant increase in expression of IFNa subtypes, but not IFN β , in postmortem pancreas specimens from T1D patients compared to control subjects (290). Moreover, many genetic polymorphisms associated with T1D are involved in the type I IFN response such as MDA5 and TYK2 (294-296). Altogether, these findings suggest a detrimental role for type I IFNs in T1D. A role for type I IFNs in the development of T1D is supported in animal models. An early study showed that forced constitutive IFN α expression by pancreatic β -cells in mice resulted in hypoinsulinemic diabetes and pancreatic inflammation (297). Additionally, non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice, a common model for T1D, showed elevated IFNinducible transcripts in the pancreatic islets prior to disease onset, and treatment of young NOD mice with anti-IFNAR1 mAb delayed the onset and decreased the occurrence of T1D (298, 299). Collectively, these findings suggest that type I IFN signaling, especially in the pancreas, may play a key role in initiating T1D.

LCMV can be employed as a viral model of T1D, in which mice transgenically express LCMV glycoprotein (GP) under the control of the rat insulin promoter (*Rip*-LCMV) (300). Development of *Rip*-LCMV T1D is dependent on type I IFN (301, 302). Recent work showed that anti-IFNAR1 mAb treatment reduced blood glucose to normal levels and prevented destruction of pancreatic islets (302). Importantly, they also showed that pan-IFN α (α 1, α 4, α 5, α 11, and α 13) mAb blockade, but not IFN β blockade, was able to recapitulate the anti-IFNAR1 phenotype, demonstrating a distinct role for IFN α subtypes in promoting pathogenesis in the *Rip*-LCMV T1D model. A similar detrimental role for IFN α is suggested in human disease. IFN α therapy for HCV in individuals genetically predisposed to T1D induced or exacerbated the development of T1D (303). Moreover, a recent study showed that a subset of *AIRE*-deficient patients who developed autoantibodies specific for IFN α , especially IFN- α 1/13, IFN- α 5, and IFN- α 14, were less likely to develop T1D, whereas patients who failed to generate these antibodies developed T1D (304). Altogether, animal and human studies suggest a detrimental role of type I IFNs in T1D, and IFN α subtypes appear to play a dominant role in disease development and pathogenesis.

Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic, autoimmune disease of the CNS in which immune cells target and destroy the myelin sheath surrounding neurons, leading to neurodegeneration (305). Similar to other autoimmune conditions, MS patients can show a serum type I IFN signature, but this signature is relatively low when compared to SLE patients (306, 307). However, in strong contrast to SLE and T1D, type I IFNs, do not appear to play a detrimental role. In fact, IFN β was the first FDA-approved therapy for MS (308–311). However, due to its flu-like side effects and the availability of more effective treatments, it is no longer the preferred therapy for MS patients (312). Even though IFN β treatment is currently less preferred in clinical use, animal models and clinical studies (discussed below) have revealed important insight into the properties of IFN β *in vivo*.

In Vitro and Animal Studies

Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a mouse model of MS, has provided mechanistic insight into the protective actions of IFN β (313). Mice lacking IFN β , IFNAR1, or IRF7 showed exacerbated clinical EAE compared to WT mice, perhaps due to greater T cell infiltration and increased proinflammatory cytokine production in the CNS (314-316). Unexpectedly, mice that lack IRF3 showed significantly lessened clinical disease compared to WT mice, and this seemed to be due to a cell-intrinsic defect in the development of T helper type 17 (T_H17) cells (317). Indeed, T_H17 versus T_H1 skewing can drastically influence the impact of IFN β treatment in EAE. IFN β treatment was effective in reducing EAE severity in T_H1induced EAE but worsened disease in T_H 17-induced EAE (318). Thus, depending on the skewing of the T helper responses and method of induction of EAE, IFN β may be protective or pathogenic.

Many cell types respond to IFN β therapy in EAE. Deletion of *Ifnar1* on myeloid cells including macrophages, monocytes, granulocytes, and microglia, but not neuroectodermal cells, resulted in increased severity of EAE symptoms, suggesting that IFN β mediates its protective effects, in part, by acting on these cells (315). Mice treated with TLR3 or TLR7 agonists display reduced disease severity associated with increased type I IFN production by pDCs and other antigen presenting cells

(319, 320). Other reports have also suggested that IFN β signaling on T cells curbs their pathogenicity (321, 322). Furthermore, type I IFN signaling on conventional DCs limited their migration to the CNS and prevented their activation of T_H17 cells during EAE (323, 324). The tissue resident antigen presenting cells in the CNS, microglia, may also play a role in the type I IFN response during EAE. Type I IFN signaling on microglia promoted clearance of myelin debris by increasing their phagocytic activity (325, 326). Finally, a study identified a role for type I IFN signaling on astrocytes to suppress CNS inflammation during EAE (327).

Clearly IFN β is able to induce protective effects during EAE, and a recent report demonstrated that sustained low-dose IFN 01 delivery via an adeno-associated viral system prevented the onset of disease in EAE (328). This therapeutic effect was associated with regulatory T cell expansion, and myelin-specific effector T cells displayed reduced proliferative capacity, decreased proinflammatory cytokine production, and increased expression of IL-10 and PD-1 (programmed cell death protein 1) (328). Another study showed that a systemic high dose of MuIFN011 was able to initially delay EAE in mice but ultimately caused significant toxicity and mortality; however, when IFNa activity was targeted to DCs (Clec9A-targeted AcTaferon), they found efficient protection from EAE (329). These findings suggest that IFN β might not be unique in its ability to confer protection in EAE, but more work is needed to determine what factors cause IFNa treatments to yield detrimental effects or protective effects.

Human Studies

IFN β was the first FDA-approved therapy for MS (308–311). However, due to its flu-like side effects and the availability of more effective treatments, it is no longer the preferred therapy for MS patients (312). Observations from patients suggest that IFN β therapy likely acts through multiple mechanisms, such as influencing immune cell recruitment and activation. First, IFN β treatment correlated with decreased new brain lesions and increased soluble VCAM-1 in patient serum, suggesting that modulating immune cell entry to the CNS is one potential mechanism of IFN β therapy (330). In addition to impacting cell recruitment, IFN β treatment may also regulate survival of immune cells since an increase in proapoptotic genes was observed in peripheral immune cells isolated from IFN β treated patients (331, 332).

Pathogenic T_H1 and/or T_H17 cells likely play an important role in MS, and IFN β therapy may limit the proliferation of pathogenic T cells and modulate their cytokine production (332, 333). IFN β therapy is likely more effective in individuals with a T_H1 driven disease, since high serum IL-17F levels correlated with a poor response to IFN β therapy (318). A number of cell types are likely involved in protective IFN β treatment. For example, IFN β treatment of MS patients can induce IL-10 production by myeloid cells, but treatment can also suppress production of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), IFN γ , and TNF by effector T cells (334–340). Additionally, in patients that responded to IFN β therapy, treatment induced T regulatory cells that produced IL-10 and expressed PD-L1 (341, 342). Altogether, the protective mechanisms that underlie IFN β therapeutic effects likely involve direct or indirect actions on effecter T cells. A better understanding of these mechanisms would likely reveal important information about the functional capacity of IFN β *in vivo*.

Remarks on Autoimmune Studies

A large proportion of patients with SLE or T1D show a type I IFN signature in their blood, and many studies have shown that type I IFNs promote pathogenesis in these autoimmune disorders. There is strong evidence implicating the IFN subtypes in initiation and progression of SLE and T1D, but at this time, a role for IFNB cannot be entirely ruled out-direct functional comparisons of IFNa versus IFN β would be needed to draw that conclusion. Altogether, the specific pathogenic functions of type I IFNs during autoimmune disorders are likely tissue specific. A recent study performed geneexpression profiling of structural cells from 12 different tissues and found that the responses of the cells to stimuli were tissue-specific, thus identifying the stroma as an important regulator of tissuespecific immune responses (343). While there is clear evidence that type I IFNs can modulate pathogenic autoimmune responses, it is important to know how systemic IFNa activity might promote celltype specific effects in diseased versus nondiseased tissues in disorders like T1D that target a particular tissue, but also in diseases like SLE that have multi-organ effects.

In contrast, blood from MS patients do not display as robust a type I IFN signature as SLE or T1D patients, and many studies have demonstrated that IFN β treatment has therapeutic properties in animal models of MS and in affected individuals. The protective functions of IFN β are complex and likely include modulating immune cell recruitment and activation directly through action on immune cells and indirectly through action on brain resident cells. The functions of IFN α s in MS are less clear. There might be conditions, such as very low doses or when targeted to a specific cell type, in which IFN α subtypes are also protective. Careful comparison of IFN β versus IFN α dose responses in EAE might uncover novel mechanisms for differential functions among type I IFNs *in vivo*.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Whether type I IFNs have a net beneficial or detrimental effect on disease outcome depends on a variety of factors including the timing and magnitude of induction relative to disease onset, the duration of expression, the specific subtypes induced, the cell types responding, and likely other factors. Progress is needed in understanding the spatiotemporal induction of the various type I IFN subtypes *in vivo*, as well as the cell types responsible for type I IFN production. A lack of tools to differentiate between different subtypes has hindered progress in this area. Quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction has been a useful technique for quantifying specific IFN subtypes, and single-molecule array (Simoa) digital ELISA technology was demonstrated to detect IFN in blood with high sensitivity (344). However, there is a need for licensed antibodies against individual

subtypes that are able to neutralize in animal models and reliably stain tissue sections to more accurately determine the timing of expression at the tissue level.

Transcriptomic approaches have successfully differentiated type I and type III ISG signatures in organoid cultures (345). Because the effects of type I IFN are pleiotropic, there is a need to delineate the ISGs responsible for the protective and pathogenic functions of type I IFN subtypes in a given context and to understand how cell-type specificity might affect expression of those genes. A recent report profiled gene-expression networks of fibroblasts, endothelial, and epithelial cells isolated from multiple tissues and revealed tissue-specific signaling networks (343). A similar approach or spatial transcriptomics, which yields gene expression profiles in intact tissue sections, would be powerful tools to unravel the cell type-specific responses to different type I IFN subtypes *in vivo* (346).

Lastly, given that many type I IFN subtypes have expanded independently after mammalian speciation, there is a great need for tools to allow the study of human type I IFN subtypes in animal models. Immune-humanized mice and hybrid IFNAR (HyBNAR) mice, which transgenically encode variants of IFNAR1/2 that contain the human extracellular domains fused to the transmembrane and cytoplasmic segments of murine IFNAR, have both been used to study HuIFN in mice (347). These two systems are helpful in contexts where immune cells are the predominant sources of and responders to type I IFN or in studies administering exogenous HuIFN, but they do not permit loss-of-function studies, exclude the impact of endogenous IFN expression by stromal cells, and IFNAR1/2 transgenes are likely more highly expressed than endogenous IFNAR1/2. Overall, a concerted effort to address this lack of tools will go a long way toward increasing our ability to directly compare the expression

REFERENCES

- Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. Proc R Soc London Ser B - Biol Sci (1957) 147:258-67. doi: 10.1098/rspb. 1957.0048
- Lazear HM, Schoggins JW, Diamond MS. Shared and Distinct Functions of Type I and Type III Interferons. *Immunity* (2019) 50:907–23. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2019.03.025
- Schoenborn JR, Wilson CB. Regulation of Interferon-γ During Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses. Adv Immunol (2007) 96:41–101. doi: 10.1016/ S0065-2776(07)96002-2
- Platanias LC. Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5:375–86. doi: 10.1038/nri1604
- McNab F, Mayer-Barber K, Sher A, Wack A, O'Garra A. Type I interferons in infectious disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2015) 15:87–103. doi: 10.1038/ nri3787
- Woelk CH, Frost SDW, Richman DD, Higley PE, Kosakovsky Pond SL. Evolution of the interferon alpha gene family in eutherian mammals. *Gene* (2007) 397:38–50. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2007.03.018
- Pestka S, Krause CD, Walter MR. Interferons, interferon-like cytokines, and their receptors. *Immunol Rev* (2004) 202:8–32. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.00204.x
- van Pesch V, Lanaya H, Renauld J-C, Michiels T. Characterization of the Murine Alpha Interferon Gene Family. J Virol (2004) 78:8219–28. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.15.8219-8228.2004
- Hardy MP, Owczarek CM, Jermiin LS, Ejdebäck M, Hertzog PJ. Characterization of the type I interferon locus and identification of novel genes. *Genomics* (2004) 84:331–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2004.03.003

and functions of distinct type I IFN subtypes, which will undoubtedly generate new strategies to augment or dampen the type I IFN pathway for biomedical purposes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LEF and MCL conceptualized and drafted the manuscript, as well as created the figures and tables. LEF, MCL, and DJL all reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

LEF was supported by a National Institutes of Health (NIH) postdoctoral research training grant (T32 CA009547) (https://www.nih.gov/). MCL was supported by a predoctoral research training grant (T32 AI007163) and by an F31 fellowship (AI149999-01A1) (Ruth L. Kirschstein Predoctoral Individual National Research Service Award) from the NIH (https://www.nih.gov/). DJL was supported by the NIH (R01 AI127513 and R21 AI135490) (https://www.nih.gov/).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Anne Robinson and Amanda Dicks for designing and editing **Figure 2** in association with InPrint at Washington University in St. Louis.

- Chen J, Baig E, Fish EN. Diversity and relatedness among the type I interferons. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2004) 24:687–98. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2004.24.687
- Xu L, Yang L, Liu W. Distinct evolution process among type I interferon in mammals. Protein Cell (2013) 4:383–92. doi: 10.1007/s13238-013-3021-1
- Kotenko SV, Gallagher G, Baurin VV, Lewis-Antes A, Shen M, Shah NK, et al. IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:69–77. doi: 10.1038/ni875
- Roberts RM, Ezashi T, Rosenfeld CS, Ealy AD, Kubisch HM. Evolution of the interferon tau genes and their promoters, and maternal-trophoblast interactions in control of their expression. *Reprod Suppl* (2003) 61:239–51. doi: 10.1530/biosciprocs.5.018
- Li S, Gong M, Zhao F, Shao J, Xie Y, Zhang Y, et al. Type I Interferons: Distinct Biological Activities and Current Applications for Viral Infection. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2018) 51:2377–96. doi: 10.1159/000495897
- Walker AM, Roberts RM. Characterization of the bovine type I IFN locus: Rearrangements, expansions, and novel subfamilies. *BMC Genomics* (2009) 10:187. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-10-187
- Sang Y, Bergkamp J, Blecha F. Molecular evolution of the porcine type I interferon family: Subtype-specific expression and antiviral activity. *PloS One* (2014) 9:e112378. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0112378
- Shields LE, Jennings J, Liu Q, Lee J, Ma W, Blecha F, et al. Cross-Species Genome-Wide Analysis Reveals Molecular and Functional Diversity of the Unconventional Interferon-ω Subtype. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1431. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01431
- Manry J, Laval G, Patin E, Fornarino S, Itan Y, Fumagalli M, et al. Evolutionary genetic dissection of human interferons. J Exp Med (2011) 208:2747–59. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111680

- Coelho LFL, Magno de Freitas Almeida G, Mennechet FJD, Blangy A, Uzé G. Interferon-alpha and -beta differentially regulate osteoclastogenesis: role of differential induction of chemokine CXCL11 expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2005) 102:11917–22. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0502188102
- Schreiber G. The molecular basis for differential type I interferon signaling. J Biol Chem (2017) 292:7285–94. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R116.774562
- Hertzog PJ, Williams BRG. Fine tuning type I interferon responses. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24:217–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.04.002
- Honda K, Taniguchi T. IRFs: master regulators of signalling by Toll-like receptors and cytosolic pattern-recognition receptors. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6:644–58. doi: 10.1038/nri1900
- Ryzhakov G, Eames HL, Udalova IA. Activation and function of interferon regulatory factor 5. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2015) 35:71–8. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2014.0023
- Swiecki M, Colonna M. The multifaceted biology of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15:471–85. doi: 10.1038/nri3865
- 25. Au WC, Moore PA, Lowther W, Juang YT, Pitha PM. Identification of a member of the interferon regulatory factor family that binds to the interferon-stimulated response element and activates expression of interferon-induced genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1995) 92:11657–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.25.11657
- 26. Lin R, Heylbroeck C, Pitha PM, Hiscott J. Virus-dependent phosphorylation of the IRF-3 transcription factor regulates nuclear translocation, transactivation potential, and proteasome-mediated degradation. *Mol Cell Biol* (1998) 18:2986–96. doi: 10.1128/MCB.18.5.2986
- Sato M, Tanaka N, Hata N, Oda E, Taniguchi T. Involvement of the IRF family transcription factor IRF-3 in virus-induced activation of the IFN-β gene. FEBS Lett (1998) 425:112–6. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(98)00210-5
- Schafer SL, Lin R, Moore PA, Hiscott J, Pitha PM. Regulation of Type I Interferon Gene Expression by Interferon Regulatory Factor-3. J Biol Chem (1998) 273:2714–20. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.5.2714
- Wathelet MG, Lin CH, Parekh BS, Ronco LV, Howley PM, Maniatis T. Virus Infection Induces the Assembly of Coordinately Activated Transcription Factors on the IFN-β Enhancer In Vivo. *Mol Cell* (1998) 1:507–18. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80051-9
- Yoneyama M, Suhara W, Fukuhara Y, Fukuda M, Nishida E, Fujita T. Direct triggering of the type I interferon system by virus infection: activation of a transcription factor complex containing IRF-3 and CBP/p300. EMBO J (1998) 17:1087–95. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.4.1087
- Juang YT, Lowther W, Kellum M, Au WC, Lin R, Hiscott J, et al. Primary activation of interferon A and interferon B gene transcription by interferon regulatory factor 3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1998) 95:9837–42. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.17.9837
- Marié I, Durbin JE, Levy DE. Differential viral induction of distinct interferon-alpha genes by positive feedback through interferon regulatory factor-7. *EMBO J* (1998) 17:6660–9. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.22.6660
- 33. Sato M, Hata N, Asagiri M, Nakaya T, Taniguchi T, Tanaka N. Positive feedback regulation of type I IFN genes by the IFN-inducible transcription factor IRF-7. *FEBS Lett* (1998) 441:106–10. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(98) 01514-2
- 34. Honda K, Yanai H, Negishi H, Asagiri M, Sato M, Mizutani T, et al. IRF-7 is the master regulator of type-I interferon-dependent immune responses. *Nature* (2005) 434:772–7. doi: 10.1038/nature03464
- MacDonald NJ, Kuhl D, Maguire D, Näf D, Gallant P, Goswamy A, et al. Different pathways mediate virus inducibility of the human IFN-alpha 1 and IFN-beta genes. *Cell* (1990) 60:767–79. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90091-R
- Génin P, Lin R, Hiscott J, Civas A. Differential Regulation of Human Interferon A Gene Expression by Interferon Regulatory Factors 3 and 7. *Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 29:3435–50. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01805-08
- Gessani S, Belardelli F, Pecorelli A, Puddu P, Baglioni C. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide and gamma interferon induce transcription of beta interferon mRNA and interferon secretion in murine macrophages. *J Virol* (1989) 63:2785–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.63.6.2785-2789.1989
- Panne D, Maniatis T, Harrison SC. An atomic model of the interferon-beta enhanceosome. Cell (2007) 129:1111–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.019
- Hata N, Sato M, Takaoka A, Asagiri M, Tanaka N, Taniguchi T. Constitutive IFN-alpha/beta signal for efficient IFN-alpha/beta gene induction by virus.

Biochem Biophys Res Commun (2001) 285:518-25. doi: 10.1006/ bbrc.2001.5159

- Abt MC, Osborne LC, Monticelli LA, Doering TA, Alenghat T, Sonnenberg GF, et al. Commensal bacteria calibrate the activation threshold of innate antiviral immunity. *Immunity* (2012) 37:158–70. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2012.04.011
- Ganal SC, Sanos SL, Kallfass C, Oberle K, Johner C, Kirschning C, et al. Priming of natural killer cells by nonmucosal mononuclear phagocytes requires instructive signals from commensal microbiota. *Immunity* (2012) 37:171–86. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.020
- Kawashima T, Kosaka A, Yan H, Guo Z, Uchiyama R, Fukui R, et al. Doublestranded RNA of intestinal commensal but not pathogenic bacteria triggers production of protective interferon-β. *Immunity* (2013) 38:1187–97. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.02.024
- 43. Winkler ES, Shrihari S, Hykes BL, Handley SA, Andhey PS, Huang Y-JS, et al. The Intestinal Microbiome Restricts Alphavirus Infection and Dissemination through a Bile Acid-Type I IFN Signaling Axis. *Cell* (2020) 182:901–18.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.06.029
- 44. Bradley KC, Finsterbusch K, Schnepf D, Crotta S, Llorian M, Davidson S, et al. Microbiota-Driven Tonic Interferon Signals in Lung Stromal Cells Protect from Influenza Virus Infection. *Cell Rep* (2019) 28:245–56.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.05.105
- Morin P, Bragança J, Bandu MT, Lin R, Hiscott J, Doly J, et al. Preferential binding sites for interferon regulatory factors 3 and 7 involved in interferon-A gene transcription. *J Mol Biol* (2002) 316:1009–22. doi: 10.1006/ jmbi.2001.5401
- 46. Civas A, Génin P, Morin P, Lin R, Hiscott J. Promoter organization of the interferon-A genes differentially affects virus-induced expression and responsiveness to TBK1 and IKK*e*. J Biol Chem (2006) 281:4856–66. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M506812200
- Gough DJ, Messina NL, Clarke CJP, Johnstone RW, Levy DE. Constitutive Type I Interferon Modulates Homeostatic Balance through Tonic Signaling. *Immunity* (2012) 36:166–74. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.01.011
- LaFleur DW, Nardelli B, Tsareva T, Mather D, Feng P, Semenuk M, et al. Interferon-κ, a Novel Type I Interferon Expressed in Human Keratinocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276:39765–71. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102502200
- Nardelli B, Zaritskaya L, Semenuk M, Cho YH, LaFleur DW, Shah D, et al. Regulatory effect of IFN-kappa, a novel type I IFN, on cytokine production by cells of the innate immune system. *J Immunol* (2002) 169:4822–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.9.4822
- 50. He Y, Fu W, Cao K, He Q, Ding X, Chen J, et al. IFN-κ suppresses the replication of influenza A virusesthrough the IFNAR-MAPK-Fos-CHD6 axis. *Sci Signal* (2020) 13:eaaz3381. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aaz3381
- Fung KY, Mangan NE, Cumming H, Horvat JC, Mayall JR, Stifter SA, et al. Interferon-ε protects the female reproductive tract from viral and bacterial infection. *Science* (2013) 339:1088–92. doi: 10.1126/science.1233321
- Hermant P, Francius C, Clotman F, Michiels T. IFN-ε Is Constitutively Expressed by Cells of the Reproductive Tract and Is Inefficiently Secreted by Fibroblasts and Cell Lines. *PloS One* (2013) 8:1–9. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0071320
- Demers A, Kang G, Ma F, Lu W, Yuan Z, Li Y, et al. The mucosal expression pattern of interferon-ε in rhesus macaques. *J Leukoc Biol* (2014) 96:1101–7. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A0214-088RRR
- Schreiber G, Piehler J. The molecular basis for functional plasticity in type I interferon signaling. *Trends Immunol* (2015) 36:139–49. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2015.01.002
- 55. Ng CT, Mendoza JL, Garcia KC, Oldstone MBA. Alpha and Beta Type 1 Interferon Signaling: Passage for Diverse Biologic Outcomes. *Cell* (2016) 164:349–52. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.12.027
- Piehler J, Roisman LC, Schreiber G. New Structural and Functional Aspects of the Type I Interferon-Receptor Interaction Revealed by Comprehensive Mutational Analysis of the Binding Interface. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275:40425– 33. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M006854200
- Roisman LC, Jaitin DA, Baker DP, Schreiber G. Mutational Analysis of the IFNAR1 Binding Site on IFNα2 Reveals the Architecture of a Weak Ligand– Receptor Binding-site. J Mol Biol (2005) 353:271–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.jmb.2005.08.042

- Lavoie TB, Kalie E, Crisafulli-Cabatu S, Abramovich R, DiGioia G, Moolchan K, et al. Binding and activity of all human alpha interferon subtypes. *Cytokine* (2011) 56:282–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.07.019
- de Weerd NA, Matthews AY, Pattie PR, Bourke NM, Lim SS, Vivian JP, et al. A hot spot on interferon α/β receptor subunit 1 (IFNAR1) underpins its interaction with interferon-β and dictates signaling. J Biol Chem (2017) 292:7554–65. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.773788
- 60. de Weerd NA, Vivian JP, Nguyen TK, Mangan NE, Gould JA, Braniff S-J, et al. Structural basis of a unique interferon-β signaling axis mediated via the receptor IFNAR1. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:901–7. doi: 10.1038/ni.2667
- Thomas C, Moraga I, Levin D, Krutzik PO, Podoplelova Y, Trejo A, et al. Structural linkage between ligand discrimination and receptor activation by type I interferons. *Cell* (2011) 146:621–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.06.048
- 62. Jaitin DA, Roisman LC, Jaks E, Gavutis M, Piehler J, Van der Heyden J, et al. Inquiring into the differential action of interferons (IFNs): an IFN-alpha2 mutant with enhanced affinity to IFNAR1 is functionally similar to IFN-beta. *Mol Cell Biol* (2006) 26:1888–97. doi: 10.1128/MCB.26.5.1888-1897.2006
- Harris BD, Schreiter J, Chevrier M, Jordan JL, Walter MR. Human interferon-ε and interferon-κ exhibit low potency and low affinity for cellsurface IFNAR and the poxvirus antagonist B18R. J Biol Chem (2018) 293:16057–68. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.003617
- Moraga I, Spangler J, Mendoza JL, Garcia KC. Multifarious Determinants of Cytokine Receptor Signaling Specificity. *Adv Immunol* (2014) 121:1–39. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800100-4.00001-5
- Moraga I, Harari D, Schreiber G, Uze G, Pellegrini S. Receptor Density Is Key to the Alpha2/Beta Interferon Differential Activities. *Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 29:4778–87. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01808-08
- Levin D, Harari D, Schreiber G. Stochastic Receptor Expression Determines Cell Fate upon Interferon Treatment. *Mol Cell Biol* (2011) 31:3252–66. doi: 10.1128/MCB.05251-11
- Zheng H, Qian J, Varghese B, Baker DP, Fuchs S. Ligand-Stimulated Downregulation of the Alpha Interferon Receptor: Role of Protein Kinase D2. Mol Cell Biol (2011) 31:710–20. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01154-10
- Kumar KGS, Tang W, Ravindranath AK, Clark WA, Croze E, Fuchs SY. SCF (HOS) ubiquitin ligase mediates the ligand-induced down-regulation of the interferon-alpha receptor. *EMBO J* (2003) 22:5480–90. doi: 10.1093/emboj/ cdg524
- 69. Marchetti M, Monier MN, Fradagrada A, Mitchell K, Baychelier F, Eid P, et al. Stat-mediated signaling induced by type I and type II interferons (IFNs) is differentially controlled through lipid microdomain association and clathrin-dependent endocytosis of IFN receptors. *Mol Biol Cell* (2006) 17:2896–909. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e06-01-0076
- 70. Marijanovic Z, Ragimbeau J, van der Heyden J, Uzé G, Pellegrini S. Comparable potency of IFN α 2 and IFN β on immediate JAK/STAT activation but differential down-regulation of IFNAR2. *Biochem J* (2007) 407:141–51. doi: 10.1042/BJ20070605
- Payelle-Brogard B, Pellegrini S. Biochemical monitoring of the early endocytic traffic of the type I interferon receptor. J Interf Cytokine Res (2010) 30:89–98. doi: 10.1089/jir.2009.0044
- Chmiest D, Sharma N, Zanin N, Viaris de Lesegno C, Shafaq-Zadah M, Sibut V, et al. Spatiotemporal control of interferon-induced JAK/STAT signalling and gene transcription by the retromer complex. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:13476. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13476
- 73. Piganis RAR, De Weerd NA, Gould JA, Schindler CW, Mansell A, Nicholson SE, et al. Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling (SOCS) 1 inhibits type I interferon (IFN) signaling via the interferon α receptor (IFNAR1)-associated tyrosine kinase tyk2. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:33811–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.270207
- Morales DJ, Lenschow DJ. The antiviral activities of ISG15. J MolBiol (2013) 425:4995–5008. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.09.041
- Malakhova OA, Kim K IL, Luo JK, Zou W, Kumar KGS, Fuchs SY, et al. UBP43 is a novel regulator of interferon signaling independent of its ISG15 isopeptidase activity. *EMBO J* (2006) 25:2358–67. doi: 10.1038/ sj.emboj.7601149
- Wilmes S, Beutel O, Li Z, Francois-Newton V, Richter CP, Janning D, et al. Receptor dimerization dynamics as a regulatory valve for plasticity of type I interferon signaling. *J Cell Biol* (2015) 209:579–93. doi: 10.1083/ jcb.201412049

- 77. François-Newton V, Magno de Freitas Almeida G, Payelle-Brogard B, Monneron D, Pichard-Garcia L, Piehler J, et al. USP18-based negative feedback control is induced by type I and type III interferons and specifically inactivates interferon α response. *PloS One* (2011) 6:e22200. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022200
- Wilson EB, Yamada DH, Elsaesser H, Herskovitz J, Deng J, Cheng G, et al. Blockade of chronic type I interferon signaling to control persistent LCMV infection. *Science* (2013) 340:202–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1235208
- 79. Teijaro JR, Ng C, Lee AM, Sullivan BM, Sheehan KCF, Welch M, et al. Persistent LCMV infection is controlled by blockade of type I interferon signaling. *Science* (2013) 340:207–11. doi: 10.1126/science. 1235214
- Ng CT, Sullivan BM, Teijaro JR, Lee AM, Welch M, Rice S, et al. Blockade of Interferon Beta, but Not Interferon Alpha, SignalingControls Persistent Viral Infection. *Cell Host Microbe*(2015) 17:653–61. doi: 10.1016/ j.chom.2015.04.005
- Baccala R, Welch MJ, Gonzalez-Quintial R, Walsh KB, Teijaro JR, Nguyen A, et al. Type I interferon is a therapeutic target for virus-induced lethal vascular damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2014) 111:8925–30. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1408148111
- Oldstone MBA, Ware BC, Horton LE, Welch MJ, Aiolfi R, Zarpellon A, et al. Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus Clone 13 infection causes either persistence or acute death dependent on IFN-1, cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs), and host genetics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2018) 115:E7814–23. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1804674115
- Samuel MA, Diamond MS. Alpha/Beta Interferon Protects against Lethal West Nile Virus Infection by Restricting Cellular Tropism and Enhancing Neuronal Survival. J Virol (2005) 79:13350–61. doi: 10.1128/ JVI.79.21.13350-13361.2005
- Pinto AK, Ramos HJ, Wu X, Aggarwal S, Shrestha B, Gorman M, et al. Deficient IFN Signaling by Myeloid Cells Leads to MAVS-Dependent Virus-Induced Sepsis. *PloS Pathog* (2014) 10:e1004086. doi: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1004086
- Daffis S, Samuel MA, Suthar MS, Keller BC, Gale M, Diamond MS. Interferon Regulatory Factor IRF-7 Induces the Antiviral Alpha Interferon Response and Protects against Lethal West Nile Virus Infection. J Virol (2008) 82:8465–75. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00918-08
- Sheehan KCF, Lazear HM, Diamond MS, Schreiber RD. Selective Blockade of Interferon-α and -β Reveals Their Non-Redundant Functions in a Mouse Model of West Nile Virus Infection. *PloS One* (2015) 10:e0128636. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128636
- Lazear HM, Pinto AK, Vogt MR, Gale M, Diamond MS. Beta Interferon Controls West Nile Virus Infection and Pathogenesis in Mice. J Virol (2011) 85:7186–94. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00396-11
- Couderc T, Chrétien F, Schilte C, Disson O, Brigitte M, Guivel-Benhassine F, et al. A mouse model for Chikungunya: Young age and inefficient type-I interferon signaling are risk factors for severe disease. *PloS Pathog* (2008) 4: e29. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0040029
- Schilte C, Couderc T, Chretien F, Sourisseau M, Gangneux N, Guivel-Benhassine F, et al. Type I IFN controls chikungunya virus via its action on nonhematopoietic cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207:429–42. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20090851
- Cook LE, Locke MC, Young AR, Monte K, Hedberg ML, Shimak RM, et al. Distinct Roles of Interferon Alpha and Beta in Controlling Chikungunya Virus Replication and Modulating Neutrophil-Mediated Inflammation. *J Virol* (2019) 94:e00841–19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00841-19
- Rudd PA, Wilson J, Gardner J, Larcher T, Babarit C, Le TT, et al. Interferon Response Factors 3 and 7 Protect against Chikungunya Virus Hemorrhagic Fever and Shock. J Virol (2012) 86:9888–98. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00956-12
- Schilte C, Buckwalter MR, Laird ME, Diamond MS, Schwartz O, Albert ML. Cutting Edge: Independent Roles for IRF-3 and IRF-7 in Hematopoietic and Nonhematopoietic Cells during Host Response to Chikungunya Infection. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:2967–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103185
- Koerner I, Kochs G, Kalinke U, Weiss S, Staeheli P. Protective Role of Beta Interferon in Host Defense against Influenza A Virus. J Virol (2007) 81:2025–30. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01718-06
- Deonarain R, Alcamí A, Alexiou M, Dallman MJ, Gewert DR, Porter AC. Impaired antiviral response and alpha/beta interferon induction in mice

lacking beta interferon. J Virol (2000) 74:3404–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.7.3404-3409.2000

- Gerlach N, Schimmer S, Weiss S, Kalinke U, Dittmer U. Effects of Type I Interferons on Friend Retrovirus Infection. J Virol (2006) 80:3438–44. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.7.3438-3444.2006
- Gerlach N, Gibbert K, Alter C, Nair S, Zelinskyy G, James CM, et al. Antiretroviral effects of type I IFN subtypes in vivo. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39:136–46. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838311
- Gibbert K, Joedicke JJ, Meryk A, Trilling M, Francois S, Duppach J, et al. Interferon-alpha subtype 11 activates NK cells and enables control of retroviral infection. *PloS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002868. doi: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1002868
- Song J, Li S, Zhou Y, Liu J, Francois S, Lu M, et al. Different antiviral effects of IFNα subtypes in a mouse model of HBV infection. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:334. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-00469-1
- Zhou Y, Li S, Tang Z, Xu C, Huang S, Wu J, et al. Different antiviral effects of IFNα and IFNβ in an HBV mouse model. *Immunobiology* (2017) 222:562– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2016.11.003
- Oldstone MBA. Biology and pathogenesis of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol (2002) 263:83–117. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-56055-2_6
- Suprunenko T, Hofer MJ. Complexities of Type I Interferon Biology: Lessons from LCMV. Viruses (2019) 11:172. doi: 10.3390/v11020172
- 102. Sullivan BM, Emonet SF, Welch MJ, Lee AM, Campbell KP, De La Torre JC, et al. Point mutation in the glycoprotein of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus is necessary for receptor binding, dendritic cell infection, and long-term persistence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2011) 108:2969–74. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1019304108
- 103. Osokine I, Snell LM, Cunningham CR, Yamada DH, Wilson EB, Elsaesser HJ, et al. Type I interferon suppresses de novo virus-specific CD4 Th1 immunity during an established persistent viral infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2014) 111:7409–14. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1401662111
- Raju S, Verbaro DJ, Egawa T. PD-1 Signaling Promotes Control of Chronic Viral Infection by Restricting Type-I-Interferon-Mediated Tissue Damage. *Cell Rep* (2019) 29:2556–64.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.10.092
- 105. Moseman EA, Wu T, de la Torre JC, Schwartzberg PL, McGavern DB. Type I interferon suppresses virus-specific B cell responses by modulating CD8+ T cell differentiation. *Sci Immunol* (2016) 1:eaah3565. doi: 10.1126/ sciimmunol.aah3565
- 106. Iannacone M, Sitia G, Isogawa M, Whitmire JK, Marchese P, Chisari FV, et al. Platelets prevent IFN-α/β-induced lethal hemorrhagepromoting CTLdependent clearance of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus.*Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2008) 105:629–34. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711200105
- 107. Schnell FJ, Sundholm S, Crumley S, Iversen PL, Mourich DV. Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus Infection in FVB Mouse Produces Hemorrhagic Disease. *PloS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1003073. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003073
- Silva LA, Dermody TS. Chikungunya virus: epidemiology, replication, disease mechanisms, and prospective intervention strategies. J Clin Invest (2017) 127:737–49. doi: 10.1172/JCI84417
- Suthar MS, Diamond MS, Gale M. West Nile virus infection and immunity. Nat Rev Microbiol (2013) 11:115–28. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2950
- 110. Chen H-W, King K, Tu J, Sanchez M, Luster AD, Shresta S. The roles of IRF-3 and IRF-7 in innate antiviral immunity against dengue virus. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:4194–201. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300799
- 111. Lang PA, Cervantes-Barragan L, Verschoor A, Navarini AA, Recher M, Pellegrini M, et al. Hematopoietic cell-derived interferon controls viral replication and virus-induced disease. *Blood* (2008) 113:1045–52. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-10-117861
- 112. Soper A, Kimura I, Nagaoka S, Konno Y, Yamamoto K, Koyanagi Y, et al. Type I interferon responses by HIV-1 infection: Association with disease progression and control. *Front Immunol* (2018) 8:1823. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.01823
- 113. Acchioni C, Marsili G, Perrotti E, Remoli AL, Sgarbanti M, Battistini A. Type I IFN – A blunt spear in fighting HIV-1 infection. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2015) 26:143–58. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2014.10.004
- 114. Doyle T, Goujon C, Malim MH. HIV-1 and interferons: who's interfering with whom? Nat Rev Microbiol (2015) 13:403-13. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3449

- 115. Harper MS, Guo K, Gibbert K, Lee EJ, Dillon SM, Barrett BS, et al. Interferon-α Subtypes in an Ex Vivo Model of Acute HIV-1 Infection: Expression, Potency and Effector Mechanisms. *PloS Pathog* (2015) 11: e1005254. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005254
- 116. Lavender KJ, Gibbert K, Peterson KE, Van Dis E, Francois S, Woods T, et al. Interferon Alpha Subtype-Specific Suppression of HIV-1 Infection In Vivo. *J Virol* (2016) 90:6001–13. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00451-16
- 117. Abraham S, Choi JG, Ortega NM, Zhang J, Shankar P, Swamy NM. Gene therapy with plasmids encoding IFN-β or IFN-α14 confers long-term resistance to HIV-1 in humanized mice. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:78412–20. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12512
- Dickow J, Francois S, Kaiserling R-L, Malyshkina A, Drexler I, Westendorf AM, et al. Diverse Immunomodulatory Effects of Individual IFNα Subtypes on Virus-Specific CD8+ T Cell Responses. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2255. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02255
- Rehermann B, Bertoletti A. Immunological aspects of antiviral therapy of chronic hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections. *Hepatology* (2015) 61:712–21. doi: 10.1002/hep.27323
- Heim MH. 25 years of interferon-based treatment of chronic hepatitis C: An epoch coming to an end. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13:535–42. doi: 10.1038/ nri3463
- 121. Muoz R, Castellano G, Fernández I, Álvarez MV, Manzano ML, Marcos MS, et al. A pilot study of β-interferon for treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B who failed to respond to α -interferon. *J Hepatol* (2002) 37:655–9. doi: 10.1016/S0168-8278(02)00261-1
- 122. Ruíz-Moreno M, Fernández P, Leal A, Bartolomé J, Castillo I, Oliva H, et al. Pilot interferon-β trial in children with chronic hepatitis B who had previously not responded to interferon-α therapy. *Pediatrics* (1997) 99:222–5. doi: 10.1542/peds.99.2.222
- 123. Arase Y, Suzuki Y, Suzuki F, Matsumoto N, Akuta N, Imai N, et al. Efficacy and safety of combination therapy of natural human interferon beta and ribavirin in chronic hepatitis C patients. *Intern Med* (2011) 50:2083–8. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.50.5767
- 124. Flores I, Mariano TM, Pestka S. Human interferon omega (ω) binds to the α / β receptor. *J Biol Chem* (1991) 266:19875–7.
- 125. Yang LM, Xue QH, Sun L, Zhu YP, Liu WJ. Cloning and characterization of a novel feline IFN-ω. J Interf Cytokine Res (2007) 27:119–27. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2006.0094
- 126. Pavlovich SS, Lovett SP, Koroleva G, Guito JC, Arnold CE, Nagle ER, et al. The Egyptian Rousette Genome Reveals Unexpected Features of Bat Antiviral Immunity. *Cell* (2018) 173:1098–110.e18. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2018.03.070
- 127. He X, Koryta T, Schatz J, Freuling CM, Muller T, Kollner B. Anti-Lyssaviral Activity of Interferons κ and ω from the Serotine Bat, Eptesicus serotinus. *J Virol* (2014) 88:5444–54. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03403-13
- 128. Li SF, Zhao FR, Gong MJ, Shao JJ, Xie YL, Chang HY, et al. Antiviral activity of porcine interferon omega 7 against foot-and-mouth disease virus in vitro. *J Med Virol* (2019) 91:208–14. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25272
- 129. Wang X, Li F, Han M, Jia S, Wang L, Qiao X, et al. Cloning, prokaryotic soluble expression, and analysis of antiviral activity of two novel feline IFN-ω proteins. *Viruses* (2020) 12:335. doi: 10.3390/v12030335
- 130. Pavlovich SS, Darling T, Hume AJ, Davey RA, Feng F, Mühlberger E, et al. Egyptian Rousette IFN- ω Subtypes Elicit Distinct Antiviral Effects and Transcriptional Responses in Conspecific Cells. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:435. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00435
- 131. Zhao X, Cheng G, Yan W, Liu M, He Y, Zheng Z. Characterization and virusinduced expression profiles of the porcine interferon-ω multigene family. *J Interf Cytokine Res* (2009) 29:687–93. doi: 10.1089/jir.2008.0060
- Davidson S, Maini MK, Wack A. Disease-Promoting Effects of Type I Interferons in Viral, Bacterial, and Coinfections. J Interf Cytokine Res (2015) 35:252–64. doi: 10.1089/jir.2014.0227
- Park A, Iwasaki A, Type I. and Type III Interferons Induction, Signaling, Evasion, and Application to Combat COVID-19. *Cell Host Microbe* (2020) 27:870–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.05.008
- 134. Channappanavar R, Fehr AR, Vijay R, Mack M, Zhao J, Meyerholz DK, et al. Dysregulated Type I Interferon and Inflammatory Monocyte-Macrophage Responses Cause Lethal Pneumonia in SARS-CoV-Infected Mice. *Cell Host Microbe* (2016) 19:181–93. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.01.007

- 135. Davidson S, Crotta S, McCabe TM, Wack A. Pathogenic potential of interferon αβ in acute influenza infection. Nat Commun (2014) 5:3864. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4864
- Major J, Crotta S, Llorian M, McCabe TM, Gad HH, Priestnall SL, et al. Type Iand III interferons disrupt lung epithelial repair during recovery from viral infection. *Science* (2020) 369:712–7. doi: 10.1126/science.abc2061
- 137. Dorhoi A, Yeremeev V, Nouailles G, Weiner J, Jörg S, Heinemann E, et al. Type I IFN signaling triggers immunopathology in tuberculosis-susceptible mice by modulating lung phagocyte dynamics. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:2380–93. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344219
- 138. Manca C, Tsenova L, Freeman S, Barczak AK, Tovey M, Murray PJ, et al. Hypervirulent M. tuberculosis W/Beijing strains upregulate type I IFNs and increase expression of negative regulators of the Jak-Stat pathway. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2005) 25:694–701. doi: 10.1089/jir.2005.25.694
- 139. Ji DX, Yamashiro LH, Chen KJ, Mukaida N, Kramnik I, Darwin KH, et al. Type I interferon-driven susceptibility to Mycobacterium tuberculosis is mediated by IL-1Ra. *Nat Microbiol* (2019) 4:2128–35. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0578-3
- 140. Kimmey JM, Campbell JA, Weiss LA, Monte KJ, Lenschow DJ, Stallings CL. The impact of ISGylation during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in mice. *Microbes Infect* (2017) 19:249–58. doi: 10.1016/ j.micinf.2016.12.006
- 141. Mayer-Barber KD, Andrade BB, Barber DL, Hieny S, Feng CG, Caspar P, et al. Innate and adaptive interferons suppress IL-1α and IL-1β production by distinct pulmonary myeloid subsets during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *Immunity* (2011) 35:1023–34. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.12.002
- 142. Mayer-Barber KD, Andrade BB, Oland SD, Amaral EP, Barber DL, Gonzales J, et al. Host-directed therapy of tuberculosis based on interleukin-1 and type I interferon crosstalk. *Nature* (2014) 511:99–103. doi: 10.1038/nature13489
- 143. Antonelli LRV, Gigliotti Rothfuchs A, Gonçalves R, Roffè E, Cheever AW, Bafica A, et al. Intranasal Poly-IC treatment exacerbates tuberculosis in mice through the pulmonary recruitment of a pathogen-permissive monocyte/ macrophage population. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:1674–82. doi: 10.1172/ JCI40817
- 144. Robinson N, McComb S, Mulligan R, Dudani R, Krishnan L, Sad S. Type I interferon induces necroptosis in macrophages during infection with Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:954– 62. doi: 10.1038/ni.2397
- 145. Perkins DJ, Rajaiah R, Tennant SM, Ramachandran G, Higginson EE, Dyson TN, et al. Salmonella Typhimurium Co-Opts the Host Type I IFN System To Restrict Macrophage Innate Immune Transcriptional Responses Selectively. *J Immunol* (2015) 195:2461–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500105
- 146. Gratz N, Hartweger H, Matt U, Kratochvill F, Janos M, Sigel S, et al. Type I interferon production induced by Streptococcus pyogenes-derived nucleic acids is required for host protection. *PloS Pathog* (2011) 7:e1001345. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001345
- 147. Mancuso G, Midiri A, Biondo C, Beninati C, Zummo S, Galbo R, et al. Type I IFN signaling is crucial for host resistance against different species of pathogenic bacteria. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:3126–33. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.178.5.3126
- 148. LeMessurier KS, Häcker H, Chi L, Tuomanen E, Redecke V. Type I interferon protects against pneumococcal invasive disease by inhibiting bacterial transmigration across the lung. *PloS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003727. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003727
- 149. Damjanovic D, Khera A, Medina MF, Ennis J, Turner JD, Gauldie J, et al. Type 1 interferon gene transfer enhances host defense against pulmonary Streptococcus pneumoniae infection via activating innate leukocytes. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* (2014) 1:14005. doi: 10.1038/mtm.2014.5
- Carrero JA, Calderon B, Unanue ER. Type I Interferon Sensitizes Lymphocytes to Apoptosis and Reduces Resistance to Listeria Infection. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200:535–40. doi: 10.1084/jem.20040769
- 151. Osborne SE, Sit B, Shaker A, Currie E, Tan JMJ, van Rijn J, et al. Type I interferon promotes cell-to-cell spread of Listeria monocytogenes. *Cell Microbiol* (2017) 19:e12660. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12660
- 152. O'Connell RM, Saha SK, Vaidya SA, Bruhn KW, Miranda GA, Zarnegar B, et al. Type I Interferon Production Enhances Susceptibility to Listeria monocytogenes Infection. J Exp Med (2004) 200:437–45. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20040712

- Auerbuch V, Brockstedt DG, Meyer-Morse N, O'Riordan M, Portnoy DA. Mice Lacking the Type I Interferon Receptor Are Resistant to Listeria monocytogenes. J Exp Med (2004) 200:527–33. doi: 10.1084/jem.20040976
- 154. Pai M, Behr MA, Dowdy D, Dheda K, Divangahi M, Boehme CC, et al. Tuberculosis. Nat Rev Dis Prim (2016) 2:16076. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.77
- 155. Moreira-Teixeira L, Mayer-Barber K, Sher A, O'Garra A. Type I interferons in tuberculosis: Foe and occasionally friend. J Exp Med (2018) 215:1273–85. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180325
- 156. Berry MPR, Graham CM, McNab FW, Xu Z, Bloch SAA, Oni T, et al. An interferon-inducible neutrophil-driven blood transcriptional signature in human tuberculosis. *Nature* (2010) 466:973–7. doi: 10.1038/nature09247
- 157. Ottenhoff THM, Dass RH, Yang N, Zhang MM, Wong HEE, Sahiratmadja E, et al. Genome-Wide Expression Profiling Identifies Type 1 Interferon Response Pathways in Active Tuberculosis. *PloS One* (2012) 7:e45839. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0045839
- 158. Maertzdorf J, Repsilber D, Parida SK, Stanley K, Roberts T, Black G, et al. Human gene expression profiles of susceptibility and resistance in tuberculosis. *Genes Immun* (2011) 12:15–22. doi: 10.1038/gene.2010.51
- 159. Manca C, Tsenova L, Bergtold A, Freeman S, Tovey M, Musser JM, et al. Virulence of a Mycobacterium tuberculosis clinical isolate in mice is determined by failure to induce Th1 type immunity and is associated with induction of IFN-α/β. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2001) 98:5752–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.091096998
- 160. Ordway D, Henao-Tamayo M, Harton M, Palanisamy G, Troudt J, Shanley C, et al. The Hypervirulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis Strain HN878 Induces a Potent TH1 Response followed by Rapid Down-Regulation. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:522–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.1.522
- 161. Carmona J, Cruz A, Moreira-Teixeira L, Sousa C, Sousa J, Osorio NS, et al. Mycobacterium tuberculosis Strains Are Differentially Recognized by TLRs with an Impact on the Immune Response. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e67277. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0067277
- 162. Moreira-Teixeira L, Tabone O, Graham CM, Singhania A, Stavropoulos E, Redford PS, et al. Mouse transcriptome reveals potential signatures of protection and pathogenesis in human tuberculosis. *Nat Immunol* (2020) 21:464–76. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0610-z
- 163. de Paus RA, van Wengen A, Schmidt I, Visser M, Verdegaal EME, van Dissel JT, et al. Inhibition of the type I immune responses of human monocytes by IFN-α and IFN-β. *Cytokine* (2013) 61:645–55. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2012.12.005
- 164. Teles RMB, Graeber TG, Krutzik SR, Montoya D, Schenk M, Lee DJ, et al. Type I interferon suppresses type II interferon-triggered human antimycobacterial responses. *Science* (2013) 339:1448–53. doi: 10.1126/ science.1233665
- 165. McNab FW, Ewbank J, Howes A, Moreira-Teixeira L, Martirosyan A, Ghilardi N, et al. Type I IFN induces IL-10 production in an IL-27independent manner and blocks responsiveness to IFN-γ for production of IL-12 and bacterial killing in Mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected macrophages. J Immunol (2014) 193:3600–12. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1401088
- 166. Taneja V, Kalra P, Goel M, Khilnani GC, Saini V, Prasad GBKS, et al. Impact and prognosis of the expression of IFN-α among tuberculosis patients. *PloS One* (2020) 15:e0235488. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0235488
- 167. Giosué S, Casarini M, Alemanno L, Galluccio G, Mattia P, Pedicelli G, et al. Effects of aerosolized interferon-alpha in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (1998) 158:1156–62. doi: 10.1164/ ajrccm.158.4.9803065
- 168. Palmero D, Eiguchi K, Rendo P, Castro Zorrilla L, Abbate E, González Montaner LJ. Phase II trial of recombinant interferon-alpha2b in patients with advanced intractable multidrug-resistant pulmonary tuberculosis: longterm follow-up. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* (1999) 3:214–8.
- 169. Zarogoulidis P, Kioumis I, Papanas N, Manika K, Kontakiotis T, Papagianis A, et al. The effect of combination IFN-alpha-2a with usual antituberculosis chemotherapy in non-responding tuberculosis and diabetes mellitus: a case report and review of the literature. J Chemother (2012) 24:173–7. doi: 10.1179/ 1973947812Y.0000000005
- 170. Giosuè S, Casarini M, Ameglio F, Zangrilli P, Palla M, Altieri AM, et al. Aerosolized interferon-alpha treatment in patients with multi-drug-resistant pulmonary tuberculosis. *Eur Cytokine Netw* (2000) 11:99–104.

- 171. Moreira-Teixeira L, Sousa J, McNab FW, Torrado E, Cardoso F, Machado H, et al. Type I IFN Inhibits Alternative Macrophage Activation during Mycobacterium tuberculosis Infection and Leads to Enhanced Protection in the Absence of IFN-γ Signaling. J Immunol (2016) 197:4714–26. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600584
- Desvignes L, Wolf AJ, Ernst JD. Dynamic Roles of Type I and Type II IFNs in Early Infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Immunol (2012) 188:6205–15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200255
- 173. Ward CM, Jyonouchi H, Kotenko SV, Smirnov SV, Patel R, Aguila H, et al. Adjunctive treatment of disseminated Mycobacterium avium complex infection with interferon alpha-2b in a patient with complete interferongamma receptor R1 deficiency. *Eur J Pediatr* (2007) 166:981–5. doi: 10.1007/ s00431-006-0339-1
- 174. Bax HI, Freeman AF, Ding L, Hsu AP, Marciano B, Kristosturyan E, et al. Interferon Alpha Treatment of Patients with Impaired Interferon Gamma Signaling. J Clin Immunol (2013) 33:991–1001. doi: 10.1007/s10875-013-9882-5
- 175. Rivas-Santiago CE, Guerrero GG. IFN-α Boosting of Mycobacterium bovis Bacillus Calmette Güerin-Vaccine Promoted Th1 Type Cellular Response and Protection against M. tuberculosis Infection. *BioMed Res Int* (2017) 2017:8796760. doi: 10.1155/2017/8796760
- 176. Gröschel MI, Sayes F, Shin SJ, Frigui W, Pawlik A, Orgeur M, et al. Recombinant BCG Expressing ESX-1 of Mycobacterium marinum Combines Low Virulence with Cytosolic Immune Signaling and Improved TB Protection. *Cell Rep* (2017) 18:2752–65. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.02.057
- 177. Bottai D, Frigui W, Clark S, Rayner E, Zelmer A, Andreu N, et al. Increased protective efficacy of recombinant BCG strains expressing virulence-neutral proteins of the ESX-1 secretion system. *Vaccine* (2015) 33:2710–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.03.083
- 178. Lienard J, Nobs E, Lovins V, Movert E, Valfridsson C, Carlsson F. The Mycobacterium marinum ESX-1 system mediates phagosomal permeabilization and type I interferon production via separable mechanisms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2020) 117:1160-6. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1911646117
- 179. Stanley SA, Johndrow JE, Manzanillo P, Cox JS. The Type I IFN Response to Infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis Requires ESX-1-Mediated Secretion and Contributes to Pathogenesis. J Immunol (2007) 178:3143–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.3143
- 180. Giacomini E, Remoli ME, Gafa V, Pardini M, Fattorini L, Coccia EM. IFN-β improves BCG immunogenicity by acting on DC maturation. J Leukoc Biol (2009) 85:462–8. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0908583
- 181. Bouchonnet F, Boechat N, Bonay M, Hance AJ. Alpha/Beta Interferon Impairs the Ability of Human Macrophages To Control Growth of Mycobacterium bovis BCG. *Infect Immun* (2002) 70:3020–5. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.70.6.3020-3025.2002
- 182. Hos NJ, Ganesan R, Gutiérrez S, Hos D, Klimek J, Abdullah Z, et al. Type I interferon enhances necroptosis of Salmonella Typhimurium–infected macrophages by impairing antioxidative stress responses. J Cell Biol (2017) 216:4107–21. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201701107
- Radoshevich L, Cossart P. Listeria monocytogenes: Towards a complete picture of its physiology and pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2018) 16:32– 46. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2017.126
- Pitts MG, Myers-Morales T, D'Orazio SEF. Type I IFN Does Not Promote Susceptibility to Foodborne Listeria monocytogenes. J Immunol (2016) 196:3109–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502192
- 185. Kernbauer E, Maier V, Rauch I, Müller M, Decker T. Route of Infection Determines the Impact of Type I Interferons on Innate Immunity to Listeria monocytogenes. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e65007. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0065007
- 186. Garifulin O, Qi Z, Shen H, Patnala S, Green MR, Boyartchuk V. Irf3 Polymorphism Alters Induction of Interferon Beta in Response to Listeria monocytogenes Infection. *PloS Genet* (2007) 3:e152. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pgen.0030152
- 187. Stockinger S, Materna T, Stoiber D, Bayr L, Steinborn R, Kolbe T, et al. Production of Type I IFN Sensitizes Macrophages to Cell Death Induced by Listeria monocytogenes. J Immunol (2002) 169:6522–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.169.11.6522

- Merrick JC, Edelson BT, Bhardwaj V, Swanson PE, Unanue ER. Lymphocyte apoptosis during early phase of Listeria infection in mice. *Am J Pathol* (1997) 151:785–92.
- Mitchell TJ. The pathogenesis of streptococcal infections: from tooth decay to meningitis. Nat Rev Microbiol (2003) 1:219–30. doi: 10.1038/ nrmicro771
- Weiser JN, Ferreira DM, Paton JC. Streptococcus pneumoniae: transmission, colonization and invasion. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2018) 16:355–67. doi: 10.1038/s41579-018-0001-8
- Phillips MA, Burrows JN, Manyando C, van Huijsduijnen RH, Van Voorhis WC, Wells TNC. Malaria. *Nat Rev Dis Prim* (2017) 3:17050. doi: 10.1038/ nrdp.2017.50
- 192. Kaye P, Scott P. Leishmaniasis: complexity at the host-pathogen interface. Nat Rev Microbiol (2011) 9:604–15. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2608
- 193. Hotez PJ, Bethony JM, Diemert DJ, Pearson M, Loukas A. Developing vaccines to combat hookworm infection and intestinal schistosomiasis. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2010) 8:814–26. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2438
- 194. Savioli L, Albonico M. Focus: Soil-transmitted helminthiasis. Nat Rev Microbiol (2004) 2:618–9. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro962
- 195. Sebina I, Haque A. Effects of type I interferons in malaria. Immunology (2018) 155:176–85. doi: 10.1111/imm.12971
- 196. Silva-Barrios S, Stäger S. Protozoan Parasites and Type I IFNs. Front Immunol (2017) 8:14. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00014
- 197. Liehl P, Zuzarte-Luís V, Chan J, Zillinger T, Baptista F, Carapau D, et al. Host-cell sensors for Plasmodium activate innate immunity against liverstage infection. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:47–53. doi: 10.1038/nm.3424
- 198. Miller JL, Sack BK, Baldwin M, Vaughan AM, Kappe SHII. Interferon-Mediated Innate Immune Responses against Malaria Parasite Liver Stages. *Cell Rep* (2014) 7:436–47. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.03.018
- 199. Edwards CL, Best SE, Gun SY, Claser C, James KR, de Oca MM, et al. Spatiotemporal requirements for IRF7 in mediating type I IFN-dependent susceptibility to blood-stage Plasmodium infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45:130–41. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444824
- 200. Sebina I, James KR, Soon MSF, Fogg LG, Best SE, de Labastida Rivera F, et al. IFNAR1-Signalling Obstructs ICOS-mediated Humoral Immunity during Non-lethal Blood-Stage Plasmodium Infection. *PloS Pathog* (2016) 12: e1005999. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005999
- 201. Yu X, Cai B, Wang M, Tan P, Ding X, Wu J, et al. Cross-Regulation of Two Type I Interferon Signaling Pathways in Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Controls Anti-malaria Immunity and Host Mortality. *Immunity* (2016) 45:1093–107. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.001
- 202. Vigário AM, Belnoue E, Cumano A, Marussig M, Miltgen F, Landau I, et al. Inhibition of Plasmodium yoelii blood-stage malaria by interferon α through the inhibition of the production of its target cell, the reticulocyte. *Blood* (2001) 97:3966–71. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.12.3966
- 203. Sharma S, DeOliveira RB, Kalantari P, Parroche P, Goutagny N, Jiang Z, et al. Innate Immune Recognition of an AT-Rich Stem-Loop DNA Motif in the Plasmodium falciparum Genome. *Immunity* (2011) 35:194–207. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.05.016
- 204. Haque A, Best SE, Ammerdorffer A, Desbarrieres L, de Oca MM, Amante FH, et al. Type I interferons suppress CD4+ T-cell-dependent parasite control during blood-stage Plasmodium infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:2688–98. doi: 10.1002/eji.201141539
- 205. Ball EA, Sambo MR, Martins M, Trovoada MJ, Benchimol C, Costa J, et al. IFNAR1 Controls Progression to Cerebral Malaria in Children and CD8 + T Cell Brain Pathology in Plasmodium berghei –Infected Mice. J Immunol (2013) 190:5118–27. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300114
- 206. Palomo J, Fauconnier M, Coquard L, Gilles M, Meme S, Szeremeta F, et al. Type I interferons contribute to experimental cerebral malaria development in response to sporozoite or blood-stage Plasmodium berghei ANKA. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:2683–95. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343327
- 207. Haque A, Best SE, Montes de Oca M, James KR, Ammerdorffer A, Edwards CL, et al. Type I IFN signaling in CD8- DCs impairs Th1-dependent malaria immunity. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:2483–96. doi: 10.1172/JCI70698
- Morrell CN, Srivastava K, Swaim A, Lee MT, Chen J, Nagineni C, et al. Beta Interferon Suppresses the Development of Experimental Cerebral Malaria. *Infect Immun* (2011) 79:1750–8. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00810-10

- 209. Vigário AM, Belnoue E, Grüner AC, Marussig M, Kayibanda M, Deschemin J-C, et al. Recombinant Human IFN-α Inhibits Cerebral Malaria and Reduces Parasite Burden in Mice. J Immunol (2007) 178:6416–25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6416
- Gowda DC, Wu X. Parasite Recognition and Signaling Mechanisms in Innate Immune Responses to Malaria. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:3006. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2018.03006
- 211. Meister A, Uze G, Mogensen KE, Gresser I, Tovey MG, Grutter M, et al. Biological Activities and Receptor Binding of Two Human Recombinant Interferons and their Hybrids. J Gen Virol (1986) 67:1633–43. doi: 10.1099/ 0022-1317-67-8-1633
- 212. Yu X, Du Y, Cai C, Cai B, Zhu M, Xing C, et al. Inflammasome activation negatively regulates MyD88-IRF7 type I IFN signaling and anti-malaria immunity. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9:4964. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07384-7
- 213. He X, Ashbrook AW, Du Y, Wu J, Hoffmann H-H, Zhang C, et al. RTP4 inhibits IFN-I response and enhances experimental cerebral malaria and neuropathology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2020) 117:19465–74. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.2006492117
- 214. Aucan C, Walley AJ, Hennig BJW, Fitness J, Frodsham A, Zhang L, et al. Interferon-alpha receptor-1 (IFNAR1) variants are associated with protection against cerebral malaria in the Gambia. *Genes Immun* (2003) 4:275–82. doi: 10.1038/sj.gene.6363962
- 215. Khor CC, Vannberg FO, Chapman SJ, Walley A, Aucan C, Loke H, et al. Positive replication and linkage disequilibrium mapping of the chromosome 21q22.1 malaria susceptibility locus. *Genes Immun* (2007) 8:570–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.gene.6364417
- 216. Zhang G, DeWeerd NA, Stifter SA, Liu L, Zhou B, Wang W, et al. A proline deletion in IFNAR1 impairs IFN-signaling and underlies increased resistance to tuberculosis in humans. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9:85. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02611-z
- 217. Feintuch CM, Tare A, Cusumano LR, Benayoun J, Ryu S, Sixpence A, et al. Type I Interferon Receptor Variants in Gene Regulatory Regions are Associated with Susceptibility to Cerebral Malaria in Malawi. Am J Trop Med Hyg (2018) 98:1692–8. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.17-0887
- 218. Sacramento LA, Benevides L, Maruyama SR, Tavares L, Fukutani KF, Francozo M, et al. TLR4 abrogates the Th1 immune response through IRF1 and IFN- β to prevent immunopathology during L. infantum infection. *PloS Pathog* (2020) 16:e1008435. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008435
- 219. Matta SK, Olias P, Huang Z, Wang Q, Park E, Yokoyama WM, et al. Toxoplasma gondii effector TgIST blocks type I interferon signaling to promote infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2019) 116:17480–91. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1904637116
- 220. Obieglo K, Costain A, Webb LM, Ozir-Fazalalikhan A, Brown SL, MacDonald AS, et al. Type I interferons provide additive signals for murine regulatory B cell induction by Schistosoma mansoni eggs. Eur J Immunol (2019) 49:1226–34. doi: 10.1002/eji.201847858
- 221. Aksoy E, Zouain CS, Vanhoutte F, Fontaine J, Pavelka N, Thieblemont N, et al. Double-stranded RNAs from the helminth parasite Schistosoma activate TLR3 in dendritic cells. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:277–83. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M411223200
- 222. Parker BS, Rautela J, Hertzog PJ. Antitumour actions of interferons: implications for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2016) 16:131–44. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.14
- 223. Budhwani M, Mazzieri R, Dolcetti R. Plasticity of Type I Interferon-Mediated Responses in Cancer Therapy: From Anti-tumor Immunity to Resistance. *Front Oncol* (2018) 8:322. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00322
- 224. Snell LM, McGaha TL, Brooks DG. Type I Interferon in Chronic Virus Infection and Cancer. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38:542–57. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2017.05.005
- 225. Reid LM, Minato N, Gresser I, Holland J, Kadish A, Bloom BR. Influence of anti-mouse interferon serum on the growth and metastasis of tumor cells persistently infected with virus and of human prostatic tumors in athymic nude mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (1981) 78:1171–5. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.78.2.1171
- 226. Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Sheehan KCF, Shankaran V, Uppaluri R, Bui JD, et al. A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:722–9. doi: 10.1038/ni1213

- 227. Diamond MS, Kinder M, Matsushita H, Mashayekhi M, Dunn GP, Archambault JM, et al. Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune rejection of tumors. J Exp Med (2011) 208:1989–2003. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101158
- Schiavoni G, Mattei F, Gabriele L. Type I Interferons as Stimulators of DC-Mediated Cross-Priming: Impact on Anti-Tumor Response. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:1–7. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00483
- 229. Swann JB, Swann JB, Hayakawa Y, Zerafa N, Sheehan KCF, Scott B, Schreiber RD, et al. Type I IFN Contributes to NK Cell Homeostasis, Activation, and Antitumor Function. J Immunol (2007) 178:7540–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.12.7540
- 230. von Marschall Z, Scholz A, Cramer T, Schafer G, Schirner M, Oberg K, et al. Effects of Interferon Alpha on Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Gene Transcription and Tumor Angiogenesis. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst (2003) 95:437–48. doi: 10.1093/jnci/95.6.437
- 231. Spaapen RM, Leung MYK, Fuertes MB, Kline JP, Zhang L, Zheng Y, et al. Therapeutic Activity of High-Dose Intratumoral IFN-β Requires Direct Effect on the Tumor Vasculature. J Immunol (2014) 193:4254–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401109
- Shi Y. Interferon-α-secreting mesenchymal stem cells exert potent antitumor effect in vivo. Oncogene (2014) 33:5047–52. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.458
- 233. Benci JL, Xu B, Qiu Y, Wu TJ, Dada H, Twyman-Saint Victor C, et al. Tumor Interferon Signaling Regulates a Multigenic Resistance Program to Immune Checkpoint Blockade. *Cell* (2016) 167:1540–54.e12. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2016.11.022
- 234. Cheon H, Holvey-Bates EG, Schoggins JW, Forster S, Hertzog P, Imanaka N, et al. IFNβ-dependent increases in STAT1, STAT2, and IRF9 mediate resistance to viruses and DNA damage. *EMBO J* (2013) 32:2751–63. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.203
- 235. Andzinski L, Kasnitz N, Stahnke S, Wu C-FF, Gereke M, Von Köckritz-Blickwede M, et al. Type I IFNs induce anti-tumor polarization of tumor associated neutrophils in mice and human. *Int J Cancer* (2016) 138:1982–93. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29945
- 236. Wu C-F, Andzinski L, Kasnitz N, Kröger A, Klawonn F, Lienenklaus S, et al. The lack of type I interferon induces neutrophil-mediated pre-metastatic niche formation in the mouse lung. *Int J Cancer* (2015) 137:837–47. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29444
- 237. Jablonska J, Leschner S, Westphal K, Lienenklaus S, Weiss S. Neutrophils responsive to endogenous IFN-beta regulate tumor angiogenesis and growth in a mouse tumor model. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120:1151–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI37223
- Jablonska J, Wu C-F, Andzinski L, Leschner S, Weiss S. CXCR2-mediated tumor-associated neutrophil recruitment is regulated by IFN-β. Int J Cancer (2014) 134:1346–58. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28551
- Gresser I, Maury C, Brouty-Boyé D. Mechanism of the antitumour effect of interferon in mice. Nature (1972) 239:167–8. doi: 10.1038/239167a0
- 240. Gresser I, Bourali C, Lévy JP, Fontaine-Brouty-Boyé D, Thomas MT. Increased survival in mice inoculated with tumor cells and treated with interferon preparations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1969) 63:51–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.63.1.51
- 241. Talpaz M, Hehlmann R, Quintás-Cardama A, Mercer J, Cortes J. Reemergence of interferon- α in the treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* (2013) 27:803–12. doi: 10.1038/leu.2012.313
- 242. Di Trolio R, Simeone E, Di Lorenzo G, Buonerba C, Ascierto PA. The use of interferon in melanoma patients: a systematic review. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2015) 26:203–12. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2014.11.008
- 243. Kranz LM, Diken M, Haas H, Kreiter S, Loquai C, Reuter KC, et al. Systemic RNA delivery to dendritic cells exploits antiviral defence for cancer immunotherapy. *Nature* (2016) 534:396–401. doi: 10.1038/nature18300
- 244. Escobar G, Moi D, Ranghetti A, Ozkal-Baydin P, Squadrito ML, Kajaste-Rudnitski A, et al. Genetic Engineering of Hematopoiesis for Targeted IFN-Delivery Inhibits Breast Cancer Progression. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:217ra3–3. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3006353
- 245. Cauwels A, Van Lint S, Garcin G, Bultinck J, Paul F, Gerlo S, et al. A safe and highly efficient tumor-targeted type I interferon immunotherapy depends on the tumor microenvironment. *Oncoimmunology* (2018) 7:e1398876. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1398876

- 246. Garcin G, Paul F, Staufenbiel M, Bordat Y, Van der Heyden J, Wilmes S, et al. High efficiency cell-specific targeting of cytokine activity. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3016. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4016
- Buzzai AC, Wagner T, Audsley KM, Newnes HV, Barrett LW, Barnes S, et al. Diverse Anti-Tumor Immune Potential Driven by Individual IFNα Subtypes. Front Immunol (2020) 11:542. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00542
- 248. Willemen Y, Van den Bergh JMJ, Lion E, Anguille S, Roelandts VAE, Van Acker HH, et al. Engineering monocyte-derived dendritic cells to secrete interferon-α enhances their ability to promote adaptive and innate antitumor immune effector functions. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2015) 64:831–42. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1688-2
- Jiang W, Zhang C, Tian Z, Zhang J. hIFN-α gene modification augments human natural killer cell line anti-human hepatocellular carcinoma function. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20:1062–9. doi: 10.1038/gt.2013.31
- Hashimoto H, Ueda R, Narumi K, Heike Y, Yoshida T, Aoki K. Type I IFN gene delivery suppresses regulatory T cells within tumors. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2014) 21:532–41. doi: 10.1038/cgt.2014.60
- 251. Escobar G, Barbarossa L, Barbiera G, Norelli M, Genua M, Ranghetti A, et al. Interferon gene therapy reprograms the leukemia microenvironment inducing protective immunity to multiple tumor antigens. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9:2896. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05315-0
- 252. Doherty MR, Cheon H, Junk DJ, Vinayak S, Varadan V, Telli ML, et al. Interferon-beta represses cancer stem cell properties in triple-negative breast cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2017) 114:13792–7. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1713728114
- 253. Yang X, Zhang X, Fu ML, Weichselbaum RR, Gajewski TF, Guo Y, et al. Targeting the tumor microenvironment with interferon-β bridges innate and adaptive immune responses. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 25:37–48. doi: 10.1016/ j.ccr.2013.12.004
- 254. Koba C, Haruta M, Matsunaga Y, Matsumura K, Haga E, Sasaki Y, et al. Therapeutic Effect of Human iPS-Cell–Derived Myeloid Cells Expressing IFN-β against Peritoneally Disseminated Cancer in Xenograft Models. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e67567. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0067567
- 255. Van der Jeught K, Joe PT, Białkowski L, Heirman C, Daszkiewicz L, Liechtenstein T, et al. Intratumoral administration of mRNA encoding a fusokine consisting of IFN-β and the ectodomain of the TGF-β receptor ii potentiates antitumor immunity. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5:10100–13. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2463
- 256. Angstreich GR, Matsui W, Huff CA, Vala MS, Barber J, Hawkins AL, et al. Effects of imatinib and interferon on primitive chronic myeloid leukaemia progenitors. Br J Haematol (2005) 130:373–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05606.x
- 257. Essers MAG, Offner S, Blanco-Bose WE, Waibler Z, Kalinke U, Duchosal MA, et al. IFNα activates dormant haematopoietic stem cells in vivo. *Nature* (2009) 458:904–8. doi: 10.1038/nature07815
- 258. Bidwell BN, Slaney CY, Withana NP, Forster S, Cao Y, Loi S, et al. Silencing of Irf7 pathways in breast cancer cells promotes bone metastasis through immune escape. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1224–31. doi: 10.1038/nm.2830
- 259. Chawla-Sarkar M, Leaman DW, Borden EC. Preferential induction of apoptosis by interferon (IFN)-β compared with IFN-α: Correlation with TRAIL/Apo2L induction in melanoma cell lines. *Clin Cancer Res* (2001) 7:1821–31.
- 260. Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, et al. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:1301–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.3708
- 261. Lim JYH, Gerber SA, Murphy SP, Lord EM. Type I interferons induced by radiation therapy mediate recruitment and effector function of CD8+ T cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2014) 63:259–71. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1506-7
- 262. Burnette BC, Liang H, Lee Y, Chlewicki L, Khodarev NN, Weichselbaum RR, et al. The efficacy of radiotherapy relies upon induction of type i interferondependent innate and adaptive immunity. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:2488–96. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2820
- 263. Deng L, Liang H, Xu M, Yang X, Burnette B, Arina A, et al. STING-Dependent Cytosolic DNA Sensing Promotes Radiation-Induced Type I Interferon-Dependent Antitumor Immunity in Immunogenic Tumors. *Immunity* (2014) 41:843–52. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.019

- 264. Woo S-R, Fuertes MB, Corrales L, Spranger S, Furdyna MJ, Leung MYK, et al. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing mediates innate immune recognition of immunogenic tumors. *Immunity* (2014) 41:830–42. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.017
- 265. Chen J, Cao Y, Markelc B, Kaeppler J, Vermeer JAF, Muschel RJ. Type I IFN protects cancer cells from CD8+ T cell-mediated cytotoxicity after radiation. *J Clin Invest* (2019) 129:4224–38. doi: 10.1172/JCI127458
- 266. Westcott MM, Liu J, Rajani K, D'Agostino R, Lyles DS, Porosnicu M. Interferon Beta and Interferon Alpha 2a Differentially Protect Head and Neck Cancer Cells from Vesicular Stomatitis Virus-Induced Oncolysis. J Virol (2015) 89:7944–54. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00757-15
- 267. Muskardin TLW, Niewold TB. Type I interferon in rheumatic diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2018) 14:214–28. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2018.31
- 268. Yao Y, Liu Z, Jallal B, Shen N, Rönnblom L. Type I interferons in Sjögren's syndrome. Autoimmun Rev (2013) 12:558–66. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev. 2012.10.006
- 269. Kaul A, Gordon C, Crow MK, Touma Z, Urowitz MB, van Vollenhoven R, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Rev Dis Prim* (2016) 2:16039. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.39
- 270. Baechler EC, Batliwalla FM, Karypis G, Gaffney PM, Ortmann WA, Espe KJ, et al. Interferon-inducible gene expression signature in peripheral blood cells of patients with severe lupus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2003) 100:2610–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0337679100
- 271. Bennett L, Palucka AK, Arce E, Cantrell V, Borvak J, Banchereau J, et al. Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in systemic lupus erythematosus blood. J Exp Med (2003) 197:711–23. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021553
- Crow MK, Kirou KA, Wohlgemuth J. Microarray analysis of interferonregulated genes in SLE. Autoimmunity (2003) 36:481–90. doi: 10.1080/ 08916930310001625952
- 273. Bronson PG, Chaivorapol C, Ortmann W, Behrens TW, Graham RR. The genetics of type I interferon in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2012) 24:530–7. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2012.07.008
- 274. Mustelin T, Lood C, Giltiay NV. Sources of Pathogenic Nucleic Acids in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1028. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01028
- 275. Blanco P, Palucka AK, Gill M, Pascual V, Banchereau J. Induction of Dendritic Cell Differentiation by IFN-alpha in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Science (80-)* (2001) 294:1540–3. doi: 10.1126/ science.1064890
- 276. Klarquist J, Cantrell R, Lehn MA, Lampe K, Hennies CM, Hoebe K, et al. Type I IFN Drives Experimental Systemic Lupus Erythematosus by Distinct Mechanisms in CD4 T Cells and B Cells. *ImmunoHorizons* (2020) 4:140–52. doi: 10.4049/immunohorizons.2000005
- Banchereau J, Pascual V, Palucka AK. Autoimmunity through cytokineinduced dendritic cell activation. *Immunity* (2004) 20:539–50. doi: 10.1016/ S1074-7613(04)00108-6
- 278. Garcin G, Bordat Y, Chuchana P, Monneron D, Law HKW, Piehler J, et al. Differential Activity of Type I Interferon Subtypes for Dendritic Cell Differentiation. *PloS One* (2013) 8:1–11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0058465
- 279. Palucka AK, Blanck J-P, Bennett L, Pascual V, Banchereau J. Cross-regulation of TNF and IFN- α in autoimmune diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2005) 102:3372–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0408506102
- 280. Sharif MN, Tassiulas I, Hu Y, Mecklenbräuker I, Tarakhovsky A, Ivashkiv LB. IFN-α Priming Results in a Gain of Proinflammatory Function by IL-10: Implications for Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Pathogenesis. J Immunol (2004) 172:6476–81. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.10.6476
- 281. MacLennan IC, Vinuesa CG. Dendritic Cells, BAFF, and APRIL. Immunity (2002) 17:235–8. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00398-9
- 282. Petri M, Wallace DJ, Spindler A, Chindalore V, Kalunian K, Mysler E, et al. Sifalimumab, a Human Anti-Interferon- α Monoclonal Antibody, in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Phase I Randomized, Controlled, Dose-Escalation Study. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2013) 65:1011–21. doi: 10.1002/art.37824
- 283. Khamashta M, Merrill JT, Werth VP, Furie R, Kalunian K, Illei GG, et al. Sifalimumab, an anti-interferon- α monoclonal antibody, in moderate to severe systemic lupus erythematosus: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-

controlled study. Ann Rheumatol Dis (2016) 75:1909-16. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2015-208562

- 284. Lauwerys BR, Hachulla E, Spertini F, Lazaro E, Jorgensen C, Mariette X, et al. Down-regulation of interferon signature in systemic lupus erythematosus patients by active immunization with interferon α-kinoid. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2013) 65:447–56. doi: 10.1002/art.37785
- 285. Yao Y, Richman L, Higgs BW, Morehouse CA, De Los Reyes M, Brohawn P, et al. Neutralization of interferon-α/β-inducible genes and downstream effect in a phase I trial of an anti-interferon-α monoclonal antibody in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2009) 60:1785–96. doi: 10.1002/art.24557
- 286. Riggs JM, Hanna RN, Rajan B, Zerrouki K, Karnell JL, Sagar D, et al. Characterisation of anifrolumab, a fully human anti-interferon receptor antagonist antibody for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus Sci Med* (2018) 5:e000261. doi: 10.1136/lupus-2018-000261
- 287. Furie R, Khamashta M, Merrill JT, Werth VP, Kalunian K, Brohawn P, et al. Anifrolumab, an Anti–Interferon-α Receptor Monoclonal Antibody, in Moderate-to-Severe Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Arthritis Rheumatol (2017) 69:376–86. doi: 10.1002/art.39962
- Crow MK. Interferon-alpha: a therapeutic target in SLE. Rheum Dis Clin North Am (2010) 36:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2009.12.008
- Katsarou A, Gudbjörnsdottir S, Rawshani A, Dabelea D, Bonifacio E, Anderson BJ, et al. Type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Nat Rev Dis Prim* (2017) 3:17016. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.16
- 290. Huang X, Yuang J, Goddard A, Foulis A, James RFL, Lernmark A, et al. Interferon Expression in the Pancreases of Patients With Type I Diabetes. *Diabetes* (1995) 44:658–64. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.44.6.658
- 291. Ferreira RC, Guo H, Coulson RMR, Smyth DJ, Pekalski ML, Burren OS, et al. A type I Interferon transcriptional signature precedes autoimmunity in children genetically at risk for type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* (2014) 63:2538–50. doi: 10.2337/db13-1777
- 292. Kallionpaa H, Elo LL, Laajala E, Mykkanen J, Ricano-Ponce I, Vaarma M, et al. Innate Immune Activity Is Detected Prior to Seroconversion in Children With HLA-Conferred Type 1 Diabetes Susceptibility. *Diabetes* (2014) 63:2402–14. doi: 10.2337/db13-1775
- 293. Foulis AK, Farquharson MA, Meager A. Immunoreactive α-interferon in insulin-secreting β cells in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Lancet (London England)* (1987) 2:1423–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(87)91128-7
- 294. Todd JA. Etiology of Type 1 Diabetes. Immunity (2010) 32:457-67. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.04.001
- 295. Sepe V, Loviselli A, Bottazzo GF. Genetics of Type 1A Diabetes. N Engl J Med (2009) 361:211. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc091064
- 296. Marroqui L, Dos Santos RS, Fløyel T, Grieco FA, Santin I, Op de beeck A, et al. TYK2, a Candidate Gene for Type 1 Diabetes, Modulates Apoptosis and the Innate Immune Response in Human Pancreatic β -Cells. *Diabetes* (2015) 64:3808–17. doi: 10.2337/db15-0362
- 297. Stewart TA, Hultgren B, Huang X, Pitts-Meek S, Hully J, MacLachlan NJ. Induction of type I diabetes by interferon-alpha in transgenic mice. *Science* (1993) 260:1942–6. doi: 10.1126/science.8100367
- 298. Carrero JA, Calderon B, Towfic F, Artyomov MN, Unanue ER. Defining the Transcriptional and Cellular Landscape of Type 1 Diabetes in the NOD Mouse. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e59701. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059701
- 299. Li Q, Xu B, Michie SA, Rubins KH, Schreriber RD, McDevitt HO. Interferonα initiates type 1 diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2008) 105:12439–44. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806439105
- 300. Oldstone MBA, Nerenberg M, Southern P, Price J, Lewicki H. Virus infection triggers insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in a transgenic model: Role of anti-self (virus) immune response. *Cell* (1991) 65:319–31. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90165-U
- 301. Lang KS, Recher M, Junt T, Navarini AA, Harris NL, Freigang S, et al. Tolllike receptor engagement converts T-cell autoreactivity into overt autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* (2005) 11:138–45. doi: 10.1038/nm1176
- 302. Marro BS, Ware BC, Zak J, de la Torre JC, Rosen H, Oldstone MBA. Progression of type 1 diabetes from the prediabetic stage is controlled by interferon-α signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2017) 114:3708–13. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1700878114
- 303. Fabris P, Floreani A, Tositti G, Vergani D, de Lalla F, Betterle C. Type 1 diabetes mellitus in patients with chronic hepatitis C before and after

interferon therapy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther (2003) 18:549-58. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.2003.01681.x

- 304. Meyer S, Woodward M, Hertel C, Vlaicu P, Haque Y, Kärner J, et al. AIRE-Deficient Patients Harbor Unique High-Affinity Disease-Ameliorating Autoantibodies. *Cell* (2016) 166:582–95. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2016.06.024
- 305. Filippi M, Bar-Or A, Piehl F, Preziosa P, Solari A, Vukusic S, et al. Multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Dis Prim (2018) 4:1–27. doi: 10.1038/s41572-018-0050-3
- 306. Comabella M, Lünemann JD, Río J, Sánchez A, López C, Julià E, et al. A type I interferon signature in monocytes is associated with poor response to interferon-β in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2009) 132:3353–65. doi: 10.1093/ brain/awp228
- 307. Feng X, Reder NP, Yanamandala M, Hill A, Franek BS, Niewold TB, et al. Type I interferon signature is high in lupus and neuromyelitis optica but low in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci (2012) 313:48–53. doi: 10.1016/ j.jns.2011.09.032
- 308. Jacobs L, Salazar AM, Herndon R, Reese PA, Freeman A, Josefowicz R, et al. Multicentre double-blind study of effect of intrathecally administered natural human fibroblast interferon on exacerbations of multiple sclerosis. *Lancet (London England)* (1986) 2:1411–3. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(86) 92730-3
- 309. Comi G, Filippi M, Barkhof F, Durelli L, Edan G, Fernández O, et al. Effect of early interferon treatment on conversion to definite multiple sclerosis: A randomised study. *Lancet* (2001) 357:1576–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00) 04725-5
- 310. Jacobs LD, Cookfair DL, Rudick RA, Herndon RM, Richert JR, Salazar AM, et al. Intramuscular interferon beta-1a for disease progression in relapsing multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* (1996) 39:285–94. doi: 10.1002/ ana.410390304
- 311. Calabresi PA, Kieseier BC, Arnold DL, Balcer LJ, Boyko A, Pelletier J, et al. Pegylated interferon β -1a for relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (ADVANCE): a randomised, phase 3, double-blind study. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13:657–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70068-7
- 312. Granqvist M, Boremalm M, Poorghobad A, Svenningsson A, Salzer J, Frisell T, et al. Comparative effectiveness of rituximab and other initial treatment choices for multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol* (2018) 75:320–7. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.4011
- 313. Mendel I, de Rosbo NK, Ben-Nun A. A myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein peptide induces typical chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in H-2b mice: Fine specificity and T cell receptor Vβ expression of encephalitogenic T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1995) 25:1951–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830250723
- 314. Salem M, Mony JT, Løbner M, Khorooshi R, Owens T. Interferon regulatory factor-7 modulates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *J Neuroinflam* (2011) 8:181. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-181
- 315. Prinz M, Schmidt H, Mildner A, Knobeloch KP, Hanisch UK, Raasch J, et al. Distinct and Nonredundant In Vivo Functions of IFNAR on Myeloid Cells Limit Autoimmunity in the Central Nervous System. *Immunity* (2008) 28:675–86. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.011
- 316. Teige I, Treschow A, Teige A, Mattsson R, Navikas V, Leanderson T, et al. IFN-beta gene deletion leads to augmented and chronic demyelinating experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:4776– 84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.9.4776
- 317. Fitzgerald DC, O'Brien K, Young A, Fonseca-Kelly Z, Rostami A, Gran B. Interferon regulatory factor (IRF) 3 is critical for the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroinflam* (2014) 11:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-11-130
- 318. Axtell RC, de Jong BA, Boniface K, van der Voort LF, Bhat R, De Sarno P, et al. T helper type 1 and 17 cells determine efficacy of interferon-βin multiple sclerosis and experimental encephalomyelitis. *Nat Med*(2010) 16:406–12. doi: 10.1038/nm.2110
- 319. Touil T, Fitzgerald D, Zhang G-X, Rostami A, Gran B. Cutting Edge: TLR3 Stimulation Suppresses Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis by Inducing Endogenous IFN-β. J Immunol (2006) 177:7505–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.177.11.7505
- 320. O'Brien K, Fitzgerald D, Rostami A, Gran B. The TLR7 agonist, imiquimod, increases IFN-β production and reduces the severity of experimental

autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol (2010) 221:107-11. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.01.006

- 321. Naves R, Singh SP, Cashman KS, Rowse AL, Axtell RC, Steinman L, et al. The Interdependent, Overlapping, and Differential Roles of Type I and II IFNs in the Pathogenesis of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:2967–77. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300419
- 322. Zhang L, Yuan S, Cheng G, Guo B. Type I IFN Promotes IL-10 Production from T Cells to Suppress Th17 Cells and Th17-Associated Autoimmune Inflammation. *PloS One* (2011) 6:e28432. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028432
- Pennell LM, Fish EN. Interferon-β regulates dendritic cell activation and migration in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Immunology* (2017) 152:439–50. doi: 10.1111/imm.12781
- 324. Shinohara ML, Kim J-H, Garcia VA, Cantor H. Engagement of the Type I Interferon Receptor on Dendritic Cells Inhibits T Helper 17 Cell Development: Role of Intracellular Osteopontin. *Immunity* (2008) 29:68– 78. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.05.008
- 325. Scheu S, Ali S, Mann-Nüttel R, Richter L, Arolt V, Dannlowski U, et al. Interferon β-mediated protective functions of microglia in central nervous system autoimmunity. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20:190. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20010190
- 326. Kocur M, Schneider R, Pulm AK, Bauer J, Kropp S, Gliem M, et al. IFNβ secreted by microglia mediates clearance of myelin debris in CNS autoimmunity. Acta Neuropathol Commun (2015) 3:20. doi: 10.1186/ s40478-015-0192-4
- 327. Rothhammer V, Mascanfroni ID, Bunse L, Takenaka MC, Kenison JE, Mayo L, et al. Type I interferons and microbial metabolites of tryptophan modulate astrocyte activity and central nervous system inflammation via the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nat Med* (2016) 22:586–97. doi: 10.1038/nm.4106
- 328. Vasquez M, Consuegra-Fernández M, Aranda F, Jimenez A, Tenesaca S, Fernandez-Sendin M, et al. Treatment of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis by Sustained Delivery of Low-Dose IFN-α. J Immunol (2019) 203:696–704. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1801462
- 329. Cauwels A, Van Lint S, Catteeuw D, Pang S, Paul F, Rogge E, et al. Targeting interferon activity to dendritic cells enables in vivo tolerization and protection against EAE in mice. J Autoimmun (2019) 97:70–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2018.10.010
- 330. Calabresi PA, Tranquill LR, Dambrosia JM, Stone LA, Maloni H, Bash CN, et al. Increases in soluble VCAM-1 correlate with a decrease in MRI lesions in multiple sclerosis treated with interferon β-1b. Ann Neurol (1997) 41:669– 74. doi: 10.1002/ana.410410517
- 331. Yu L, Croze E, Yamaguchi KD, Tran T, Reder AT, Litvak V, et al. Induction of a unique isoform of the NCOA7 oxidation resistance gene by interferon β-1b. J Interf Cytokine Res (2015) 35:186–99. doi: 10.1089/jir.2014.0115
- 332. Gniadek P, Aktas O, Wandinger K-P, Bellmann-Strobl J, Wengert O, Weber A, et al. Systemic IFN-beta treatment induces apoptosis of peripheral immune cells in MS patients. *J Neuroimmunol* (2003) 137:187–96. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(03)00074-2
- 333. Pette M, Pette DF, Muraro PA, Farnon E, Martin R, McFarland HF, et al. Interferon-β interferes with the proliferation but not with the cytokine secretion of myelin basic protein-specific, T-helper type 1 lymphocytes. *Neurology* (1997) 49:385–92. doi: 10.1212/WNL49.2.385
- 334. Rasouli J, Ciric B, Imitola J, Gonnella P, Hwang D, Mahajan K, et al. Expression of GM-CSF in T Cells Is Increased in Multiple Sclerosis and Suppressed by IFN-β Therapy. J Immunol (2015) 194:5085–93. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1403243
- 335. Börnsen L, Romme Christensen J, Ratzer R, Hedegaard C, Søndergaard HB, Krakauer M, et al. Endogenous Interferon-β-Inducible Gene Expression and

Interferon- β -Treatment Are Associated with Reduced T Cell Responses to Myelin Basic Protein in Multiple Sclerosis. *PloS One* (2015) 10:e0118830. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118830

- 336. Noronha A, Toscas A, Jensen MA. Interferon β decreases T cell activation and interferon γ production in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (1993) 46:145–53. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(93)90244-S
- 337. Özenci V, Kouwenhoven M, Huang YM, Kivisäkk P, Link H. Multiple sclerosis is associated with an imbalance between tumour necrosis factoralpha (TNF-α)- and IL-10-secreting blood cells that is corrected by interferon-beta (IFN-β) treatment. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2000) 120:147–53. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2000.01175.x
- 338. Krakauer M, Sorensen P, Khademi M, Olsson T, Sellebjerg F. Increased IL-10 mRNA and IL-23 mRNA expression in multiple sclerosis: Interferon-β treatment increases IL-10 mRNA expression while reducing IL-23 mRNA expression. *Mult Scler* (2008) 14:622–30. doi: 10.1177/1352458507087136
- Kozovska ME, et al. Interferon beta induces T-helper 2 immune deviation in MS. Neurology (1999) 53:1692–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.53.8.1692
- Reder AT, Feng X. How Type I Interferons Work in Multiple Sclerosis and Other Diseases: Some Unexpected Mechanisms. J Interf Cytokine Res (2014) 34:589–99. doi: 10.1089/jir.2013.0158
- 341. Liu Y, Carlsson R, Comabella M, Wang J, Kosicki M, Carrion B, et al. FoxA1 directs the lineage and immunosuppressive properties of a novel regulatory T cell population in EAE and MS. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:272–82. doi: 10.1038/ nm.3485
- Dominguez-Villar M, Baecher-Allan CM, Hafler DA. Identification of T helper type 1-"like, Foxp3 + regulatory T cells in human autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* (2011) 17:673–5. doi: 10.1038/nm.2389
- 343. Krausgruber T, Fortelny N, Fife-Gernedl V, Senekowitsch M, Schuster LC, Lercher A, et al. Structural cells are key regulators of organ-specific immune responses. *Nature* (2020) 583:296–302. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2424-4
- Rodero MP, Decalf J, Bondet V, Hunt D, Rice GI, Werneke S, et al. Detection of interferon alpha protein reveals differential levels and cellular sources in disease. J Exp Med (2017) 214:1547–55. doi: 10.1084/jem.20161451
- 345. Pervolaraki K, Rastgou Talemi S, Albrecht D, Bormann F, Bamford C, Mendoza JL, et al. Differential induction of interferon stimulated genes between type I and type III interferons is independent of interferon receptor abundance. *PloS Pathog* (2018) 14:e1007420. doi: 10.1371/journal. ppat.1007420
- 346. Vickovic S, Eraslan G, Salmén F, Klughammer J, Stenbeck L, Schapiro D, et al. High-definition spatial transcriptomics for in situ tissue profiling. *Nat Methods* (2019) 16:987–90. doi: 10.1038/s41592-019-0548-y
- 347. Harari D, Abramovich R, Zozulya A, Smith P, Pouly S, Köster M, et al. Bridging the species divide: Transgenic mice humanized for type-I interferon response. *PloS One* (2014) 9:e84259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084259

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest

Copyright © 2020 Fox, Locke and Lenschow. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Importance of Type I and III Interferons at Respiratory and Intestinal Barrier Surfaces

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mark R. Walter, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

Reviewed by:

Raymond P. Donnelly, United States Food and Drug Administration, United States Alessandra Pierangeli, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*Correspondence:

Megan L. Stanifer m.stanifer@dkfz.de Steeve Boulant s.boulant@dkfz.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 21 September 2020 Accepted: 11 November 2020 Published: 11 December 2020

Citation:

Stanifer ML, Guo C, Doldan P and Boulant S (2020) Importance of Type I and III Interferons at Respiratory and Intestinal Barrier Surfaces. Front. Immunol. 11:608645. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.608645 Megan L. Stanifer^{1*}, Cuncai Guo^{2†}, Patricio Doldan^{2†} and Steeve Boulant^{2,3*}

¹ Department of Infectious Diseases, Molecular Virology, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany, ² Department of Infectious Diseases, Virology, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany, ³ Research Group "Cellular polarity and viral infection", German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Heidelberg, Germany

Interferons (IFNs) constitute the first line of defense against microbial infections particularly against viruses. They provide antiviral properties to cells by inducing the expression of hundreds of genes known as interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs). The two most important IFNs that can be produced by virtually all cells in the body during intrinsic innate immune response belong to two distinct families: the type I and type III IFNs. The type I IFN receptor is ubiquitously expressed whereas the type III IFN receptor's expression is limited to epithelial cells and a subset of immune cells. While originally considered to be redundant, type III IFNs have now been shown to play a unique role in protecting mucosal surfaces against pathogen challenges. The mucosal specific functions of type III IFN do not solely rely on the restricted epithelial expression of its receptor but also on the distinct means by which type III IFN mediates its anti-pathogen functions compared to the type I IFN. In this review we first provide a general overview on IFNs and present the similarities and differences in the signal transduction pathways leading to the expression of either type I or type III IFNs. By highlighting the current state-of-knowledge of the two archetypical mucosal surfaces (e.g. the respiratory and intestinal epitheliums), we present the differences in the signaling cascades used by type I and type III IFNs to uniquely induce the expression of ISGs. We then discuss in detail the role of each IFN in controlling pathogen infections in intestinal and respiratory epithelial cells. Finally, we provide our perspective on novel concepts in the field of IFN (stochasticity, response heterogeneity, cellular polarization/differentiation and tissue microenvironment) that we believe have implications in driving the differences between type I and III IFNs and could explain the preferences for type III IFNs at mucosal surfaces.

Keywords: interferons, type I interferon, type III interferon, interferon lambda, mucosal immunity, epithelial cells, respiratory epithelia, intestinal epithelium

INTERFERONS AND THEIR RECEPTORS

Type I Interferons

Interferons (IFNs) were first discovered to interfere with the replication of influenza virus sixty years ago by Isaacs and Lindenmann (1). Since their discovery, many studies in humans and animals have started to unravel the molecular details of how IFNs elicit an intrinsic antiviral program in cells to control viral replication and spread (2, 3). IFNs form a diverse family of cytokines composed of three types designated as type I, II, and III IFNs. In humans and mice, type I IFNs are the largest family consisting of multiple subtypes of IFN- α (13 in humans, 14 in mice), as well as IFN- β , IFN- ϵ , IFN- κ , IFN- ω (humans) and IFN- ζ (mice) (4, 5). Type I IFNs have a broad range of functions including anti-pathogen activities (antiviral, antibacterial and antifungal), anti-proliferative functions and the ability to modulate innate and adaptive immunity (6, 7). While type I IFNs are ubiquitously expressed, there is evidence of cell type specific expressions of some IFN- α subtypes (8, 9). Type I IFNs are sensed by cells through the binding of the heterodimeric receptor composed of the IFN- α receptor 1 (IFNAR1) and the IFN- α receptor 2 (IFNAR2), which are expressed on all nucleated cells (10). All 17 type I IFNs are capable of binding the receptor complex but they do so with different affinities (11).

Type II Interferons

The type II IFN family only has one member: IFN- γ . IFN- γ is produced predominantly by natural killer (NK) cells, natural killer T cells (NKT) and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) and has been shown to be important for innate and adaptive immune responses (12). Additionally, it has been shown to play a key role in autoimmune and autoinflammatory diseases (13). IFN- γ binds to cells through the heterodimeric IFN- γ receptor 1 (IFNGR1) and the IFN- γ receptor 2 (IFNGR2) (14). Type II IFNs have been recently reviewed elsewhere (15) and this review will not focus on this cytokine.

Type III Interferons

In 2003, two groups simultaneously discovered three new cytokines in humans that were able to block viral infection: IL29, IL28A and IL28B also known as IFN- λ 1, IFN- λ 2 and IFN- λ 3, respectively (16, 17). As these cytokines exhibited similar functions as type I IFNs but were structurally unique they were designated as a new class of IFNs, the type III IFNs. In 2013, a new type III IFN (IFN- λ 4) was identified (18). While the function of IFN- λ 1, λ 2 and λ 3 in protecting and resolving pathogen infection is broadly accepted, the precise function of IFN-λ4 remains disputed. This controversy arises from the fact that exogenously produced IFN- λ 4 shows antiviral activity, however whether cells can produce IFN- λ 4 on their own remains debated (19). It is known that genetic polymorphisms (SNPs) in IFN- λ 4 have been associated with the protein expression of IFN- λ 4 which then impacts hepatitis C viral load, spontaneous clearance of the virus, and response to treatment (20, 21). Importantly, recent studies have shown that several human populations have lost the expression of IFN- λ 4 suggesting that it has been deleterious for humans during the evolution process (22). Mice only express IFN- $\lambda 2$ and IFN- $\lambda 3$ as both IFN- $\lambda 1$ and IFN- $\lambda 4$ are pseudogenes. This review will not focus on IFN- λ 4 but a comprehensive description of its biological activities has been recently reviewed (19).

Similar to type I IFNs, type III IFNs are expressed by most cell types in the body, however they are sensed by a more limited number of cells leading to cell type specific responses (23–25). Type III IFNs bind to a heterodimeric receptor composed of the type III IFN receptor (IFNLR1, also known as IL-28R α) and the interleukin 10 receptor 2 (IL-10R2). The IL10R2 receptor is not only used by type III IFNs but is also used by other IL-10 family members such as IL-10, IL-22 and IL-26 (16, 17). While IL-10R2 is widely expressed in most cell types, IFNLR1 has a limited expression and is found in epithelial cells (*e.g.* intestine, lung, vaginal, and hepatocytes) (23–26) and some immune cells (DCs, pDCs, NK cells and neutrophils) (27–31).

PRODUCTION OF IFNS

Production of Type I and III IFNs

Interferons are produced upon sensing of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) by cellular pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). In a simplified view, as this is not the focus of this review, nucleic acids from the viral genome and intermediate products from virus replication are the main PAMPs for viruses. They are recognized by the Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and the RIG-like receptors (RLRs) (Figure 1). Activated PRRs recruit adapter proteins, such as Myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MvD88), TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β (TRIF), and mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS) (32). The adapter proteins activate a series of downstream proteins and transcriptional factors, like interferon regulatory 3/7 (IRF3/7) and NFkB. Activated IRF3/7 undergo dimerizations and translocate to the nucleus, where they bind to enhancer/promoters of IFN genes, subsequently inducing the production and secretion of both type I and III IFNs (Figure 1) (33). Further details on the molecular mechanism used by cells to sense PAMPs and produce IFNs can be found in recent reviews (34, 35).

Compartmentalization of PRRs for Production of Interferons

Pathogens can be sensed in different intracellular compartments depending on their mode of entry. In the case of viruses they can either infect the host by directly penetrating the plasma membrane or by being endocytosed and trafficking into the endosome compartment where they will be released into the cytosol (36). The site of entry will influence and dictate which PRR is most important for sensing viruses (TLR vs RLR) and as such will compartmentalize signal transduction leading to immune response and this could influence what kind of interferon is produced. This concept of compartmentalization of PRRs and downstream signaling has been pioneered through work on TLR4, which recognizes the bacterial component lipopolysaccharide (LPS). When TLR4 is located at the plasma membrane, stimulation of the receptor led to induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines through the MyD88 adaptor however, when TLR4 is



FIGURE 1 | Overview of IFN production upon viral infection. Upon virus entry into cells, viruses are sensed by the TLRs (endosomes) or the RLRs (cytoplasm). TLR3 senses dsRNA (a main component of viruses or viral replication) and is located in endosomes. Upon sensing of dsRNA molecules, TLR3 and its adapter TRIF lead to the induction of both the NF κ B and the IRF3/7 pathways, which lead to the induction of both pro-inflammatory cytokines and type I and III IFNs. Viral PAMPs located in the cytosol are recognized by RLRs and upon activation recruit the adapter protein MAVS. When MAVS is recruited to mitochondria, NF κ B and IRF3/7 are activated leading to the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and type I and III IFNs. However, when MAVS is recruited to peroxisomes the signaling cascade leads to the induction of type III IFNs only.

internalized into the endosomes it leads to the production of interferons by recruiting the adaptor TRIF (37). The RLR adaptor MAVS is located at both the peroxisomes and the mitochondria (Figure 1) (38). Studies have shown that the peroxisomal MAVS leads to the production of type III IFN only, while mitochondrial MAVS can produce both type I and III IFNs (Figure 1) (39), however recent studies have contradicted this view and suggested that both type I and III IFNs can be produced from peroxisomal MAVS (40). Similarly, TLR3 was shown to be localized on the basolateral side of polarized human intestinal epithelial cells (41). This polarized localization of TLR3 led to a higher induction of interferons when cells were infected basolaterally with TLR3 activating viruses or stimulated with TLR3 agonist as compared to the apical side (41). This compartmentalization of TLR3 is key for intestinal epithelial cells which are in constant contact with the commensal flora. Having PRRs polarized to the basolateral side allows intestinal cells to partially tolerate the presence of apical commensals while remaining highly responsive against enteric pathogens that have crossed the intestinal epithelial barrier. These pathogens are sensed by the basolateral PRRs and will lead to a potent type III IFN response. On the contrary, the apical microbes (commensals and pathogens) are poorly sensed because few PRRs are localized at the apical side of intestinal epithelial cells (41). Further studies are required to determine whether other PRRs and their adaptors can be compartmentalized leading to differences in the production of type I and III IFNs. Most importantly it is

critical, while studying intrinsic immune response, to not only consider which PRR is involved in sensing a pathogen but to also consider from where, within a cell, it is signaling and to integrate this in a tissue-like environment to allow for proper intracellular distributions of PRRs.

Heterogeneity of Intrinsic Immune Response: Not All Infected Cells Produce IFNs

The textbook view of how PRRs sense pathogens and lead to the production of IFNs (Figure 1) would suggest that all infected cells in a population are equal: All cells will respond to pathogen infection and produce IFNs. However, recent studies have shown that each cell within a homogeneous cell population can respond differently. Work by O'Neal et al. showed that only a fraction of murine fibroblasts infected with West Nile virus produced IFN mRNA regardless of the viral load (42). Similarly, cell-to-cell variability was shown to regulate the ability of mouse fibroblasts infected with Sendai virus to produce IFN-\u03c61 mRNA (43). Further studies have confirmed these observations and have shown that this heterogeneity is of cellular origin and not viral, and is due to intrinsic differences related to the activation and nuclear translocation of IFN regulatory transcription factors NFkB and IRF7 (44, 45). If IRF7 was not translocated into the nucleus then IFN- β 1 was not made (44). These studies highlight that the ability of a virus to replicate and spread or be controlled
by host defenses can be directly linked to the proportion of cells in a population that produce and respond to IFN (45). Whether there is a similar heterogeneity in the production of type III IFN is unknown as no studies have directly addressed this question. It is legitimate to speculate that a similar heterogeneity would exist for type III IFN because of the high similarity in the signal transduction pathways which lead to IFN production. However, it will be interesting to address if the cells act in pairs and those that do not produce type I IFN also do not produce type III or if the production of the two IFNs will be regulated independently.

IFN-MEDIATED SIGNALING AND ISG PRODUCTION

The Importance of JAKs in Interferon Signaling

Following production and secretion of type I and III IFNs, these two cytokines will bind to their specific receptors in an autocrine (the secreting cells) and paracrine manner (the bystander cells) to activate complex signal transduction pathways which will induce transcriptional responses that will ultimately result in the development of an antiviral state in the stimulated cells (Figure 2). Both the type I and III IFNs induce the JAK/STAT signaling cascade leading to the induction of interferon stimulated genes (ISGs) (Figure 2) (26, 46-48). IFNs first bind one receptor chain with high affinity (IFNAR2 or IFNLR1), and then recruit the lowaffinity chain (IFNAR1 or IL-10R2) to form a signaling-competent ternary complex (49-51). Upon binding, the extracellular part of the receptors induces the conformational change of the intracellular part of the receptor subunits, which causes receptor dimerization. Receptor dimerization activates receptor-associated Janus kinases (JAK), TYK2 and JAK1, which mediate the phosphorylation of tyrosine residues on the intracellular part of IFN receptors (52, 53). IAK1 is associated with IFNAR2 and IFNLR1 while TYK2 is associated with IFNAR1 and IL-10R2 (Figure 2) (54-58). JAK1 is critical for the activation and signaling of both type I and III IFNs. Importantly, JAK1 mutations have not been found in humans and are embryonic lethal in mice suggesting that they play a critical role in immune responses and development (59, 60).

Recent reports have uncovered that while TYK2 is required for type I IFN signaling, it is dispensable for type III IFN signaling (61, 62). Several mutations in the Tyk2 locus have been identified in



FIGURE 2 | Signal transduction downstream type I and type III IFN receptors. Upon binding to their receptors, IFNs induce the activation of the JAK/STAT signaling cascade. Both type I and III IFNs use JAK1 for their signaling, while type I IFNs also require TYK2 activation, type III IFNs signal independently of TYK2. Several studies suggest that type III IFNs use JAK2 for their signaling while type I interferons do not require JAK2. However, how JAK2 interacts with the receptor complex is currently unknown. Following JAK activation, STATs are recruited and activated which leads to their dimerization and binding to IRF9 forming the ISGF3 complex or homodimer complexes which translocates into the nucleus and drives ISG production. Some ISGs act as negative regulators and the ISG USP18 is known to regulate type I IFN signaling but not type III IFN signaling.

patients, however they do not show a high susceptibility to viral infections (61, 63). As TYK2 appears dispensable for type III IFN signaling, it is likely that in these patients the absence of increased susceptibility to pathogens is the result of type III IFNs providing first line protection, at least at mucosal surfaces. This model is supported by recent results where TYK2 knock-out murine intestinal epithelial cells treated with type III IFNs maintain their ability to produce ISGs and protect against virus replication (unpublished). Additionally, TYK2 knock-out mice pretreated with type III IFN prior to influenza infection were protected against viral infection in respiratory epithelial cells, while type I IFN pretreatment did not confer protection (unpublished). How signaling downstream the type III IFN receptor is transduced in the absence of TYK2 is unknown, however, it is tempting to speculate that another kinase takes over the function of TYK2. Interestingly, cells depleted of JAK2 or cells treated with specific JAK2 inhibitors are able to respond to type I IFNs and not type III IFNs suggesting that JAK2 could act in place of TYK2 for type III IFN signaling (Figure 2) (30, 39, 64).

STATs in Interferon Signaling

Following JAK activation and receptor phosphorylation, signal transducer and activator transcription (STAT) proteins are recruited to the complex. STATs are subsequently phosphorylated by JAKs and activated STATs form STAT1/2 heterodimers which bind to IRF9, forming the transcription factor interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3). ISGF3 transfers to the nucleus and binds interferon-stimulated response elements (ISREs), driving the transcription of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) (Figure 2). While STAT1/2 are the main proteins used in IFN signaling, other STATs are found to be activated and play cell type specific functions. Following type I IFN binding, STAT1-6 have all been shown to participate in the antiviral and anti-proliferative actions of these IFNs (65, 66). STAT1-3 are induced in all cell types, while STAT4-6 are cell type specific (67-69). However, which specific ISGs are produced upon STAT4-6 activation needs to be further investigated. Similar to type I IFNs, type III IFNs also induce STAT1-5 (Figure 2) (70, 71). However, to date, it remains unclear whether differences in the phosphorylation of the different STAT proteins are responsible for the differences in kinetics and magnitude of ISG expression observed between type I and III IFNs (See section "Interferon specific ISGs").

Negative Regulation of Interferon Signaling

Probably the most important step in mounting an antiviral response is the ability of cells to turn it off. Failure to arrest IFN signaling in tissues leads to inflammatory disorders in patients and interferonopathies (72). These disorders arise when cellular pathways fail to regulate IFN signaling and are often treated by blocking IFN signaling through the use of JAK inhibitors (73).

The suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) (e.g. SOCS1 and SOCS3) are considered the most potent negative regulators used by cells to control type I IFN signaling as they can directly interact with TYK2 interfering with its activation (74). SOCS1 specifically acts by modulating the activity of IFNAR1 through downregulating TYK2 expression (75). Overexpression of SOCS1 in hepatic cells lines has

been shown to also act on type III IFN leading to decreases in ISG production (76). Importantly, *in vivo* studies using SOCS1 knockout mice showed increased ISG induction in the liver in response to type III IFNs while the lung and gut were only mildly affected (76). As lung and gut cells have been shown to be TYK2 independent, this suggests that either SOCS1 acts through another method to impact type III IFN signaling or that there are organ-specific differences in the regulation of IFNs.

JAK1 signaling can be regulated by the ISG ubiquitin-specific protease 18 (USP18). USP18 is induced upon both type I and type III IFN treatment, however it specifically regulates type I IFN signaling by binding to IFNAR2 (**Figure 2**) (77). Upon binding, USP18 acts as a negative regulator by preventing the interaction of JAK1 with IFNAR2 and thereby limiting type I IFN signaling. Interestingly, as type I IFNs bind to the receptor complex with different affinities, USP18 exerts its functions in a subtype dependent fashion with USP18 blocking IFN- α subtypes more than IFN- β 1 (77–79). High USP18 levels are also suggested to be the reason that many hepatitis C infected patients show a refractory phenotype to IFN- α based antiviral therapy (80). Even though type III IFN signaling requires JAK1, it is not affected by USP18 as USP18 specifically targets and binds IFNAR2 and not IFNLR (81).

Regulation of Antiviral Functions

Beside activating the JAK/STAT signaling pathway, both type I and type III IFNs also induce the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs). Interestingly, in human intestinal epithelium cells, both type I and III IFNs activate MAPK signaling pathways however only type III IFNs require them for their antiviral functions. Intestinal cells treated with MAPK inhibitors blocked the ability of type III IFNs to control virus infection while type I IFNs' antiviral properties stayed intact (71). These observations suggest that to properly control viral infection, cells not only rely on ISGs made downstream JAK/STAT but that other parallel signaling pathways might be involved in determining the final outcome of infection by providing assistance to the main IFN-mediated antiviral signal. Whether this dependency on MAPK is intestinal cell specific and whether these differences participate in the regulation of ISG expression following type I and type III IFN stimulation of cells remains to be carefully addressed.

Interestingly, the signaling pathways downstream type I and III IFNs are interconnected and influence each other (82). Studies in human intestinal epithelial cells lacking either the IFNAR1 or IFNLR1 showed that the presence of a functional type III IFN receptor negatively regulates type I IFN signaling and antiviral activity, whereas the presence of type I IFN receptor positively reinforces type III IFN signaling and function (Figure 2) (82). These results suggest that studies which employ cells depleted of either IFN receptor, might show differences in responses to pathogens or signaling cascades that are not only due to the lack of the knocked-out receptor but also due to impaired signaling of the remaining receptor. Additionally, in tissues where one IFN receptor is naturally absent (e.g. murine intestinal cells which lack IFNAR, see section Role of Type I and III IFNs in the Murine Intestine), the properties of the remaining IFN receptor (i.e. IFNLR) could be weakened or enhanced.

Interferon-Specific ISGs

Over the past 17 years many studies have compared the differences between the ISGs induced upon type I and III IFNs stimulation in several mucosal tissues (e.g. intestine, lung and liver). These studies have revealed that while there is a core set of ISGs (e.g. IFIT1, MX1, USP18) induced in all tissues evaluated, there are others that may be tissue-specific (e.g. RSAD2 and GIP3 are highly induced in hepatocytes upon IFN treatment but are not induced in intestinal cells, where intestinal cells highly upregulate CXCL10 and BST2 which are absent in hepatocytes) (46, 47, 83, 84). However, defining which ISGs are specific to type I or type III IFN and which ones are tissue specific is very challenging. The reason for the difficulty in drawing a conclusive picture of type I vs. type III IFN signaling is that each study has used different amounts of IFNs to induce ISG production. Most importantly, evaluation of the IFN-mediated response was performed at different times post-IFN stimulation and this could severely impact which ISG is detected.

One of the predominant differences between the type I and the type III IFN-mediated immune response is that both cytokines induce ISG expression with very different kinetics. Human intestinal epithelial cells treated with either IFN- β 1 or IFN- λ 1-3 were shown to induce a similar set of ISGs but these ISGs were induced with different magnitudes and at different times post-IFN stimulation (46). Type I IFN showed a fast and strong induction of many ISGs compared to type III IFNs which showed a delayed induction of ISGs leads to a unique antiviral environment created by each IFN. These differences in the magnitude and temporal expression of ISGs appears to not be tissue-specific but intrinsic to both IFNs, as similar differences in ISG expression kinetics were also seen in respiratory epithelial cells and liver cells which also showed higher and faster induction of type I IFNs compared to type III IFNs

(47, 83, 85–87). Importantly this delayed induction of ISGs by type III IFNs was not due to lower receptor levels, as overexpressing IFNLR1 did not lead to a faster induction of ISGs suggesting that type I and III IFNs uniquely regulate their signaling cascades (46).

IFN specific ISGs have been uncovered for type I and III IFNs in respiratory epithelial cells, liver cells, and intestinal epithelial cells (84-86). Studies in respiratory epithelial cells and liver cells revealed that IRF1 is induced both at the RNA and protein level only upon type I IFN treatment, however when cells were cotreated with type I and III IFNs the expression of IRF1 is prolonged suggesting that type III IFNs stabilize its expression (85, 86). The lack of induction of IRF1 and its proinflammatory downstream targets by type III IFNs has been suggested to explain why type III IFNs limit tissue damage following viral infection (85). Interestingly, mouse intestinal cells were found to produce type III IFN specific ISGs (i.e. Mmp7, Serpinb1a, and Csprs) (84). These IFN- $\lambda 2$ specific genes were only found in the intestine and were not induced in the lung or bone marrow derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) following IFN treatment further supporting the model that tissues have unique sets of ISGs (84).

Our current understanding of type I and III IFN-mediated signaling suggest that while the main signal transduction pathways are very similar between both IFNs, there are unique differences between each cytokine (**Table 1**) that may provide IFN-specific control of pathogen infections. Although over the years, the signal transduction pathways downstream of the type I IFN receptor have been highly studied, many gaps are remaining in our understanding of the signaling pathways induced by type III IFNs. A systematic side-by-side comparison would be necessary to fully appreciate the differences in signaling pathways and the molecular mechanisms leading to antiviral function activated upon type I and type III IFN-mediated responses.

	Type I IFN	Type III IFN		
IFN production	 Produced downstream TLR3, TLR4 (endosomes), RLRs STING (32–35) Produced by MAVS located on mitochondria (38, 39) 	 Produced downstream TLR3, TLR4 (endosomes), RLRs, STING (32–35) Produced by MAVS located on both mitochondria and peroxisomes (38, 39) 		
Receptor distribution	Receptor expressed by all cells in the body (10)	IFNLR receptor chain is only expressed in epithelial cells and in some immune cells (DCs, pDCs, NK cells and neutrophils) (23–31)		
JAK/STAT signaling	 Requires JAK1 (JAK2 independent) (30, 39, 55, 57–59, 64, 72) Signaling is TYK2 dependent (52–55) 	Requires JAK1 and JAK2 (30, 39, 72) Signaling is TYK2 independent (61–63)		
Other pathways	Negatively regulated by IFNLR (82)	Positively regulated by IFNAR (82) Requires MAPKs for its antiviral activity (71)		
Magnitude and kinetics of ISG induction	 High magnitude of ISG induction (46–48, 83, 85) Fast induction and fast decrease in ISG expression (46–48, 83, 85) 	 Low magnitude of ISG induction (46–48, 83, 85) Slow but sustained induction of ISGs (46–48, 83, 85) 		
	ISG expression	I SG expression time		
Negative regulators	 USP18 downregulates IFN-mediated signaling (77, 79, 81) SOCS1 and 3 downregulate IFN-mediated signaling (74–76) 	SOCS1 downregulates signaling is some tissues (76)		
IFN-specific ISGS	• IRF1 (85–87)	• Mmp7, Serpinb1a, and Csprs (84)		

Heterogeneity in IFN Sensing: Not All Cells Respond to IFN

Upon interferon treatment it is accepted that signal transduction leads to the nuclear translocation of the ISGF3 complex and subsequent activation of ISGs in all treated cells (Figure 2). Nevertheless, recent studies have revealed that although a cell culture population is genetically homogeneous, cells within it could still respond differently to external stimuli, thus producing distinctive amounts of mRNA (88). It was originally thought that ISGs are produced in a binary manner, meaning that the presence of IFN switches them from an "OFF" to an "ON" state (or vice versa) (89). However, in recent years several groups have shown that seemingly homogeneous cell culture systems respond to type I IFN treatment in a heterogeneous manner. Mouse fibroblasts treated with IFN- β 1 and analyzed in a single cell manner showed that ISG induction was asynchronous and that the magnitude of ISG induction varied between cells (44). Importantly, a subpopulation of IFN treated fibroblasts never responded regardless of IFN concentration indicating that part of the population became refractive to IFN stimulation (Figure 3A) (44). A similar subpopulation of non-responding cells was also found in both human liver cells and human airway epithelial cells stimulated with IFN- α (45, 90). In both of these human cell lines, the non-IFN responding cells were not defective in IFN sensing as sorting of the non-responding cells and re-stimulating them with IFN- α induced activation of ISGs with a similar proportion of cells responding and non-responding to IFNs (Figure 3A) (45, 90). Mathematical models have shown that a higher initial level

of the transcription factor IRF9 determines the intensity and speed with which cells are able to respond to IFNs, and thus, differences in the levels of the ISGF3 complex members could play a key role in the responsiveness to IFNs (91). It is important to consider that differences in the basal levels of many proteins involved in signal transduction downstream the IFN receptors are likely to give rise to different outcomes upon IFN stimulation.

This heterogeneity in ISG induction is not exclusively found in type I IFNs, as recent studies have shown that 90% of a clonal population of mouse derived IECs responded to IFN-β1, whereas 55% of these cells responded to type III IFNs (92). This discrepancy between the number of cells that responded to type I and type III IFNs implies that different mechanisms regulate whether a cell responds or not to either IFN. This may provide a unique opportunity for cells that are normally responsive to both IFNs (e.g lung and gut epithelial cells) to favor one IFN over the other to promote an IFN-specific signaling/function. This lower cellular responsiveness against type III IFNs was also seen in human IECs, where even at very high concentrations type III IFN was never able to fully protect all cells from virus infection (85-90% inhibition) while type I IFN was (46). Histone deacetylases (HDACs) were described to play a role in regulating the sensitivity of epithelial cells to IFN- λ , as pretreatment of mouse intestinal cells with HDAC inhibitors significantly increased the number of IFN- λ responding cells. It is possible that the sensitivity of cells to IFNs is directly or indirectly regulated at the epigenetic level, and that a lack of synchronicity in these regulatory pathways causes delays or insensitivity to either or both type I and III IFNs.



FIGURE 3 | Heterogeneity of IFN production and response. (A) Homogeneous cell cultures treated with IFN (+IFN) respond in a heterogeneous manner. Upon sorting and restimulation with IFN, non-responding cells display a similar distribution of responding cells as the naive population. (B) In murine models, non-polarized cells respond mainly to type I IFNs while polarized cells respond mainly to type III IFNs.

Furthermore, as type III IFNs act on epithelial surfaces it is important to consider their polarization state. Many experiments in laboratory settings use epithelial cells in sparse conditions whereas in the normal tissue environment they are tightly connected and polarized. The state of the cells is critical when evaluating responsiveness to IFNs as mouse intestinal cells have shown to be more sensitive to IFN- λ when reaching a polarized status (**Figure 3B**) (92) while human intestinal epithelial cells become less responsive to IFNs when polarized (71). Understanding the molecular mechanism of how within a population cell density, polarization status and epigenetic inheritance influence responsiveness to either IFN is a promising research axis that will help us to delineate the differences observed between different tissues and between different species.

IFN LAMBDA IN MUCOSAL IMMUNITY

The main difference that places type I and type III IFN apart lies in the fact that the type III IFN receptor expression is restricted to a subset of cells (23), providing these cells a unique way of protecting themselves against pathogen challenges. Research has focused initially on evaluating how type I and III IFNs control pathogen infections in the intestinal tract, the respiratory tract, the liver, the blood brain barrier and more recently the female reproductive tract. In this review we focus on the intestinal and respiratory epithelial cells because there is increasing evidence that type I and III IFNs are critical for both the intestinal and airway epithelium not only by mediating the antiviral response but also by impacting/regulating the epithelium themselves and by controlling and maintaining adaptive immune responses and the integrity of the epithelial barrier. More details on the role of IFNs in the female reproductive tract and the blood-brainbarrier can be found in a recent review (93).

Role of Type I and III IFNs in the Murine Intestine

The epithelial cells lining the intestinal tract play a unique role in regulating immune-homeostasis. These cells must be able to tolerate the huge commensal load present in the lumen of the gut and be responsive to invasive pathogens. In the intestinal tract, type III IFNs have been shown to play a key role in helping to maintain this balance and protecting the intestinal epithelial cells lining the gut from enteric pathogens while limiting excessive immune responses leading to tissue damage (24, 94-97). Upon enteric virus infection, murine IECs preferentially express type III IFNs over type I IFNs (95, 97). It has been shown that epithelial cells express higher levels of IFNLR1 and lower levels of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 compared to the underlying lamina propria (95). This compartmentalization of the IFN receptors also favors IFN-\u03b3s as a first line defense against enteric pathogens (24). Using rotavirus as a model enteric virus, which predominantly infect epithelial cells, it was shown that mice lacking the type I IFN receptor were able to control rotavirus infection while mice lacking type III IFN receptor showed increases in virus replication, de novo virus production and damage to the intestinal epithelium (24, 97).

Type I IFNs are not dispensable for enteric infections. While they do not act to protect the epithelial surface, they play a key role in protecting against systemic spread of the viruses. Infection experiments using the enteric virus reovirus, which can also spread systemically following infection and replication in the GI tract, confirmed the critical role of type III IFN in protecting IECs against viral infection. Most importantly, it was shown that the type I IFN system was responsible for controlling the systemic dissemination of reovirus (95). Similar results were obtained using mouse norovirus (94).

The ultimate proof that type III IFN was the main player protecting IECs from enteric virus infection was provided by experiments performed in mice where the function of IFN- λ was only disrupted in IECs and by curing enteric infection using IFN- λ s. Using mice with intestinal-specific conditional knock-out of the IFNLR1 it was shown that IFN- λ signaling in IECs is protective against enteric virus infections even in mice lacking an adaptive immune system (Rag-1^{-/-}) and that depletion of IFN- λ signaling from IECs resulted in an increase in norovirus, rotavirus and reovirus replication and fecal shedding (98). Complementarily, it was shown that administration of IFN- λ s in mice could resolve persistent norovirus infection also in the absence of adaptive immunity (94).

Interestingly, recent evidence suggests that this spatial functional compartmentalization of IFNs at the intestinal epithelium, where the type III IFN is important for IECs protection while type I IFN is set to prevent systemic spread, is not genetically encoded but acquired in older animals. Adult mice only use the type III IFN receptor to control rotavirus infection in the gut (24, 95). On the contrary, neonatal mice appear to require both type I and III IFN receptors to efficiently protect IECs against rotavirus infection (99). Complementarily, while murine IECs do not respond to type I IFN *in vivo*, it was shown that they become responsive when isolated and stimulated with type I IFN cytokine *ex vivo* (24, 92). This observation is consistent with the fact that mouse intestinal organoids are also responsive to both IFNs (92).

The molecular origin for this reversion of IECs toward responsiveness to type I IFN is unknown. It is possible that following isolation from the intestinal epithelium, even when grown as organoids, IECs partially dedifferentiate and lose regulatory mechanisms that normally dampen the type I IFN mediated response. Another possible explanation is the presence of the commensal flora in the lumen of the gut, which is absent at birth but grows in number and complexity with time. The presence of these commensals might interfere with the type I IFN system in IECs. A relationship between IFNs and the microbiota was previously described, where commensals seem to negatively regulate the type III IFN-mediated clearance of persistent enteric virus infection (100). Additionally, IECs depleted of IFNAR1 result in a significant change of the microbiota composition likely as a result of changing the number of Paneth and Goblet cells in the epithelium (101). This is an interesting observation as it suggests that although type I IFN is not important to protect IECs against viral infection, the type I IFN pathways might still be active to regulate other functions and help promote homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium.

Role of Type I and III IFNs in the Human Intestine

Similar to murine cells, human intestinal epithelial cells respond to enteric virus infection by inducing a strong upregulation of type III IFNs transcripts while type I IFN transcripts are upregulated to a much lesser extent (41, 71, 102, 103). This leads to the preferential expression and secretion of type III IFNs, and thus to a protective effect of this cytokine on the surrounding epithelial cells expressing the type III IFN receptor (71). While the importance of type III IFN and dispensability of type I IFN in protecting IECs is well established in mice with the use of transgenic animals, it was only recently demonstrated that IFN- λ s were keys to protect the human gut. It was shown that type III IFN controls SARS-CoV-2 infection of human intestinal epithelial cells. Human intestinal cells lacking the type I IFN receptor behaved similarly to wild type cells, whereas cells depleted of the type III IFN receptor showed increased virus infection, replication, and de novo virus production (96). All together this has led to the model in which the functions of type I and type III in the murine intestines are compartmentalized; type I IFNs protect the lamina propria and virus dissemination to the body and type III IFNs protect the epithelial surface itself (24, 95, 98).

Role of Type I and III IFNs in Respiratory Epithelial Cells

Similar to IECs, production of IFN-\u03c6s upon viral infection is a characteristic response of lung epithelial cells (95, 104). Overall, lung epithelial cells appear to favor the production of IFN-\u03b3s compared to type I IFN upon influenza A virus (IAV) infection (29, 104). Many studies using mice lacking either the type I or type III IFN receptors could show that either IFN was able to control infections by influenza viruses, respiratory syncytial virus or human metapneumovirus, suggesting that type I and III IFNs played a redundant function in the lung (25, 104). While the epithelial cells are the most responsive cells to type III IFNs due to the specificity of IFNLR1 expression, major differences in their ability to control virus infections are observed when comparing the upper and lower respiratory tract. In infection models where high doses of IAVs are used to infect the lower respiratory tract, both type I and type III IFNs are important to combat infection (25, 29, 104). On the contrary, if lower doses of IAVs are used and/or administered in a more physiological manner via nasal infection, the critical role of type III IFN for controlling IAV becomes much more apparent (29, 105). A recent study using mice lacking the type I or III IFN receptors in either neutrophils or epithelial cells specifically showed that each IFN had a unique effect in controlling influenza infection (29). This study revealed that upon influenza infection of respiratory epithelial cells, type III IFNs were produced first, and if the influenza virus load stayed low they were the most important IFNs used to clear the infection. Upon a greater viral load, type I IFNs were required to control the infection (29).

Role of Type I and III IFNs in Immune Cells at Mucosal Surfaces

An important growing concept in the field of type III IFNs, is that this cytokine is not only critical to control, clear and prevent pathogen infection at the level of the epithelium but it is also playing a role in

providing long term immunity by stimulating adaptive immunity. Type III IFNs protect against long term infection and are required to reduce spreading of influenza virus to littermates (105) and are important for enhancing mucosal adaptive immunity by promoting antigen-dependent germinal center reactions in draining lymph nodes (106, 107). Additionally, a recent study has shown that mice lacking IFNLR1 showed impaired CD8⁺ T cell and antibody responses following infection by a live-attenuated influenza virus (106). Influenza infection induced the release of IFN- λ , which triggered M cells to produce thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) in the upper airways. The release of TSLP then stimulated migratory dendritic cells and boosted antigen-dependent germinal center reactions in draining lymph nodes (106). The IFN- λ -TSLP axis also promoted production of the immunoglobulins IgG1 and IgA only when applied intranasally, suggesting that it required mucosal surfaces for its action (106).

IFN- λ acts on neutrophils to not only control virus infections but also fungal infections of the respiratory tract, as was recently highlighted in studies evaluating *Aspergillus fumigatus* infection in mice. Mice lacking the IFNLR1 were unable to activate a neutrophil response and showed higher fungal loads, a more aggravated disease in the lungs and severe fungal invasion (108). While these studies have clearly shown that murine neutrophils respond to IFN- λ and use it to help in pathogen clearance, the ability of human neutrophils to be activated in response to type III IFNs remains controversial (30, 31, 109). Whether tissue specific immune cells also play a role in regulating type I and III IFN responses in the intestinal epithelium have not been addressed.

Role of Type I and III IFNs in Maintaining Barrier Functions

Both type I and III IFNs have been shown to play a role in tightening barriers at mucosal interfaces. Following respiratory infection by S. pneumoniae, mice upregulated the IFN-B1 transcript, which was critical to control bacterial invasion (110). Mice lacking IFNAR1 or mice treated with a IFNAR neutralizing antibody showed an increase in bacteremia. Further studies showed that IFN- β 1 induced the production of tight junction proteins and prevented transmigration of bacteria across the epithelial membrane (110). Similarly, type III IFNs were shown to protect human intestinal epithelial cells from Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium infection (111). Intestinal cells treated with both type I and III IFNs increased their barrier function and prevented the passage of dextran molecules through the epithelial membrane, however type III IFN was more efficient at blocking transmigration of Salmonella and the epithelial damage caused by Salmonella infection (111). Type I and III IFNs have also been shown to play a key role in tightening the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) which has been recently reviewed (93).

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The type III IFN system is no longer considered just a redundant system to type I IFNs but it is now fully recognized as providing a

novel arsenal to the host to protect specific cells and tissues against pathogen challenges. The observation that type III IFNs can specifically provide efficient protection against pathogens in the gut and the lung (**Table 2**) (24, 95, 104), which could even be sterilizing in the absence of adaptive immunity, (94) has placed type III IFNs with a unique therapeutic potential. Within the current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, it was quickly discussed that type III IFN could help to curtail viral replication while limiting the tissue damage that could be induced by type I IFN.

Seven type I IFNs (recombinant and pegylated IFN-α2a, IFN- α 2b, IFN- β 1a and IFN- β 1b) have passed clinical trials and have been approved for use in treating virus infections (HBV, HCV), multiple sclerosis, leukemia, melanoma, and multiple myeloma (112). Currently three clinical trials are ongoing for type III IFNs, and while they are promising and have reported reduced side effects, they have still not been clinically approved for use in patients. IFN- α was key to early HCV treatment and its activity was improved by combining it with ribavirin and through pegylation (113). However, problems with non-responsive patients, drug toxicity and liver cells becoming refractive to IFN- α treatment has led it to become a second choice for HCV treatments (112). IFN- α has also been used to treat HBV where it has been shown to decrease viral loads in the blood and improve liver enzymes (114). While the pegylated form has also shown higher activity against HBV, patients experience similar side effects and loss of function as HCV patients. Recently, IFN-λ has been used in clinical trials against HCV, HBV and HDV. It has shown similar effects as IFN- α treatment in reducing viral loads, but patients describe less side effects. Longer term studies will be required to determine if patients also become refractory to IFN- λ treatment, however *in vitro* experiments suggest that IFN- λ does not lead to a loss of function even after cell cultures have had prolonged treatments which could be explained by the lack of negative regulators affecting type III IFN signaling (e.g. USP18) (79). Currently pegylated IFN- λ is in phase II clinical trials to assess its action against SARS-CoV-2. Many researchers

are optimistic about its potential to act against SARS-CoV-2 as both IFNs have been shown to reduce replication however IFN- λ clears infection with less tissue damage that type I IFNs. However, we need to be careful as IFN- λ is not without risk as recent studies have highlighted that treatment with IFN- λ could prevent lung epithelial cell regeneration and favors bacterial superinfection (115, 116).

With age, mice do not rely on the type I IFN but rather the type III IFN to protect their intestinal epithelium against enteric pathogens (99). Additionally, when primary epithelial cells are isolated from the intestinal tract and cultured in vitro they regain responsiveness to type I IFNs (24). These observations suggest that the gut microenvironment (tissue specific immune cells, microbiota, hypoxia and peristalsis) is participating in regulating the IFN response in a precise manner. It was shown that during enteric virus infection of mice, innate lymphoid cells in the gut secrete IL-22 which can act on IECs to synergize the antiviral activity of type III IFN (97). It was shown that IL-22 enhances the expression of IFN- λ induced ISGs and this likely participates in amplifying the antiviral response (97). However, it is known that IL-22 is mostly a key cytokine for regulating cell proliferation and barrier function in the intestine (117). With the importance of type III IFN in regulating barrier function, it is now important to address whether the benefit of IL-22 is exerted via ISGs or due to improved tissue repair. Similarly, if IL-22 is also acting with IFN- λ in humans remains to be determined.

Hypoxia is a critical parameter of the gut which is often overlooked in infectious disease research. Hypoxia is not only required for the microbiota but it also influences the epithelial cells themselves (118). It was shown that hypoxia favors barrier function in human intestinal epithelial cells (119). As it is well established that hypoxia in the tumor microenvironment affects the response of immune cells (118), it is critical to start investigating whether hypoxia could impact immune response of intestinal epithelial cells upon infection.

An additional epithelium specific parameter that has been neglected up to now is the fact that epithelium surfaces are

	Lung	Gut		
Antiviral functions in	• Type III IFNs control viral infection in the upper respiratory tract (25, 109)	• Type III IFNs act on epithelial cells to control infection (23-25, 71, 95 96, 98, 99)		
epithelial cells	Both type I and III IFNs control viral infection in the lower respiratory tract (104)	 Type I IFNs act on lamina propria to prevent systemic spread (23, 24, 95, 99) 		
	• Type III IFN acts first and type I IFN acts when infections persist (29)	 Type III IFNs can control virus infection in epithelial cells in the absence of adaptative immune response (94) 		
Organ-specific ISGs	 Unknown if lung epithelial cells produce ISGs that are not induced in intestinal epithelial cells 	 Mmp7, Serpinb1a, and Csprs expressed in gut but not in lung following IFNλ2 treatment (84) 		
Importance of IFN signaling in	Type III IFNs are needed to reinforce adaptative immune responses (30, 106)	 Innate lymphoid cells produce IL-22 which synergize with type III IFNs to induce higher levels of ISGs and increase antiviral (rotavirus) 		
immune cells	Neutrophils depleted of IFNLR were unable to control fungal infections in the lung (108)	protection of murine IECs (97, 117)		
Barrier functions of	• Type I IFNs and IFNAR are required to maintain the lung epithelial barrier function following <i>S. pneumoniae</i> infection (110)	 Type I and III IFNs help to maintain the intestinal epithelial barrier function following Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium infection. 		
epithelium	Chronic type III IFN stimulation of lung epithelial cells leads to loss of barrier function and bacteria infiltration (115, 116)	Type III IFN is more potent in promoting barrier function (111)		
Microbiota	Currently unknown if bacteria play a role in shaping interferon responses in the lung	 Microbiota promote norovirus persistent infection via modulation of type III IFN signaling (100) 		

114

composed of multiple cell types. With the advance of both single cell sequencing technologies and organoid cultures, it is now possible to address whether different cell types lining epithelium surfaces mount a similar or distinct immune response upon pathogen challenges. Similarly, it will be important to investigate whether these different cell types will generate the same ISGs upon IFN stimulation to address if each individual cell type establishes a distinct antiviral strategy to preserve its cell type specific function. While there are single cell studies of viral infection in cell lines (120), understanding viral infection at the single cell level in the tissue or in organoids is in its infancy.

Finally, one of the most underappreciated parameters influencing IFN signaling is the stochastic response of cells following IFN stimulation and the heterogeneity in the generated response. Understanding this complex relationship between cell populations and IFN response requires not only biological approaches where the importance of different transcription factors will be addressed via genetic manipulation but also through the use of mathematical modeling to gain a system understanding of IFN signaling. This heterogeneity in response to IFN is even more complicated as the spatial location of an individual cell within a population seems to impact its response to IFN. It was shown that when murine IECs become confluent and polarized, they become more responsive to IFN- λ (92). This work should constitute a building block for future research directions as it is likely to have critical implications at mucosal surfaces as epithelium cells form a condensed polarized monolayer of cells. We can speculate, for example in the gut,

REFERENCES

- Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference I. interferon. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci (1957) 147:258–67. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1957.0048
- Schoggins JW, Rice CM. Interferon-stimulated genes and their antiviral effector functions. *Curr Opin Virol* (2011) 1:519–25. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2011.10.008
- Schoggins JW. Interferon-Stimulated Genes: What Do They All Do? Annu Rev Virol (2019) 6:567–84. doi: 10.1146/annurev-virology-092818-015756
- Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. By A. Isaacs and J. Lindenmann. J Interferon Res (1987) 7:429–38. doi: 10.1089/jir.1987.7.429
- LaFleur DW, Nardelli B, Tsareva T, Mather D, Feng P, Semenuk M, et al. Interferon-kappa novel type I interferon expressed human keratinocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276:39765–71. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102502200
- Takaoka A, Yanai H. Interferon signalling network in innate defence. *Cell Microbiol* (2006) 8:907–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00716.x
- Hoffmann H-H, Schneider WM, Rice CM. Interferons and viruses: an evolutionary arms race of molecular interactions. *Trends Immunol* (2015) 36:124–38. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.01.004
- Kyogoku C, Smiljanovic B, Grün JR, Biesen R, Schulte-Wrede U, Häupl T, et al. Cell-specific type I IFN signatures in autoimmunity and viral infection: what makes the difference? *PloS One* (2013) 8:e83776. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0083776
- Gibbert K, Schlaak JF, Yang D, Dittmer U. IFN-α subtypes: distinct biological activities in anti-viral therapy. *Br J Pharmacol* (2013) 168:1048– 58. doi: 10.1111/bph.12010
- Novick D, Cohen B, Rubinstein M. The human interferon alpha/beta receptor: characterization and molecular cloning. *Cell.* (1994) 77:391–400. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90154-6
- Jaks E, Gavutis M, Uzé G, Martal J, Piehler J. Differential receptor subunit affinities of type I interferons govern differential signal activation. J Mol Biol (2007) 366:525–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2006.11.053

depending on the intestinal section that you are looking at, depending on whether a cell is located in the crypt or villi region or if the tissue is damaged and there are microlesions, that there will be differences in how IECs respond to pathogens and secreted IFN.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

The figures in this review were created using Biorender.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by research grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG): project numbers 415089553 (Heisenberg program), 240245660 (SFB1129), 278001972 (TRR186), and 272983813 (TRR179) to SB; 416072091 to MS. We also acknowledge funding from the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) (Research Grant 57440921) to PD and the China Scholarship Council to CG.

- de Weerd NA, Nguyen T. The interferons and their receptors-distribution and regulation. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2012) 90:483–91. doi: 10.1038/icb.2012.9
- 13. Langer V, Vivi E, Regensburger D, Winkler TH, Waldner MJ, Rath T, et al. IFN- γ drives inflammatory bowel disease pathogenesis through VE-cadherin-directed vascular barrier disruption. J Clin Invest (2019) 129:4691–707. doi: 10.1172/JCI124884
- Pestka S, Kotenko SV, Muthukumaran G, Izotova LS, Cook JR, Garotta G. The interferon gamma (IFN-gamma) receptor: a paradigm for the multichain cytokine receptor. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (1997) 8:189– 206. doi: 10.1016/S1359-6101(97)00009-9
- Alspach E, Lussier DM, Schreiber RD. Interferon γ and Its Important Roles in Promoting and Inhibiting Spontaneous and Therapeutic Cancer Immunity. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2019) 11:1–20. doi: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a028480
- Kotenko SV, Gallagher G, Baurin VV, Lewis-Antes A, Shen M, Shah NK, et al. IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:69–77. doi: 10.1038/ ni875
- Sheppard P, Kindsvogel W, Xu W, Henderson K, Schlutsmeyer S, Whitmore TE, et al. IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:63–8. doi: 10.1038/ni873
- Prokunina-Olsson L, Muchmore B, Tang W, Pfeiffer RM, Park H, Dickensheets H, et al. A variant upstream IFNL3 (IL28B) creating new interferon gene IFNL4 is associated with impaired clearance of hepatitis C virus. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45:164–71. doi: 10.1038/ng.2521
- Onabajo OO, Muchmore B, Prokunina-Olsson L. The IFN-λ4 Conundrum: When a Good Interferon Goes Bad. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2019) 39:636–41. doi: 10.1089/jir.2019.0044
- Ansari MA, Pedergnana V, Ip CLC, Magri A, Von Delft A, Bonsall D, et al. Genome-to-genome analysis highlights the effect of the human innate and adaptive immune systems on the hepatitis C virus *Nat Genet* (2017) 49:666– 73. doi: 10.1038/ng.3835

- Ansari MA, Aranday-Cortes E, Ip CL, da Silva Filipe A, Lau SH, Bamford C, et al. Interferon lambda 4 impacts the genetic diversity of hepatitis C virus. *eLife* (2019) 8:e42463. doi: 10.7554/eLife.42463
- Bamford CGG, Aranday-Cortes E, Filipe IC, Sukumar S, Mair D, Filipe A da S, et al. A polymorphic residue that attenuates the antiviral potential of interferon lambda 4 in hominid lineages. *PloS Pathog* (2018) 14:e1007307. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1007307
- 23. Sommereyns C, Paul S, Staeheli P, Michiels T. IFN-lambda (IFN-lambda) is expressed in a tissue-dependent fashion and primarily acts on epithelial cells in vivo. *PloS Pathog* (2008) 4:e1000017. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1000017
- Pott J, Mahlakõiv T, Mordstein M, Duerr CU, Michiels T, Stockinger S, et al. IFN-lambda determines the intestinal epithelial antiviral host defense. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2011) 108:7944–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1100552108
- Mordstein M, Neugebauer E, Ditt V, Jessen B, Rieger T, Falcone V, et al. Lambda interferon renders epithelial cells of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts resistant to viral infections. J Virol (2010) 84:5670– 7. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00272-10
- 26. Zhou Z, Hamming OJ, Ank N, Paludan SR, Nielsen AL, Hartmann R. Type III interferon (IFN) induces a type I IFN-like response in a restricted subset of cells through signaling pathways involving both the Jak-STAT pathway and the mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Virol (2007) 81:7749–58. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02438-06
- Koltsida O, Hausding M, Stavropoulos A, Koch S, Tzelepis G, Ubel C, et al. (IFN-λ2) modulates lung DC function to promote Th1 immune skewing and suppress allergic airway disease. *EMBO Mol Med* (2011) 3:348–61. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201100142
- Blazek K, Eames HL, Weiss M, Byrne AJ, Perocheau D, Pease JE, et al. IFN-λ resolves inflammation via suppression of neutrophil infiltration and IL-1β production. J Exp Med (2015) 212:845–53. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140995
- Galani IE, Triantafyllia V, Eleminiadou E-E, Koltsida O, Stavropoulos A, Manioudaki M, et al. Interferon-λ Mediates Non-redundant Front-Line Antiviral Protection against Influenza Virus Infection without Compromising Host Fitness. *Immunity* (2017) 46:875–90.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.04.025
- Broggi A, Tan Y, Granucci F, Zanoni I. IFN-λ suppresses intestinal inflammation by non-translational regulation of neutrophil function. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18:1084–93. doi: 10.1038/ni.3821
- 31. Santer DM, Minty GES, Golec DP, Lu J, May J, Namdar A, et al. Differential expression of interferon-lambda receptor 1 splice variants determines the magnitude of the antiviral response induced by interferon-lambda 3 in human immune cells. *PloS Pathog* (2020) 16:e1008515. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008515
- Chow KT, Gale M Jr, Loo Y-M. RIG-I and Other RNA Sensors in Antiviral Immunity. Annu Rev Immunol (2018) 36:667–94. doi: 10.1146/annurevimmunol-042617-053309
- Levy DE, Marié IJ, Durbin JE. Induction and function of type I and III interferon in response to viral infection. *Curr Opin Virol* (2011) 1:476–86. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2011.11.001
- Rehwinkel J, Gack MU. RIG-I-like receptors: their regulation and roles in RNA sensing. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20:537–51. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0288-3
- Dolasia K, Bisht MK, Pradhan G, Udgata A, Mukhopadhyay S. TLRs/NLRs: Shaping the landscape of host immunity. *Int Rev Immunol* (2018) 37:3–19. doi: 10.1080/08830185.2017.1397656
- Boulant S, Stanifer M, Lozach P-Y. Dynamics of virus-receptor interactions in virus binding, signaling, and endocytosis. *Viruses* (2015) 7:2794–815. doi: 10.3390/v7062747
- Kagan JC, Su T, Horng T, Chow A, Akira S, Medzhitov R. TRAM couples endocytosis of Toll-like receptor 4 to the induction of interferon-beta. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9:361–8. doi: 10.1038/ni1569
- Dixit E, Boulant S, Zhang Y, Lee ASY, Odendall C, Shum B, et al. Peroxisomes are signaling platforms for antiviral innate immunity. *Cell* (2010) 141:668–81. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.04.018
- Odendall C, Dixit E, Stavru F, Bierne H, Franz KM, Durbin AF, et al. Diverse intracellular pathogens activate type III interferon expression from peroxisomes *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:717–26. doi: 10.1038/ni.2915
- Bender S, Reuter A, Eberle F, Einhorn E, Binder M, Bartenschlager R. Activation of Type I and III Interferon Response by Mitochondrial and Peroxisomal MAVS and Inhibition by Hepatitis C Virus. *PloS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1005264. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005264

- Stanifer ML, Mukenhirn M, Muenchau S, Pervolaraki K, Kanaya T, Albrecht D, et al. Asymmetric distribution of TLR3 leads to a polarized immune response in human intestinal epithelial cells. *Nat Microbiol* (2020) 5:181–91. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0594-3
- O'Neal JT, Upadhyay AA, Wolabaugh A, Patel NB, Bosinger SE, Suthar MS. West Nile Virus-Inclusive Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Reveals Heterogeneity in the Type I Interferon Response within Single Cells. J Virol (2019) 93:e01778–18. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01778-18
- Zhao M, Zhang J, Phatnani H, Scheu S, Maniatis T. Stochastic expression of the interferon-β gene. *PloS Biol* (2012) 10:e1001249. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pbio.1001249
- 44. Rand U, Rinas M, Schwerk J, Nöhren G, Linnes M, Kröger A, et al. Multilayered stochasticity and paracrine signal propagation shape the type-I interferon response. *Mol Syst Biol* (2012) 8:584. doi: 10.1038/msb.2012.17
- 45. Schmid B, Rinas M, Ruggieri A, Acosta EG, Bartenschlager M, Reuter A, et al. Live Cell Analysis and Mathematical Modeling Identify Determinants of Attenuation of Dengue Virus 2'-O-Methylation Mutant. *PloS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1005345. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005345
- 46. Pervolaraki K, Rastgou Talemi S, Albrecht D, Bormann F, Bamford C, Mendoza JL, et al. Differential induction of interferon stimulated genes between type I and type III interferons is independent of interferon receptor abundance. *PloS Pathog* (2018) 14:e1007420. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1007420
- 47. Jilg N, Lin W, Hong J, Schaefer EA, Wolski D, Meixong J, et al. Kinetic differences in the induction of interferon stimulated genes by interferon-α and interleukin 28B are altered by infection with hepatitis C virus. *Hepatology* (2014) 59:1250–61. doi: 10.1002/hep.26653
- Bolen CR, Ding S, Robek MD, Kleinstein SH. Dynamic expression profiling of type I and type III interferon-stimulated hepatocytes reveals a stable hierarchy of gene expression. *Hepatology* (2014) 59:1262–72. doi: 10.1002/ hep.26657
- Lavoie TB, Kalie E, Crisafulli-Cabatu S, Abramovich R, DiGioia G, Moolchan K, et al. Binding activity all human alpha interferon subtypes. *Cytokine* (2011) 56:282–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.07.019
- Piehler J, Schreiber G. Mutational and structural analysis of the binding interface between type I interferons and their receptor Ifnar2. J Mol Biol (1999) 294:223–37. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1999.3230
- Mendoza JL, Schneider WM, Hoffmann H-H, Vercauteren K, Jude KM, Xiong A, et al. The IFN-λ-IFN-λR1-IL-10Rβ Complex Reveals Structural Features Underlying Type III IFN Functional Plasticity. *Immun* (2017) 46:379–92. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.02.017
- Yan H, Krishnan K, Lim JT, Contillo LG, Krolewski JJ. Molecular characterization of an alpha interferon receptor 1 subunit (IFNaR1) domain required for TYK2 binding and signal transduction. *Mol Cell Biol* (1996) 16:2074–82. doi: 10.1128/MCB.16.5.2074
- 53. Barbieri G, Velazquez L, Scrobogna M, Fellous M, Pellegrini S. Activation of the protein tyrosine kinase tyk2 by interferon alpha/beta. *Eur J Biochem* (1994) 223:427–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1994.tb19010.x
- Wallweber HJA, Tam C, Franke Y, Starovasnik MA, Lupardus PJ. Structural basis of recognition of interferon-α receptor by tyrosine kinase 2. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2014) 21:443–8. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2807
- 55. Finbloom DS, Winestock KD. IL-10 induces the tyrosine phosphorylation of tyk2 and Jak1 and the differential assembly of STAT1 alpha and STAT3 complexes in human T cells and monocytes. *J Immunol* (1995) 155:1079–90.
- Ho AS, Wei SH, Mui AL, Miyajima A, Moore KW. Functional regions of the mouse interleukin-10 receptor cytoplasmic domain. *Mol Cell Biol* (1995) 15:5043–53. doi: 10.1128/mcb.15.9.5043
- 57. Domanski P, Fish E, Nadeau OW, Witte M, Platanias LC, Yan H, et al. A region of the beta subunit of the interferon alpha receptor different from box 1 interacts with Jak1 and is sufficient to activate the Jak-Stat pathway and induce an antiviral state. J Biol Chem (1997) 272:26388–93. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.42.26388
- Ferrao R, Wallweber HJA, Ho H, Tam C, Franke Y, Quinn J, et al. The Structural Basis for Class II Cytokine Receptor Recognition by JAK1. *Structure* (2016) 24:897–905. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2016.03.023
- Rodig SJ, Meraz MA, White JM, Lampe PA, Riley JK, Arthur CD, et al. Disruption of the Jak1 gene demonstrates obligatory and nonredundant roles of the Jaks in cytokine-induced biologic responses. *Cell* (1998) 93:373– 83. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81166-6

- Eletto D, Burns SO, Angulo I, Plagnol V, Gilmour KC, Henriquez F, et al. Biallelic JAK1 mutations in immunodeficient patient with mycobacterial infection. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:13992. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13992
- Kreins AY, Ciancanelli MJ, Okada S, Kong X-F, Ramírez-Alejo N, Kilic SS, et al. Human TYK2 deficiency: Mycobacterial and viral infections without hyper-IgE syndrome. J Exp Med (2015) 212:1641–62. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20140280
- Karaghiosoff M, Neubauer H, Lassnig C, Kovarik P, Schindler H, Pircher H, et al. Partial impairment of cytokine responses in Tyk2-deficient mice. *Immunity* (2000) 13:549–60. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00054-6
- Fuchs S, Kaiser-Labusch P, Bank J, Ammann S, Kolb-Kokocinski A, Edelbusch C, et al. Tyrosine kinase 2 is not limiting human antiviral type III interferon responses. *Eur J Immunol* (2016) 46:2639–49. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201646519
- 64. Watling D, Guschin D, Müller M, Silvennoinen O, Witthuhn BA, Quelle FW, et al. Complementation by the protein tyrosine kinase JAK2 of a mutant cell line defective in the interferon-gamma signal transduction pathway. *Nature* (1993) 366:166–70. doi: 10.1038/366166a0
- Darnell JE Jr, Kerr IM, Stark GR. Jak-STAT pathways and transcriptional activation in response to IFNs and other extracellular signaling proteins. *Science* (1994) 264:1415–21. doi: 10.1126/science.8197455
- Darnell JE Jr. STATs and gene regulation. Sci (1997) 277:1630–5. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5332.1630
- Meinke A, Barahmand-Pour F, Wöhrl S, Stoiber D, Decker T. Activation of different Stat5 isoforms contributes to cell-type-restricted signaling in response to interferons. *Mol Cell Biol* (1996) 16:6937–44. doi: 10.1128/ MCB.16.12.6937
- Fasler-Kan E, Pansky A, Wiederkehr M, Battegay M, Heim MH. Interferonalpha activates signal transducers and activators of transcription 5 and 6 in Daudi cells. *Eur J Biochem* (1998) 254:514–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.1998.2540514.x
- Farrar JD, Smith JD, Murphy TL, Murphy KM. Recruitment of Stat4 to the Human Interferon-α/β Receptor Requires Activated Stat2. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:2693–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.4.2693
- Kotenko SV. IFN-λs. Curr Opin Immunol (2011) 23:583–90. doi: 10.1016/ j.coi.2011.07.007
- 71. Pervolaraki K, Stanifer ML, Münchau S, Renn LA, Albrecht D, Kurzhals S, et al. Type I and Type III Interferons Display Different Dependency on Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases to Mount an Antiviral State in the Human Gut. Front Immunol (2017) 8:459. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00459
- Sanchez GAM, Reinhardt A, Ramsey S, Wittkowski H, Hashkes PJ, Berkun Y, et al. JAK1/2 inhibition with baricitinib in the treatment of autoinflammatory interferonopathies. J Clin Invest (2018) 128:3041–52. doi: 10.1172/JCI98814
- Papp K, Gordon K, Thaçi D, Morita A, Gooderham M, Foley P, et al. Phase 2 Trial of Selective Tyrosine Kinase 2 Inhibition in Psoriasis. N Engl J Med (2018) 379:1313–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1806382
- 74. Fenner JE, Starr R, Cornish AL, Zhang J-G, Metcalf D, Schreiber RD, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 regulates the immune response toinfection by a unique inhibition of type I interferon activity. *NatImmunol* (2006) 7:33–9. doi: 10.1038/ni1287
- 75. Piganis RAR, De Weerd NA, Gould JA, Schindler CW, Mansell A, Nicholson SE, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) 1 inhibits type I interferon (IFN) signaling via the interferon alpha receptor (IFNAR1)-associated tyrosine kinase Tyk2. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:33811–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.270207
- Blumer T, Coto-Llerena M, Duong FHT, Heim MH. SOCS1 is an inducible negative regulator of interferon λ (IFN-λ)-induced gene expression in vivo. *J Biol Chem* (2017) 292:17928–38. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.788877
- 77. François-Newton V, Magno de Freitas Almeida G, Payelle-Brogard B, Monneron D, Pichard-Garcia L, Piehler J, et al. USP18-based negative feedback control is induced by type I and type III interferons and specifically inactivates interferon α response. *PloS One* (2011) 6:e22200. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0022200
- Schreiber G, Piehler J. The molecular basis for functional plasticity in type I interferon signaling. *Trends Immunol* (2015) 36:139–49. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2015.01.002
- Sarasin-Filipowicz M, Wang X, Yan M, Duong FHT, Poli V, Hilton DJ, et al. Alpha interferon induces long-lasting refractoriness of JAK-STAT signaling in

the mouse liver through induction of USP18/UBP43. Mol Cell Biol (2009) 29:4841-51. doi:10.1128/MCB.00224-09

- 80. Makowska Z, Duong FHT, Trincucci G, Tough DF, Heim MH. Interferon- β and interferon- λ signaling is not affectedby interferon-induced refractoriness to interferon- α in vivo. *Hepatology* (2011) 53:1154–63. doi: 10.1002/hep.24189
- Basters A, Knobeloch K-P, Fritz G. USP18 a multifunctional component in the interferon response. *Biosci Rep* (2018) 38:1–9. doi: 10.1042/BSR20180250
- Pervolaraki K, Guo C, Albrecht D, Boulant S, Stanifer ML. Type-Specific Crosstalk Modulates Interferon Signaling in IntestinalEpithelial Cells. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*(2019) 39:650–60. doi: 10.1089/jir.2019.0040
- Marcello T, Grakoui A, Barba-Spaeth G, Machlin ES, Kotenko SV, MacDonald MR, et al. Interferons alpha and lambda inhibit hepatitis C virus replicationwith distinct signal transduction and gene regulation kinetics. *Gastroenterology* (2006) 131:1887–98. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.09.052
- Selvakumar TA, Bhushal S, Kalinke U, Wirth D, Hauser H, Köster M, et al. Identification of a Predominantly Interferon-λ-InducedTranscriptional Profile in Murine Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *FrontImmunol* (2017) 8:1302. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01302
- Forero A, Ozarkar S, Li H, Lee CH, Hemann EA, Nadjsombati MS, et al. Differential Activation of the Transcription Factor IRF1 Underliesthe Distinct Immune Responses Elicited by Type I and Type III Interferons. *Immunity* (2019) 51:451–64.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.07.007
- Novatt H, Renn L, Theisen T, Massie T, Massie T, Rabin RL. Interferon regulatory factor 1 (IRF1) expression patterns by respiratory epithelial cells reveal non-redundancy of type I versus type III interferon. *J Immunol* (2016) 196:68.12–2. doi: 10.3390/ijms20061445
- Novatt H, Theisen TC, Massie T, Massie T, Simonyan V, Voskanian-Kordi A, et al. Distinct Patterns of Expression Transcription Factors in Response to Interferonβ and Interferonλ1. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2016) 36:589–98. doi: 10.1089/jir.2016.0031
- Raj A, Peskin CS, Tranchina D, Vargas DY, Tyagi S. Stochastic mRNA synthesis in mammalian cells. *PloS Biol* (2006) 4:e309. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pbio.0040309
- Mariani L, Schulz EG, Lexberg MH, Helmstetter C, Radbruch A, Löhning M, et al. Short-term memory in gene induction reveals the regulatory principle behind stochastic IL-4 expression. *Mol Syst Biol* (2010) 6:359. doi 10.1038/ msb.2010.13
- Bauhofer O, Ruggieri A, Schmid B, Schirmacher P, Bartenschlager R. Persistence of HCV in quiescent hepatic cells under conditions of aninterferon-induced antiviral response. *Gastroenterology* (2012) 143:429–38.e8. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2012.04.018
- Maiwald T, Schneider A, Busch H, Sahle S, Gretz N, Weiss TS, et al. Combining theoretical analysis and experimental data generationreveals IRF9 as a crucial factor for accelerating interferon α-induced early antiviralsignalling. *FEBS J* (2010) 277:4741–54. doi: 10.1111/ j.1742-4658.2010.07880.x
- Bhushal S, Wolfsmüller M, Selvakumar TA, Kemper L, Wirth D, Hornef MW, et al. Cell Polarization and Epigenetic Status Shape the Heterogeneous Response to Type III Interferons in Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *FrontImmunol* (2017) 8:671. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00671
- Lazear HM, Schoggins JW, Diamond MS. Shared and Distinct Functions of Type I and Type III Interferons. *Immunity* (2019) 50:907–23. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2019.03.025
- Nice TJ, Baldridge MT, McCune BT, Norman JM, Lazear HM, Artyomov M, et al. Interferon-λ cures persistent murine norovirus infection in the absence of adaptive immunity. *Science* (2015) 347:269–73. doi: 10.1126/ science.1258100
- 95. Mahlakõiv T, Hernandez P, Gronke K, Diefenbach A, Staeheli P. Leukocytederived IFN- α/β and epithelial IFN- λ constitute a compartmentalized mucosal defense system that restricts enteric virusinfections. *PloS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1004782. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004782
- Stanifer ML, Kee C, Cortese M, Zumaran CM, Triana S, Mukenhirn M, et al. Critical Role of Type III Interferon in Controlling SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Cell Rep* (2020) 32:107863. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2020.107863
- Hernández PP, Mahlakoiv T, Yang I, Schwierzeck V, Nguyen N, Guendel F, et al. Interferon-λ and interleukin 22 act synergistically for theinduction of interferon-stimulated genes and control of rotavirus infection. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16:698–707. doi: 10.1038/ni.3180

- Baldridge MT, Lee S, Brown JJ, McAllister N, Urbanek K, Dermody TS, et al. Expression of Ifnlr1 on Intestinal Epithelial Cells Is Critical to the Antiviral Effects of Interferon Lambda against Norovirus and Reovirus. J Virol (2017) 91:e02079–16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02079-16
- Lin J-D, Feng N, Sen A, Balan M, Tseng H-C, McElrath C, et al. Distinct Roles of Type I and Type III Interferons in IntestinalImmunity to Homologous and Heterologous Rotavirus Infections. *PloS Pathog* (2016) 12:e1005600. doi: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1005600
- 100. Baldridge MT, Nice TJ, McCune BT, Yokoyama CC, Kambal A, Wheadon M, et al. Commensal microbes and interferon-λ determine persistence ofenteric murine norovirus infection. *Science* (2015)347:266–9. doi: 10.1126/ science.1258025
- 101. Tschurtschenthaler M, Wang J, Fricke C, Fritz TMJ, Niederreiter L, Adolph TE, et al. Type I interferon signalling in the intestinal epithelium affectsPaneth cells, microbial ecology and epithelial regeneration. *Gut* (2014) 63:1921–31. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305863
- 102. Saxena K, Simon LM, Zeng X-L, Blutt SE, Crawford SE, Sastri NP, et al. A paradox of transcriptional and functional innate interferonresponses of human intestinal enteroids to enteric virus infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2017) 114:E570–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1615422114
- 103. Hosmillo M, Chaudhry Y, Nayak K, Sorgeloos F, Koo B-K, Merenda A, et al. Norovirus Replication in Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells Is Restricted by the Interferon-Induced JAK/STAT Signaling Pathway and RNA Polymerase II-Mediated Transcriptional Responses. *MBio* (2020) 11:e00215–20. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00215-20
- 104. Crotta S, Davidson S, Mahlakoiv T, Desmet CJ, Buckwalter MR, Albert ML, et al. Type I and type III interferons drive redundant amplification loops to induce a transcriptional signature in influenza-infected airway epithelia. *PloS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003773. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003773
- 105. Klinkhammer J, Schnepf D, Ye L, Schwaderlapp M, Gad HH, Hartmann R, et al. IFN- λ prevents influenza virus spread from the upper airways to the lungs and limits virus transmission. *Elife* (2018) 7:e33354. doi: 10.7554/eLife.33354
- 106. Ye L, Schnepf D, Becker J, Ebert K, Tanriver Y, Bernasconi V, et al. Interferon- λ enhances adaptive mucosal immunity by boosting release of thymic stromal lymphopoietin. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20:593–601. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0345-x
- 107. Ye L, Ohnemus A, Ong LC, Gad HH, Hartmann R, Lycke N, et al. Type I and Type III Interferons Differ in Their Adjuvant Activities for Influenza Vaccines. J Virol (2019) 93:e01262–19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01262-19
- 108. Espinosa V, Dutta O, McElrath C, Du P, Chang Y-J, Cicciarelli B, et al. Type III interferon is a critical regulator of innate antifungal immunity. *Sci Immunol* (2017) eaan5357. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aan5357
- 109. Ye L, Schnepf D, Staeheli P. Interferon-λ orchestrates innate and adaptive mucosal immuneresponses. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2019) 19:614–25. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0182-z
- 110. LeMessurier KS, Häcker H, Chi L, Tuomanen E, Redecke V. Type I interferon protects against pneumococcal invasive disease byinhibiting bacterial transmigration across the lung. *PloS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003727. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003727

- 111. Odendall C, Voak AA, Kagan JC. Type III IFNs Are Commonly Induced by Bacteria-Sensing TLRs and Reinforce Epithelial Barriers during Infection. *J Immunol* (2017) 199:3270–9. 10.4049/jimmunol.1700250
- 112. Sarasin-Filipowicz M, Oakeley EJ, Duong FHT, Christen V, Terracciano L, Filipowicz W, et al. Interferon signaling and treatment outcome in chronic hepatitis C. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2008) 105:7034–9. 10.1073/ pnas.0707882105
- 113. McHutchison JG, Lawitz EJ, Shiffman ML, Muir AJ, Galler GW, McCone J, et al. Peginterferon alfa-2b or alfa-2a with ribavirin for treatment ofhepatitis C infection. N Engl J Med (2009) 361:580–93. 10.1056/ NEJMoa0808010
- 114. Cooksley WGE, Piratvisuth T, Lee S-D, Mahachai V, Chao Y-C, Tanwandee T, et al. Peginterferon alpha-2a (40 kDa): an advance in the treatment ofhepatitis B e antigen-positive chronic hepatitis B. J Viral Hepat (2003) 10:298–305. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2893.2003.00450.x
- 115. Major J, Crotta S, Llorian M, McCabe TM, Gad HH, Priestnall SL, et al. Type I and III interferons disrupt lung epithelial repair duringrecovery from viral infection. *Science* (2020) 369:712–7. doi: 10.1126/ science. abc2061
- 116. Broggi A, Ghosh S, Sposito B, Spreafico R, Balzarini F, Lo Cascio A, et al. Type III interferons disrupt the lung epithelial barrier upon viral recognition. *Science* (2020) 369:706–12. doi: 10.1126/science.abc3545
- 117. Lindemans CA, Calafiore M, Mertelsmann AM, O'Connor MH, Dudakov JA, Jenq RR, et al. Interleukin-22 promotes intestinal-stem-cell-mediated epithelial regeneration. *Nature* (2015) 528:560-4. doi: 10.1038/ nature16460
- Taylor CT, Colgan SP. Regulation of immunity and inflammation by hypoxia in immunologicalniches. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2017) 17:774–85. doi: 10.1038/ nri.2017.103
- 119. Muenchau S, Deutsch R, de Castro IJ, Hielscher T, Heber N, Niesler B, et al. Hypoxic Environment Promotes Barrier Formation in Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells through Regulation of MicroRNA 320a Expression. *Mol Cell Biol* (2019) 39:e00553–18. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00553-18
- 120. Wyler E, Franke V, Menegatti J, Kocks C, Boltengagen A, Praktiknjo S, et al. Single-cell RNA-sequencing of herpes simplex virus 1-infected cellsconnects NRF2 activation to an antiviral program. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:4878. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-12894-z

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Stanifer, Guo, Doldan and Boulant. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Type I Interferons in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of COVID-19

Gideon Schreiber*

Department of Biomolecular Sciences, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel

Type I interferons (IFN-I) were first discovered over 60 years ago in a classical experiment by Isaacs and Lindenman, who showed that IFN-Is possess antiviral activity. Later, it became one of the first approved protein drugs using heterologous protein expression systems, which allowed its large-scale production. It has been approved, and widely used in a pleiotropy of diseases, including multiple-sclerosis, hepatitis B and C, and some forms of cancer. Preliminary clinical data has supported its effectiveness against potential pandemic pathogens such as Ebola and SARS. Still, more efficient and specific drugs have taken its place in treating such diseases. The COVID-19 global pandemic has again lifted the status of IFN-Is to become one of the more promising drug candidates, with initial clinical trials showing promising results in reducing the severity and duration of the disease. Although SARS-CoV-2 inhibits the production of IFN β and thus obstructs the innate immune response to this virus, it is sensitive to the antiviral activity of externally administrated IFN-Is. In this review I discuss the diverse modes of biological actions of IFN-Is and how these are related to biophysical parameters of IFN-I-receptor interaction and cell-type specificity in light of the large variety of binding affinities of the different IFN-I subtypes towards the common interferon receptor. Furthermore, I discuss how these may guide the optimized use IFN-Is in combatting COVID-19.

Keywords: type I interferon, COVID-19, signaling, differential activity, inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Type I interferons (IFN-I) are a family of cytokines that bind the type I interferon receptor, constituted of two transmembrane subunits, IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 (**Figure 1**). The two receptors are constituted of an extracellular domain, which binds IFN-I, a transmembrane helix and an unstructured intracellular domain (ICD) that binds JAKs and STATs (1, 2). JAK1 is associated with IFNAR2 and TYK2 with IFNAR1. STAT1 and STAT2 (and maybe also other STATs) were found to be constitutively bound to the ICD of IFNAR2 (3–5). Binding results in close proximity of the intracellularly associated JAKs, JAK1 and TYK2, resulting in their activation through cross phosphorylation (**Figure 1**) (6, 7). This also results in receptor phosphorylation, which role is still under debate (3, 8–10). The phosphorylated STATs dissociate from the receptor and form homo and hetero dimers, which are transported to the nucleus, where they serve as transcription factors for a large number of genes. The most prominent effects are associated with STAT1/STAT2

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mark R. Walter, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

Reviewed by:

Raymond P. Donnelly, United States Food and Drug Administration, United States Ronald L. Rabin, United States Food and Drug Administration, United States

*Correspondence:

Gideon Schreiber gideon.schreiber@weizmann.ac.il

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 August 2020 Accepted: 16 September 2020 Published: 30 September 2020

Citation:

Schreiber G (2020) The Role of Type I Interferons in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of COVID-19. Front. Immunol. 11:595739. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.595739



heterodimerization, which together with IRF9 form the interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3), which bind a distinct group of target genes harboring the interferonstimulated response elements (ISRE). In addition to this, IFN-I drives STAT1/STAT1 and STAT3/STAT3 homodimerization, the formation of a STAT2/IRF9 binary complex and more (6, 10-12) (Figure 2). This leads to the transcription activation or suppression of over 1,000 genes, which drive a wide range of innate and adaptive immune functions. These, in turn respond against various pathogens, act as important regulators in tumor immunity and have a role in pathophysiology and autoimmune diseases (10, 13-18). STAT2 knockout cells still activate a STAT1/STAT1 response mediated by IRF1, while STAT1 knockout cells activate a STAT2/IRF9-induced response (10). Surprisingly, no change in the gene induction relative to wildtype cells was observed in STAT3 knockout HeLa cells, despite the strong IFN-I-induced phosphorylation of STAT3. However,

as IFN-I responses are cell-type specific, a STAT3/STAT3induced response may still be found in other cells than HeLa.

Due to this wide range of physiological responses, IFN-I has provided therapeutic benefits for multiple diseases, including multiple sclerosis, some cancers and viral diseases (hepatitis B and C) (19–21). Due to the efficient activation of antiviral activities by IFN-Is, most viruses have contemplated mechanisms to avoid its actions (22–24). For example, the Ebola virus, which outbreak in central Africa killed tens of thousands of people (25, 26), avoids IFN-I activity by producing the VP24 protein that binds the karyopherin alpha nuclear transporter. Thereby, it inhibits the nuclear transport of phosphorylated STAT1, rendering cells refractory to IFN-Is.

Another example of viral mechanisms that evolved to eliminate IFN-I functions in inducing innate immunity is given by the SARS corona virus, where both the production of IFN β and the IFN-I induced signaling are attenuated. Recently, a



activation of multiple STAT complexes that serve as transcription factors for different genes. The activated STATs and IFN-I regulated genes vary between different cells, IFN-I subtype, its concentration and duration of activation, result in a pleiotropy of responses.

more infective version of SARS has emerged, SARS-CoV-2 (which causes the COVID-19 disease). COVID-19 cases have been first reported by the end of 2019 in China, and rapidly became a world-wide epidemic with unprecedented consequences (27, 28). SARS-CoV-2 seems to have originated

from horseshoe bats. Similar virus strains that circulate in bats in Hubei province in China may in the future cause further new zoonotic outbreaks (29). SARS-CoV-2 has 83% homology to the SARS-CoV virus that also spread from China in 2002 (30). SARS-CoV-2 proved to be much more infectious compared to the original SARS virus, resulting in a global epidemic. As IFN-I drives strong antiviral activities, the mechanisms SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2 combat IFN-I activities has been a matter of intense research, with at least 6 proteins being identified to counteract IFN-I functions in the SARS-CoV virus (31). In addition, IFN-Is were implicated in contributing to the severity of the cytokine storm, which is a major complication of SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2 and can lead to respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and death (31, 32).

In this review I will describe our current knowledge on the involvement of IFN-Is in the development of the COVID-19 disease, and how this relates to the different activities associated with type I interferons.

COMMON AND UNIQUE FEATURES OF TYPE I INTERFERON SIGNALING

Type I interferon receptors are found on all cell types, and are a major component of the innate immune system. Human type I interferons include 13 similar IFN α s with 80% homology between them and single IFN ω , κ , ϵ and β , with lower homology (30–50%). All of them bind the receptor complex, composed of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 at the same proximal location (1, 2, 33). Despite structural similarities among the ternary IFN-I-IFNAR1-IFNAR2 complexes, IFN-Is drive a range of different activities, dependent on the cell type and the interferon subtype (34). This apparent paradox has major implications for understanding the role of IFN-I in health and disease and its varied applications as a drug against a pleiotropy of diseases.

IFN-I signaling is initiated by binding of IFN-I to its receptor. It has been suggested that cytokine receptors are pre-associated, with ligand binding activating signaling through the induction of conformational changes (35). However, more recent singlemolecule receptor tracking on life cells has clearly shown that for many of the cytokines, its role is to bring the receptors into close proximity, which drives signaling (36). This seems to be the case also for IFN-I induction, as shown both using single receptor tracking and mutational analysis (Figure 1) (37, 38). While structurally, the ternary ligand-receptor complex seems to be the same for all IFN-Is, the binding affinity differs by many orders of magnitude. The tightest binding IFN-I is IFN β , which binds IFNAR1 with 100 nM affinity and IFNAR2 with subnanomolar affinity. The different IFN α subtypes bind IFNAR1 with 0.5 to 5 μ M affinity and IFNAR2 with 1 to 100 nM affinity, with IFNa1 being the weakest binding IFNa (39, 40). Even weaker binding was measured for IFN¢, with ~100-fold reduced affinity relative to IFN α proteins (15). Interestingly, IFN ϵ is constitutively expressed by the reproductive tract epithelium and is regulated by hormones during the estrus cycle, reproduction,

menopause and by exogenous hormones. Thus, its mode of action is different from other IFN-Is (41).

These large differences in binding affinity between IFN-I subtypes were suggested to result in major differences in biological activity. To obtain a better insight into the molecular mechanisms of their actions, IFN α 2 was engineered to cover the whole range of binding affinities of natural IFN-Is to both the high affinity (IFNAR2) and low affinity (IFNAR1) receptor chains (1). These studies have shown that indeed, the binding affinity to both receptors is a major determinant of IFN-I activity (42). Using both natural and engineered IFN-Is has shown that even weak binding IFN-Is activate the cellular antiviral program at very low (pM) concentrations (39). Moreover, the antiviral program was activated in all cell-lines tested. Despite the 50-fold higher affinity of IFN β over IFN α 2 towards binding IFNAR receptors, its potency to elicit an antiviral response is similar. For example, in WISH cells (originally thought to be of amniotic origin, but later found to be a HeLa (cervix cancer) contaminant) the EC₅₀ for antiviral activity of IFN α 2 is 0.3 pM, while the EC₅₀ for IFN β is 0.15 pM (43). WISH cells have been extensively used to characterize IFN-I activity, including for definition of IFN-I unit activity. An upper limit for antiviral potency was further verified by engineering an IFN α 2 variant, YNS- α 8-tail, with 50fold tighter binding to IFNAR1 and 15-fold tighter binding to IFNAR2 in comparison to IFN α 2 (thereby surpassing the receptor binding affinity of natural IFN β). Still, the EC₅₀ for antiviral activity is only 3-fold lower in comparison to IFN 2 (44, 45).

Conversely to antiviral activity, IFN β is much more potent in activating the antiproliferative program relative to IFN α 2, a result that was also verified using the IFN α 2 variant, YNS- α 8-tail (45). The EC₅₀ for antiproliferative activity on WISH cells is

2 nM for IFN α 2, 50 pM for IFN β and 20 pM for YNS- α 8-tail. A similar increase in antiproliferative potency was observed also for OVCAR3 and HeLa cells. Interestingly, while antiviral activity was observed in all cell lines tested, some cell lines were not susceptible to IFN-I induced antiproliferative activity (for example T47D and K562), independent on the concentration and subtype of IFN-I (45).

To better understand the molecular basis for this finding, IFN-I induced gene expression was monitored using various IFN-I subtypes or engineered mutants on the background of different cell-lines. These experiments showed that low concentrations of weaker binding interferons activate the expression of mostly antiviral genes. Higher concentrations of interferons activate also other genes, many of them related to immune-modulation (45). Examples for such genes are chemokines such as CXCL10 and 11, which are involved in chemotaxis of T cells and natural killer cells, induction of apoptosis, regulation of cell growth and more. We gave the term of "robust" for the common IFN-I induced program (including its antiviral activity) and "tunable" for the other programs induced by IFN-Is, which include between others antiproliferative and immunomodulatory activities (34). Further investigations into these two programs has shown that cells with low receptor numbers activate only the robust program, and that not all cell types execute the tunable program, conversely to the robust program that is common to all cells (46). Tighter binding IFN-Is at higher concentrations are essential for the activation of the tunable program. Genes upregulated by the robust program are mostly classical antiviral genes, such as MX1 and MX2, OAS1 and 2, PKR, IFIT1, 2 and 3, ISG15, and many more. Figure 3A shows a Venn diagram of RNAseq data for 4 different cell-lines induced with



upregulated genes, many of them related to immunomodulatory functions, cell cycle, apoptosys and more.

IFN-I. The diagram shows that 53 genes are commonly upregulated by all 4 cell-lines. **Figure 3B** shows STRING protein interaction analysis of these common genes. Clearly, these form a tightly interacting mesh of gene products. Gene Ontology analysis shows these genes to have an extremely high signature for antiviral activity and IFN-I activation. Promoter analysis of common ISGs has shown them to be driven by the classical ISRE promoter sequence (45). Conversely, for tunable genes no clear promoter sequence was identified. The exact mechanism of how tunable genes are upregulated by IFN-I is thus not yet fully understood.

INTERFERON AND INFLAMMATION

From an immunological point of view, IFN-Is have three major functions: 1. To activate an antiviral state in infected and neighboring cells that limits spread of infection. 2. Modulate innate immune responses, including antigen presentation and natural killer cell functions while restraining pro-inflammatory pathways. 3. activating the adaptive immune system for the development of high-affinity antigen-specific T and B cell responses (47). As IFN-Is are highly active molecules, their expression and signaling potency is highly regulated. Opposing augmenting and suppressive signals are induced by host factors. Suppressive pathways include IFN-I activation of USP18, an ISG that suppresses signal transduction by reducing the ability of IFN-Is to form an active receptor complex (38, 48). A second inhibitory mechanism is the induction of SOCS1 and SOCS3, which KIR domain block the substrate binding groove on JAK, thereby inhibiting STAT phosphorylation (49). A third mechanism is by rapid endocytosis and subsequent lysosomal degradation of activated IFNAR complexes (50, 51) resulting in reduced receptor numbers (Figure 1). It has been demonstrated that a mutant in IFNAR1 (S535A and S526A in human and mouse respectively), which fails in IFNAR1 endocytosis through blocking its ubiquitination result in high incidence of inflammation (51, 52). At the transcriptional level, IFN-I response can also be regulated by miR-155, which is highly induced by pattern recognition receptors and inflammatory signaling, and suppresses the expression of over 100 genes. Between them genes related to the interferon pathway. It was shown that miR-155-deficient CD8(+) T cells had enhanced type I interferon signaling and were more susceptible to interferon's antiproliferative effect (53).

High basal IFN-I levels are implicated in various immunological diseases, such as systemic lupus erythematosus and more (18, 54, 55). However, IFN-I has also anti-inflammatory effects, as best demonstrated by their ability to suppress multiple-sclerosis (56). It is important to note that beneficial results in treating multiple-sclerosis were observed only for IFN β but not for IFN α treatment (56). To see whether this relates to the higher receptor binding affinity of IFN β , we established a transgenic mouse harboring the human interferon-receptors extracellular domains fussed to the mouse intracellular domains and compared the severity of EAE in a mice model upon treatment with IFN α 2, IFN β and the high-

affinity engineered IFN-YNS-028-tail. We found that the IFN-YNS- α 8-tail had the strongest suppressive effect on the development of EAE (57). The effect was further enhanced by PASylation of IFN-YNS- α 8-tail, which extends it plasma half-life by 10-fold. Interestingly, we found a tight relation between the increased levels of expression of PD-L1 in mice and the severity of the disease. These data show that tight binding IFN-Is induce preferential anti-inflammatory responses, at least in this MS mouse model. Another example for the immunosuppressive activity of IFN-I was shown for LCMV infection, which induces consistent IFN-I production including the immunosuppressive factors IL-10 and PD-L1 (58). In addition to the above, Interferons contribute to inflammasome activation through several different mechanisms, including caspase-11 expression and the IFN-I inducible GBP protein expression, which was reported to have an important role in caspase-11 activation and pyroptotic cell death (59).

IFN-Is have important roles in protecting the lung from spread of respiratory viruses. In addition to their direct role, IFN-Is have also been found to be critical in initiating lung inflammatory responses, by inducing recruitment and activation of immune responses, which have to be kept under control. IFN-Is have been shown to result in the production of chemokines such as CCL2 and CXCL10, which play important roles in the recruitment of monocytes/macrophages, T cells, NK cells, and DCs, therefore directly influencing inflammation in the lung (60). This varied effect of type I IFNs on T cells is partly dependent on the different STATs induced by type I IFNs. In the absence of IFN-Is, the detection of accumulating viral RNA and downstream processing of the signal is compromised, leading to viral spread and also to reduced inflammation in the lung. Interestingly, there is an age-related reduction of IFN-I production and ISG induction after viral infection, which may be related to the higher susceptibility of elderly population to lung infections (61).

A CONSTANT BATTLE BETWEEN THE INTERFERON SYSTEM AND VIRUSES

Viruses have developed many strategies to interfere with the synthesis of IFN-Is or the IFN-I induced responses. One of them, is the stimulation of turnover of the interferon receptors. Among other viruses implicated in accelerating the turnover of IFNAR1 are EBV, herpes simplex virus, hepatitis C and B viruses, vesicular stomatitis virus and the SARS coronavirus (62, 63). SARS-CoV has been shown to suppress IFN-I responses in the host through multiple mechanisms. A subdued IFN-I response diminishes antigen presentation and reduces the antiviral adaptive Th-1 immune response. IFN-Is communicate between cells against pathogens and have a critical role in the immune system, such as activating natural killer (NK) cells and macrophages. In addition, IFN-Is cause flu-like symptoms, which are observed in various diseases. These symptoms may have a role in alerting a person of his/her sickness, in order to limit disease-spread to other individuals. In SARS-CoV and

MERS-CoV, the induction of IFN β is suppressed altogether. This dampening approach is highly associated with the disease severity and increased mortality (64). In the lethal cases of SARS-CoV or MERS-CoV infections, the increased influx of inflammatory cells is always observed. In a mouse model of SARS- CoV infection, imbalance in IFN-I and inflammatory cells were shown as the main cause of fatal pneumonia (65). In addition to these, SARS-CoV implements strategies to evade the immune response by antagonizing IFN-I induced signaling pathways. The ORF6 protein blocks the expression of STAT1activated genes (66). SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV encode papainlike protease (PLP) that is able to impede the immune response function (67). In addition, SARS-CoV interacts with ISG15 and antagonizes the IFN-I-mediated antiviral response (68). The MERS-CoV ORF4b antagonizes the antiviral IFNB production by inhibiting IRF3 and IRF7 (69). Also SARS-CoV inhibits activation of IRF3/7, slowing IFNB production upon infection (70). While IRF3 is expressed in many different cell types, plasmacytoid dendritic cells are the only cells constitutively expressing IRF7 (47).

IFN-I treatment has been studied against MERS-CoV and SARS- CoV in numerous experiments, both in vitro and in vivo, and in combination or not with lopinavir/ritonavir, ribavirin, remdesivir, corticosteroids, or IFN γ . While IFN α and β were efficient in vitro and in certain animal models, their success in humans was less convincing [for review see, (71, 72)]. It should be noted that reduction in ARDS mortality (not related to SARS) was also found to be at best marginal upon treatment with IFN-I (73). Still, one has to consider that mice studies have shown the timing of IFN-I administration to be critical, with positive effects being observed if IFN-I was administered shortly after infection. Conversely, IFN-I failed to inhibit viral replication and resulted in unwanted side-effects when administered later in the disease circle (74, 75). These include elevated lung cytokine/chemokine levels, vascular leakage, and impaired virus-specific T cell responses. It is interesting to note that a knockout of the IFN-I receptor in mice resulted in its protection from lethal SARS-CoV infection. These findings have major implications on how to treat humans against SARS and MERS, and could have affected the outcome of the clinical studies.

Mode of Infection by SARS-CoV-2

The COVID-19 pandemic started in December 2019 in Wuhan, China. By the summer of 2020, thirty million cases were reported worldwide, with over 900,000 fatalities. As COVID-19 is closely related to the SARS-CoV virus, the interest in the effect of interferons on its disease progression, and its potential as a drug was immediate. Disease progression of COVID-19 goes through a number of stages. The initial stage, which last from 2 to 14 days (usually 5–6 days) from infection is asymptomatic. A certain proportion of patients never produce any symptoms (the percentage of those is under debate, but a range of 30–50% is most likely). Of those who develop symptoms, they are mostly mild (80% of those who develop symptoms). From the remaining 20%, about half will develop severe symptoms, which require hospitalization in intensive care units. The mortality rate, from those developing symptoms is 2% to 5%. The numbers given above are average, and change dramatically with age. At young age most of the infected people will be asymptomatic, while over the age of 70 about 80% will have symptoms. Moreover, as the age progresses, symptom severity increases (76). The major complication of severe infection is pneumonia, which can develop into acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). In addition, COVID-19 has been linked to cardiovascular sequelae, such as myocardial injury, arrhythmias, cardiomyopathy and heart failure, acute kidney injury, neurological complications, and acute ischemic stroke (28). Developing severe symptoms and death is strongly related to background conditions. The strongest relation is to age, with the risk to people under 50 being very small, while the risk peaks for people over the age of 75. In addition, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, immunocompromised state, obesity, heart conditions and type 2 diabetes are linked to higher incidents of sever disease (76).

CoV-2 is presumed to infect people mostly though inhalation of viral particles, which can be airborne, in droplets or otherwise through infection through touching infected surfaces. The Spike protein on the CoV-2 surface binds to the human ACE2 protein, which serves as its receptor (Figure 4). The homotrimeric spike glycoprotein is made from S1 and S2 subunits. Its binding and subsequent cleavage by the host protease TMPRSS2 results in the fusion between cell and viral membranes and cell entry (77). Blocking the ACE2 receptors by specific antibodies voids viral entry (77-79). Interestingly, CoV-2 receptor-binding domain (RBD) exhibited significantly higher binding affinity to ACE2 than the SARS-CoV RBD, which was speculated to relate to the higher infectivity of COVID-19 in relation to SARS. After membrane fusion, the virus enters through the endosomal pathway and the viral RNA is released into the host cell. The viral RNA is then translated into viral polyproteins, which are cleaved into small products by viral proteases (papain-like protease [Plpro] and the main protease [Mpro]). Viral proteins and genome RNA are subsequently assembled into virions in the ER and Golgi and then transported and released out of the cell. The exact mechanism of viral self-assembly is still under intense investigation (80, 81).

Investigating ACE2 and the viral entry-associated protease TMPRSS2 expression levels in lung tissue and trachea has shown that TMPRSS2 is expressed in both tissues, while ACE2 is predominantly expressed in a transient secretory cell type (82). In addition, ACE2 and TMPRSS2 co-expressing cells were found within lung type II alveolar cells (which also release pulmonary surfactant), enterocytes, and nasal goblet secretory cells (83). Using single-cell RNA-sequencing, ACE2 and TMPRSS2 were found to be highly expressed also in the nasal goblet and ciliated cells (84). The inhaled virus likely binds to epithelial cells in the nasal cavity and starts replicating. The virus propagates and migrates down the respiratory tract along the conducting airways, and a more robust innate immune response is triggered. For about 80% of the infected patients, the disease will be mild and mostly restricted to the upper and conducting airways. Unfortunately, about 20% of the infected patients will progress to more severe disease and will develop pulmonary infiltrates and some of them will develop ARDS (85).



Interferons and COVID-19

Like many other viruses, also SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2 have evolved mechanisms to reduce their exposure to IFN-I. In both viruses, mechanisms to block the production of IFN β were identified. While the antiviral potency of IFN-Is on SARS-CoV is moderate, SARS-CoV-2 seems to be highly sensitive to IFN-I. This is evident by the significant reduction in viral replication observed following IFN-I treatment at both 24 and 48 h postinfection (86). In SARS-CoV-2-infected cells, IFN-I results in elevated STAT1 levels and ISG production (in contrast to SARS-CoV infected cells). This raises the question of why the innate immune system fails to combat SARS-CoV-2? The apparent answer to this is in the inhibition of $IFN\beta$ production by proteins of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. Within cells, RNA viruses are sensed by the innate immune system through three major classes of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs): Toll-like receptors (i.e. TLR-3, -7, -8), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), and NOD-like receptors (NLRs) (87). To identify the molecular mechanisms that block IFN β production through activation of IRF3/7, several research groups transfected cells individually with all the CoV-2 viral genes and with either RIG I, MDA5, or MAVS (88, 89). Among the 27 CoV-2 proteins transfected to cells, they identified nsp14 and orf6 as competent suppressors of IFNB. Yuen et al. also identified nsp13 and 15, while Lei et al. identified nsp1, nsp12 and the M protein as potent inhibitors of the MAVS pathway, leading to inhibition of IFN β production (Figure 4). Orf6 was between the strongest suppressors of IFN β production in both studies. Orf6 was also the only SARS-CoV-2 gene suppressing the activity of an interferon-stimulated response element (ISRE) promoter in both studies. Lei et al. also identified nsp1 and nsp14 as potent inhibitors of the induction of an ISRE promotor. In another study, Li et al. showed that the viral ORF6, ORF8, and nucleocapsid proteins were strong inhibitors of IFN β production, and through this of the IFN-I innate immune response (90). In this study, ORF6 and ORF8 also inhibited induction of transcription an ISRE promotor driving a luciferase as reporter, following IFN β treatment.

In addition to the above-mentioned SARS-CoV-2 genes, ORF3b was implicated by Konno et al. as being a potent antagonist towards IFN-I production (91). An interesting civet in this study is the finding that a natural variant, with a longer ORF3b reading frame increased disease severity in two patients. In light of the much higher than expected coding capacity of the SARS-CoV-2 genome, where many more proteins than genes were identified (92), we may find even more proteins and peptides being involved in eliminating the innate immune response, including through inhibition of IFN-I activities.

Another mechanism by which SARS-CoV-2 inhibit antiviral functions of the cell is thought the activity of the papain-like protease (PLpro), which is essential for viral polyprotein processing. This gene was found to preferentially cleave the ubiquitin-like modifier interferon-stimulated gene 15 (ISG15), which is an IFN-I induced gene with strong antiviral activity (93). This represents another layer of attenuation of IFN-I responses by SARS-CoV-2 and is similar to the mechanism previously identified for SARS-CoV (68).

Inhibition of IFNB production by CoV-2 got further confirmation from measuring the levels of different cytokines in SARS-CoV-2-infected patients. An integrated immune analysis, including immune cell analysis, whole-blood transcriptomics and cytokine quantification on COVID-19 patients at 8 to 12 days after disease onset has shown an impaired IFN-I response that is a result of low IFN-I levels (94). This, in turn results in the low production of interferon-stimulated genes. Conversely, high levels of IL6 and TNF α were measured (Figure 4) (95, 96). This is in contrast to what is seen in patients infected with highly pathogenic influenza viruses. The high production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and low production of IFN-Is during SARS-CoV-2 infection suggests effective activation of NF-κB but not IRF3 and IRF7 (95). Impaired IFN-I production during severe COVID-19 may also lead to an imbalance in the pro-inflammatory versus pro-repair functions of airway macrophages. This was indeed seen in severely ill patients with COVID-19.

Other innate immune cells such as natural killer (NK) cells are also regulated by IFN-Is during coronavirus infection. Severe COVID-19 is associated with exhaustion of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (97), which may be a result of deficient IFN-I production, as IFN-Is promote survival of T cells. An important issue to consider is that early production of IFN-Is promote efficient T cell responses, while a delayed response may inhibit T cell proliferation or their exit from lymphoid organs and thus cause their functional exhaustion. Indeed, T_{reg} cell counts in COVID-19 patients inversely correlate with disease severity (98, 99). Interestingly, transcriptomic analysis of blood, lung, and airways of CoV-2-infected patients showed that while IFN β was indeed not highly expressed in either, a number of IFNots were highly upregulated in the lung and airways but not in blood (100). Moreover, a clear IFN-I-induced gene expression profile was also detected for lung and airways, but not for blood (PBMCs). A similar finding of elevated IFN α but not IFN β , during COVID-19 infection was also found by Wei et al. (101). In this study, the elevated IFN-I response was restricted to the stage in the disease were patients were in intensive care. In another study of 26 patients, of whom 5 did not produce IFN-I, those patients had higher viral load, required more aggressive medical intervention and their time of stay in the intensive care unit was longer that IFN-I producing patients (102).

PDCs are the most rapid and abundant IFN-I producers. PDCs express TLR7 and TLR9 which are important in sensing viruses. The response of PDCs to viruses, particularly IFN-I production, is significantly impaired with ageing while secretion of all other pro-inflammatory cytokines was comparable to that of younger individuals (103). This may relate to the master regulator for IFN-I production, IRF7, which expression, phosphorylation and nuclear translocation decreases with age. In addition, local neutrophil-mediated inflammation is increased with age, while cytotoxicity of NK cells induced by type I IFN-Is decreases in aged mice (104). In addition to age, other factors were also associated with reduced interferon responses. One of them is obesity, which is related to impaired IFN α and IFN β responses, which may relate to inadequate response of obese people against viral infections (105).

Treating COVID-19 Patients With IFN-I

Clinical trials of using IFN-I for treating corona viruses has a long history. Already in 1983, intranasal human IFNo2 was given both before and after corona virus challenge, a strain that is causing common cold. The incidence of colds, the severity of symptoms and signs, and virus replication were all reduced in subjects receiving interferon as compared with those given placebo (106). For SARS-CoV, no randomized placebo-controlled trials have been performed to test the efficacy of IFN-Is, however, comparing the clinical outcome of patients treated with IFN- α (infacon-1) with patients at different locations (not a control group) that were not treated, has suggested clinical benefits (107). These studies have raised the hope that IFN-I may be a potent drug also against COVID-19. This hope was further exuberated by the observation that externally administrated IFN-I induced a strong antiviral response, much more than that observed for SARS-CoV (86). While some of the SARS-CoV-2 proteins may affect ISG production (most notably, ORF6 and 8, see above), the main defense of SARS-CoV-2 against IFN-I innate immunity seems to be the prevention of IFN β production, which can be substituted by external administration.

A major problem in assessing the efficiency of IFN-I against COVID-19 is the lack of a good small animal model. While such models are now under development, they are still not perfect. In a recent study, mice were infected with a replication-deficient adenovirus containing human ACE2, and then infected with SARS-CoV-2. These mice developed pneumonia, severe pulmonary pathology, and high-titer virus replication in lungs. To test the role of IFN-I in disease development, IFNAR1 KO mice were infected with SARS-CoV-2, showing higher viral titer over time. Next, the mice were treated prior to infection with Poly I:C, a strong inducer of IFN-I. This resulted in significantly diminished clinical disease and induced more rapid virus clearance (108). These results suggest that at least in a mice model, IFN-I may benefit disease recovery.

Due to the lack of a good animal model, and the availability of clinically approved IFN-I therapies, multiple clinical studies have been conducted administrating different subtypes of IFN-Is using different routes of administration (for summary see **Table 1**). In a preventive study, nasal drops of IFN α 1 were given to 2,944 healthy medical staff in Shiyan City hospital, Hubei Province for 28 days to prevent SARS-CoV-2 infections. None of them developed serious side effects or was infected with CoV-2. While the study lacked a control group from the same city, overall in Hubei province 3,387 medical staff were diagnosed with COVID-19 (109). The study thus gives an indication that IFN-I may help in preventing infection for high risk medical personal.

To test the benefit of subcutaneous injection of IFN β on early stage patients, an open clinical trial was conducted with 127 patients, 86 were assigned to the combination of lopinavir, ritonavir, ribavirin, and three doses of 8 million international units of IFN β , while the control group of 41 patients were given all the above except IFN β . The median number of days from symptom onset to start of study treatment was 5 days. Patients

Study organizer	Aim of study	IFN subtype	Route of administration	Control group	Main findings	References
Shiyan City Hospital, Hubei, China	Preventive	IFNα1	Nasal drops	Health workers in different locations	Prevention of infection	(109)
Multi-center, Hong Kong	Hospital treatment of COVID-19 patients	IFNβ in combination with lopinavir, ritonavir, ritonavir, ribnavir,	Subcutaneous injection	Patients not given $IFN\beta$	Reduction in clinical symptoms	(110)
Vuhan, China	Hospital treatment of COVID-19 patients	IFNα2b in combination with arbidol	Nebulization to the lungs	Patients not given IFNα2b	Reduction in clinical symptoms	(111)
mam Khomeini Iospital, Teheran, ran	Hospital treatment of COVID-19 patients	$IFN\beta1a$ + standard care	Subcutaneous injection	Randomized clinical trial	No difference in clinical response, but lower mortality	(112)
Aulti-center, Iubei, China	Hospital treatment of COVID-19 patients	$IFN\alpha 2 + standard care$	Inhalation	Retrospective study, historical control group	Early treatment reduced, while late treatment increased mortality	(113)
Synairgen, UK	Hospital treatment of COVID-19 patients	IFNβ	Inhalation	Controlled study	79% reduction in developing severe disease	ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04385095

given also IFN β had a significantly shorter median time from the start of treatment to negative nasopharyngeal swab (5–11 days) in comparison to the control group (8–15 days). Moreover, IFN β reduced viral load and number of significantly ill patients relative to the control group, this without significant side-effects (110).

In a medical study on the effects of treatment with IFN α 2b in a cohort of confirmed COVID-19 patients, some of the 77 participants were given nebulized IFN α 2b with or without arbidol while others were given only arbidol. Treatment with IFN α 2b with or without arbidol reduced the duration of detectable virus in the upper respiratory tract and reduced duration of elevated blood levels of IL6 and c-reactive protein, which are inflammatory markers (111). While the study did not include a standard care group, and all patients recovered, it still provides an indication of IFN-I efficiency.

The efficiency of IFN β 1a subcutaneously injected three times weekly for 2 weeks for treatment of severe COVID-19 was tested in a randomized clinical trial. All the patients (including the control group) received standard of care, including a range of other medicines (hydroxychloroquine, antibiotics, antiviral medicine and more). While the clinical response was not significantly different between the IFN β 1 and the control groups, the 28-day overall mortality was significantly lower (19% vs. 44%) in the IFN β 1 treated group (112).

In a retrospective study of patients receiving IFN α 2 through inhalation, alone or in combination with other drugs at a relative early versus late stage of the infection, it was found that those receiving IFN α 2 at an early stage had a significantly lower rate of mortality. In contrast, late interferon therapy increased mortality and delayed recovery (113). The study suggests a relation between the time of IFN-I treatment and its efficiency.

Synairgen, a UK-based company, performed a controlled clinical trial of inhaled IFN β on 221 patients and reported that compared with placebo the odds of developing severe disease during the treatment period decreased by 79% for hospitalized patients receiving SNG001, and that patients who received SNG001 were

more than twice as likely to recover from the virus during the treatment period versus those randomized to placebo. These are between the best results achieved so far in curing COVID-19.

More clinical trials are now under way to evaluate IFN-I efficiency, but clearly the initial trials have been encouraging. Moreover, due to the many years of experience in treating patients with IFN-Is, the availability of the drug and its relatively modest cost make it an excellent candidate for mass treatment, once approved. However, critical questions remain concerning the use of IFN-Is for COVID-19 and other diseases (Figure 4). These questions relate to the optimal IFN-I subtype, drug-concentration, duration of treatment, mode of treatment and at which frequency should it be given. Ample experience exists with subcutaneously administration, which is almost the only route IFN-Is were used in the clinic. Here, non-modified IFN-Is are usually administrated two to three times weekly, while PEGylated IFN-Is are administrated once per week or less. Injection of IFN-Is will result in a systemic response, where IFN-Is were shown to have antiviral functions as well as pro and anti-inflammatory functions. Contrary, if given by inhalation, it will directly target the epithelial, and thus replace the IFN β , which production is inhibited by the virus. Administration as nasal drops of IFN α may be an excellent prophylactic method for people at high risk. Ideally, these questions could be answered using animal models. The problem is that the disease in those is not equivalent to that observed in humans. Due to the severity of the disease and the high proven safety of IFN-Is, more clinical trials on humans, testing the many open questions related to its best mode of administration may be the fastest way forwards.

The subtype to use is another important question. For multiple-sclerosis, IFN β has been used for many years (114), as it seems to provide a better anti-inflammatory response than IFN α s. This may relate to its higher binding affinity to the interferon receptors, as has been demonstrated using a tight binding IFN α mutant (YNS- α 8 tail), which binding affinity even surpasses that of IFN β [see above (57)]. For combating viral

disease, most notable hepatitis C, IFNa2 has been most commonly used (115), which was later replaced by PEGylated (long plasma half-life) IFNα2 (116). Also, for cancers IFNαs were mostly used (117). A good clinical explanation of why specific IFN-I subtypes were used is often missing, and decisions of which interferon to use may often relate to availability rather than to efficacy. Moreover, due to the specie specificity of IFN-Is, one cannot deduce from mouse experiments, which IFN-I to use in humans, as the data are not transferable (57, 118). The main difference between IFN α s and IFN β is that the later has a stronger potency to induce antiproliferative and immunomodulatory responses (tunable), while IFNa will provide a cleaner antiviral response (robust) without the additional responses associated with IFNB. The open question is which is desired for COVID-19 treatment, where complications arise from the exuberated immune response.

Another, important parameter is the time of intervention by IFN-I, in early or late-stage COVID-19 disease. In a recent study in mice it has been shown that prolonged IFN-I and III signaling interferes with lung repair during influenza recovery, probably through p53 induction, which reduces epithelial proliferation

REFERENCES

- Thomas C, Moraga I, Levin D, Krutzik PO, Podoplelova Y, Trejo A, et al. Structural Linkage between Ligand Discrimination and Receptor Activation by Type I Interferons. *Cell* (2011) 146:621–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.06.048
- Piehler J, Thomas C, Christopher Garcia K, Schreiber G. Structural and dynamic determinants of type I interferon receptor assembly and their functional interpretation. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 250:317–34. doi: 10.1111/ imr.12001
- Saleh AZ, Nguyen VP, Krolewski JJ. Affinity of Stat2 for the subunits of the interferon alpha receptor. *Biochemistry* (2002) 41:11261–8. doi: 10.1021/ bi025913f
- 4. Velichko S, Wagner TC, Turkson J, Jove R, Croze E. STAT3 activation by type I interferons is dependent on specific tyrosines located in the cytoplasmic domain of interferon receptor chain 2c. Activation of multiple STATS proceeds through the redundant usage of two tyrosine residues. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:35635–41. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M204578200
- Arimoto KI, Löchte S, Stoner SA, Burkart C, Zhang Y, Miyauchi S, et al. STAT2 is an essential adaptor in USP18-mediated suppression of type I interferon signaling. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2017) 24:279–89. doi: 10.1038/ nsmb.3378
- Blaszczyk K, Nowicka H, Kostyrko K, Antonczyk A, Wesoly J, Bluyssen HAR. The unique role of STAT2 in constitutive and IFN-induced transcription and antiviral responses. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2016) 29:71–81. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2016.02.010
- Stark GR, Darnell JEJ. The JAK-STAT Pathway at Twenty. *Immunity* (2012) 36:503–14. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.03.013
- Yan H, Krishnan K, Greenlund AC, Gupta S, Lim JT, Schreiber RD, et al. Phosphorylated interferon-alpha receptor 1 subunit (IFNaR1) acts as a docking site for the latent form of the 113 kDa STAT2 protein. *EMBO J* (1996) 15:1064–74.
- Li X, Leung S, Kerr IM, Stark GR. Functional subdomains of STAT2 required for preassociation with the alpha interferon receptor and for signaling. *Mol Cell Biol* (1997) 17:2048–56. doi: 10.1128/mcb.17.4.2048
- Urin V, Shemesh M, Schreiber G. CRISPR/Cas9-based Knockout Strategy Elucidates Components Essential for Type 1 Interferon Signaling in Human HeLa Cells. J Mol Biol (2019) 431:3324–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2019.06.007
- 11. Blaszczyk K, Olejnik A, Nowicka H, Ozgyin L, Chen Y-L, Chmielewski S, et al. STAT2/IRF9 directs a prolonged ISGF3-like transcriptional response

and healing, while early treatment protects mice (119). In SARS-CoV-2 this is further complicated by the "cytokine-storm" symptoms of severe COVID-19, as indicated by elevated IL6 and TNF-alpha levels. Whether IFN-administration, particularly IFN β suppresses or exacerbate the SARS-CoV-2 cytokine storm needs to be urgently determined, as to provide a guide for future application of IFN-I therapy in SARS-COV-2 treatment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the Israel Science Foundation (grant No. 3814/19) within the KillCorona–Curbing Coronavirus Research Program and by the Ben B. and Joyce E. Eisenberg Foundation.

and antiviral activity in the absence of STAT1. *Biochem J* (2015) 466:511–24. doi: 10.1042/BJ20140644

- Rani MR, Croze E, Wei T, Shrock J, Josyula A, Kalvakolanu DV, et al. STATphosphorylation-independent induction of interferon regulatory factor-9 by interferon-beta. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2010) 30:163–70. doi: 10.1089/ jir.2009.0032
- Decker T, Muller M, Stockinger S. The yin and yang of type I interferon activity in bacterial infection. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2005) 5:675–87. doi: 10.1038/nri1684
- Samarajiwa SA, Forster S, Auchettl K, Hertzog PJ. INTERFEROME: the database of interferon regulated genes. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2009) 37:D852–7. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn732
- Stifter SA, Matthews AY, Mangan NE, Fung KY, Drew A, Tate MD, et al. Defining the distinct, intrinsic properties of the novel type I interferon, IFNε. *J Biol Chem* (2018) 293:3168–79. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.800755
- Konde MK, Baker DP, Traore FA, Sow MS, Camara A, Barry AA, et al. Interferon β-1a for the treatment of Ebola virus disease: A historically controlled, single-arm proof-of-concept trial. *PLoS One* (2017) 12:e0169255. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169255
- Wang BX, Rahbar R, Fish EN. Interferon: Current Status and Future Prospects in Cancer Therapy. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2011) 31:545–52. doi: 10.1089/jir.2010.0158
- Chen K, Liu J, Cao X. Regulation of type I interferon signaling in immunity and inflammation: A comprehensive review. J Autoimmun (2017) 83:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.03.008
- Randall RE, Goodbourn S. Interferons and viruses: an interplay between induction, signalling, antiviral responses and virus countermeasures. J Gen Virol (2008) 89:1–47. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.83391-0
- Bracarda S, Eggermont AM, Samuelsson J. Redefining the role of interferon in the treatment of malignant diseases. *Eur J Cancer* (2010) 46:284–97. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2009.10.013
- Croze E, Yamaguchi KD, Knappertz V, Reder AT, Salamon H. Interferon-beta-1b-induced short- and long-term signatures of treatment activity in multiple sclerosis. *Pharmacogenomics J* (2012) 13:443–51. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2012.27
- Weber F, Kochs G, Haller O. Inverse interference: how viruses fight the interferon system. Viral Immunol (2004) 17:498–515. doi: 10.1089/vim.2004.17.498
- Murira A, Lamarre A. Type-I Interferon Responses: From Friend to Foe in the Battle against Chronic Viral Infection. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:609. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00609

- Devasthanam AS. Mechanisms underlying the inhibition of interferon signaling by viruses. *Virulence* (2014) 5:270–7. doi: 10.4161/viru.27902
- Xu W, Edwards MR, Borek DM, Feagins AR, Mittal A, Alinger JB, et al. Ebola Virus VP24 Targets a Unique NLS Binding Site on Karyopherin Alpha 5 to Selectively Compete with Nuclear Import of Phosphorylated STAT1. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 16:187–200. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.07.008
- Cantoni D, Rossman JS. Ebolaviruses: New roles for old proteins. PLoS Negl Trop Dis (2018) 12:e0006349. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0006349
- Shereen MA, Khan S, Kazmi A, Bashir N, Siddique R. COVID-19 infection: Origin, transmission, and characteristics of human coronaviruses. J Adv Res (2020) 24:91–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jare.2020.03.005
- Ciotti M, Angeletti S, Minieri M, Giovannetti M, Benvenuto D, Pascarella S, et al. COVID-19 Outbreak: An Overview. *Chemotherapy* (2020) 64:215–23. doi: 10.1159/000507423
- Boni MF, Lemey P, Jiang X, Lam TT-Y, Perry BW, Castoe TA, et al. Evolutionary origins of the SARS-CoV-2 sarbecovirus lineage responsible for the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nat Microbiol* (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41564-020
- Yoshimoto FK. The Proteins of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS CoV-2 or n-COV19), the Cause of COVID-19. *Protein J* (2020) 39:198–216. doi: 10.1007/s10930-020-09901-4
- Park A, Iwasaki A. Type I and Type III Interferons Induction, Signaling, Evasion, and Application to Combat COVID-19. *Cell Host Microbe* (2020) 27:870–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.05.008
- Nile SH, Nile A, Qiu J, Li L, Jia X, Kai G. COVID-19: Pathogenesis, cytokine storm and therapeutic potential of interferons. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2020) 53:66–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2020.05.002
- 33. de Weerd NA, Vivian JP, Nguyen TK, Mangan NE, Gould JA, Braniff SJ, et al. Structural basis of a unique interferon-beta signaling axis mediated via the receptor IFNAR1. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:901–7. doi: 10.1038/ni.2667
- Schreiber G. The molecular basis for differential type I interferon signaling. J Biol Chem (2017) 292:7285–94. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R116.774562
- Atanasova M, Whitty A. Understanding cytokine and growth factor receptor activation mechanisms. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol (2012) 47:502–30. doi: 10.3109/10409238.2012.729561
- Wilmes S, Hafer M, Vuorio J, Tucker JA, Winkelmann H, Löchte S, et al. Mechanism of homodimeric cytokine receptor activation and dysregulation by oncogenic mutations. *Science* (2020) 367:643–52. doi: 10.1126/ science.aaw3242
- Sharma N, Longjam G, Schreiber G. Type I Interferon Signaling Is Decoupled from Specific Receptor Orientation through Lenient Requirements of the Transmembrane Domain. J Biol Chem (2016) 291:3371–84. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.686071
- Wilmes S, Beutel O, Li Z, Francois-Newton V, Richter CP, Janning D, et al. Receptor dimerization dynamics as a regulatory valve for plasticity of type I interferon signaling. J Cell Biol (2015) 209:579–93. doi: 10.1083/ jcb.201412049
- Lavoie TB, Kalie E, Crisafulli-Cabatu S, Abramovich R, Digioia G, Moolchan K, et al. Binding and activity of all human alpha interferon subtypes. *Cytokine* (2011) 56:282–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.07.019
- 40. Jaitin DA, Roisman LC, Jaks E, Gavutis M, Piehler J, Van der Heyden J, et al. Inquiring into the differential action of interferons (IFNs): an IFN-alpha2 mutant with enhanced affinity to IFNAR1 is functionally similar to IFN-beta. *Mol Cell Biol* (2006) 26:1888–97. doi: 10.1128/MCB.26.5.1888-1897.2006
- Marks ZRC, Campbell N, deWeerd NA, Lim SS, Gearing LJ, Bourke NM, et al. Properties and functions of the novel type i interferon epsilon. *Semin Immunol* (2019) 43:101328. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2019.101328
- Kalie E, Jaitin DA, Podoplelova Y, Piehler J, Schreiber G. The stability of the ternary interferon-receptor complex rather than the affinity to the individual subunits dictates differential biological activities. J Biol Chem (2008) 283:32925–36. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806019200
- Piehler J, Roisman LC, Schreiber G. New structural and functional aspects of the type I interferon-receptor interaction revealed by comprehensive mutational analysis of the binding interface. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:40425–33. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M006854200
- 44. Kalie E, Jaitin DA, Abramovich R, Schreiber G. An Interferon {alpha}2 Mutant Optimized by Phage Display for IFNAR1 Binding Confers Specifically Enhanced Antitumor Activities. J Biol Chem (2007) 282:11602–11. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610115200

- 45. Levin D, Schneider WM, Hoffmann HH, Yarden G, Busetto AG, Manor O, et al. Multifaceted activities of type I interferon are revealed by a receptor antagonist. *Sci Signal* (2014) 7:ra50. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004998
- Levin D, Harari D, Schreiber G. Stochastic Receptor Expression Determines Cell Fate upon Interferon Treatment. *Mol Cell Biol* (2011) 31:3252–66. doi: 10.1128/MCB.05251-11
- Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:36–49. doi: 10.1038/nri3581
- Francois-Newton V, Livingstone M, Payelle-Brogard B, Uze G, Pellegrini S. USP18 establishes the transcriptional and anti-proliferative interferon alpha/ beta differential. *Biochem J* (2012) 15:509–16. doi: 10.1042/BJ20120541
- Linossi EM, Nicholson SE. Kinase inhibition, competitive binding and proteasomal degradation: resolving the molecular function of the suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins. *Immunol Rev* (2015) 266:123–33. doi: 10.1111/imr.12305
- Kumar KG, Tang W, Ravindranath AK, Clark WA, Croze E, Fuchs SY. SCF (HOS) ubiquitin ligase mediates the ligand-induced down-regulation of the interferon-alpha receptor. *EMBO J* (2003) 22:5480–90. doi: 10.1093/emboj/ cdg524
- Bhattacharya S, Katlinski KV, Reichert M, Takano S, Brice A, Zhao B, et al. Triggering ubiquitination of IFNAR1 protects tissues from inflammatory injury. *EMBO Mol Med* (2014) 6:384–97. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201303236
- Gui J, Gober M, Yang X, Katlinski KV, Marshall CM, Sharma M, et al. Therapeutic Elimination of the Type 1 Interferon Receptor for Treating Psoriatic Skin Inflammation. *J Invest Dermatol* (2016) 136:1990–2002. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2016.06.608
- Gracias DT, Stelekati E, Hope JL, Boesteanu AC, Doering TA, Norton J, et al. The microRNA miR-155 controls CD8(+) T cell responses by regulating interferon signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:593–602. doi: 10.1038/ni.2576
- Choubey D, Moudgil KD. Interferons in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases: regulation and roles. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2011) 31:857–65. doi: 10.1089/jir.2011.0101
- Crow MK, Ronnblom L. Type I interferons in host defence and inflammatory diseases. *Lupus Sci Med* (2019) 6:e000336. doi: 10.1136/ lupus-2019-000336
- Reder AT, Feng X. How type I interferons work in multiple sclerosis and other diseases: some unexpected mechanisms. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2014) 34:589–99. doi: 10.1089/jir.2013.0158
- 57. Harari D, Kuhn N, Abramovich R, Sasson K, Zozulya A, Smith P, et al. Enhanced In Vivo Efficacy of a Type I Interferon Superagonist with Extended Plasma Half-life in a Mouse Model of Multiple Sclerosis. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289:29014–29. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.602474
- Teijaro JR, Ng C, Lee AM, Sullivan BM, Sheehan KC, Welch M, et al. Persistent LCMV infection is controlled by blockade of type I interferon signaling. *Science* (2013) 340:207–11. doi: 10.1126/science.1235214
- Kopitar-Jerala N. The Role of Interferons in Inflammation and Inflammasome Activation. Front Immunol (2017) 8:873. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.00873
- Goritzka M, Durant LR, Pereira C, Salek-Ardakani S, Openshaw PJM, Johansson C. Alpha/beta interferon receptor signaling amplifies early proinflammatory cytokine production in the lung during respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Virol (2014) 88:6128–36. doi: 10.1128/ JVI.00333-14
- Makris S, Paulsen M, Johansson C. Type I interferons as regulators of lung inflammation. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:259. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00259
- Fuchs SY. Ubiquitination-mediated regulation of interferon responses. Growth Factors (2012) 30:141–8. doi: 10.3109/08977194.2012.669382
- Xia C, Anderson P, Hahm B. Viral dedication to vigorous destruction of interferon receptors. *Virology* (2018) 522:19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2 018.06.017
- Perlman S, Dandekar AA. Immunopathogenesis of coronavirus infections: implications for SARS. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2005) 5:917–27. doi: 10.1038/ nri1732
- Channappanavar R, Perlman S. Pathogenic human coronavirus infections: causes and consequences of cytokine storm and immunopathology. *Semin Immunopathol* (2017) 39:529–39. doi: 10.1007/s00281-017-0629-x
- Frieman M, Yount B, Heise M, Kopecky-Bromberg SA, Palese P, Baric RS. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus ORF6 antagonizes STAT1

function by sequestering nuclear import factors on the rough endoplasmic reticulum/Golgi membrane. *J Virol* (2007) 81:9812–24. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01012-07

- 67. Sun L, Xing Y, Chen X, Zheng Y, Yang Y, Nichols DB, et al. Coronavirus papain-like proteases negatively regulate antiviral innate immune response through disruption of STING-mediated signaling. *PLoS One* (2012) 7: e30802. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030802
- Daczkowski CM, Dzimianski JV, Clasman JR, Goodwin O, Mesecar AD, Pegan SD. Structural Insights into the Interaction of Coronavirus Papain-Like Proteases and Interferon-Stimulated Gene Product 15 from Different Species. J Mol Biol (2017) 429:1661–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2017.04.011
- 69. Yang Y, Ye F, Zhu N, Wang W, Deng Y, Zhao Z, et al. Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus ORF4b protein inhibits type I interferon production through both cytoplasmic and nuclear targets. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:17554. doi: 10.1038/srep17554
- Yoshikawa T, Hill TE, Yoshikawa N, Popov VL, Galindo CL, Garner HR, et al. Dynamic innate immune responses of human bronchial epithelial cells to severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus infection. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e8729. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008729
- Mo Y, Fisher D. A review of treatment modalities for Middle East Respiratory Syndrome. J Antimicrob Chemother (2016) 71:3340–50. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkw338
- 72. Stockman LJ, Bellamy R, Garner P. SARS: systematic review of treatment effects. *PLoS Med* (2006) 3:e343. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030343
- 73. Ranieri VM, Pettilä V, Karvonen MK, Jalkanen J, Nightingale P, Brealey D, et al. Effect of Intravenous Interferon β -1a on Death and Days Free From Mechanical Ventilation Among Patients With Moderate to Severe Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA* (2020) 323:725–33. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.22525
- Channappanavar R, Fehr AR, Vijay R, Mack M, Zhao J, Meyerholz DK, et al. Dysregulated Type I Interferon and Inflammatory Monocyte-Macrophage Responses Cause Lethal Pneumonia in SARS-CoV-Infected Mice. *Cell Host Microbe* (2016) 19:181–93. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.01.007
- Channappanavar R, Fehr AR, Zheng J, Wohlford-Lenane C, Abrahante JE, Mack M, et al. IFN-I response timing relative to virus replication determines MERS coronavirus infection outcomes. J Clin Invest (2019) 129:3625–39. doi: 10.1172/JCI126363
- Davies NG, Klepac P, Liu Y, Prem K, Jit M, Eggo RM. Age-dependent effects in the transmission and control of COVID-19 epidemics. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:1205–11. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0962-9
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. *Cell* (2020) 181:271–280.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052
- Wrapp D, Wang N, Corbett KS, Goldsmith JA, Hsieh CL, Abiona O, et al. Cryo-EM structure of the 2019-nCoV spike in the prefusion conformation. *Science* (2020) 367:1260–3. doi: 10.1126/science.abb2507
- Tai W, He L, Zhang X, Pu J, Voronin D, Jiang S, et al. Characterization of the receptor-binding domain (RBD) of 2019 novel coronavirus: implication for development of RBD protein as a viral attachment inhibitor and vaccine. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2020) 17:613–20. doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-0400-4
- Iserman C, Roden C, Boerneke M, Sealfon R, McLaughlin G, Jungreis I, et al. Specific viral RNA drives the SARS CoV-2 nucleocapsid to phase separate. *bioRxiv* (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.06.11.147199
- Cubuk J, Alston JJ, Incicco JJ, Singh S, Stuchell-Brereton MD, Ward MD, et al. The SARS-CoV-2 nucleocapsid protein is dynamic, disordered, and phase separates with RNA. *bioRxiv* (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.06.17.158121
- Lukassen S, Lorenz Chua R, Trefzer T, Kahn NC, Schneider MA, Muley T, et al. SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 and TMPRSS2 are primarily expressed in bronchial transient secretory cells. *EMBO J* (2020) 39:e105114. doi: 10.15252/embj.20105114
- Ziegler CGK, Allon SJ, Nyquist SK, Mbano IM, Miao VN, Tzouanas CN, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Receptor ACE2 Is an Interferon-Stimulated Gene in Human Airway Epithelial Cells and Is Detected in Specific Cell Subsets across Tissues. *Cell* (2020) 181:1016–1035.e19. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.035
- Sungnak W, Huang N, Bécavin C, Berg M, Queen R, Litvinukova M, et al. SARS-CoV-2 entry factors are highly expressed in nasal epithelial cells

together with innate immune genes. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:681–7. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-020-0868-6

- Mason RJ. Pathogenesis of COVID-19 from a cell biology perspective. *Eur Respir J* (2020) 55:2000607. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00607-2020
- Lokugamage KG, Hage A, Schindewolf C, Rajsbaum R, Menachery VD. SARS-CoV-2 is sensitive to type I interferon pretreatment. *bioRxiv* (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.03.07.982264
- Jensen S, Thomsen AR. Sensing of RNA viruses: a review of innate immune receptors involved in recognizing RNA virus invasion. J Virol (2012) 86:2900–10. doi: 10.1128/JVI.05738-11
- Yuen CK, Lam JY, Wong WM, Mak LF, Wang X, Chu H, et al. SARS-CoV-2 nsp13, nsp14, nsp15 and orf6 function as potent interferon antagonists. *Emerg Microbes Infect* (2020) 9:1418–28. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 31042-4
- Lei X, Dong X, Ma R, Wang W, Xiao X, Tian Z, et al. Activation and evasion of type I interferon responses by SARS-CoV-2. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:3810. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17665-9
- Li JY, Liao CH, Wang Q, Tan YJ, Luo R, Qiu Y, et al. The ORF6, ORF8 and nucleocapsid proteins of SARS-CoV-2 inhibit type I interferon signaling pathway. *Virus Res* (2020) 286:198074. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2020.198074
- Konno Y, Kimura I, Uriu K, Fukushi M, Irie T, Koyanagi Y, et al. SARS-CoV-2 ORF3b is a potent interferon antagonist whose activity is further increased by a naturally occurring elongation variant. *Cell Rep* (2020) 32 (12):108185. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108185
- Finkel Y, Mizrahi O, Nachshon A, Weingarten-Gabbay S, Morgenstern D, Yahalom-Ronen Y, et al. The coding capacity of SARS-CoV-2. *Nature* (2020) 32(12):108185. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2739-1
- Shin D, Mukherjee R, Grewe D, Bojkova D, Baek K, Bhattacharya A, et al. Papain-like protease regulates SARS-CoV-2 viral spread and innate immunity. *Nature* (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2601-5
- Hadjadj J, Yatim N, Barnabei L, Corneau A, Boussier J, Smith N, et al. Impaired type I interferon activity and inflammatory responses in severe COVID-19 patients. *Science* (2020) 369:718–24. doi: 10.1126/science. abc6027
- Blanco-Melo D, Nilsson-Payant BE, Liu WC, Uhl S, Hoagland D, Møller R, et al. Imbalanced Host Response to SARS-CoV-2 Drives Development of COVID-19. *Cell* (2020) 181:1036–1045.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.026
- Acharya D, Liu G, Gack MU. Dysregulation of type I interferon responses in COVID-19. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20:397–8. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0346-x
- Diao B, Wang C, Tan Y, Chen X, Liu Y, Ning L, et al. Reduction and Functional Exhaustion of T Cells in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Front Immunol (2020) 11:827. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00827
- Wei LL, Wang WJ, Chen DX, Xu B. Dysregulation of the immune response affects the outcome of critical COVID-19 patients. J Med Virol (2020). doi: 10.1002/jmv.26181
- Qin C, Zhou L, Hu Z, Zhang S, Yang S, Tao Y, et al. Dysregulation of immune response in patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *Clin Infect Dis* (2020) 71:762–8. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa248
- 100. Daamen AR, Bachali P, Owen KA, Kingsmore KM, Hubbard EL, Labonte AC, et al. Comprehensive Transcriptomic Analysis of COVID-19 Blood, Lung, and Airway. *bioRxiv* (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.05.28.121889
- 101. Wei L, Ming S, Zou B, Wu Y, Hong Z, Li Z, et al. Viral invasion and type i interferon response characterize the immunophenotypes during COVID-19 infection. SSRN (2020). doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3555695
- 102. Trouillet-Assant S, Viel S, Gaymard A, Pons S, Richard JC, Perret M, et al. Type I IFN immunoprofiling in COVID-19 patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2020) 146:206–208.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.04.029
- Agrawal A. Mechanisms and implications of age-associated impaired innate interferon secretion by dendritic cells: a mini-review. *Gerontology* (2013) 59:421–6. doi: 10.1159/000350536
- 104. Shaw AC, Goldstein DR, Montgomery RR. Age-dependent dysregulation of innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13:875–87. doi: 10.1038/nri3547
- 105. Teran-Cabanillas E, Montalvo-Corral M, Caire-Juvera G, Moya-Camarena SY, Hernández J. Decreased interferon-α and interferon-β production in obesity and expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling. *Nutrition* (2013) 29:207–12. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2012.04.019

- 106. Higgins PG, Phillpotts RJ, Scott GM, Wallace J, Bernhardt LL, Tyrrell DA. Intranasal interferon as protection against experimental respiratory coronavirus infection in volunteers. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* (1983) 24:713–5. doi: 10.1128/AAC.24.5.713
- 107. Loutfy MR, Blatt LM, Siminovitch KA, Ward S, Wolff B, Lho H, et al. Interferon alfacon-1 plus corticosteroids in severe acute respiratory syndrome: a preliminary study. *JAMA* (2003) 290:3222–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.24.3222
- 108. Sun J, Zhuang Z, Zheng J, Li K, Wong RL, Liu D, et al. Generation of a Broadly Useful Model for COVID-19 Pathogenesis, Vaccination, and Treatment. *Cell* (2020) 182:734–43. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.06.010
- 109. Meng Z, Wang T, Li C, Chen X, Li L, Qin X, et al. An experimental trial of recombinant human interferon alpha nasal drops to prevent coronavirus disease 2019 in medical staff in an epidemic area. *medRxiv* (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.04.11.20061473
- 110. Hung JF, Lung KC, Tso EY, Liu R, Chung TW, Chu MY, et al. Triple combination of interferon beta-1b, lopinavir-ritonavir, and ribavirin in the treatment of patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19: an open-label, randomised, phase 2 trial. *Lancet* (2020) 395:1695–704. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31042-4
- 111. Zhou Q, Chen V, Shannon CP, Wei XS, Xiang X, Wang X, et al. Interferonα2b Treatment for COVID-19. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1061. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2020.01061
- 112. Davoudi-Monfared E, Rahmani H, Khalili H, Hajiabdolbaghi M, Salehi M, Abbasian L, et al. A Randomized Clinical Trial of the Efficacy and Safety of Interferon β-1a in Treatment of Severe COVID-19. Antimicrob Agents Chemother (2020) 64:e01061-20. doi: 10.1101/2020.05.28.20116467
- 113. Wang N, Zhan Y, Zhu L, Hou Z, Liu F, Song P, et al. Retrospective Multicenter Cohort Study Shows Early Interferon Therapy Is Associated with Favorable Clinical Responses in COVID-19 Patients. *Cell Host Microbe* (2020). doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.07.005

- Kieseier BC. The mechanism of action of interferon-β in relapsing multiple sclerosis. CNS Drugs (2011) 25:491–502. doi: 10.2165/11591110-00000000-00000
- 115. Rostaing L, Chatelut E, Payen JL, Izopet J, Thalamas C, Ton-That H, et al. Pharmacokinetics of alphaIFN-2b in chronic hepatitis C virus patients undergoing chronic hemodialysis or with normal renal function: clinical implications. J Am Soc Nephrol (1998) 9:2344–8.
- 116. Reddy RK, Modi MW, Pedder S. Use of peginterferon alfa-2a (40 KD) (Pegasys[®]) for the treatment of hepatitis C. Adv Drug Deliv. Rev (2002) 54:571-86. doi: 10.1016/S0169-409X(02)00028-5
- 117. Pfeffer LM, Dinarello CA, Herberman RB, Williams BR, Borden EC, Bordens R, et al. Biological properties of recombinant alpha-interferons: 40th anniversary of the discovery of interferons. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58:2489–99.
- Harari D, Abramovich R, Zozulya A, Smith P, Pouly S, Koster M, et al. Bridging the species divide: transgenic mice humanized for type-I interferon response. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e84259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084259
- 119. Major J, Crotta S, Llorian M, McCabe TM, Gad HH, Priestnall SL, et al. Type I and III interferons disrupt lung epithelial repair during recovery from viral infection. *Science* (2020) 369:712–7. doi: 10.1126/science.abc2061

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Schreiber. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

